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$71,990,000 
BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

PROFESSIONAL SPORTS FACILITIES TAX AND REVENUE 
REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2016 

(BROWARD COUNTY CIVIC ARENA PROJECT) 
 

MATURITIES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES, PRICES, YIELDS, AND CUSIP NUMBERS(1) 
 

Maturity Date 
(September 1) 

Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate Price Yield 

Initial 
CUSIP Number(1) 

2017 $4,555,000 5.00% 103.550 0.890% 115062DV0 

2018 4,950,000 5.00 107.543 0.920 115062DW8 

2019 5,200,000 5.00 111.195 1.030 115062DX6 

2020 5,455,000 5.00 114.405 1.180 115062DY4 

2021 5,730,000 5.00 117.453 1.290 115062DZ1 

2022 6,015,000 5.00 119.903 1.450 115062EA5 

2023 6,320,000 5.00 121.887 1.620 115062EB3 

2024 6,630,000 5.00 121.163* 1.720* 115062EC1 

2025 6,965,000 5.00 120.731* 1.780* 115062ED9 

2026 7,310,000 5.00 120.301* 1.840* 115062EE7 

2027 6,275,000 5.00 119.873* 1.900* 115062EF4 

2028 6,585,000 4.00 111.415* 2.200* 115062EG2 
 

 
 
 
_____________________________ 
* Priced at the stated yield to the first optional call date of September 1, 2023, at a redemption price of 100%. 
 (1)  CUSIP data is provided by CUSIP Global Services, managed on behalf of the American Bankers Association by S&P Global 

Marketing Intelligence, a division of S&P Global, Inc.  The CUSIP numbers listed above are being provided solely for the 
convenience of the Bondholders only at the time of issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds, and neither the County nor the 
Underwriters make any representation with respect to such CUSIP numbers, nor undertake any responsibility for their 
accuracy now or at any time in the future.  The CUSIP numbers are subject to being changed after the issuance of the Series 
2016 Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions, including, but not limited to, a refunding in whole or in part of the 
Series 2016 Bonds. 
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This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell the Series 2016 Bonds to any person, or the solicitation of an 
offer from any person to buy the Series 2016 Bonds, in any jurisdiction where such offer to sell or such solicitation of an offer to 
buy would be unlawful.  The information set forth herein is provided by the County from sources which are believed to be 
reliable, but it is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness and is not to be construed as a representation of the Underwriters.  
No dealer, salesman or any other person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation, other than 
those contained in this Official Statement, in connection with the offering contained herein, and, if given or made, such 
information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the County or the Underwriters.  The 
information and expressions of opinion contained herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this 
Official Statement nor the sale of any Series 2016 Bonds shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has 
been no change in the matters described herein since the date hereof.  The Official Statement is submitted in connection with the 
issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds referred to herein and may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other 
purpose. 

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT 
TRANSACTIONS WHICH TEND TO STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE FOR THE SERIES 2016 BONDS 
ABOVE THE LEVELS WHICH WOULD OTHERWISE PREVAIL.  SUCH ACTIVITIES, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE 
DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 

UPON ISSUANCE, THE SERIES 2016 BONDS WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 
1933, AS AMENDED, OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAW, AND WILL NOT BE LISTED ON ANY STOCK OR OTHER 
SECURITIES EXCHANGE. 

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINATION OF 
THE COUNTY AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED. THE 
SERIES 2016 BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION 
OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY.  FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE 
ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT.  ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE 
CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE. 

THE UNDERWRITERS HAVE PROVIDED THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE FOR INCLUSION IN THIS OFFICIAL 
STATEMENT: THE UNDERWRITERS HAVE REVIEWED THE INFORMATION IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH AND AS PART OF THEIR RESPONSIBILITIES TO INVESTORS UNDER THE FEDERAL SECURITIES 
LAWS AS APPLIED TO THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS TRANSACTION, BUT THE UNDERWRITERS DO NOT 
GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF SUCH INFORMATION. 

MUNICIPAL ASSURANCE CORP. (“MAC”) HAS PROVIDED THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE FOR INCLUSION 
IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT:  MAC MAKES NO REPRESENTATION REGARDING THE SERIES 2016 BONDS OR THE 
ADVISABILITY OF INVESTING IN THE SERIES 2016 BONDS.  IN ADDITION, MAC HAS NOT INDEPENDENTLY 
VERIFIED, MAKES NO REPRESENTATION REGARDING, AND DOES NOT ACCEPT ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT OR ANY INFORMATION OR DISCLOSURE 
CONTAINED HEREIN, OR OMITTED HEREFROM, OTHER THAN WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OF THE 
INFORMATION REGARDING MAC SUPPLIED BY MAC AND PRESENTED UNDER THE HEADING “RESERVE FUND 
CREDIT FACILITY.” 

CERTAIN STATEMENTS INCLUDED OR INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
CONSTITUTE “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.”  SUCH STATEMENTS GENERALLY ARE IDENTIFIABLE BY 
THE TERMINOLOGY USED, SUCH AS “PLAN,” “EXPECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “BUDGET” OR OTHER SIMILAR WORDS.  
SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS INCLUDE BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO CERTAIN STATEMENTS 
CONTAINED IN THE INFORMATION UNDER THE CAPTION “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.”  THE 
ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS THAT MAY 
CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS DESCRIBED TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT 
FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. 
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
OF 

BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 

 
$71,990,000 

BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue 

Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 
(Broward County Civic Arena Project) 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page, inside cover page and Appendices, is to 
provide information with respect to the issuance and sale by Broward County, Florida (the “County”) of its 
$71,990,000 principal amount of Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 
(Broward County Civic Arena Project) (the “Series 2016 Bonds”).  This introduction is intended only to serve as a 
brief description of the Official Statement and is expressly qualified by reference to the Official Statement as a 
whole.  A full review should be made of the entire Official Statement, as well as the documents summarized or 
described herein.  Terms used in capitalized form and not defined herein are as defined in the Indenture (hereinafter 
described).  See APPENDIX C attached hereto, which contains a complete copy of the Master Trust Indenture and 
the form of Third Supplemental Trust Indenture. 

 
The County is a political subdivision of the State of Florida (the “State”).  It is located on the southeast 

coast of Florida and has an area of approximately 1,231 square miles, with a 2010 census population of 1,748,066 
persons and an estimated 2015 census population of 1.9 million.  Among all counties, the County ranks second in 
population in the State.  Located within the County are 31 municipalities, the largest of which is the City of Fort 
Lauderdale.  See “APPENDIX A – General Information Regarding the County.” 

 
The Series 2016 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State, including, 

without limitation, Chapter 125, Chapter 166, Section 212.20, and Section 288.1162 of the Florida Statutes, as 
amended, the Broward County Home Rule Charter and other applicable provisions of law (collectively, the “Act”), 
Resolution No.  2016-411 adopted by the Board of County Commissioners of the County (the “Board”) on 
September 15, 2016 (the “Bond Resolution”), and a Master Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 1996 (the 
“Master Indenture”), as previously supplemented, and as further supplemented by a Third Supplemental Trust 
Indenture dated as of October 1, 2016 (the “Third Supplemental Indenture” and, together with the Master Indenture, 
the “Indenture”), between the County and The Bank of New York, now known as The Bank of New York Mellon 
Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”).  The Trustee is also acting as Paying Agent and Registrar under the 
Indenture.  The Trustee is a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States 
of America. 

 
The proceeds of the Series 2016 Bonds will be used, together with other legally available monies, to 

provide funds to: (i) refund on a current basis all of the outstanding Broward County, Florida Professional Sports 
Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2006A (Broward County Civic Arena Project) (the “Series 
2006A Bonds” or the “Refunded Bonds”), (ii) pay the premium for a Reserve Fund Credit Facility, and (iii) pay all 
of the costs associated with the issuance and sale of the Series 2016 Bonds.  See “PLAN OF REFUNDING” and 
“RESERVE FUND CREDIT FACILITY” herein.  

 
Payment of the Series 2016 Bonds is secured by a first lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues.  The 

Pledged Revenues are defined in the Master Indenture to include (i) the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax 
Revenues, (ii) all proceeds from the Sales Tax Rebate, (iii) the County Preferred Revenue Allocation, and (iv) 
moneys in, including investments credited to, certain funds and accounts created pursuant to the Indenture, in the 
manner provided therein.  In addition, the County has covenanted to budget and appropriate Non-Ad Valorem 
Revenues (but solely as described in “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2016 
BONDS—Appropriations of County Non-Ad Valorem Revenue” herein) to the extent that Pledged Revenues are 
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insufficient to make certain required deposits to the Bond Reserve Fund.  Neither the Series 2016 Bonds nor the 
principal thereof, premium, if any, or interest thereon, will be or constitute a pledge of or lien upon any property of 
or in the County, including the Facility.  Neither the full faith and credit nor the general taxing power of the County, 
the State or any political subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or 
interest on the Series 2016 Bonds.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2016 
BONDS” herein. 

 
The Series 2016 Bonds will be issued on a parity with the County’s Professional Sports Facilities Tax and 

Revenue Refunding Bonds, Taxable Series 2006B (Broward County Civic Arena Project) issued in the original 
principal amount of $52,475,000 (the “Series 2006B Bonds”), of which $36,110,000 principal amount is currently 
outstanding. 

 
Additional bonds may be issued on a parity with the Series 2016 Bonds for Facility purposes, including the 

refunding of bonds, upon compliance with the provisions contained in the Indenture.  The Series 2016 Bonds 
together with any additional bonds issued under the Indenture are referred to collectively as the “Bonds.” See 
“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2016 BONDS - Additional Parity Bonds” 
herein. 

 
This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information contained herein is subject to 

change.  Until the issuance and delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds, copies of the Master Indenture, the Third 
Supplemental Indenture, this Official Statement and other documents described herein may be obtained from 
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, 1585 Broadway, New York, New York 10036; (212) 761-9120.  Thereafter, copies of 
the Indenture, this Official Statement and any other continuing disclosure documents of the County will be available 
for inspection at the office of the Deputy Director of the Finance and Administrative Services Department, Broward 
County Governmental Center, Room 513, 115 South Andrews Avenue, Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301; (954) 357-
7130.   

 
The Master Indenture, the Third Supplemental Indenture and brief descriptions of the Series 2016 Bonds, 

the security for the Series 2016 Bonds and summaries of certain agreements and documents related thereto, are 
included in this Official Statement.  Such descriptions and summaries do not purport to be comprehensive or 
definitive.  All references herein to such agreements and documents are qualified in their entirety by reference 
thereto. 

 
PLAN OF REFUNDING 

 
The Refunded Bonds are expected to be called for redemption prior to their maturities on October 18, 2016, 

pursuant to a conditional notice of redemption.  Concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds, the County 
will deposit a portion of the proceeds of the Series 2016 Bonds, together with other legally available funds of the 
County, with the Trustee, to be applied to refund and redeem the Refunded Bonds at a price equal to 100% of the 
principal amount thereof, without premium, plus accrued interest to the redemption date.   

DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2016 BONDS 
 
General 

The Series 2016 Bonds will be dated their date of issuance and will bear interest payable on each March 1 
and September 1, commencing March 1, 2017 (each an “Interest Payment Date”), at the interest rates and will 
mature in the years and in the principal amounts set forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement. 

 
The Series 2016 Bonds will be issued initially as fully registered bonds in the name of Cede & Co., as 

nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository 
for the Series 2016 Bonds.  Purchases of the Series 2016 Bonds will be made through a book-entry only system 
maintained by DTC, in the denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, and purchasers of the Series 2016 
Bonds (the “Beneficial Owners”) will not receive physical delivery of bond certificates.  So long as DTC or its 
nominee is the registered owner of the Series 2016 Bonds, the principal and interest payments on the Series 2016 
Bonds will be made to DTC or its nominee, which will in turn remit such principal and interest payments to DTC’s 
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Participants for subsequent disbursement to the Beneficial Owners.  See “APPENDIX G – The DTC Book-Entry 
Only System.” 

Redemption Provisions 

Optional Redemption.  The Series 2016 Bonds maturing on and after September 1, 2024, are subject to 
optional redemption by the County prior to maturity, on and after September 1, 2023, in whole or in part at any time, 
and if in part as selected by the County among maturities and by lot by the Trustee within a maturity, at a 
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount or portions thereof to be redeemed, without premium, plus 
accrued interest to the redemption date. 
 

Extraordinary Optional Redemption.  At the direction and sole discretion of the County, the Series 2016 
Bonds are subject to extraordinary optional redemption in whole or in part, and if in part as selected by the County 
among maturities and pro rata within a maturity, on any date at a redemption price of one hundred percent (100%) of 
the principal amount to be redeemed plus interest accrued to the redemption date, if any of the following shall have 
occurred: 

(i) the Facility shall have been damaged or otherwise destroyed; 
 

(ii) title to, or the temporary use of, all or a significant part of the Facility shall have 
been taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, or transferred in 
lieu of or under the threat of such action; 

 
(iii) as a result of any changes in the Constitution of the State, the Constitution of the 

United States of America, or state or federal laws or as a result of legislative or 
administrative action (whether state or federal) or by final decree, judgment or 
order of any court or administrative body (whether by state or federal) entered 
after the contest thereof by the County or the Operator in good faith, (a) the 
Master Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or the Facility Agreements 
described herein shall have become void or unenforceable or impossible of 
performance in accordance with the intent and purpose of the parties as 
expressed in the Master Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or the Facility 
Agreements, or (b) unreasonable burdens or excessive liabilities as determined 
by the County shall have been imposed with respect to the Facility or the 
operation thereof, including without limitation, the imposition of federal, state or 
other ad valorem, property, income or other taxes not being imposed on the date 
of the Master Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or the Facility Agreements, 
or (c) interest on the Series 2016 Bonds shall no longer be excludable from gross 
income for federal income tax purposes as confirmed in an Opinion of Bond 
Counsel delivered to the County and to the Trustee. 

Notice of Redemption.  So long as the Series 2016 Bonds are issued in book-entry only form, (i) if less than 
all Series 2016 Bonds of a single maturity are to be called for redemption, the specific Series 2016 Bonds of that 
maturity to be redeemed will be selected by DTC in accordance with its procedures; and (ii) notice of redemption of 
the Series 2016 Bonds will be mailed, first class mail, postage prepaid, at least 30 days before the redemption date, 
to Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, and the Trustee will not mail redemption notices directly to the Beneficial 
Owners of Series 2016 Bonds.  See “APPENDIX G – The DTC Book-Entry Only System.” 

 
Effect of Redemption.  On the date designated for the redemption of any Series 2016 Bond, unconditional 

notice of redemption having been duly given or conditional notice of redemption having been duly given and not 
rescinded, the Series 2016 Bonds or portions of Series 2016 Bonds so called for redemption shall become and be 
due and payable on such date at the redemption price provided for redemption of such Series 2016 Bonds or portions 
of Series 2016 Bonds.  If, on the date so designated for redemption, moneys for payment of the redemption price are 
held solely for such purpose by the Trustee or any Paying Agent in trust for the Holders of the Series 2016 Bonds or 
portions of the Series 2016 Bonds to be redeemed, then (i) interest on the Series 2016 Bonds or portions of the 
Series 2016 Bonds so called for redemption shall cease to accrue as of such redemption date, (ii) such Series 2016 
Bonds will cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under the Indenture and will cease to be Outstanding, and 
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(iii) the Holders of such Series 2016 Bonds will have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of the 
redemption price thereof. 

 
 Conditional Notice of Redemption. In the case of an optional redemption, any notice of redemption for the 
Series 2016 Bonds may state that (1) it is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys, in an amount equal to the amount 
necessary to effect the redemption, with the Trustee, Paying Agent or a fiduciary institution acting as escrow agent 
no later than the redemption date or (2) the County retains the right to rescind such notice on or prior to the 
scheduled redemption date (in either case, a “Conditional Redemption”), and such notice and optional redemption 
shall be of no effect if such moneys are not so deposited or if the notice is rescinded as described in this paragraph.  
Any such notice of Conditional Redemption shall be captioned “Conditional Notice of Redemption.”  Any 
Conditional Redemption may be rescinded at any time prior to the redemption date if the Finance Director delivers a 
written direction to the Trustee directing the Trustee to rescind the redemption notice.  The Trustee shall give 
prompt notice of such rescission to the affected Bondholders.  Any Series 2016 Bonds subject to Conditional 
Redemption where redemption has been rescinded shall remain Outstanding, and neither the rescission nor the 
failure by the County to make such funds available shall constitute an Event of Default under the Indenture.  The 
Trustee shall give immediate notice to the securities information repositories and the affected Bondholders that the 
redemption did not occur and that the Series 2016 Bonds called for redemption and not so paid remain Outstanding. 
 
 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 
 
 

Estimated Sources of Funds  
 
Principal Amount  

 
$71,990,000.00 

Bond Premium 11,813,227.15 
Release of moneys available in the Bond Fund 

for Refunded Bonds 
 

      796,866.67 
 Total Estimated Sources of Funds $84,600,093.82 

  
Estimated Uses of Funds  
 
Refunding of the Refunded Bonds 

 
$83,908,633.78 

Underwriters’ Discount (1) 236,636.94 
Costs of Issuance (2) 454,823.10 
 Total Estimated Uses of Funds $84,600,093.82 
    
(1) Includes fees of Underwriters’ Counsel. 
(2) Includes fees for Financial Advisor, Co-Bond Counsel and Co-Disclosure Counsel, premium for the Reserve 

Fund Credit Facility, and other miscellaneous costs of issuance. 
 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2016 BONDS 
 

The Series 2016 Bonds are being issued under the authority of and in full compliance with the Act, the 
Bond Resolution and the Indenture. 

 
Security and Source of Payment 

The payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2016 Bonds will be secured by 
a first lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues on a parity with the Series 2006B Bonds.  The term “Pledged 
Revenues” is defined in the Master Indenture to mean (i) the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax Revenues, 
(ii) all proceeds from the Sales Tax Rebate, (iii) the County Preferred Revenue Allocation, (iv) other revenue 
sources pledged by the County from time to time by Supplemental Indenture (at the time of issuance of the Series 
2016 Bonds, no additional revenue sources have been pledged by the County pursuant to this clause), and (v) 
moneys in, including investments credited to, the Pledged Funds, and income from the investment thereof.  The term 
“Pledged Funds” is defined in the Master Indenture to mean collectively (i) the Construction Fund but not including 
the Project Developer Construction Account, (ii) the Revenue Fund, (iii) the Bond Fund, (iv) the Bond Reserve 
Fund, (v) the Surplus Fund, and (vi) any other funds or accounts permitted by, established under or identified in the 
Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture or any resolution authorizing the Bonds as funds and accounts 
specifically pledged to the payment of Debt Service Charges of the Bonds or particular Series of Bonds.  The 
Pledged Funds do not include the Rebate Fund.  See “APPENDIX B – General Purpose Financial Statements of 
Broward County, Florida for the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015” for information related to debt service 
capacity and other financial information. 
 

Set forth below are historical collections of Pledged Revenues for the Fiscal Years ended September 30, 
2006 through September 30, 2015. 
 

Historical Collections of Pledged Revenues 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

 
 

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

September 30, 

Professional 
Sports 

Franchise 
Facilities Tax 

 
 

Sales Tax 
Rebate 

County 
Preferred 
Revenue 

Allocation 

 
 
 

Totals 
2006 $16,054 $2,000 $4,479 $22,533 
2007 16,576 2,000 2,421 20,997 
2008 17,109 2,000 3,927 23,036 
2009 14,203 2,000 3,927 20,130 
2010 14,987 2,000 3,926(1) 20,913 
2011 16,278 2,000 3,997(1) 22,275 
2012 17,799 2,000 3,988 23,787 
2013 18,972 2,000 3,999 24,971 
2014 21,179 2,000 3,994 27,173 
2015 23,319 2,000 3,992 29,311 

     
(1)  The County Preferred Revenue Allocation, normally paid by the Arena Operating Company, Ltd. (“AOC” or the “Operator”), 

was fully paid by the County in Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2010, and partially paid by the County in Fiscal Year ended 
September 30, 2011, based on a loan agreement between the County and AOC executed in August 2010 and amended in 
January 2012. The agreement provided relief of up to $6.5 million to be drawn in two installments, $3.926 million in Fiscal 
Year ended September 30, 2010 and $2.574 million in Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2011, which the County paid directly 
to the Trustee for the benefit of the Series 2006A Bonds and the Series 2006B Bonds, for the annual County Preferred 
Revenue Allocation. AOC repaid the loan at the end of Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2014. 
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Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax Revenues  

Section 125.0104(3)(l) and Section 125.0104(3)(n), Florida Statutes, each permit the County to impose an 
additional one percent (1%) tourist development tax (collectively, two percent (2%) (the “Professional Sports 
Franchise Facilities Tax”), in addition to the three percent (3%) tourist development tax already imposed in the 
County, on the privilege of renting, leasing or leasing for consideration any living quarters or accommodations in 
any hotel, apartment hotel, motel, resort motel, apartment, apartment motel, rooming house, mobile home park, 
recreational vehicle park or condominium for a term of six (6) months or less.  The Professional Sports Franchise 
Facilities Tax is permitted by statute to be applied: to pay the debt service on bonds issued to finance the 
construction, reconstruction, or renovation of a professional sports franchise facility, such as the Facility, and to pay 
the planning and design costs incurred prior to the issuance of such bonds; to pay the debt service on bonds issued to 
finance the construction, reconstruction, or renovation of a convention center, and to pay the planning and design 
costs incurred prior to the issuance of such bonds, and to pay the operation and maintenance costs of such 
convention center for a period of up to 10 years; and to promote and advertise tourism in the State of Florida and 
nationally and internationally; however, if tax revenues are expended for an activity, service, venue, or event, the 
activity, service, venue, or event shall have as one of its main purposes the attraction of tourists as evidenced by the 
promotion of the activity, service, venue, or event to tourists.  Florida law permits the tax to be collected on a local 
basis.  The County may retain a portion of the tax collected for costs of administration, but such portion may not 
exceed three percent (3%) of collections. 
 

By Ordinance Nos. 96-9 and 96-10 enacted by the Board on April 23, 1996, the County provided for the 
imposition of the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax.  The effective date of the levy was July 1, 1996.  The 
County received the first monthly distribution from the imposition of the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities 
Tax in August, 1996.  The moneys received by the County from the levy of the Professional Sports Franchise 
Facilities Tax, other than the portion thereof paid to the County’s Finance and Administrative Services Department 
for costs of administration, is herein referred to as the “Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax Revenues.” 

 
Although all of the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax Revenues are pledged to the payment of 

the Series 2016 Bonds on a parity with the Series 2006B Bonds, the County only currently uses $8,000,000 for 
payment of debt service and expects to use the same amount in the future in accordance with the Operating 
Agreement.  See “THE FACILITY AGREEMENTS – Operating Agreement” herein. 

 
Impact of the Zika Virus on South Florida Tourism 
 
Recent outbreaks of the Zika virus have caused the issuance of “Travel Alerts” to persons visiting the 

Caribbean, Central and South America.  A related travel advisory was issued for people living in or traveling to 
Wynwood, a neighborhood in Miami, Florida, and sections of Miami Beach, Florida.  The U.S. Centers for Disease 
Control and Prevention (CDC) has advised pregnant women and their partners to consider postponing nonessential 
travel to all parts of Miami-Dade County.  The outbreak of Zika and other infectious diseases in the future and the 
issuance of Travel Alerts could have an adverse effect on tourism in Broward County.  However, Broward County 
has taken significant, proactive efforts to prevent locally transmitted cases of Zika. There have been no Travel Alerts 
issued regarding Zika for Broward County. 

 
Sales Tax Rebate 

Section 212.20(6)(d)7.b., Florida Statutes, provides that after certain distributions of the proceeds of taxes 
and fees imposed under Chapter 212, Florida Statutes, titled “Tax on Sales, Use and other Transactions,” $166,667 
shall be distributed monthly by the Florida Department of Revenue to each applicant that has been certified as a 
“facility for a new professional sports franchise” pursuant to Section 288.1162, Florida Statutes. The Florida 
Department of Commerce, on June 20, 1996, so certified the County with respect to the Facility and the State has 
committed to pay to the County from available funds monthly the sum of $166,667 (the “Sales Tax Rebate”).  Such 
distribution began sixty (60) days following the certification and is to continue for thirty years.  The first monthly 
distribution of $166,667 was received by the County in August, 1996, and is scheduled to continue monthly until 
July 2026 (unless impacted by the exercise of the right of the parent company of the Team and the Operator to early 
termination of the Operating Agreement beginning in July 2023).  See “THE FACILITY AGREEMENTS – 
Operating Agreement” herein.  Section 288.1162(6), Florida Statutes, provides that the Sales Tax Rebate may be 
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used “only for the public purpose of paying for the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, or renovation of a 
facility for a new professional sports franchise, .  .  . or to pay or pledge for the payment of debt service on, or to 
fund debt service reserve funds, arbitrage rebate obligations, or other amounts payable with respect to, bonds issued 
for the acquisition, construction, reconstruction or renovation of such facility or for the reimbursement of such costs 
or the refinancing of bonds issued for such purposes.”  Upon audit, if the State determines that Sales Tax Rebate 
funds distributed were not used for such permitted purposes, the State may seek recovery from the County of 
improperly expended amounts. 
 
The County Preferred Revenue Allocation 

The “County Preferred Revenue Allocation” is the annual amount equal to the difference between (a) the 
actual amount of the County’s debt service on the Bonds and (b) $10 million per annum through Contract Year (as 
defined in the Operating Agreement) ending June 30, 2026 and $8 million per annum in Contract Years ending June 
30, 2027 and June 30, 2028.  See “THE FACILITY AGREEMENTS – Operating Agreement” herein.  The County 
Preferred Revenue Allocation is paid to the County by the Operator from Facility Operating Revenues prior to 
paying Facility Operating Expenses (as such terms are defined in the Operating Agreement) or making any other 
payment or reserve deposits and shall be payable to the Trustee within seven (7) days prior to the date of any debt 
service payment on the Bonds.  See “THE FACILITY AGREEMENTS – Definitions” herein.  The Operating 
Agreement states that “making provision for the County Preferred Revenue Allocation shall be the first use of 
Facility Operating Revenue.”  The amount of the County Preferred Revenue Allocation has averaged $3.994 million 
for the prior five Fiscal Years ended September 30, 2011 through September 30, 2015. Upon issuance of the Series 
2016 Bonds, the County Preferred Revenue Allocation amount will be reduced by an amount equal to the reduction 
in debt service due to the issuance the Series 2016 Bonds. In addition, if the Operator fails to pay the County 
Preferred Revenue Allocation, the Team has agreed to pay such County Preferred Revenue Allocation pursuant to 
the Guaranty of Performance Agreement (the “Team Guaranty”) from the Team to the County dated June 4, 1996, 
which is included under the License Agreement. 
 

The Facility Operating Revenues are based on revenues generated from events, attendance, ticket prices, 
sales of luxury seating, sale of advertising, naming rights, food and beverages, merchandise and other income.  The 
County Preferred Revenue Allocation is paid first from Facility Operating Revenues.  

 
Set forth below are historical Facility Operating Revenues for the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2011 

through September 30, 2015. 
 

Fiscal Year Ended  
September 30, 

 
Facility Operating Revenue 

2011  $40,660,082 
2012 39,670,028 
2013 40,026,126 
2014 46,826.074 
2015(1) 27,224,000 

________________________ 

(1) In 2015, AOC changed its fiscal year end-date from September 30 to June 30. Therefore, AOC’s 
financial statements for fiscal year 2015, and the Facility Operating Revenue shown in the table 
above for Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2015, reflect only nine months of data. 

 
Appropriations of County Non-Ad Valorem Revenue 

Covenant to Budget and Appropriate.  In addition to the pledges and encumbrances described above, the 
County covenants and further agrees with the Holders of the Series 2016 Bonds, on a parity with the Series 2006B 
Bonds, in the Indenture to budget and appropriate in its annual budget, by amendment, if necessary, from Non-Ad 
Valorem Revenues lawfully available in each Fiscal Year, amounts sufficient to satisfy the deposit requirements for 
deficiency amounts in the Bond Reserve Fund which cannot be satisfied from moneys on deposit in the Revenue 
Fund or the Surplus Fund, each created under the Indenture.  Such covenant and agreement on the part of the County 
to budget and appropriate such Non-Ad Valorem Revenues shall be cumulative to the extent not paid, and shall 
continue until such Non-Ad Valorem Revenues or other legally available funds in amounts sufficient to make all 
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required payments shall have been budgeted, appropriated and actually paid.  Notwithstanding the foregoing 
covenant of the County, the County does not covenant to maintain any services or programs, now provided or 
maintained by the County, which generate Non-Ad Valorem Revenues.  Such covenant to budget and appropriate 
does not create a lien upon or pledge of such Non-Ad Valorem Revenues, nor does it preclude the County from 
pledging in the future its Non-Ad Valorem Revenues, nor does it require the County to levy and collect any 
particular Non-Ad Valorem Revenues, nor does it give the Holders of the Series 2016 Bonds a prior claim on the 
Non-Ad Valorem Revenues as opposed to claims of general creditors of the County.  Such covenant to budget and 
appropriate Non-Ad Valorem Revenues is subject in all respects to the payment of obligations secured by a pledge 
of such Non-Ad Valorem Revenues heretofore or hereinafter entered into (including the payment of debt service on 
bonds and other debt instruments).  However, the covenant to budget and appropriate, for the purposes and in the 
manner stated in the Master Indenture, shall have the effect of making available in the manner described in the 
Master Indenture Non-Ad Valorem Revenues and placing on the County a positive duty to budget and appropriate, 
by amendment, if necessary, amounts sufficient to meet its obligations thereunder; subject, however, in all respects 
to the restrictions of State law described under “ – Non-Ad Valorem Revenues” below. 

Other than in Fiscal Years ended September 30, 2010 and 2011, when the County contributed $3.926 
million and $2.574 million, respectively, to pay debt service on the Bonds, the County has not appropriated any 
Non-Ad Valorem Revenues nor has the County been required to appropriate any Non-Ad Valorem Revenues to 
satisfy the deposit to the Bond Reserve Fund or to pay debt service on the Bonds.  See footnote (1) to the table titled 
“Historical Collections of Pledged Revenues” under “ – Security and Sources of Payment” above.  
 

Non-Ad Valorem Revenues.  “Non-Ad Valorem Revenues” is defined in the Master Indenture as all 
revenues of the County derived from any source other than ad valorem taxation on real or personal property, which 
are legally available to make the payments required under the Indenture. 

 
The County collects a wide range of taxes and revenues to fund its annual operations.  Among the revenues 

collected by the County are certain Non-Ad Valorem Revenues which include fees for licenses and permits, funds 
received from the State under the State Revenue Sharing program, funds distributed to local governments from the 
State collected sales tax, charges for certain County services, fines and forfeitures, special assessments, interest 
earned on invested cash, federal and state categorical grants, and other miscellaneous revenue. 
 

The amounts and availability of any of the Non-Ad Valorem Revenues are subject to change, including 
reduction or elimination by change of State law or changes in the facts or circumstances according to which certain 
of the Non-Ad Valorem Revenues are allocated.  In addition, the amount of certain of the Non-Ad Valorem 
Revenues collected by the County are directly related to the general economy of the County.  Accordingly, adverse 
economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on the amount of Non-Ad Valorem Revenues collected by 
the County.  The County has pledged and may pledge in the future certain specified Non-Ad Valorem Revenues to 
obligations that it issues.  Such Non-Ad Valorem Revenues would be required to be applied to said obligations prior 
to use in meeting the County’s covenant for the Series 2016 Bonds.  The use of Non-Ad Valorem Revenues to make 
debt service payments is subject to the payment by the County of services and programs which are for essential 
public purposes affecting the health, welfare and safety of the inhabitants of the County or which are legally 
mandated by applicable law and is further subject in all respects to the provisions of Section 166.241 and Section 
129.07, Florida Statutes, which require local governments to have balanced budgets and which prohibit expenditure 
of funds that are not budgeted. 

 
The following table summarizes actual collections by the County of Non-Ad Valorem Revenues for the 

Fiscal Years ended September 30, 2011 through September 30, 2015. 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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County Non-Ad Valorem Revenues 
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2011 through September 30, 2015 

(Dollars in Thousands) 
 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 
License & Permit Fees $     19,881 $   19,420 $    18,078 $     16,503 $    16,067 
State Revenue Sharing 38,343 36,107 35,067 35,753 35,503 
Licenses (State Revenue) - - - - - 
Local Gov't 1/2 cent Sales Tax 62,163 59,895 55,940 51,379 48,958 
Tourist Tax 58,250 52,993 47,428 44,502 40,630 
Utility Services Taxes and Fire Rescue Tax 3,325 3,573 3,006 4,811 4,948 
Fines & Forfeitures 12,219 13,445 15,116 14,813 14,143 
Interest Earnings 5,181 3,826 1,162 4,721 8,159 
Charges for Services(2) 125,108 121,482 111,314 111,326 347,255 
Miscellaneous Services 19,508 21,903 20,074 28,142 22,967 
Other State Revenues 2,371 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 
Non-Revenue Sources/ Fund Balance(2) 52,485 39,562 66,999 36,715 276,827 
Federal/ State Grants 13,741 14,229 15,116 100,703 89,269 
Special Assessments 6 11 7 6 1,091 
Total Gross Non-Ad Valorem Revenues $   412,581 $  388,446 $  391,307 $   451,374 $   907,817 
(Less)  Operations Cost to the extent  

Not paid by Ad Valorem Taxes (319,871) (340,125) (314,868) (354,018) (643,539) 
Total Net Available Non-Ad Valorem 

Revenues(1) $    92,710 $    48,321 $    76,439 $     97,356 $   264,278 
    
 

(1)  Prior to payment of debt service on indebtedness payable from Non-Ad Valorem Revenues. 
(2)  The reported numbers for Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2012 and thereafter for Charges for Services do not include 

revenues related to the Sheriff’s Contractual Services Fund.  These revenues were included in reported numbers for Fiscal 
Year ended September 30, 2011 and prior Fiscal Years.  Additionally, the fund balance amounts for Fiscal Year ended 
September 30, 2012 and thereafter were adjusted to reflect the fund balance assigned to the subsequent year, as the amount 
reflected in Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2011 did not include amounts budgeted as reserves. 

Source: Broward County, Finance and Administrative Services Department. 
 
The County has incurred indebtedness payable from Non-Ad Valorem Revenues, a portion of which has 

priority over amounts payable from Non-Ad Valorem Revenues into the Bond Reserve Fund.  As of September 30, 
2015, the County has $139.185 million in indebtedness payable from its Non-Ad Valorem Revenues.  The 
maximum annual debt service on these outstanding obligations approximates $13.998 million.  Under covenants 
imposed through the bond resolutions and debt instruments approved by the Board, the County’s remaining debt 
service capacity is approximately $88.528 million, an amount which is in excess of the projected debt service on the 
Series 2016 Bonds.  The debt service on the Refunded Bonds and the outstanding Series 2006B Bonds was included 
in the amount of debt payable from Non-Ad Valorem Revenues, however the corresponding debt service amount 
was not included in the calculation of debt service capacity, as this is a secondary pledge. 
 
Limited Obligations 

THE SERIES 2016 BONDS ARE NOT AND SHALL NOT BE DEEMED AN INDEBTEDNESS OF 
THE COUNTY WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE, BUT ARE 
SPECIAL AND LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY, THE PRINCIPAL OF, PREMIUM, IF 
ANY, AND INTEREST ON WHICH ARE SECURED BY A FIRST LIEN ON AND PLEDGE OF THE 
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PLEDGED REVENUES. THE PLEDGED REVENUES ARE DEFINED IN THE MASTER INDENTURE 
TO MEAN (i) THE PROFESSIONAL SPORTS FRANCHISE FACILITIES TAX REVENUES, (ii) ALL 
PROCEEDS FROM THE SALES TAX REBATE, (iii) THE COUNTY PREFERRED REVENUE 
ALLOCATION AND (iv) MONEYS IN CERTAIN FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS CREATED PURSUANT TO 
THE INDENTURE, INCLUDING INVESTMENTS CREDITED THERETO, IN THE MANNER 
PROVIDED THEREIN. IN ADDITION, THE COUNTY HAS COVENANTED TO BUDGET AND 
APPROPRIATE NON-AD VALOREM REVENUES (BUT SOLELY AS DESCRIBED IN “SECURITY 
AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2016 BONDS – APPROPRIATIONS OF COUNTY 
NON-AD VALOREM REVENUE” HEREIN) TO THE EXTENT THAT PLEDGED REVENUES ARE 
INSUFFICIENT TO MAKE CERTAIN REQUIRED DEPOSITS TO THE BOND RESERVE FUND.  
NEITHER THE SERIES 2016 BONDS NOR THE PRINCIPAL THEREOF, PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR 
INTEREST THEREON WILL BE OR CONSTITUTE A PLEDGE OF OR LIEN UPON ANY PROPERTY 
OF OR IN THE COUNTY, INCLUDING THE FACILITY.  NEITHER THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT 
NOR THE GENERAL TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY, THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL 
SUBDIVISION THEREOF ARE PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2016 BONDS. 
 
Bond Reserve Fund 

The Indenture requires the County to maintain on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund an amount equal to the 
Reserve Requirement.  The Reserve Requirement is an amount which is the lesser of (i) fifty percent (50%) of the 
Maximum Debt Service Charges for all Bonds issued under the Indenture then outstanding, or (ii) the greatest 
amount allowable under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time (the “Code”).  Upon the 
issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds, the Reserve Requirement will be $6,315,393.70. 
 

The County may, in lieu of moneys required to be deposited in the Bond Reserve Fund or in substitution 
for all or a portion of the moneys on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund, cause to be deposited into the Bond Reserve 
Fund a Reserve Fund Credit Facility, which Reserve Fund Credit Facility shall be payable on any Interest Payment 
Date or Principal Payment Date on which a deficiency exists in the amount available under the Indenture for 
payment of the Series 2016 Bonds, which cannot be cured by moneys in the Bond Reserve Fund.  Upon the issuance 
of the Series 2016 Bonds, the Reserve Requirement for the Series 2016 Bonds shall be satisfied by the purchase of a 
Reserve Fund Credit Facility from Municipal Assurance Corp. (“MAC”) to be deposited into the Bond Reserve 
Fund.  See “RESERVE FUND CREDIT FACILITY” herein.  The existing Reserve Fund Credit Facility related to 
the Series 2006B Bonds will remain on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund. 
 
Additional Parity Bonds 

The Indenture does not provide for the issuance of additional Bonds on a parity with the Series 2016 Bonds 
other than for Facility Purposes, which is limited to completion of the Facility and the refunding or refinancing of 
Bonds or other obligations issued or incurred in connection with the Facility. 
 
Flow of Funds 

The Master Indenture establishes the Revenue Fund, including the Tax Account and the Facilities Account 
therein, the Bond Fund, including the Interest Account and the Principal Account therein, the Bond Reserve Fund, 
and the Surplus Fund, including the Reserve Account and the General Account therein.  The Third Supplemental 
Indenture establishes the following additional funds, accounts and subaccounts: within the Interest Account of the 
Bond Fund and the Principal Account of the Bond Fund, a Series 2016 Subaccount therein; within the Bond Reserve 
Fund, a Series 2016 Account therein; the Series 2016 Rebate Fund; and the Cost of Issuance Fund, including a 
Series 2016 Account therein. 
 

So long as Bonds are outstanding, the County shall, upon receipt, cause all Professional Sports Franchise 
Facilities Tax Revenues and all the proceeds of the Sales Tax Rebate to be deposited into the Tax Account of the 
Revenue Fund.  In addition, the County shall (i) cause the Operator to pay the County Preferred Revenue Allocation, 
not later than the seventh day preceding each Interest Payment Date, directly to the Trustee for deposit in the 
Facilities Account of the Revenue Fund, and (ii) unless otherwise provided in the Third Supplemental Indenture, 
cause any other revenue sources pledged to the payment of debt service to be paid to the Trustee for deposit into the 
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Facilities Account of the Revenue Fund.  There are no other revenue sources pledged to the payment of debt service 
of the Series 2016 Bonds. 
 

Moneys in the Revenue Fund shall be applied in the following order (capitalized terms herein are defined in 
the Master Indenture, a copy of which is included in APPENDIX C attached hereto): 
 

(1) In the event that Tax-Exempt Bonds are outstanding, moneys in the accounts of the Revenue Fund 
shall be applied to make the following deposits in the following order: 

 
(a) From the Tax Account into the Bond Fund: 

 
(i) Into the Interest Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue Allocation Date, 

and after giving effect to any amounts on deposit in that account and in the 
Capitalized Interest Account of the Construction Fund with respect to Tax-
Exempt Bonds, an amount sufficient to pay the interest due on all outstanding 
Tax-Exempt Bonds on the next Interest Payment Date; and 
 

(ii) Into the Principal Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue Allocation Date 
occurring in a Fiscal Year on which a Principal Payment Date occurs with 
respect to Tax-Exempt Bonds, and after giving effect to any amounts on deposit 
in that account with respect to Tax-Exempt Bonds, an amount such that, if the 
same amount were paid in each such Revenue Allocation Date preceding such 
next Principal Payment Date, the aggregate of the amounts so paid would be 
sufficient to pay the principal amount due on all outstanding Tax-Exempt Bonds 
on such next Principal Payment Date as a result of maturity or mandatory 
redemption from Amortization Requirements. 

 
(b) From the Facilities Account to the Bond Fund: 

 
(i) Into the Interest Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue Allocation Date, 

and after giving effect to any amounts on deposit in that account and in the 
Capitalized Interest Account of the Construction Fund with respect to Taxable 
Bonds, an amount sufficient to pay the interest due on all outstanding Taxable 
Bonds on the next Interest Payment Date; and 

 
(ii) Into the Principal Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue Allocation Date 

occurring in a Fiscal Year on which a Principal Payment Date occurs with 
respect to Taxable Bonds, and after giving effect to any amounts on deposit in 
that account with respect to Taxable Bonds, an amount such that, if the same 
amount were paid in each such Revenue Allocation Date preceding such next 
Principal Payment Date, the aggregate of the amounts so paid would be 
sufficient to pay the principal due on all outstanding Taxable Bonds on such 
next Principal Payment Date as a result of maturity or mandatory redemption 
from Amortization Requirements. 

 
(c) To the extent that the application of moneys from the Tax Account pursuant to clause (a) 

above is insufficient to satisfy the required deposits under said clause (a), moneys 
available in the Facilities Account after the application of clause (b) above shall be 
deposited, to the extent necessary, to make up deficiencies first, in the Interest Account 
and then, in the Principal Account with respect to Tax- Exempt Bonds. 

 
(d) To the extent that the application of moneys from the Facilities Account pursuant to 

clause (b) above is insufficient to satisfy the required deposits under said clause (b), 
moneys available in the Tax Account after the application of clause (a) above shall be 
deposited, to the extent necessary, to make up deficiencies first, in the Interest Account 
and then, in the Principal Account with respect to Taxable Bonds. 
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(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if after the application of moneys in the Revenue Fund as 
described in clauses (a) through (d) above and the transfer of moneys to the Bond Fund 
from the Surplus Fund and Bond Reserve Fund as described in the Master Indenture, (i) 
there are insufficient moneys in the Interest Account on any Interest Payment Date 
(which is not also a Principal Payment Date) to pay interest then due on all Bonds, the 
Trustee shall (a) to the extent that there are sufficient moneys on deposit in the Principal 
Account to make up such deficiency, transfer from the Principal Account moneys 
(without regard to source of deposit) in the amount of such deficiency to the Interest 
Account and apply such moneys, together with all moneys then on deposit in the Interest 
Account, to the payment of interest on the Bonds, or (b) to the extent that there are not 
sufficient moneys on deposit in the Principal Account to make up such deficiency, apply 
all moneys on deposit in the Bond Fund (without regard to source of deposit) as provided 
in the default provisions of the Master Indenture, or (ii) there are insufficient moneys in 
the Interest Account and the Principal Account on any Interest Payment Date (which is 
also a Principal Payment Date) to pay the Debt Service Charges then due on all Bonds, as 
applicable, the Trustee shall apply all moneys on deposit in the Bond Fund (without 
regard to source of deposit) as provided in the provisions of the Master Indenture 
concerning application of moneys upon an Event of Default. 

 
(f) First from the Tax Account and then from the Facilities Account to the Bond Reserve 

Fund: 
 

(i) on each Revenue Allocation Date following an Interest Payment Date or 
Principal Payment Date in which the amount on deposit in the Bond Reserve 
Fund falls below the Reserve Requirement because moneys were transferred 
from the Bond Reserve Fund to the Bond Fund pursuant to the provisions of the 
Master Indenture, one-half (1/2) of the amount required to make the balance in 
the Bond Reserve Fund equal to the Reserve Requirement, and 

 
(ii) on each Revenue Allocation Date following receipt by the County of notice that 

as a result of any valuation of investments in the Bond Reserve Fund, the 
balance in the Bond Reserve Fund is below an amount equal to ninety percent 
(90%) of the Reserve Requirement, one-half (1/2) of the amount required to 
make the balance in the Bond Reserve Fund equal to the Reserve Requirement; 

 
provided, that at such time as the amount on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund is not less 
than the Reserve Requirement, the obligation to make payments under this paragraph (f) 
shall end until such other time as a deficiency occurs as a result of the events described in 
(i) or (ii) above. 

 
(g) First from the Tax Account and then from the Facilities Account, into each Rebate Fund, 

on any date, amounts which are then necessary to ensure compliance with the 
requirements of the Code with respect to the Tax-Exempt Bonds for which such Rebate 
Fund was established. 

 
(h) In each case, on each Revenue Allocation Date, and from the sources of deposit described 

above, any amount which may be necessary to make up any previous deficiency in any of 
the required deposits described above and to make up any deficiency or loss in the 
respective funds or accounts to which deposits are required to be made in connection with 
investments or otherwise, including without limitation, the restoration of any amounts 
paid from any of those funds or accounts pursuant to the Indenture, except as otherwise 
provided expressly therein. 
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(i) To the Surplus Fund: 
 

(i) Into the Reserve Account of the Surplus Fund, on each Revenue Allocation 
Date, all of the moneys remaining in the Tax Account of the Revenue Fund on 
that Revenue Allocation Date, after making the payments required by the 
preceding paragraphs; and 

 
(ii) Into the General Account of the Surplus Fund, on each Revenue Allocation 

Date, all of the moneys remaining in the Facilities Account of the Revenue Fund 
on that Revenue Allocation Date, after making the payments required by the 
preceding paragraphs. 

 
(2) In the event only Taxable Bonds are outstanding, moneys in the Revenue Fund shall be applied 

first from the Tax Account and then from the Facilities Account to make the following deposits to 
the following funds and accounts in the following order: 

 
(a) To the Bond Fund: 

 
(i) Into the Interest Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue Allocation Date, 

and after giving effect to any amounts on deposit in that account and in the 
Capitalized Interest Account of the Construction Fund, an amount sufficient to 
pay the interest due on all outstanding Bonds on the next Interest Payment Date; 
and 

 
(ii) Into the Principal Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue Allocation Date 

occurring in a Fiscal Year on which a Principal Payment Date occurs, and after 
giving effect to any amounts on deposit in that account, an amount such that, if 
the same amount were paid in each such Revenue Allocation Date preceding 
such next Principal Payment Date, the aggregate of the amounts so paid would 
be sufficient to pay the principal amount due on all outstanding Bonds on such 
next Principal Payment Date as a result of maturity or mandatory redemption 
from Amortization Requirements. 

 
(b) To the Bond Reserve Fund: 
 

(i) on each Revenue Allocation Date following an Interest Payment Date or 
Principal Payment Date in which the amount on deposit in the Bond Reserve 
Fund falls below the Reserve Requirement because moneys were transferred 
from the Bond Reserve Fund to the Bond Fund pursuant to the provisions of the 
Master Indenture, one-half (1/2) of the amount required to make the balance in 
the Bond Reserve Fund equal to the Reserve Requirement, and 

 
(ii) on each Revenue Allocation Date following receipt by the County of notice that 

as a result of any valuation of investments in the Bond Reserve Fund, the 
balance in the Bond Reserve Fund is below an amount equal to ninety percent 
(90%) of the Reserve Requirement, one-half (1/2) of the amount required to 
make the balance in the Bond Reserve Fund equal to the Reserve Requirement; 
 
provided, that at such time as the amount on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund 
is not less than the Reserve Requirement, the obligation to make payments under 
this paragraph (b) shall end until such other time as a deficiency occurs as a 
result of the events described in (i) or (ii) above. 

 
(c) To each Rebate Fund, on any date, amounts which are then necessary to ensure 

compliance with the requirements of the Code with respect to any Tax-Exempt Bonds 
which were previously outstanding and for which such Rebate Fund was established. 
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(d) In each case, and on each Revenue Allocation Date, any amount which may be necessary 
to make up any previous deficiency in any of the required deposits described above and 
to make up any deficiency or loss in the respective funds or accounts to which deposits 
are required to be made in connection with investments or otherwise, including without 
limitation, the restoration of any amounts paid from any of those funds or accounts 
pursuant to the Indenture, except as provided otherwise expressly therein. 

 
(e) To the Surplus Fund: 
 

(i) Into the Reserve Account of the Surplus Fund, on each Revenue Allocation 
Date, all of the moneys remaining in the Tax Account of the Revenue Fund on 
that Revenue Allocation Date, after making the payments required by the 
preceding paragraphs; and 

(ii) Into the General Account of the Surplus Fund, on each Revenue Allocation 
Date, all of the moneys remaining in the Facilities Account of the Revenue Fund 
on that Revenue Allocation Date, after making the payments required by the 
preceding paragraphs. 

 
To the extent that investment earnings are credited to the Interest Account or the Principal Account in 

accordance with the Master Indenture or as a result of a transfer of investment earnings on any other fund or account 
held by the Trustee, future deposits to those Accounts shall be reduced by the amount so credited. 
 

If at the end of a Fiscal Year moneys remain in the Surplus Fund (and assuming there are no deficiencies 
then existing in the Bond Fund or the Bond Reserve Fund and that any payment obligations (e.g.  Credit Facility 
Reimbursement Obligations or County Reimbursement Obligations) which are then due and payable have been 
met), then the Trustee shall transfer the balance of the Surplus Fund to the County, which balance may be used for 
any lawful purpose of the County in accordance with and subject to the limitations of State law. 

 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 
 
The following table shows the debt service requirements on all Bonds outstanding under the Indenture upon 

issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds.  Debt service requirements for the Series 2016 Bonds consist in any year of the 
sum of the amounts required to pay (i) interest that is payable on March 1 and September 1 of each Fiscal Year, 
commencing March 1, 2017 and (ii) the principal payable on September 1 in each Fiscal Year, commencing on 
September 1, 2017. 
 

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS(1) 
 

Year 
(September 1) 

Outstanding 
Series 2006B 

Bonds 

Series 2016 Bonds Total Debt 
Service on 

Outstanding 
Bonds Principal Interest 

Total 
Debt Service 

2017 $4,435,482 $4,555,000 $3,072,312 $7,627,312 $12,062,794 
2018 4,365,620 4,950,000 3,305,900 8,255,900 12,621,520 
2019 4,366,913 5,200,000 3,058,400 8,258,400 12,625,313 
2020 4,364,926 5,455,000 2,798,400 8,253,400 12,618,326 
2021 4,364,361 5,730,000 2,525,650 8,255,650 12,620,011 
2022 4,369,628 6,015,000 2,239,150 8,254,150 12,623,778 
2023 4,372,387 6,320,000 1,938,400 8,258,400 12,630,787 
2024 4,369,350 6,630,000 1,622,400 8,252,400 12,621,750 
2025 4,370,217 6,965,000 1,290,900 8,255,900 12,626,117 
2026 4,369,087 7,310,000 942,650 8,252,650 12,621,737 
2027 3,775,362 6,275,000 577,150 6,852,150 10,627,512 
2028 3,778,829 6,585,000 263,400 6,848,400 10,627,229 

_________________ 
(1) Rounded to the nearest whole dollar. 

 
 
 

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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THE FACILITY AGREEMENTS 
 
 The Facility was completed on July 30, 1998 and the first event was held on September 19, 1998. The 
County’s Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Bonds, Series 1996A, the Professional Sports Facilities 
Tax and Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 1996B, the Series 2006A Bonds and the Series 2006B Bonds were issued 
to finance and refinance the construction of the Facility. Pursuant to such financing several agreements were entered 
into as described below.  
  
Definitions 

Definitions of terms used in capitalized form in this section and not otherwise defined in this Official 
Statement shall have the meanings set forth in the “Operating Agreement” or the “License Agreement” (collectively, 
the “Facility Agreements”).  Certain of these definitions are set forth below. 

 
The term “Contract Year” is defined in the Operating Agreement to mean the twelve month period 

commencing July 1 and ending on June 30 of the immediately following year, and shall refer to each Contract Year 
during the Term of the Operating Agreement or, following a termination of the Operating Agreement, any part 
thereof. 
 

The term “Facility Operating Expenses” is defined in the Operating Agreement to mean and include all 
expenses as determined on an accrual basis, made or incurred by the Operator or its designee or the Arena 
Management Firm, within the scope of Operator’s authority or responsibility under the Operating Agreement in 
managing and operating the Facility and incurred to obtain Facility Operating Revenue. 
 

The term “Facility Operating Revenues” is defined in the Operating Agreement to mean all revenues as 
determined on an accrual basis including, without limitation, revenues from the sale and/or licensing of Premium 
Seating (including deposits), revenues derived from the sale or licensing of personal seat licenses (including 
deposits), revenues from the sale of name sponsorship (including Naming Rights), Advertising Revenue, box office 
revenues, parking revenues, revenues from the sale of Consumable and Non-Consumable concessions, sponsorship 
revenues, rent and other fees under the License Agreement, all other licensing and use fee revenues, interest income 
(except interest earned on funds deposited in the Renewal and Replacement Account), forfeited security deposits, 
ticket convenience fees, equipment rental fees and Seat Use Charges, earned by the Operator (1) for the use of, 
operation, or admission to, the Facility or any portion thereof, (2) for the right to sell, or in respect of the sale of, any 
product or advertisement in the Facility including all rents, royalties, and concessions from tenants, Concessionaires, 
and Licensees, (3) from interest on or proceeds of investment of any Accounts (except the Renewal and 
Replacement Account) required to be maintained under the Operating Agreement, (4) for rental or use of the Facility 
equipment, or (5) as fees for services rendered at the Facility; but excluding, in all events, (i) sums received or 
collected by the Operator for and on behalf of and actually paid to a user of the Facility, (ii) any revenues reserved to 
the Team pursuant to the License Agreement and (iii) any Revenue Advances pursuant to Section 5.10 of the 
Operating Agreement. 
 

The term “Net Operating Income” is defined in the Operating Agreement to mean, as to each Contract Year 
during the Term, the net of Facility Operating Revenue for each such Contract Year less Facility Operating 
Expenses for such Contract Year distributed by, or on behalf of, the Operator pursuant to Section 5.2 of the 
Operating Agreement for such Contract Year. 
 

The term “Revenue Sharing Arrangement” is defined in the License Agreement to mean the obligations of 
the Operator to make distributions to the Team and the County pursuant to Article V (Financial Obligations) and 
Article XX (Additional Team and/or Operator Undertakings) of the Operating Agreement. 

 
Operating Agreement 

The Facility is operated by Arena Operating Company, Ltd., an Affiliate of the Team (“Operator”), 
pursuant to the Operating Agreement described below.  Under the terms of the Operating Agreement, the Operator 
has the ability to contract a professional facilities management and operating company specializing in sports and 
other public assembly facility operations to manage the Facility. The Board has the right under the Operating 
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Agreement, with proper notice and opportunity to dispute or cure, to appoint a new arena management firm if the 
Operator is not operating the Facility consistent with past practice (except maintenance) and with the Comparable 
Arena Standard as defined in the Operating Agreement. 
 

On December 8, 2015, the Board voted to approve the Amended and Restated Broward County Civic 
Arena Operating Agreement (the “Operating Agreement”) among the County, the Operator, the Florida Panthers 
Hockey Club, Ltd. (the “Team”) and Sunrise Sports & Entertainment, LLC (“SS&E”), amending, clarifying, 
consolidating, and restating the rights and obligations of the parties concerning the operation and management of the 
Facility set forth in the original agreement dated June 4, 1996, and adding SS&E, the parent company of the 
Operator, as a signatory thereto, effective upon execution through June 30, 2028. 

 
Under the Operating Agreement, the Operator shall be the sole and exclusive manager and operator of the 

Facility exercising full control and discretion in the operation, management and supervision of the Facility and its 
staff.  If the Operator desires to extend the Term of the Operating Agreement beyond June 30, 2028, the Operator 
shall notify the County of its desire to extend the Term by delivering written notice to the County not less than 
twelve months prior to the expiration of the Term. Any extension shall be negotiated in good faith and will be set 
forth by an amendment executed by the Operator and the County.  

 
The Operating Agreement provides SS&E with the right to terminate the Operating Agreement no earlier 

than July 1, 2023 upon satisfaction of the following conditions precedent: one year written notice; material 
compliance on the part of the Operator and the Team with the terms and conditions of the Facility Agreements; 
termination payments from the letter of credit as set forth in the Operating Agreement; and the Operator must have 
incurred net cumulative losses of not less than $100 million over the immediately preceding seven Contract Years 
based on audited annual financial statements.  Additionally, SS&E is required to make a Termination Payment, 
which is determined based on the Contract Year that includes the Effective Termination Date, as follows: 
$72,000,000 (Contract Year ending June 30, 2024); $64,000,000 (Contract Year ending June 30, 2025); $56,000,000 
(Contract Year ending June 30, 2026); $48,000,000 (Contract Year ending June 30, 2027); and $40,000,000 
(Contract Year ending June 30, 2028) (the “Termination Payment”).  The foregoing Termination Payment amounts 
are subject to reduction under the Operating Agreement in the event of a refunding of the Outstanding Bonds in an 
amount equal to the decrease in the County’s annual debt service obligation.  Accordingly, the Termination Payment 
will be reduced upon issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds in an amount equal to the decrease in the County’s 
Preferred Revenue Allocation (in effect, an amount equal to the decrease in debt service in each Contract Year). 

 
The Operating Agreement provides that the Operator will pay from Operating Revenues the County 

Preferred Revenue Allocation, which is an annual amount equal to the difference between: (a) the actual amount of 
the County’s annual debt service obligation on the Bonds (taking into account any reduction in annual debt service 
due to a refunding); and (b) $10 million per annum through Contract Year ending June 30, 2026; and $8 million per 
annum in Contract Years ending June 30, 2027 and June 30, 2028.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF 
PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2016 BONDS - The County Preferred Revenue Allocation” herein.  

 
The Operator is authorized and required, among other things, to: (a) collect all Facility Operating Revenue; 

(b) prepare and submit to the County an Annual Budget and Renewal and Replacement Account Budget; (c) 
commence, defend and settle legal actions, (d) employ, pay and supervise all personnel; (e) purchase and maintain 
all materials, tools, machinery, equipment and supplies necessary for the operation of the Facility; (f) maintain the 
Facility in accordance with accepted industry standards; (g) administer a preventive maintenance program for the 
machinery and equipment; (h) arrange for all utility and other services; (i) maintain all necessary licenses, permits 
and authorizations for operations of the Facility; (j) furnish to the County all reports and information concerning 
operation of the Facility; (k) procure and negotiate contracts with Concessionaires; (l) control the issuance of and 
issue all credentials for Events at the Facility; and (m) pay to the County, in the event of a default under the 
Guaranty Agreement, the amounts pledged thereunder  The Operator has the exclusive right to negotiate lease 
agreements for the use of the Facility including license and other agreements concerning the use, scheduling or 
performance of Events in the Facility.  Should a National Basketball Association (“NBA”) member club wish to 
become a licensee or tenant of the Facility, the County must be a party to any such negotiation and shall be the party 
granting the license or lease to such NBA team.  In addition, the Operator, together with the Team, shall be 
responsible for programs to promote the Facility; shall be the exclusive advertising agent for the sale and marketing 
of Facility advertising; shall have the exclusive right to market the naming rights to the Facility, with County 
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approval subject to standards of good taste; shall have sole control and responsibility for the operation and or 
contracting of food and beverage and merchandise concessions; shall arrange for and book events; shall control and 
coordinate all ticketing for events except Team hockey events (which shall be controlled by the Team); and, shall 
take the steps necessary, in cooperation with the City to assure that on- and off-site traffic control, police and 
security services are provided to the Facility. 
 

The Operator shall collect all Operating Revenue and shall make deposits of such revenues into the 
Operating Fund.  Facility Operating Revenues shall be distributed from the Operating Fund in the following order of 
priority: 
 

1. First, to the payment to the County of the County Preferred Revenue Allocation which payments 
shall be made seven (7) days prior to the dates on which debt service payments on the Bonds shall 
be due.  Operating Revenue shall in all instances be applied first to the County Preferred Revenue 
Allocation. 

 
2. Second, to the payment of Facility Operating Expenses (excluding the Management Fee) payable 

by Operator in the ordinary course of business, as and when they become due, including without 
limitation, payments on the Completion Bonds and pursuant to the Sawgrass Arena Ramps 
Agreement. 
 

3. Third, in payment of the Supplemental County Preferred Revenue Payment in any Contract Year 
pursuant to the Operating Agreement. 
 

4. Thereafter, the Operator may distribute funds from the Operating Fund to the Team at any time 
provided that such distribution shall not prevent the Operator from timely making the distributions 
discussed herein.  No distribution to the Team shall be made of any of the proceeds of the Annual 
Contributions. 
 

On December 8, 2015 the Board also adopted budget Resolution No. 2015-720 transferring $12,000,000 
from the reserve within the Tourist Tax Capital Fund for the purpose of providing the funding for the County’s 
Annual Contribution in the first year of the amended and restated Operating Agreement. 
 
 The revisions to the Operating Agreement approved by the County on December 8, 2015 included, among 
others, the following provisions: 
 

1) The County shall make Annual Contributions in the aggregate amount of $86 million through Contract 
Year ending June 30, 2028, subject to reduction under the Operating Agreement in the event of a 
refunding of the Outstanding Bonds equal to the decrease in the County’s annual debt service 
obligation.  The Annual Contributions are as follows: $12 million in Contract Years ending June 30, 
2016 and 2017; $10 million in Contract Years ending June 30, 2018 and 2019; $8 million in Contract 
Years ending June 30, 2020 and 2021; $6 million in Contract Years ending June 30, 2022 and 2023; $4 
million in Contract Years ending June 30, 2024 and 25; and $2 million in Contract Years ending June 
30, 2026, 2027 and 2028.  A minimum of $1.5 million of the Annual Contributions shall be dedicated 
to help attract major events to the Facility over the Term. 

 
2) The Operator shall establish a renewal and replacement account and shall make annual contributions in 

an average minimum amount of $3 million per Contract Year (or a minimum of $39 million over the 
Term). 

 
3) The County shall have a right to receive a 10% share of net profits upon a change in control of the 

Team and Operator or SS&E, and a share of the expansion fees payable to the Team following an NHL 
expansion process; and the County shall participate in the Consolidated Revenue of SS&E to the extent 
the Consolidated Revenue exceeds certain thresholds, ranging from $130 million in Contract Year 
ending June 30, 2015, to $170 million in Contract Years ending June 30, 2025 through 2028. 
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4) The current owners of the Team, the Operator and SS&E (currently, Vincent Viola and Douglas Cifu) 
shall provide to the County an irrevocable Letter of Credit from a federally or state-chartered bank 
reasonably acceptable to the County, in an initial amount equal to $18 million, and thereafter in an 
amount not less than the undrawn balance of the Letter of Credit being replaced or such greater or 
lesser amount as indicated in the schedule below: 
 

Date Amount of Change New Letter of Credit Amount 
July 1, 2016 $12,000,000.00 $30,000,000.00 
July 1, 2017 10,000,000.00 40,000,000.00
July 1, 2018 10,000,000.00 50,000,000.00
July 1, 2019 8,000,000.00 58,000,000.00
July 1, 2020 8,000,000.00 66,000,000.00
July 1, 2021 6,000,000.00 72,000,000.00
July 1, 2022 - 72,000,000.00
July 1, 2023 - 72,000,000.00
July 1, 2024 (8,000,000.00) 64,000,000.00
July 1, 2025 (8,000,000.00) 56,000,000.00
July 1, 2026 (8,000,000.00) 48,000,000.00
July 1, 2027 (8,000,000.00) 40,000,000.00

 
The Letter of Credit shall be security for the financial obligations of the Team, the Operator and 
SS&E, to include: the County’s 10% share of net profits arising from the sale of a controlling interest 
in the Team; the County’s share of the expansion fees payable to the Team following an NHL 
expansion process; and the Termination Payment, or upon the occurrence of a bankruptcy event 
involving the Team, the Operator, or SS&E, or upon cancellation or non-renewal of the Letter of 
Credit as required by the Operating Agreement.  The Letter of Credit issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, 
N.A., Tampa, Florida, in the face amount of $30 million is renewable annually in accordance with the 
schedule above. 

 
License Agreement 

On December 8, 2015, the Board approved the Amended and Restated Broward County Civic Arena 
License Agreement (the “License Agreement”) among the County, the Operator, the Team and SS&E, amending, 
clarifying, consolidating, and restating the rights and obligations of the parties concerning the conduct of Florida 
Panthers hockey games at the Facility, effective upon execution through June 30, 2028. 

 
If the Team is able to obtain and deliver to the County an opinion of the County’s bond counsel for any tax-

exempt Bonds stating that the extension term will not adversely impact the tax-exempt status of such obligations, 
and the Operator and the County have agreed to an extension of the Term of the Operating Agreement, the Team 
shall have the option and right to extend the term of the License Agreement upon the terms and conditions agreed to 
by the County and the Operator, including the duration of such extension and in accordance with the amendment to 
the Operating Agreement relating to such extension.  The Team must exercise such extension option no less than 
twelve months prior to the expiration date of the License Agreement. 
 

The License Agreement requires the Team to pay to the County the Base Rent (defined as $7,500 plus 
applicable sales taxes for each Home Game played at the Facility during the Hockey Season up to a maximum 
amount of $307,500.00 per Hockey Season during the License Term) and Incentive Rent (defined as an amount to 
be paid by Team to Operator annually on or before the first day of the second month following the conclusion of 
each Contract Year during the License Term, equal to the difference between (i) five percent (5%) of Ticket 
Receipts for each Home Game played at the Facility, and (ii) the sum of Base Rent and Pass Through Expenses (up 
to the Pass Through Expenses Cap) incurred.  In the event that additional financing is required to improve and 
enhance the Facility, the Team will be obligated to pay a supplemental rent to the Operator to cover all of the 
County’s debt service costs for such financing, which will be paid by the Operator to the County as Incremental 
County Preferred Revenue Allocation. 
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The License Agreement provides that the Team will retain all Ticket Receipts, Team Concession Revenues, 
revenues received in connection with Sponsor Signs, sponsorship receipts, including pay television, television and 
radio broadcasting, promotional and/or Team sponsorship fees received or collected in connection with the conduct 
of Hockey Events, revenues from the sale of Non-Consumable Concessions sold during Hockey Events and other 
items sold at the Team Retail Store, and all distributions to Team of Net Operating Income pursuant to the Revenue 
Sharing Arrangement.  The Team bears all expenses related to operations of the Team, its office space, and the 
Team Retail Store.  All other revenue from operations is Operating Revenue and subject to the Revenue Sharing 
Arrangement, as defined herein. 
 

The Team has covenanted and agreed that from the date of commencement of the License Agreement and 
continuing to the License Expiration Date, the Team shall play all of its Home Games at the Facility and shall not 
play any of its Home Games at any other location, except during an Abatement Period.  The Team is deemed to have 
violated this Non-Relocation Covenant if it executes a contract to play its Home Games at any other location.  In the 
event of such violation, the County has the absolute right, in addition to other rights and remedies, to compel the 
Team to comply with this covenant by appropriate specific performance, injunction or other equitable proceedings 
in the circuit court or federal court located within the County.  The Team has waived any requirement that the 
County would have to post bond or other collateral as a condition for the County to obtain specific performance or 
injunctive relief. 
 
City of Sunrise Agreement  

The County, the Team and the City executed a Letter of Agreement, as amended (the “Sunrise 
Agreement”) outlining the duties, commitments and responsibilities of the parties with respect to locating and 
operating the Facility in Sunrise, Florida. 
 

In connection with the operation of the Facility, the City agreed to (i) provide reasonable and necessary 
traffic management and security for hockey games and other non-tenant events, (ii) waive permit fees for 
pyrotechnics and provide fire inspectors at no charge to the Facility, and (iii) provide, at no charge to the Facility, a 
paramedic unit for all hockey games, free emergency transport for injured hockey players, a hazardous materials 
response unit, usual and ordinary clean up services, and other services.  In addition, the City has agreed to provide 
customary City services for maintenance of all public streets, lend certain municipally owned heavy equipment, 
provide solid waste collection and hauling services, all at no cost or at the City’s cost of such services.  The parties 
have also agreed to cooperate to bring major sporting events to the Facility. 
 
Completion Debt 

In accordance with the Development Agreement entered into between the County and the Arena 
Development Company, Ltd. (the “Project Developer”), an Affiliate of the Team, the County was obligated to issue 
completion debt so long as the Team was obligated to pay the debt service and issuance costs on the completion 
debt.  Completion debt was issued by the County in 1999.  Such debt was not issued under the Indenture, but was 
issued as variable rate taxable commercial paper under the County’s commercial paper program.  Such completion 
debt was refinanced in 2000 with fixed-rate taxable bonds issued by the First Florida Governmental Financing 
Commission.  The completion debt was partially advance refunded in 2005 in order to realize debt service savings 
and is currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $5,390,000, with maximum annual debt service of 
$624,232.50 and a final maturity of 2028. The completion debt is secured by the County’s covenant to budget and 
appropriate Non-Ad Valorem Revenue. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 
2016 BONDS – Appropriations of County Non-Ad Valorem Revenue” herein. Pursuant to the terms of the License 
Agreement, in the event completion debt for the Facility is issued, the Team is obligated to pay supplemental rent to 
the Operator and the Operator shall include these amounts as a part of the County Incremental Preferred Revenue 
Allocation pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement. 

 
The Board approved on December 8, 2015 a Mutual Release and Termination of Development Agreement 

between the County and the Project Developer. Under such agreement, the parties recognized that the Project 
Developer developed, constructed and completed the Facility as required and that there were no obligations or 
responsibilities under the existing development agreement between the County and the Project Developer.  
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Furthermore, under the Mutual Release and Termination of Development Agreement, certain development rights 
were conveyed and quit claimed by the Project Developer to the County. 

 
RESERVE FUND CREDIT FACILITY 

 
Upon the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds, the County will meet the Reserve Requirement for the Series 

2016 Bonds by purchasing a Reserve Fund Credit Facility from MAC, to be deposited in the Bond Reserve Fund.  
See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2016 BONDS – Bond Reserve Fund” and “ 
– Municipal Assurance Corp.” herein.  In the event MAC becomes obligated to make payments thereunder, no 
assurance is given that such event will not adversely affect the market price of the Series 2016 Bonds or the 
marketability (liquidity) for the Series 2016 Bonds. 
 

Neither the County nor the Underwriters have made an independent investigation into the claims paying 
ability of MAC and no assurance or representation regarding the financial strength or projected financial strength of 
MAC is given.  Thus, when making an investment decision, potential investors should carefully consider the ability 
of the County to pay principal and interest on the Series 2016 Bonds and the claims paying ability of MAC 
particularly over the life of the investment. 

 
MAC has provided the following information for inclusion in this Official Statement. 
 

Municipal Assurance Corp.  

MAC is a New York domiciled financial guaranty insurance company and an indirect subsidiary of 
Assured Guaranty Ltd. (“AGL”), a Bermuda-based holding company whose shares are publicly traded and are listed 
on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “AGO”.  AGL, through its operating subsidiaries, provides 
credit enhancement products to the U.S. and global public finance, infrastructure and structured finance markets.  
Neither AGL nor any of the shareholders or affiliates of AGL, other than MAC, is obligated to pay any debts of 
MAC or any claims under any insurance policy issued by MAC.   

MAC is wholly owned by Municipal Assurance Holdings Inc., which, in turn, is owned 61% by Assured 
Guaranty Municipal Corp. and 39% by Assured Guaranty Corp.  

MAC’s financial strength is rated “AA” (stable outlook) by S&P and “AA+” (stable outlook) by Kroll 
Bond Rating Agency, Inc. (“KBRA”).  Each rating of MAC should be evaluated independently.  An explanation of 
the significance of the above ratings may be obtained from the applicable rating agency.  The above ratings are not 
recommendations to buy, sell or hold any security, and such ratings are subject to revision or withdrawal at any time 
by the rating agencies, including withdrawal initiated at the request of MAC in its sole discretion.  In addition, the 
rating agencies may at any time change MAC’s long-term rating outlooks or place such ratings on a watch list for 
possible downgrade in the near term.  Any downward revision or withdrawal of any of the above ratings, the 
assignment of a negative outlook to such ratings or the placement of such ratings on a negative watch list may have 
an adverse effect on the market price of any security guaranteed by MAC.  MAC only guarantees scheduled 
principal and scheduled interest payments payable by the issuer of bonds insured by MAC on the date(s) when such 
amounts were initially scheduled to become due and payable (subject to and in accordance with the terms of the 
relevant insurance policy), and does not guarantee the market price or liquidity of the securities it insures, nor does it 
guarantee that the ratings on such securities will not be revised or withdrawn. 

Current Financial Strength Ratings 

On July 8, 2016, KBRA issued a financial guaranty surveillance report in which it affirmed the insurance 
financial strength rating of “AA+”, with a stable outlook, of MAC.  MAC can give no assurance as to any further 
ratings action that KBRA may take. 

On July 27, 2016, S&P issued a credit rating report in which it affirmed MAC’s financial strength rating of 
“AA” (stable outlook).  MAC can give no assurance as to any further ratings action that S&P may take.   
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For more information regarding MAC’s financial strength ratings and the risks relating thereto, see AGL’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. 

Capitalization of MAC 

As of June 30, 2016, MAC’s policyholders’ surplus and contingency reserve were approximately $677 
million and its unearned premium reserve was approximately $400 million, in each case, determined in accordance 
with statutory accounting principles. 

Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference 

Portions of the following documents filed by AGL with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“SEC”) that relate to MAC are incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and shall be deemed to be a 
part hereof:  

(i) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 (filed by AGL with 
the SEC on February 26, 2016);  

(ii) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2016 (filed by AGL 
with the SEC on May 5, 2016); and 

(iii) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016 (filed by AGL 
with the SEC on August 4, 2016). 

All financial statements of MAC and all other information relating to MAC included in, or as exhibits to, 
documents filed by AGL with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, excluding Current Reports or portions thereof “furnished” under Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of Form 8-K, after 
the filing of the last document referred to above and before the termination of the offering of the Series 2016 Bonds 
shall be deemed incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and to be a part hereof from the respective 
dates of filing such documents.  Copies of materials incorporated by reference are available over the internet at the 
SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov, at AGL’s website at http://www.assuredguaranty.com, or will be provided 
upon request to Municipal Assurance Corp.:  1633 Broadway, New York, New York 10019, Attention:  
Communications Department (telephone (212) 974-0100).  Except for the information referred to above, no 
information available on or through AGL’s website shall be deemed to be part of or incorporated in this Official 
Statement. 

Any information regarding MAC included herein under the caption “RESERVE FUND CREDIT 
FACILITY – Municipal Assurance Corp.” or included in a document incorporated by reference herein (collectively, 
the “MAC Information”) shall be modified or superseded to the extent that any subsequently included MAC 
Information (either directly or through incorporation by reference) modifies or supersedes such previously included 
MAC Information.  Any MAC Information so modified or superseded shall not constitute a part of this Official 
Statement, except as so modified or superseded. 

Miscellaneous Matters 

MAC makes no representation regarding the Series 2016 Bonds or the advisability of investing in the 
Series 2016 Bonds.  In addition, MAC has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does 
not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or 
disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information 
regarding MAC supplied by MAC and presented under the heading “RESERVE FUND CREDIT FACILITY.” 
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ENFORCEABILITY OF REMEDIES 
 

The remedies available to Holders of the Series 2016 Bonds are set forth in the Indenture.  Such remedies 
do not include acceleration.  The remedies available to the Holders of the Series 2016 Bonds upon an Event of 
Default under the Indenture are in many respects dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to 
discretion and delay.  Under existing constitutional and statutory law and judicial decisions, including specifically 
Title 11 of the United States Code (the federal bankruptcy code), the remedies provided with respect to the Series 
2016 Bonds pursuant to the Indenture may not be readily available or may be limited.  The various legal opinions 
delivered or to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds will be qualified as to the 
enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, 
principles of equity, or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally. 
 

TAX COVENANTS CONCERNING THE SERIES 2016 BONDS 
 
 The County covenants in the Indenture that so long as any Series 2016 Bonds remain outstanding for 
federal income tax purposes, it shall comply with all requirements of the Code necessary to maintain the exclusion 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2016 Bonds, including any arbitrage 
rebate requirements, except to the extent that not to so comply would, in the Opinion of Co-Bond Counsel, not result 
in the interest payable on the Series 2016 Bonds being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes 
under the Code.  The County acknowledges that if the net present value of the Private Payments actually received 
through September 1 of any year, together with the net present value of the Private Payments reasonably expected to 
be received over the remaining term of the Series 2016 Bonds, exceeds the Private Payments Cap, the County must, 
and covenants that it will, take such remedial action, including retiring and/or defeasing outstanding Series 2016 
Bonds, as is necessary in the Opinion of Co-Bond Counsel to maintain the exclusion from gross income of interest 
on the Series 2016 Bonds. 

 
TAX MATTERS 

 
General 

The Code establishes certain requirements which must be met subsequent to the issuance of the Series 2016 
Bonds in order that interest on the Series 2016 Bonds be and remain excluded from gross income for purposes of 
federal income taxation.  Non-compliance may cause interest on the Series 2016 Bonds to be included in federal 
gross income retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds, regardless of the date on which such non-
compliance occurs or is ascertained.  These requirements include, but are not limited to, provisions which prescribe 
yield and other limits within which the proceeds of the Series 2016 Bonds and the other amounts are to be invested 
and require that certain investment earnings on the foregoing must be rebated on a periodic basis to the Treasury 
Department of the United States.  The County has covenanted to comply with such requirements in order to maintain 
the exclusion from federal gross income of the interest on the Series 2016 Bonds. 

In the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel, assuming compliance with certain covenants, under existing laws, 
regulations, judicial decisions and rulings, interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is excluded from gross income for 
purposes of federal income taxation.  Interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes 
of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals or corporations; however, interest on the Series 2016 
Bonds may be subject to the federal alternative minimum tax when any Series 2016 Bond is held by a corporation.  
The federal alternative minimum taxable income of a corporation must be increased by seventy-five percent (75%) 
of the excess of such corporation’s adjusted current earnings over its alternative minimum taxable income (before 
this adjustment and the alternative tax net operating loss deduction).  “Adjusted Current Earnings” will include 
interest on the Series 2016 Bonds.   

Except as described above, Co-Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding other federal income tax 
consequences resulting from the ownership of, receipt or accrual of interest on, or disposition of Series 2016 Bonds.  
Prospective purchasers of Series 2016 Bonds should be aware that the ownership of Series 2016 Bonds may result in 
collateral federal income tax consequences, including (i) the denial of a deduction for interest on indebtedness 
incurred or continued to purchase or carry Series 2016 Bonds; (ii) the reduction of the loss reserve deduction for 
property and casualty insurance companies by fifteen percent (15%) of certain items, including interest on Series 
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2016 Bonds; (iii) the inclusion of interest on Series 2016 Bonds in earnings of certain foreign corporations doing 
business in the United States for purposes of the branch profits tax; (iv) the inclusion of interest on Series 2016 
Bonds in passive income subject to federal income taxation of certain Subchapter S corporations with Subchapter C 
earnings and profits at the close of the taxable year; and (v) the inclusion of interest on Series 2016 Bonds in 
“modified adjusted gross income” by recipients of certain Social Security and Railroad Retirement benefits for the 
purposes of determining whether such benefits are included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

As to questions of fact material to the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel, Co-Bond Counsel will rely upon 
representations and covenants made on behalf of the County, certificates of appropriate officers and certificates of 
public officials (including certifications as to the use of proceeds of the Series 2016 Bonds and of the property 
financed or refinanced thereby), without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation. 

PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP, SALE OR DISPOSITION OF THE SERIES 2016 BONDS AND THE 
RECEIPT OR ACCRUAL OF THE INTEREST THEREON MAY HAVE ADVERSE FEDERAL TAX 
CONSEQUENCES FOR CERTAIN INDIVIDUAL AND CORPORATE BONDHOLDERS, INCLUDING, BUT 
NOT LIMITED TO, THE CONSEQUENCES DESCRIBED ABOVE.  PROSPECTIVE BONDHOLDERS 
SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR TAX SPECIALISTS FOR INFORMATION IN THAT REGARD. 

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding 

Interest paid on tax-exempt bonds such as the Series 2016 Bonds is subject to information reporting to the 
Internal Revenue Service in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable obligations.  This reporting requirement 
does not affect the excludability of interest on the Series 2016 Bonds from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes.  However, in conjunction with that information reporting requirement, the Code subjects certain non-
corporate owners of Series 2016 Bonds, under certain circumstances, to “backup withholding” at the rate specified 
in the Code with respect to payments on the Series 2016 Bonds and proceeds from the sale of Series 2016 Bonds.  
Any amount so withheld would be refunded or allowed as a credit against the federal income tax of such owner of 
Series 2016 Bonds.  This withholding generally applies if the owner of Series 2016 Bonds (i) fails to furnish the 
payor such owner’s social security number or other taxpayer identification number (“TIN”), (ii) furnished the payor 
an incorrect TIN, (iii) fails to properly report interest, dividends, or other “reportable payments” as defined in the 
Code, or (iv) under certain circumstances, fails to provide the payor or such owner’s securities broker with a 
certified statement, signed under penalty of perjury, that the TIN provided is correct and that such owner is not 
subject to backup withholding.  Prospective purchasers of the Series 2016 Bonds may also wish to consult with their 
tax advisors with respect to the need to furnish certain taxpayer information in order to avoid backup withholding. 

Other Tax Matters 

During recent years, legislative proposals have been introduced in Congress, and in some cases enacted, 
that altered certain federal tax consequences resulting from the ownership of obligations that are similar to the Series 
2016 Bonds.  In some cases, these proposals have contained provisions that altered these consequences on a 
retroactive basis.  Such alteration of federal tax consequences may have affected the market value of obligations 
similar to the Series 2016 Bonds.  From time to time, legislative proposals are pending which could have an effect 
on both the federal tax consequences resulting from ownership of the Series 2016 Bonds and their market value.  No 
assurance can be given that legislative proposals will not be enacted that would apply to, or have an adverse effect 
upon, the Series 2016 Bonds.  For example, in connection with federal deficit reduction, job creation and tax law 
reform efforts, proposals have been and others are likely to be made that could significantly reduce the benefit of, or 
otherwise affect, the exclusion from gross income of interest on obligations like the Series 2016 Bonds.  There can 
be no assurance that any such legislation or proposal will be enacted, and if enacted, what form it may take.  The 
introduction or enactment of any such legislative proposals may affect, perhaps significantly, the market price for, or 
marketability of, the Series 2016 Bonds.   

Prospective purchasers of the Series 2016 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors as to the tax 
consequences of owning the Series 2016 Bonds in their particular state or local jurisdiction and regarding any 
pending or proposed federal or state tax legislation, regulations or litigation, as to which Co-Bond Counsel expresses 
no opinion. 
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Tax Treatment of Bond Premium 

The difference between the principal amount of the Series 2016 Bonds (collectively, the “Premium 
Bonds”), and the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers or similar persons or 
organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers) at which price a substantial amount of such 
Premium Bonds of the same maturity and, if applicable, interest rate, was sold constitutes to an initial purchaser 
amortizable bond premium which is not deductible from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  The amount 
of amortizable bond premium for a taxable year is determined actuarially on a constant interest rate basis over the 
term of each of the Premium Bonds, which ends on the earlier of the maturity or call date for each of the Premium 
Bonds which minimizes the yield on such Premium Bonds to the purchaser.  For purposes of determining gain or 
loss on the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond, an initial purchaser who acquires such obligation in the 
initial offering is required to decrease such purchaser’s adjusted basis in such Premium Bond annually by the 
amount of amortizable bond premium for the taxable year.  The amortization of bond premium may be taken into 
account as a reduction in the amount of tax-exempt income for purposes of determining various other tax 
consequences of owning such Premium Bonds.  Bondholders of the Premium Bonds are advised that they should 
consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning such Premium 
Bonds. 
 

DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY FLORIDA BLUE SKY REGULATIONS 
 

Pursuant to Section 517.051, Florida Statutes, as amended, no person may directly or indirectly offer or sell 
securities of the County except by an offering circular containing full and fair disclosure of all defaults as to 
principal or interest on its obligations since December 31, 1975, as provided by rule of the Florida Department of 
Banking and Finance (the “Department”). Pursuant to Rule 69W-400.003, Florida Administrative Code, the 
Department has required the disclosure of the amounts and types of defaults, any legal proceedings resulting from 
such defaults, whether a trustee or receiver has been appointed over the assets of the County, and certain additional 
financial information, unless the County believes in good faith that such information would not be considered 
material by a reasonable investor.  The County is not and has not been in default on any bond issued since December 
31, 1975 which would be considered material by a reasonable investor. 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
 

The County will covenant for the benefit of the Series 2016 Bondholders to provide certain financial 
information and operating data relating to the County and the Series 2016 Bonds in each year, and to provide notices 
of the occurrence of certain enumerated notice events.  The County has agreed to file annual financial information 
and operating data and its audited financial statements with the centralized information repository or such other 
municipal securities information repository as may be required by law, from time to time, the information set forth 
in the Bond Resolution, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2016. 

 
The specific nature of the financial information, operating data, and of the type of events which trigger a 

disclosure obligation, and other details of the undertaking are described in “APPENDIX F - Form of Continuing 
Disclosure Certificate” attached hereto. The Continuing Disclosure Certificate shall be executed by the County prior 
to the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds.  These covenants have been made in order to assist the Underwriters in 
complying with the continuing disclosure requirements of Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “Rule”). 

With respect to the Series 2016 Bonds, no party other than the County is obligated to provide, nor is 
expected to provide, any continuing disclosure information with respect to the Rule. 

The following information describes the instances of non-compliance with its continuing disclosure 
undertakings, known to the County, in the past five years. 

The County has inadvertently failed to fully comply with its continuing disclosure undertakings with 
respect to rating changes, timely filings, inclusion of certain operating data related to debt service capacity, debt 
service summary, tax certificates held by the County and cargo tonnage, and certain other non-substantive 
requirements.  Upon realizing the failure to comply, the County reported such circumstances in accordance with the 
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requirements of its continuing disclosure undertakings made with respect to the Rule, and cured such filing 
deficiencies.  In particular, for Fiscal Year 2011, the County timely filed its annual audited financial report (the 
“CAFR”) and certain operating data, but failed to include operating data related to tax certificates held by the 
County and cargo tonnage.  This omitted operating data was filed on March 29, 2013.  Moreover, a few CUSIPs 
were not linked to new filings posted electronically.  The CUSIP links were cured on September 23, 2013.  In 2014, 
the County made late filings with respect to rating upgrades of its port facilities revenue bonds.  On November 24, 
2014 the County self-reported, as part of the Municipalities Continuing Disclosure Cooperation Initiative, that it 
failed to disclose its failure to comply with its continuing disclosure undertakings with respect to ratings downgrades 
that took place on April 25, 2011 in four of the County’s official statements from November 2011 to April 2012.  

The County is a borrower under loans from the First Florida Governmental Financing Commission (the 
“Commission”), funded by the Commission’s revenue bonds, Series 2002A, Series 2005B, Series 2006 and Series 
2007 and, as such, an “obligated person” under the Rule.  Pursuant to its undertakings with the Commission, the 
County is required to file certain annual financial information, including its CAFR and certain operating data, with 
the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, not later than 180 days after the end of the County’s Fiscal Year.  For 
Fiscal Year 2013, the County timely filed its CAFR, but failed to include certain operating data related to debt 
service capacity and debt service summary.  The omitted data was filed on July 28, 2016. 

The County does not believe that any past failure to comply with its continuing disclosure undertakings 
was material to bondholders.  The County has retained Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. (“DAC”) as its 
dissemination agent. Working with DAC, the County has adopted a municipal securities disclosure policy to help 
ensure compliance with its continuing disclosure undertakings made with respect to the Rule. 

LITIGATION 
 

There is no litigation of any nature now pending or, to the best knowledge of the County, threatened against 
the County which, in the opinion of the County Attorney, will have any material adverse effect on the County’s 
ability to pay the Series 2016 Bonds or to collect Pledged Revenues. 
 

At the time of the delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds, the County will deliver a certificate to the effect that 
no litigation or other proceedings are pending or, to the best knowledge of the County, threatened against the County 
in the Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida in and for Broward County and in the 
United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida or in any other court for which the County has 
received actual notice in any way (i) restraining or enjoining the issuance, sale or delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds 
or (ii) questioning or affecting the validity of the Series 2016 Bonds or any proceedings of the County taken with 
respect to the authorization, sale, execution or issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds or of the pledge of any moneys or 
other security provided for the Series 2016 Bonds. 
 

The County currently is actively engaged in numerous lawsuits.  These include cases where the redress 
sought is for other than monetary damages, i.e., mandamus, injunction, declaratory relief and cases for which the 
County has insurance or is named as a nominal defendant.  The County Attorney is of the opinion that the possible 
exposure resulting from any ultimate resolution of litigation in which the County is a defendant would not have a 
material adverse economic effect upon the County. 

LEGAL MATTERS 
 

Certain legal matters incident to the validity of the Series 2016 Bonds and the issuance thereof by the 
County are subject to the approval of Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Tampa, Florida, and the Law Offices of Steve E. 
Bullock, P.A., Miramar, Florida, Co-Bond Counsel, whose approving opinions substantially in the form attached 
hereto as “APPENDIX D – Form of Co-Bond Counsel Opinion,” will be delivered concurrently with the issuance 
and delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds.  The actual legal opinion to be delivered may vary from that text if necessary 
to reflect facts and law on the date of delivery.  The opinions will speak only as of their date, and subsequent 
distribution of the opinions by recirculation of the Official Statement or otherwise shall create no implication that 
Co-Bond Counsel has reviewed or expressed any opinions concerning any of the matters referenced in the opinions 
subsequent to their date. 
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Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the County by the Office of the County Attorney, Broward 
County, Florida.  Certain matters relating to disclosure will be passed upon for the County by Locke Lord LLP, 
West Palm Beach, Florida, and the Law Offices of Carol D. Ellis, P.A., West Palm Beach, Florida, as Co-Disclosure 
Counsel, and for the Underwriters by their counsel, Moskowitz, Mandell, Salim & Simowitz, P.A., Fort Lauderdale, 
Florida. 

UNDERWRITING 
 

The Series 2016 Bonds are being purchased by Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, for itself and as representative 
of the Underwriters identified on the cover page hereof, at an aggregate purchase price of $83,566,590.21 
(representing the par amount of the Series 2016 Bonds of $71,990,000.00, plus bond premium of $11,813,227.15, 
and less an Underwriters’ discount of $236,636.94).  The Underwriters’ obligations are subject to certain conditions 
precedent described in the Purchase Agreement entered into between the County and the Underwriters, and they will 
be obligated to purchase all of the Series 2016 Bonds if any Series 2016 Bonds are purchased.  The Series 2016 
Bonds may be offered and sold to certain dealers (including dealers depositing such Bonds into investment trusts) at 
prices lower or yields higher than such public offering prices, and such public offering prices or yields may be 
changed, from time to time, by the Underwriters. 

 
The Underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various 

activities, which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, investment 
management, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities.  Certain of the Underwriters and 
their respective affiliates have, from time to time, performed, and may in the future perform, various financial 
advisory and investment banking services for the County, for which they received or will receive customary fees and 
expenses.  

 
Morgan Stanley, parent company of Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC., an underwriter of the Series 2016 Bonds, 

has entered into a retail distribution arrangement with its affiliate Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC.  As part of 
the distribution arrangement, Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC may distribute municipal securities to retail investors 
through the financial advisor network of Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC.  As part of this arrangement, Morgan 
Stanley & Co. LLC may compensate Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC for its selling efforts with respect to the 
Series 2016 Bonds. 

CONTINGENT FEES 
 

 The County has retained Co-Bond Counsel, Co-Disclosure Counsel, and the Financial Advisor with respect 
to the authorization, sale, execution and delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds.  Payment of the fees of such 
professionals and an underwriting discount to the Underwriters (including the fees of their counsel), to be paid by 
the County, each are contingent upon the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds. 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 
 
 Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, Orlando, Florida, is serving as Financial Advisor to the County 
with respect to the issuance and sale of the Series 2016 Bonds.  The Financial Advisor has assisted the County in the 
preparation of this Official Statement and in other matters relating to the planning, structuring and issuance of the 
Series 2016 Bonds.   The Financial Advisor is not obligated to undertake and has not undertaken to make an 
independent verification or to assume responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the information 
contained in this Official Statement and is not obligated to review or ensure compliance with the undertakings by the 
County to provide continuing secondary market disclosure. 

 
RATINGS 

 
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) and S&P Global Ratings, a division 

of S&P Global, Inc. (“S&P”), have assigned ratings to the Series 2016 Bonds of “Aa3” with a “positive outlook,” 
“AA+” with a “stable outlook,” and “AA-” with a “stable outlook,” respectively. 
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The ratings reflect only the views of said rating agencies and an explanation of the ratings may be obtained 
only from said rating agencies. There is no assurance that such ratings will continue for any given period of time or 
that they will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by the rating agencies, or any of them, if in their judgment, 
circumstances so warrant. A downward change in or withdrawal of any of such ratings, may have an adverse effect 
on the market price of the Series 2016 Bonds. 

 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 The General Purpose Financial Statements of Broward County, Florida for the Fiscal Year Ended 
September 30, 2015 included as APPENDIX B attached hereto as a part of this Official Statement have been audited 
by Crowe Horwath LLP, independent certified public accountants, as set forth in their report dated May 11, 2016, 
which report is also appended hereto as part of APPENDIX B.  Crowe Horwath LLP has not participated in the 
preparation of this Official Statement.  The financial statements are attached hereto as a matter of public record.  The 
consent of Crowe Horwath LLP has not been sought. 

 
ACCURACY AND COMPLETENESS OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

 
 The references, excerpts, and summaries of all documents, statutes, and information concerning the County 
and certain reports and statistical data referred to herein do not purport to be complete, comprehensive and definitive 
and each such summary and reference is qualified in its entirety by reference to each such document for full and 
complete statements of all matters of fact relating to the Series 2016 Bonds, the security for the payment of the 
Series 2016 Bonds and the rights and obligations of the owners thereof and to each such statute, report or 
instrument. 
 

The information contained in this Official Statement has been compiled from official and other sources 
deemed to be reliable, and is believed to be correct as of the date of the Official Statement, but is not guaranteed as 
to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be construed as a representation by, the Underwriters. 
 
 The appendices attached hereto are integral parts of this Official Statement and must be read in their 
entirety together with all foregoing statements.  The information and expressions of opinions herein are subject to 
change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder is to create, 
under any circumstances, any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the County from the date 
hereof. 

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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AUTHORIZATION OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 

The execution and delivery of this Official Statement has been duly authorized and approved by the 
County. At the time of delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds, the County will furnish a certificate to the effect that 
nothing has come to its attention which would lead it to believe that the Official Statement (other than information 
herein and in APPENDIX G related to DTC and the book-entry only system of registration, and the information 
herein related to MAC, as to which no opinion shall be expressed), as of its date and as of the date of delivery of the 
Series 2016 Bonds, contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact which should be 
included therein for the purposes for which the Official Statement is intended to be used, or which is necessary to 
make the statements contained therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading. 

This Official Statement has been duly executed and delivered by the Mayor of Broward County, Florida 
and by the County Administrator of Broward County, Florida. 

BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

By:  /s/ Martin D. Kiar       
 Mayor 

 

By:  /s/ Bertha Henry      
 County Administrator 
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GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE COUNTY 
 

Broward County, Florida (the “County”), created in October 1915 by the legislature of the State of Florida 
(the “State”), is located on the southeast coast of Florida and has an area of approximately 1,231 square miles. The 
County is bordered on the south by Miami-Dade County and on the north by Palm Beach County. Located within 
the County are 31 municipalities. The County ranks second in the State and 18th in the nation with a 2015 estimated 
population of 1.9 million persons. Approximately 50% of the County’s population lives in its seven largest cities: 
Fort Lauderdale, Pembroke Pines, Hollywood, Miramar, Coral Springs, Pompano Beach and Davie. Four airports, 
including the Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport, are located in the County. Port Everglades, the 
State’s deepest harbor and a leading international cruise port, is located less than two miles from Fort Lauderdale-
Hollywood International Airport. 

Governmental Structure 

The County is governed by the provisions of its Charter (the “Charter”) as amended – originally adopted by 
the electors of the County on November 5, 1974. Under the Charter, the County functions as a home rule 
government consistent with the provisions of the Florida Constitution and the general laws of the State. 

The nine member Board is the legislative body of the County government. The Board annually elects a 
Mayor who serves as presiding officer. The Charter provides for one County Commissioner to be elected from each 
of the nine Commission districts. Elections are held every two years for staggered four year terms. Each candidate 
must be a registered elector and a legal resident of the district to be represented. 

The County Commissioners and expiration of their terms are as follows: 

Marty D. Kiar, Mayor November 2016 
Barbara Sharief, Vice Mayor  November 2018 
Mark D. Bogen, Commissioner  November 2018 
Beam Furr, Commissioner    November 2018 
Dale V. C. Holness, Commissioner   November 2016 

 Chip LaMarca, Commissioner   November 2018 
Tim Ryan, Commissioner  November 2016 
Lois Wexler, Commissioner November 2016 
Open      November 2016 
 
The County Administrator, appointed by the Board, is the chief administrative officer of the County 

government. The County Administrator directs the functions of County government through several offices, seven 
major departments, and various divisions within each department. Pursuant to an Administrative Code adopted by 
the Board, unless otherwise stated in the Charter, the County Administrator can appoint, suspend, or remove all 
County employees, with the exception of the County Auditor and the County Attorney, and their respective staff. 
The County Administrator also serves as ex-officio Clerk of the Board. 

Under the Charter, checks and balances are provided by the Office of the County Auditor. The County 
Auditor, appointed by the Board, maintains an advisory position to that body. 

Legal services are provided to the County government by the Office of the County Attorney. The County 
Attorney is appointed by the Board. The County Attorney, and assistant attorneys appointed by the County Attorney, 
represent the Board and all other County departments, divisions, boards, and offices in legal matters affecting the 
County. 
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Population 

In the years since it began as an agricultural community of 5,000, the County has steadily grown and is the 
second largest county in Florida and the 18th largest county in the nation according to the 2010 census.  

  Broward County  State of Florida  United States 
Year  Population  Change1  Population  Change1  Population  Change1

1960  333,946  –  4,951,560  –  179,323,000  – 
1970  620,100  85.7%  6,789,443  37.1%  203,212,000   13.3% 
1980  1,018,257  64.2  9,747,061  43.6  226,505,000    11.5 
1990  1,255,488  23.3  13,003,362  33.4  249,632,692    10.2 
2000  1,623,018  29.3  15,982,378  22.9  281,421,906    12.7 
2010(2)  1,748,066  7.7  18,801,310  17.6  308,745,538    9.7 
2015(3)

  1,869,425  6.9  20,271,272  7.8  321,418,820  4.1 
           

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census. 
(1) Average annual percentage increase over the preceding period. 
(2) 2010 represents the last year data is available at the County level from the US Census Bureau.   
(3) 2015 data is estimated by the US Census Bureau. 
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Labor Force and Unemployment Rates 

 

Year Ended 
December 31 

 
Estimated Broward County 

Civilian Labor Force 

 Unemployment Rates 

  
Broward 
County  Florida  

United 
States 

2005  957,619  3.7%  3.7%  5.1% 
2006  983,211  3.1  3.2  4.6 
2007  1,000,426  3.6  4.0  4.6 
2008  1,006,721  5.6  6.3  5.8 
2009  980,551  9.1  10.4  9.3 
2010  936,563  10.2  11.1  9.6 
2011  951,445  9.4  10.0  8.9 
2012  964,061  8.0  8.5  8.1 
2013      974,815  6.8  7.3  7.4 
2014  989,699  5.9  6.3  6.2 
2015  992,392  5.0  5.4  5.3 

        
 
Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics 
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Estimated Nonagricultural Employment by Economic Sector 
Fort Lauderdale Metropolitan Statistical Area 

(in thousands) 
 

 

 
2011 
Total 

2011 
Percent
of Total 

 
2012 
Total 

2012 
Percent
of Total 

 
2013 
Total 

 2013 
Percent 
of Total 

 
2014 
Total 

 2014 
Percent 
of Total 

2015 
Total 

 2015 
Percent 
of Total 

Grand Total 736.2 100.0% 751.1 100.0% 776.8 100.0% 800.1 100.0% 821.3 100.0% 
           
Goods Producing 56.6 7.7% 58.1 7.7% 61.5 7.9% 65.7 8.3% 72.3 8.8% 

Construction 30.9 4.2% 32.2 4.3% 34.7 4.5% 38.4 4.8% 43.8 5.3% 
Manufacturing 25.6 3.5% 25.8 3.4% 26.7 3.4% 27.6 3.4% 28.4 3.4% 

           
Service Providing 679.6 92.3% 692.9 92.3% 715.3 92.0% 734.0 91.7% 749.0 91.1% 

Trade, Transportation and 
Utilities 171.8 23.3% 174.9 23.3% 182.4 23.5% 185.5 23.2% 188.0 22.9% 
Wholesale Trade 45.3 6.2% 45.9 6.1% 46.7 6.0% 48.0 6.0% 48.7 5.9% 
Retail Trade 103.8 14.1% 105.1 13.9% 111.0 14.3% 112.3 14.0% 112.9 13.7% 
Transportation, Warehousing, 

and Utilities 22.7 3.0% 23.9 3.2% 24.7 3.2% 25.2 3.1% 26.4 3.2% 
           
Financial Activities 54.5 7.4% 55.7 7.4% 55.2 7.1% 56.4 7.0% 58.6 7.1% 
           
Information 17.7 2.4% 18.4 2.5% 18.4 2.4% 18.9 2.4% 19.4 2.3% 
           
Professional and Business 

Services 123.6 16.8% 128.3 17.1% 134.5 17.3% 141.0 17.6% 144.8 17.6% 
           
Education and Health Services 97.7 13.3% 97.4 12.9% 99.5 12.8% 101.6 12.7% 104.5 12.7% 
           
Leisure and Hospitality 81.4 11.1% 83.3 11.1% 87.4 11.3% 91.0 11.4% 92.8 11.3% 
           
Other Services 34.2 4.6% 35.1 4.7% 36.2 4.7% 37.6 4.7% 37.9 4.6% 
           
Government 98.7 13.4% 99.8 13.3% 101.7 13.1% 102.0 12.7% 103.0 12.5% 

Federal 7.9 0.9% 7.4 0.9% 7.0 0.9% 6.8 0.8% 6.8 0.8% 
State & Local 90.8 12.3% 92.4 12.3% 94.7 12.2% 95.2 11.9% 96.2 11.7% 

          
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, Current Employment Statistics Program (year to date average for all years ended December 31).  
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Largest Employers 

The County has a diversified economy with a balance among technology, manufacturing, financial, 
international and domestic tourism, residential and commercial construction, and retail trade. There were 
approximately 239,667 nonemployer and 58,549 private nonfarm business establishments with operations in the 
County at the end of Fiscal Year 2014.  According to the 2009 Economic Census conducted by the United States 
Census Bureau, approximately 90% of firms within the County have fewer than 20 employees; additionally, 
approximately 150 businesses have corporate, division, or regional headquarters in the County.  The table below 
shows the principal employers in the County for 2015.   

   
Company Employees  
Broward County School Board 32,600  
Broward County Government 11,596  
Memorial Healthcare System 11,500  
Broward Health 8,224  
Nova Southeastern Univ. 7,610  
American Express 3,500  
AutoNation 3,381  
Ultimate Software 2,800  
Broward College 2,550  
City of Fort Lauderdale 2,479  
   

  
  Source: US Census Bureau; Broward County Planning and Redevelopment Division.   
 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 A-6 
 

Per Capita Personal Income (1) 
Broward County, Florida, and United States 

 
Year Ended 
December 31  

Broward 
County  

Percent of 
Florida  

Percent of 
U.S.  

State of 
Florida  

Percent of 
U.S.  

United 
States 

2004  $35,796  105.2%  104.3%  $34,042  99.2%  $34,316 
2005  38,618  106.4  107.6  36,294  101.1  35,904 
2006  40,886  105.3  107.2  38,812  101.8  38,144 
2007  42,323  106.0  106.3  39,945  100.3  39,821 
2008  41,852  104.6  101.9  40,018  97.4  41,082 
2009   39,035  104.2  99.1  37,479  95.2  39,376 
2010  40,050  103.4  99.4  38,718  96.1  40,277 
2011  41,305  101.9  97.3  40,538  95.5  42,453 
2012  41,886  101.5  94.6  41,249  93.2  44,266 
2013  41,657  100.8  93.7  41,309  93.0  44,438 
2014  43,283(2)  101.3  94.0  42,737  92.8  46,049 
2015        44,101(3)  92.5  47,669(3)

             
Source:  U.S. Dept. of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis. 
(1) Stated in current dollars (i.e., actual dollars for each year with no adjustment for inflation). 
(2)    Last updated on November 19, 2015.  
(3)   Last updated on March 24, 2016. 
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Taxable Sales for the County 

The following table shows the taxable sales within the County for the calendar years 2005-2015 and the 
percentage increase in such sales for each year. 

Taxable Sales 
($ in Thousands) 

 

Year Ended December 31  Taxable Sales  
Percent Change from 

Prior Year 
2005*  $31,941,903  15.7% 
2006  34,759,141  8.82 
2007  30,678,853  (11.7) 
2008  29,523,345  (3.77) 
2009  26,261,882  (11.1) 
2010  26,898,615  2.42 
2011  28,008,981  4.11 
2012  29,692,094  6.01 
2013  31,631,500  6.53 
2014  33,860,247  7.04 
2015  35,783,223  5.67 

     
 

Source:  State of Florida, Department of Revenue. 
 

Tourism  

 Tourism is an important component of the County’s economy. The combination of favorable climate (Fort 
Lauderdale has a mean temperature of 75.5 degrees Fahrenheit), together with diverse recreational opportunities, 
including theaters, parks, public beaches, yacht basins, fishing, golf, tennis, restaurants, thoroughbred racing, jai 
alai, casino gambling and water recreational facilities, have made the County a tourist center.  The County’s 
multipurpose convention center expansion was completed in 2002 giving the facility a total of 600,000 gross square 
feet of space.  The three level, 180,000 square foot expansion is mainly comprised of a 50,000 square foot exhibit 
hall, a 33,000 square foot ballroom and 15,000 square feet of meeting room space.  Connecting corridors were built 
at all levels in order to provide convenient access between the original building and the expansion as well as from 
the original building to the adjacent parking garage.  
 

The County is seeking to enter into a public-private partnership (P3) with a qualified developer for the 
Broward County Convention Center Expansion and Headquarters Hotel Projects (“Project”). The developer chosen 
in the County’s procurement process will be responsible for the delivery, development, and operation of specified 
components of this mixed-use Project pursuant to an agreement with the County.  The County intends to redevelop 
the Convention Center site with an iconic plan to create a “sense of place,” taking full advantage of the unique 
waterfront setting to further establish the Broward County Convention Center as a competitive convention, 
tradeshow and meeting venue. The County’s goal for this Project is to attain the most distinctive, marketable 
headquarters hotel and convention center facilities that provide a long-lasting positive economic impact for the 
County. 
 
 Tourists now visit the County over the entire year instead of merely during winter months and the tourism 
industry is currently drawing from a worldwide market. The County’s 2015 hotel occupancy rate was 78.8%, an 
increase of 1.2% over the previous year, and the Average Daily Rate (ADR) was $135.51, an increase of 6.7 % over 
the previous year.  
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Building Permits 

According to US Census data, nationwide eight million renter households were formed from 2007-2015 
while owner occupant households decreased by 1.8 million over the same period. This growth in demand for rental 
units coupled with recent trends among millennials towards new urbanism (living within walking distance to shops 
and restaurants) has fueled increased demand for construction of multifamily residential properties with higher 
densities. The nationwide average number of new apartments constructed in buildings with 50 or more units was 
24% in 2004, as compared to 48% in 2014 (ref. US Census data). The yearly data for building permits in the County 
is presented in the following table: 

 
Building Permits Issued in Broward County 

($ in Thousands) 

Calendar 
Year 

Single 
Family 
Units 

Multi- 
Family 
Units 

Total 
Residential 

Units 

Total 
Residential 
Valuation 

Permit 
Valuation 

2005 3,353 2,817 6,170 $1,112,104 $1,112,104 
2006 3,308 3,378 6,686 991,153 991,153 
2007 1,754 2,179 3,933 617,307 617,307 
2008 967 1,205 2,172 346,893 346,893 
2009 563 486 1,049 159,077 159,077 
2010 979 189 1,168 222,589 222,589 
2011 1,442 998 2,440 278,805 278,805 
2012 1,062 110 1,172 414,263 414,263 
2013 1,023 2,533 3,556 429,074 429,074 
2014 1,181 1,281 2,462 404,300 404,300 
2015 1,494 3,958 5,452 807,553 807,553 

 
Education 

Broward County Public Schools (BCPS) is the sixth largest public school system in the nation and the 
second largest fully accredited in the State. BCPS has over 265,000 students and approximately 175,000 adult 
students currently enrolled and a fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 budget of approximately $3.45 billion.  The 
system consists of 337 schools: 238 traditional schools and centers, and 99 charter schools. BCPS is an independent 
operating and taxing entity, meaning that it is separate from the County. 

There are a number of four-year colleges and universities in the County including Florida Atlantic 
University and Florida International University, which are public, and Nova Southeastern University and Keiser 
College, which are private. Florida Atlantic University and Florida International University are two of the 12 
universities in the State University System of Florida. In addition, Broward College, Prospect Hall College, City 
College, the Art Institute of Fort Lauderdale, and DeVry are among colleges located in the County that offer two-
year degrees. There are also several educational institutions in the County with degree or certificate programs 
providing vocational and technical education. 

Transportation 

Surface Transportation: The County is served by three bus lines, two railroad corridors (Florida East Coast 
Railway and CSX), and major freight carriers. The road system within the County, totaling approximately 4,800 
miles, contains over 140 miles of interstate and other expressways (including I-95, I-75, I-595, Florida’s Turnpike, 
and the Sawgrass Expressway) and approximately 375 miles of divided highways. The County-operated bus system, 
with an active fleet of 342 fixed route busses, 184 ADA Paratransit vehicles, and 78 community buses served 40.3 
million passengers in Fiscal Year 2015. TRI-Rail, a commuter rail system, provides service along a 75 mile corridor 
from Palm Beach County to Miami-Dade County. 
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In 2017, All Aboard Florida’s Brightline (a privately owned, operated and maintained passenger rail 
system) is expected to launch express inter-city passenger rail service between Miami, Fort Lauderdale and West 
Palm Beach along the Florida East Coast (FEC) rail corridor.  Future expansion of the Brightline high-speed 
passenger rail service will connect Miami, Ft. Lauderdale, and West Palm Beach with Orlando. 

Sea Transportation: Port Everglades, the State’s deepest harbor and one of the top three cruise ports in the 
world, is located in the County – less than two miles from Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport. Port 
Everglades is served by major motor freight carriers and one railroad. All functions, assets, and liabilities of Port 
Everglades passed over to the County in November, 1994 as the result of a local bill which dissolved the separate 
governing body of the Port and transferred all related duties and powers to the Board. In Fiscal Year 2015, Port 
Everglades handled 116.9 million barrels of petroleum and 6.7 million tons of containerized cargo. A total of 
3,773,386 cruise ship passengers went through Port Everglades on 889 sailings in Fiscal Year 2015. 

A portion of Port Everglades has been designated a Foreign Trade Zone (“FTZ”), where foreign 
components can be assembled, packaged, and shipped without usual customs duties. The FTZ at Port Everglades 
was the first such operating zone established in Florida.  The general purpose FTZ now includes 16 sites within and 
outside of the Port’s boundaries on a total of 388 acres.  In calendar year 2015, cargo valued at more than $291 
million was received and more than $295 million was shipped from all active general-purpose FTZ areas combined. 
Additionally, the five special-purpose subzones at Port Everglades received cargo valued at more than $2.7 billion 
and shipped cargo valued at more than $2.8 billion. 

Air Transportation: Four airports are located in the County. There are three general aviation airports and the 
Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport (the “Airport”), which is used by most major national commercial 
airlines and several foreign commercial airlines.  For Fiscal Year 2015, enplaned passengers totaled 13,214,469 – an 
increase of 9.9% over Fiscal Year 2014.  Approximately 82,122 total tons of cargo was handled at the Airport in 
Fiscal Year 2015 – a decrease of 5.2% less than the amount handled in Fiscal Year 2014. 

 
Public Works Department 

The Public Works Department of the County is made up of the following service areas: Construction 
Management, Facilities Management, Highway Construction and Engineering, Highway and Bridge Maintenance, 
Traffic Engineering, Solid Waste and Recycling Services, and Water and Wastewater Services. 

The Construction Management Division develops and manages the County’s capital improvement projects 
for new vertical construction and large renovation projects. Duties include strategic master planning and 
programming, architectural design as well as construction of projects for all County agencies with the exception of 
Port Everglades and Airport. 

The Facilities Management Division oversees maintenance, repairs, minor renovations, cleaning, parking, 
utility use, security, and real estate services for most County-owned properties. 

The Highway Construction and Engineering Division oversees design and construction project 
management for major roadway improvement projects and parks facilities. The Division is also responsible for 
engineering plan review, permitting, and roadway inspection services for improvements to Trafficway roads and 
County roadways. The Division provides surveying, design, and project management services for intersection 
improvement and congestion management projects, as well as support services for other County agencies. Highway 
Construction and Engineering participates in the Land Development Review process and coordinates and reviews 
right-of-way deeds, subdivision plats and conducts public records maintenance. 

The Highway and Bridge Maintenance Division maintains and improves the County’s highway/street 
system, operates drawbridges, and oversees mosquito control operations. The Division is responsible for cleaning 
and mowing rights-of-way, street patching and resurfacing, intersection improvements, canal maintenance and 
construction, guardrail maintenance, bridge maintenance, street cleaning, and stormwater drainage improvements. 

 
The Traffic Engineering Division provides for the safe and efficient movement of pedestrians, cyclists and 

vehicular traffic within the County. Duties include the operation and maintenance of virtually all traffic signals and 
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related facilities, encompassing all municipal, County and State rights-of-way, as well as traffic signage and 
markings for most area municipalities.  Local cities and towns are also provided with traffic engineering services by 
the Division. 
 

Solid Waste and Recycling Services offers a comprehensive waste management and recycling system for 
the residents and businesses of the County. Through its operation, the agency provides community residents and 
businesses with viable methods to address waste management issues by offering landfill disposal, waste-to-energy 
processing, municipal waste collection, transfer stations, household hazardous waste disposal and recycling, and 
electronics recycling. 

Water and Wastewater Services is committed to providing cost-effective water and wastewater 
management while maintaining the quality of life in the County through sound environmental practices. The agency 
plans, designs, and constructs facilities to ensure adequate capacity for potable water, sewer and storm water, 
providing retail services to over 50,000 customers. Water and Wastewater Services is also responsible for pumping, 
treating and distributing water, as well as providing wastewater collection, treatment, reuse and disposal services to 
over 600,000 citizens. The agency also operates waterways, water control structures and well systems to provide 
flood management; provides canal management services supporting aquifer recharge; and removes aquatic 
vegetation from certain bodies of water throughout the County.  

Overview of the Budget Process 

The County Administrator prepares and submits the proposed annual budget and capital program to the 
Board and executes the budget and capital program in accordance with ordinances adopted by the Board. A policy-
setting workshop is held with the Board in January or February of each year to review major trends and provide staff 
with policy guidance for developing the budget.  Once guidance from the Board has been received, the Director of 
the Office of Management and Budget distributes specific instructions on budgetary policies and procedures to the 
County’s departments, divisions, and offices. Each department then prepares and submits its budget.  Internal 
meetings to review agency-requested budgets are then held to develop budget recommendations to the County 
Administrator. After approval by the County Administrator, the proposed budget is submitted to the Board in early 
July.  During August, the Board conducts budget workshops to review the proposed budget. The budget, as amended 
in the budget workshops, is again reviewed during public hearings held in September before final approval and 
adoption by the Board. The Board must adopt the final budget and establish the final millage rate necessary to fund 
the budget no later than September 30th. 

Chapter 129, Florida Statutes, defines and places a legal requirement upon county governments to adopt 
and operate within a balanced annual budget. In addition to being the annual operating plan, the adopted budget 
represents the legal authority to expend funds. Chapter 129, Florida Statutes, provides penalties for making 
unbudgeted expenditures. The County has consistently operated within a balanced budget and is required to continue 
this practice. 

The Board’s adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2016 contains a millage rate of 5.7230 mills.  With respect to 
the individual components of the Fiscal Year 2016 millage rate, the operating millage rate is 5.3444; the capital 
outlay millage rate is 0.1297 mills, and the remaining 0.2489 mills funds this year’s debt service payments 
associated with various voter-approved general obligation bonds. 
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Capital Improvement Program for Public Improvements 

The Board requires the County Administrator to develop and submit to the Board for approval a continuous 
five-year Capital Improvement Program (the “CIP”). In each year, the County Administrator must review the CIP, 
revise it as necessary, and prepare the CIP for approval and adoption by the Board. An annual update of the CIP 
provides, upon approval by the Board, a continuous five year program. 

The CIP development process is coordinated by the Office of Management and Budget and involves the 
linking of all County agencies for comprehensive review, input and development. The CIP also utilizes input from 
the long range capital improvement plan. The CIP development process includes public participation as well as input 
from governmental entities for certain joint projects and project requests. The adopted CIP for Fiscal Years 2016-
2020 includes the following:  

Transportation and Mass Transit Projects  ................................................................................ $   374,183,120 
Environmental/Beach Renourishment ..............................................................................................64,140,680 
Aviation ......................................................................................................................................... 394,769,850 
Port   ............................................................................................................................................... 792,552,670 
Water/Wastewater  ......................................................................................................................... 439,514,120 
Criminal Justice/Public Safety ........................................................................................................  62,713,250 
Libraries/Parks/Boating Improvement ............................................................................................. 43,368,360 
General Government/Court Facilities  ........................................................................................... 245,126,090 
Neighborhood Improvement/Redevelopment/Housing/Economic Development ..........................   85,422,670 
 Total .................................................................................................................................. $2,522,284,430 

 
It is anticipated that the adopted CIP for the fiscal years 2016-2020 will be funded as follows:  

Bonds ........................................................................................................................................... $875,881,990 
Federal and State Grants ................................................................................................................ 339,759,840 
Local Sources (Taxes, Fees, Fund Balance) ..............................................................................  1,306,642,600 
 Total .................................................................................................................................. $2,522,284,430 
 

* Note: also includes reserves for projects included in the capital program in future years. 
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Non-Ad Valorem Revenues 

The following table presents the net non-ad valorem revenues available to the County for the payment of 
debt service for a covenant to budget and appropriate debt and certain special revenue debt for the Fiscal Year ended 
September 30, 2015. 

Net Available Non-Ad Valorem Revenues 
for the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2015 

(Dollars in Thousands) 
 

License and Permit Fees  $  19,881 
State Revenue Sharing  38,343 
Licenses (State Revenue)  0 
Local Government Half Cent Sales Tax  62,163 
Tourist Tax  58,250 
Utility Services Taxes and Fire Rescue Tax     3,325 
Fines and Forfeitures  12,219 
Interest Earnings  5,181 
Charges for Services  125,108 
Miscellaneous Revenue  19,508 
Other State Revenues  2,371 
Non-Revenue Sources/Fund Balance  52,485 
Federal/State Grants  13,741 
Special Assessments  6 

Total Gross Non-Ad Valorem Revenues  $412,581 

Less Operations Costs not paid by Ad Valorem Taxes  (319,871) 

Total Net Available Non-Ad Valorem Revenues  $92,710 
 
Source: Broward County, Florida, Finance and Administrative Services Department. 
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Employee Relations  

As of October 1, 2015 (Fiscal Year 2016), the County had 5,670 funded positions, as compared with 5,583 
in Fiscal Year 2015, excluding employees of constitutional officers. The County budget also provides for 310 
federal and state grant employee positions in Fiscal Year 2016.  The constitutional officers are funded for 5,709 
positions in Fiscal Year 2016.  

There are eight organized collective bargaining units within the County: Amalgamated Transit Union, 
Local 1267 (Mass Transit, 863 unit employees); Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1591 (White Collar, 931 unit 
employees); Federation of Public Employees (Blue Collar, 958 unit employees); Government Supervisory 
Association of Florida, Local 100 (GSA Supervisors, 322 unit employees); Federation of Public Employees; 
Federation of Public Employees, Supervisory (Port Everglades Supervisors, 11 unit employees);  Federation of 
Public Employees, Non-Supervisory (Port Everglades Non-Supervisory, 55 unit employees); Government 
Supervisory Association of Florida, Local 100 (GSA Professionals, 1,131 unit employees), and an AFSCME unit 
(Port Maintenance, 77 unit employees). This information is based on data as of March 8, 2016. 
 

All of the County bargaining units, except for the Mass Transit, are under contracts which expire 
September 30, 2017.  The County is currently negotiating with the Mass Transit, whose contracts expired September 
30, 2014. The County has never experienced a serious work stoppage and Florida law prohibits public employees 
from striking. 

Florida Retirement System 
 
Certain information relating to the Florida Retirement System (“FRS”) contained herein has been obtained 

from the FRS Annual Reports.  The most recent FRS Annual Reports may be obtained by writing the Florida 
Division of Retirement, P.O. Box 9000, Tallahassee, Florida 32315-9000 or may be obtained online at: 

 
www.dms.myflorida.com/human_resource_support/retirement/publications/annual_reports.   
 
No representation is made by the County as to the accuracy or adequacy of such information or that there 

has not been any material adverse change in such information subsequent to the date of such information. 
 
With a few exceptions, all full-time and part-time employees working for the County in regularly 

established positions are members of FRS, a multiple-employer cost-sharing public employee retirement system 
administered by the State.  The FRS offers members both a defined benefit plan (the “Pension Plan”) or a defined 
contribution plan (the “Investment Plan”) to provide retirement, disability, and death benefits for active members, 
retirees, surviving beneficiaries, and deferred retirement program participants.  Benefits for both the Pension Plan 
and Investment Plan are established pursuant to State statutes and are currently computed on the basis of age, 
average final compensation, and service credit.  The County has no responsibility to the FRS other than to make the 
periodic payments required by the Florida Statutes.  The FRS establishes contribution rates annually.  These rates 
are applied to the covered employee payroll of the County.  Effective July 1, 2011, the Florida Legislature mandated 
a 3% employee contribution for all employees participating in either the Pension Plan or Investment Plan.  
Employees in the Deferred Retirement Option Program are not subject to the contribution. 

 
The County’s required contribution rate to the Pension Plan through June 30, 2015 ranged from 6.07% to 

41.94% of covered payroll based on employee risk groups. Effective July 1, 2015, rates ranged from 5.56% to 
40.57% of covered payroll based on employee risk groups. The County’s required contribution rates to the Health 
Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Pension Plan through June 30, 2015 and from July 1, 2015 through September 30, 2015 
were 1.26% and 1.66% respectively, of covered payroll. For the Fiscal Years ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, 
the County’s contributions to the Pension Plan and the HIS Plan totaled $76,268 million and $71.252 million, 
respectively.  The County’s payroll of $598.882 million for the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2015 covered by 
the Pension and HIS Plans represents approximately 2.7% of the total payroll covered by governments participating 
in the FRS Pension Plan. 

 
The Investment Plan is a participant-directed program selected by the employee in lieu of participation in 

the defined benefit option of the Pension Plan.  Benefits are accrued in individual accounts that are participant 
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directed, portable and funded by employee/employer contributions.  The County’s required contribution rate to the 
Investment Plan for the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2015 remained the same as the prior year and ranged from 
3.55% to 12.33% of covered payroll, based on employee risk groups.  For the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 
2015, the County contributed $13.868 million to the Investment Plan, which includes the Utility employer 
contribution of $194,000. 

 
As of the July 1, 2015 valuation, the Pension Plan reported a total pension liability of $161.370 billion, a 

plan fiduciary net position of $148.454 billion, and a net pension liability of $12.916 billion. The Plan fiduciary net 
position was 92% of the total pension liability.  The HIS actuary valuation was prepared as of July 1, 2014 and 
update procedures were used to determine liabilities as of July 1, 2015.  The HIS plan reported a total pension 
liability of $10.249 billion, a plan fiduciary net position of $50.774 million, and a net pension liability of $10.198 
billion.  The Plan fiduciary net position was 0.50% of the total pension liability. During the 2015 Fiscal Year, the 
County implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68 “Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Pensions – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, which required the County to 
recognize their proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Pension and HIS Plans.  As of September 30, 
2015, those liabilities for the Pension Plan and the HIS Plans totaled $383.517 million and $240.089 million 
respectively.  Of this total liability of $623.606 million, $407.728 million pertained to the Broward Sheriff’s Office.    
 
Other Postemployment Benefit Plans 
 

The County has two single employee defined benefit healthcare plans, the County plan and the Broward 
Sheriff’s Office plan.  The County plan allows its employees and their beneficiaries to continue obtaining health, 
dental, vision, and life insurance benefits upon retirement with the retiree responsible for the entire cost.  The 
Broward Sheriff’s Office plan provides post-employment health insurance benefits for employees and sworn officers 
upon retirement and subsidizes a portion of the premiums.  The provisions of the plan for the Broward Sheriff’s 
Office may be amended through negotiations between the Broward Sheriff’s Office and its employee bargaining 
units.  The plans have no assets and do not issue separate financial reports. 

 
In accordance with Section 112.0801, Florida Statutes, because the County provides medical plans to 

employees of the County and their eligible dependents, the County is required to provide retirees the opportunity to 
participate in the group employee health plan.  Retired employees have the option of continuing the same type of 
medical, including prescription drug benefits, and dental insurance coverage available to them while they were 
employed with the County (the “Plan”).  The County provides other post-employment benefits (“OPEB”) for certain 
of its retired employees in the form of an implicit rate subsidy by providing access to health insurance plans.  The 
cost of the premiums is paid totally by the retirees.  The County accounts for the Plan in accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 45 - Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employees for Post-employment Benefit Plans other 
than Pension Plans (GASB 45).  While GASB 45 requires recognition and disclosure of the unfunded OPEB 
liability, there is no requirement that the liability of the Plan be funded. 
 

According to the latest actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2013, the unfunded actuarial accrued liability 
was $25,389,000 for County employees and $252,946 for Broward Sheriff’s Office employees. The annual OPEB 
cost for the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2015 was $2.354 million for County employees and $20.056 million 
for Broward Sheriff’s Office employees.  While the County has set aside certain reserves for future plan costs, such 
amounts are not deposited to an irrevocable trust fund and the County does not intend to fund the future “unfunded 
obligation.”  For additional information, see the Basic Financial Statements of Broward County, Florida available at: 
http://www.broward.org/Accounting/Documents/2015CAFR.pdf. 

 
 
  



 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF  
BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 

ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



Crowe�Horwath�LLP�
Independent Member Crowe Horwath International 

INDEPENDENT�AUDITOR'S�REPORT�

To the Board of County Commissioners 
Broward County, Florida 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 

Report�on�the�Financial�Statements�

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of Broward County, Florida (the “County”), as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
County’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit 
the financial statements of (1) Clerk of Circuit and County Courts (a discretely presented component unit), 
(2) Broward County Health Facilities Authority (a discretely presented component unit), (3) Broward County 
Housing Finance Authority (a discretely presented component unit), (4) Broward County Aviation 
Department (a major enterprise fund), (5) Broward County Water and Wastewater Services (a major 
enterprise fund), (6) Property Appraiser Operations Fund (a component of the General Fund), and (7) 
Broward County Supervisor of Elections (a component of the General Fund), which represent the 
percentages of assets, net position/fund balances, and revenues listed below. 

Net 
Position/Fund 

Assets Balances Revenues 
Governmental Activities: 
   Property Appraiser Operations Fund 0.03% 0.00% 1.11%
   Broward County Supervisor of Elections 0.07% 0.00% 0.73%
 0.10% 0.00% 1.84% 
Business-type Activities: 
   Broward County Aviation Department 61.88% 55.11% 51.72%
   Broward County Water and Wastewater Services 18.69% 15.55% 21.17%
 80.57% 70.66% 72.89% 
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Net 
Position/Fund 

Assets Balances Revenues 
Discretely Presented Component Units:
   Clerk of Circuit and County Courts 47.07% -4,134.89% 97.60%
   Broward County Health Facilities Authority 0.24% 21.68% 0.08%
   Broward County Housing Finance Authority 52.69% 4,213.21% 2.32%
 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 
Major Funds: 
   General Fund: 

Property Appraiser Operations Fund 0.26% 0.00% 1.92% 
Broward County Supervisor of Elections 0.52% 0.00% 1.27%
 0.78% 0.00% 3.19%

   Broward County Aviation Department 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
   Broward County Water and Wastewater Services 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

Those statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our 
opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included for the activities, component units, and funds 
indicated above, are based solely on the reports of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government� Auditing� Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, 
the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the County, as of September 30, 2015, and the respective changes 
in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Emphasis of Matter 

In June 2012 the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 68, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions.” Also, in November 2013 the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 71, “Pension Transition for 
Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date.” As disclosed in Note 1D, Statements 68 and 
71 are effective for the City’s fiscal year ending September 30, 2015. These Statements replace the 
requirements of Statement No. 27, “Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers” 
and Statement No. 50, “Pension Disclosures.” Statements 68 and 71 establish standards for measuring 
and recognizing liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources and expenses as 
well as identifies the methods and assumptions that should be used to project benefit payments, discount 
projected benefit payments to their actuarial present value and attribute that present value to periods of 
employee service. Note disclosures and required supplementary information requirements about pensions 
are also addressed. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required�Supplementary�Information�

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management’s 
discussion and analysis, the budgetary comparison schedules, schedule of County’s proportionate share 
of net pension liability, schedule of County contributions, and the schedule of funding progress on pages 5 
through 15, 72 through 74, 75 through 76 and 77, respectively, be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency 
with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary�Information�

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the County’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and individual fund 
financial statements and schedules and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of management 
and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 
the combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules are fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them. 
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Report�on�Other�Legal�and�Regulatory�Requirements�

In accordance with Government�Auditing�Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 11, 2016 
on our consideration of the County’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government�Auditing�Standards in considering the County’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance.

 Crowe Horwath LLP 

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
May 11, 2016 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS�
 
The management of Broward County (the County) offers this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the County for 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the 
additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal. All amounts, unless otherwise indicated, are expressed in 
thousands of dollars. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  
�

The following are key financial highlights for the fiscal year:  
 

� The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the County exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at 
September 30, 2015, by $4.6 billion (net position). Of this amount, $316.0 million (unrestricted net position) may be used to 
meet the County’s ongoing obligations to residents and creditors.  

� The County’s total net position decreased by $425.8 million in fiscal year 2015. This decrease includes a prior period 
adjustment that reduced total net position by $683.8 million as a result of the implementation of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68 "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 
27" and GASB Statement No. 71 "Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date - an amendment of 
GASB Statement No. 68." Of the total prior period adjustment, $643.5 million affected the governmental activities and $40.3 
million affected the business-type activities.  The decrease in total net position from the prior period adjustment was partially 
offset by positive results of operations of $258.0 million. Of this amount, $84.3 million was attributable to the business-type 
activities, primarily as a result of operations in the Aviation and Port Everglades funds, and $173.7 million was attributable to 
the governmental activities,�primarily as a result of an increase in program revenues and property and other taxes.�

� As of September 30, 2015, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $1.2 billion, an 
increase of $7.2 million from the prior year. This increase was primarily due to a $16.5 million fund balance increase in the 
General Fund, and a $10.9 million fund balance increase in the Capital Outlay Reserve Fund. These two increases were partially 
offset by a $20.8 million decrease in the fund balances of the nonmajor governmental funds. The General Fund increase was 
achieved by positive variances in overall revenues, expenditures and net transfers. The Capital Outlay Reserve Fund increase 
was the result of funding from property taxes and other financing sources exceeding planned project expenditures. 

� At the end of the current fiscal year, unrestricted fund balance (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned components of 
fund balance) for the General Fund was $351.5 million, or 32.7% of total General Fund expenditures and other financing uses. 

� The County’s total outstanding debt decreased by $102.3 million, or 3.5%, during the current fiscal year. During the year, 
Water and Wastewater revenue bonds totaling $199.8 million were issued to refund $202.4 million of outstanding bonds. 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
�

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the County’s basic financial statements.  The County’s basic 
financial statements contain three components: government-wide financial statements; fund financial statements; and notes to the financial 
statements.  This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.  
 
Government-wide Financial Statements  
�

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the County’s finances in a manner 
similar to a private-sector business.  
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the County’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred 
inflows of resources with the difference reported as net position.  Over time increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful 
indicator of whether the financial position of the County is improving or deteriorating.  
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the County’s net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All 
changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the 
related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future 
fiscal periods.  
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are principally supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of 
their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the County include general 
government, public safety, transportation, human services, culture and recreation, physical environment, economic environment, the 
Sheriff, Property Appraiser, and Supervisor of Elections.  The business-type activities of the County include an airport, seaport, water and 
wastewater utilities, and solid waste operations.  The government-wide financial statements include not only the County itself, but also 
the Housing Finance Authority, the Health Facilities Authority, and the Clerk of the Courts, legally separate entities for which the County 
is financially accountable.  Financial information for these component units is reported separately from the financial information presented 
for the primary government itself.  The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 16 and 17 of this report. 
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Fund Financial Statements  
�

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities 
or objectives.  The County, like other state and local entities, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance 
related legal requirements.  All of the funds of the County can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, 
and fiduciary funds.  
 
Governmental funds - Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in 
the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial 
statements focus on near term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the 
end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near term financing requirements.  
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the 
information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide 
financial statements. By doing so readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near term financing decisions. 
Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances 
provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.  
 
The County maintains 25 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and 
in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, the Sheriff Contractual 
Services Fund, and the Capital Outlay Reserve Fund, which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other governmental funds is 
combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the 
form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.  
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 18-21 of this report. 
 
Proprietary funds – The County maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the same 
functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The County uses enterprise funds to account 
for its airport, seaport, water and wastewater, and solid waste operations. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to 
accumulate and allocate costs internally among the County’s various functions.  The County uses internal service funds to account for its 
self-insurance, vehicle fleet, and print shop operations. Because these services predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-
type functions, they have been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  
 
Proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more 
detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for four enterprise operations, all of which are considered 
to be major funds of the County.  The remaining nonmajor enterprise funds are aggregated and reported in a single column in the 
proprietary fund financial statements.  Internal service funds are also aggregated and presented in a single column in the proprietary fund 
financial statements. Individual fund data for the nonmajor enterprise funds and the internal service funds is provided in the form of 
combining statements elsewhere in this report.  
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 22-26 of this report. Fiduciary funds – Fiduciary funds are used to 
account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide 
financial statements because resources of those funds are not available to support the County’s own programs.  The accounting used for 
fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.  The County maintains agency funds which report resources held by the 
County in a custodial capacity for individuals, private organizations, and other governments. 
 
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on page 27 of this report. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund 
financial statements.  The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 30-71 of this report. 
�
Other Information  
�

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain required supplementary 
information concerning the County’s progress in funding its obligation to provide other post employment benefits, the County's 
proportionate share of the net pension liability, and the County's pension contributions.  This section also includes budget to actual 
comparisons for the general and major special revenue funds to demonstrate compliance with their budgets. Required supplementary 
information can be found on pages 72-78 of the report.  
 
The combining and individual fund statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds, nonmajor enterprise 
funds, internal service funds, and fiduciary funds are presented immediately following the required supplementary information and can be 
found on pages 79-116 of this report. 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS  
 
The following schedule is a summary of net position for the County as of September 30, 2015, with comparative information for fiscal 
year 2014.  
 

Broward County's Net Position 
As of September 30, 2015 and 2014 

(In Thousands) 
 

Governmental Activities   Business-type Activities  Total 
  2015  2014  2015  2014  2015  2014 

Current and Other Assets $   1,501,578 $   1,474,389 $   1,333,599 $   1,560,668 $   2,835,177 $   3,035,057 
Capital  Assets    2,307,562    2,203,135    3,852,208    3,607,860    6,159,770    5,810,995 

Total Assets    3,809,140    3,677,524    5,185,807    5,168,528    8,994,947    8,846,052 
Total Deferred Outflows of 
  Resources    117,892    9,558    47,374    23,551    165,266    33,109 
Long-term Obligations    1,542,153    970,357    2,477,818    2,502,841    4,019,971    3,473,198 
Other Liabilities    191,482    181,223    244,509    228,054    435,991    409,277 

Total Liabilities    1,733,635    1,151,580    2,722,327    2,730,895    4,455,962    3,882,475 
Total deferred Inflows of               
Resources    127,705      5,697      133,402   
Net Position:             

Net Investment in Capital 
Assets    1,855,616    1,782,204    1,691,586      1,640,785    3,547,202    3,422,989 

Restricted    305,469    332,534    402,213    377,194    707,682    709,728 
Unrestricted (deficit)    (95,393)    420,764    411,358    443,205    315,965    863,969 

Total Net Position $   2,065,692 $   2,535,502 $   2,505,157 $   2,461,184 $   4,570,849 $   4,996,686 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful 
indicator of a government’s financial position. As of September 30, 
2015, the County’s assets and deferred outflows of resources 
exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $4.6 
billion. The overall net position of the County decreased during 
the 2015 fiscal year by $425.8 million. This decrease is due to the 
prior period adjustment of $683.8 million as a result of the 
implementation of GASB Statements No. 68 and No. 71. This 
decrease was partially offset by positive operating results of $258.0 
million. By far the largest portion of the County’s net position, 
77.6% or $3.5 billion, reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g. 
land, buildings, machinery and equipment) less any related 
outstanding debt used to acquire those assets.  These capital 
assets are used to provide services to citizens; consequently these 
assets are not available for future spending.  It should also be 
noted that the resources required to repay the related debt must 
be provided from other sources since the capital assets themselves 
cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. An additional portion 
of the County’s net position, 15.5% or $708 million, represents 
resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they 
may be used.  The remaining 6.9% or $316.0 million of 
unrestricted net position may be used to meet the County’s 
ongoing obligations to residents and creditors. The unrestricted 
net position as of September 30, 2015 for the governmental 
activities totaled a negative $95.3 million, while the business-type 
activities unrestricted net position totaled $411.3 million. The 
negative unrestricted net position in the governmental activities is 
the result of the implementation of GASB Statements No. 68 and 
No. 71. 

 

 
The County’s current year activities increased net position by $258.0 million. Of the total increase in net position, $84.3 million is 
attributable to the business-type activities; primarily as a result of positive results of operations in the Aviation and Port Everglades funds 
and the balance of $173.7 million was attributable to the governmental activities.  The reasons for the overall increase are discussed in 
the following sections for the governmental activities and business-type activities. 
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The following schedule is a summary of the government-wide activity for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015, with comparative 
information for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014. 
 

Broward County's Changes in Net Position 
For the Years Ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 

(In Thousands) 
 

Governmental Activities  Business-type Activities  Total 
  2015  2014  2015  2014  2015  2014 

Revenues: 
Program revenues:             

Charges for services $   502,631 $   487,253 $   563,697 $   537,484 $   1,066,328 $   1,024,737 
Operating grants and 

contributions    139,668    135,570    18    11    139,686    135,581 
Capital grants and contributions    79,008    58,677    85,564    109,484    164,572    168,161 

General revenues:             
Property taxes    771,579    724,429        771,579    724,429 
Other taxes    203,496    192,198        203,496    192,198 
Other    57,283    62,186    13,748    7,156    71,031    69,342 

Total revenues    1,753,665    1,660,313    663,027    654,135    2,416,692    2,314,448 
 

Expenses:             
General government    213,518    209,951        213,518    209,951 
Public safety    41,690    47,439        41,690    47,439 
Transportation    213,425    205,384        213,425    205,384 
Human services    133,662    132,822        133,662    132,822 
Culture and recreation    161,180    162,810        161,180    162,810 
Physical environment    23,073    20,105        23,073    20,105 
Economic environment    16,007    18,212        16,007    18,212 
Sheriff    729,958    742,744        729,958    742,744 
Property Appraiser    19,249    18,951        19,249    18,951 
Supervisor of Elections    13,675    12,458        13,675    12,458 
Interest on long-term debt    29,326    30,871        29,326    30,871 
Aviation        276,234    249,483    276,234    249,483 
Port Everglades        118,227    122,005    118,227    122,005 
Water and wastewater        121,335    114,866    121,335    114,866 
Resource recovery system        34,743    3,505    34,743    3,505 
Solid waste        10,311    18,908    10,311    18,908 
Unincorporated area waste        1,125     1,069    1,125    1,069 
Water management        1,918     1,802    1,918    1,802 

Total expenses    1,594,763    1,601,747    563,893    511,638    2,158,656    2,113,385 
Increase in net position before 
   transfers    158,902    58,566    99,134    142,497    258,036    201,063 
Transfers    14,820    (1,308)    (14,820)    1,308     
Increase in net position    173,722    57,258    84,314    143,805    258,036    201,063 
Net position - Beginning, as  previously 

reported    2,535,502    2,478,244    2,461,184    2,317,379    4,996,686    4,795,623 
Restatement of Net Position*    (643,532)      (40,341)      (683,873)   
Net position - Beginning, restated    1,891,970    2,478,244    2,420,843    2,317,379    4,312,813    4,795,623 
Net position - Ending $   2,065,692 $   2,535,502 $   2,505,157 $   2,461,184 $   4,570,849 $   4,996,686 
 
*The October 1, 2014, beginning net position was restated due to the implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement No. 68, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions--an amendment of GASB Statement No.27" and Statement No. 71, 
"Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date--an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68."�
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Governmental Activities 
�

Governmental activities increased the County's net position by $173.7 million, before the prior period adjustment of $643.5 million. 
Some of the significant changes in revenues and expenses were as follows: 
 
Revenues: 
� Charges for services increased by $15.4 million primarily as a result of several items.  General government charges for services 

increased by $3.9 million partially as a result of auto tag collection and recording fees increasing by $1.0 million and $500 thousand 
respectively, due to an increase in the number of transactions.  Additionally, in fiscal year 2015, $1.4 million in municipal ordinance 
violation revenues are reflected as general government charges from services where in the prior year they were reflected as Sheriff 
charges for services.   Transportation charges for services increased by $2.0 million primarily due to an increase in special 
assessments and impact fees received as a result of a surge in the development of land annexed into the County. Human Services 
charges for services decreased by $1.2 million primarily as a result of a decrease in activity related to the Homeless Award Grant 
and the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program. Culture and recreation charges for services increased by $1.7 million 
resulting from higher attendance at parks due to completed renovations of pools, water slides, and camping facilities. Charges for 
services attributable to the Sheriff increased by $8.9 million primarily due to a $7.7 million increase in contractual charges for police 
protection services and fire protection/emergency services provided to cities and the County's airport and seaport.  

� Operating grants and contributions increased by $4.1 million from the prior year as a result of several items. In fiscal year 2015,   
Culture and recreation operating grants increased $1.7 million over the prior year due to an increase in reimbursable activity related 
to state and locally funded library grants. Operating grants and contributions attributable to the Sheriff increased by $3.5 million due 
to an increase in reimbursable activities for protective services and firefighter assistance grants funded by both federal and local 
grants.  Public safety operating grants and contributions decreased by $1.9 million primarily as a result of a decrease in the 
reimbursable activity related to the Disaster Recovery Impact Grant.  Economic Environment operating grants and contributions 
decreased by $1.2 million as a result of a decrease in reimbursable Housing and Urban Development activities. 

� Capital grants and contributions increased $20.3 million from the prior year.  In fiscal year 2015, public safety capital grants for 
hazard mitigation and transportation grants for replacement buses and certain construction projects were $3.6 million and $35.6 
million more than the prior year, respectively. These increases were partially offset by a decline of $18.0 million in physical 
environment capital grants and contributions relating to reimbursements received in the prior year from the U.S. Army Corp. of 
Engineers for federally funded projects that were completed in prior years. 

� Property tax revenues increased by $47.2 million as a result of an increase in assessed property values. Increases in other tax 
revenues included an increase of $3.9 million in one-half cent sales tax, $2.3 million in gasoline taxes, and $5.2 million in Tourist 
Development Taxes.  

� Other general revenues decreased by $4.9 million from the prior year as a result of a decrease in miscellaneous revenues of $11.3 
million offset by a $4.4 million increase in interest income and a $2.0 million increase in state revenue sharing. The decrease in 
miscellaneous revenues is primarily attributable to a change in an estimate pertaining to the collectability of a receivable. The 
increase in interest income is due to the fluctuations in the annual mark to market adjustment, and the increase in the state revenue 
sharing is the result of the improving economy. 

 
Expenses: 
� General government expenses increased by $3.6 million from the prior year.  This increase is primarily due to a reimbursement to 

the business-type activities for hurricane expenses incurred in prior years.  
� Public safety expenses decreased by $5.7 million from the prior year primarily as a result of a decrease in depreciation expense of 

$2.0 million combined with less equipment purchased below the threshold for capitalization. 
� Transportation expenses increased by $8.0 million from the prior year primarily as a result of higher depreciation expense and 

increased salary costs as a result of overtime. 
� Physical environment expenses increased by $3.0 million from the prior year primarily as a result of the write off of discontinued 

capital projects.  
� Economic environment expenses decreased by $2.2 million primarily as a result of the Neighborhood Stabilization Program grant 

expenses decreasing due to a slowdown in the program.  
� Sheriff expenses decreased by $12.8 million from the prior year primarily as a result of a credit of $35.6 million to pension expense  

due to the implementation of GASB Statements No. 68 and No. 71, which was partially offset by salary increases for public safety 
personnel.  

�

�
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�

The following is a chart of the fiscal year 2015 governmental activities revenues by source and by percent of total revenues. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
The following chart compares program revenues and expenses for the governmental activities for fiscal year 2015. 
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Business-Type Activities�
�
Net position for the business-type activities as of September 30, 2015 was $2.5 billion.  The net position increased by $84.3 million 
before the prior period adjustment of $40.3 million.   
 
Revenues: 
� Charges for services increased by $26.2 million in fiscal year 2015 as compared to fiscal year 2014. Solid Waste revenues decreased 

by $7.7 million primarily due to one of the large cities cancelling their centralized billing agreement as of the end of fiscal year 2014. 
This decrease was offset by increases in charges for services from the following: 
� Aviation revenues increased by $25.2 million over the prior year primarily as a result of an increase of $6.8 million in airline 

revenues, an increase of $10.2 million in non-airline revenues (rental car revenues, parking fees and concession fees) and a $5.7 
million increase in passenger facility charges. The increase in airline revenues was in accordance with the residual rate-making 
formula in the airline agreements, as well as an increase in the level of airline activity. Rental car revenues, parking fees and 
concession fees increased by $4.9 million, $2.5 million and $2.8 million, respectively.  These increases are due mainly to 
increases in passenger activity and sales per passenger.  The increase in concession fees is also attributable to improved 
concessions and the introduction of new food and beverage concessions.  The increase in the passenger facility charges is due 
to increased passenger numbers. 

� Water and Wastewater revenues increased $8.7 million over the prior year. The increase was primarily due to a $2.4 million 
increase in retail water sales as a result of an increase of 3.5 % in water usage. Compared to the prior fiscal year, sewage flows 
rose by 4.0% resulting in an increase of $3.3 million and $2.0 million in retail and wholesale sewer services, respectively. 

� Capital grants and contributions decreased $23.9 million from the prior year primarily due to a decrease of $24.3 million in Aviation 
Federal and State grants for the South Runway Expansion.  Additionally, Port Everglades experienced a decrease of $1.1 million as 
construction activities were slower on grant eligible projects. These decreases were slightly offset by an increase of $1.4 million in 
Water and Wastewater capital contributions as a result of increased development activities.�

�

Expenses: 
Overall expenses in the business-type activities increased by $52.3 million as compared with the prior fiscal year. There were significant 
increases in the Aviation, Water and Wastewater, and Resource Recovery System expenses, which were partially offset by decreases in 
Port Everglades and Solid Waste expenses. 

� Aviation expenses increased by $26.8 million from the prior year. A significant portion of this increase is attributable to a capital 
asset donation of a navigational aid structure to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) of $15.9 million. Additionally, there 
was a $7.9 million increase in depreciation expense due to the half year of depreciation on the completed south runway, new 
maintenance building and terminal renovations. Other increases in Aviation operating expenses over the prior year are 
attributable to various factors, with the largest increases in contractual services and general and administrative services.  
Contractual services increased $3.9 million as a result of increased parking management, shuttle service and security upgrades 
and maintenance fees. General and administrative services increased due to the costs associated with the airline incentive 
program and new parking advertising campaign, with additional software maintenance and support, and communications costs. 

� Water and Wastewater expenses increased by $6.5 million from the prior year. The increase is the result of an increase in 
general operating expenses of $3.8 million, primarily in the contractual services category, bond issuance costs of $1.5 million 
due to the issuance of bonds in July 2015, and discontinued project costs of $845,000.�

� The increase in the Resource Recovery System expenses of $31.2 million is due primarily to a $32.0 million distribution to 
other government agencies. 

� Port Everglades expenses decreased by $3.8 million from the prior year primarily due to a $2.4 million decrease in interest 
expense and a decrease of $1.0 million in costs as a result of discontinued projects. 

� Solid Waste expenses decreased by $8.6 million from the prior year primarily as a result of cancellation of a centralized billing 
agreement with a large city as of the end of fiscal year 2014.  
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The following is a chart of the fiscal year 2015 business-type activities revenues by source and by percent of total revenues. 
 

 

 
 

 
The following chart compares program revenues and expenses for the business-type activities for fiscal year 2015. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY’S FUNDS 
�

As noted earlier, the County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance related legal requirements.  
 
Governmental Funds  
�

The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information on near term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable 
resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the County’s financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve 
as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for discretionary use as they represent the portion of fund balance which 
has not yet been limited to use for a particular purpose by either an external party, the County itself, or a group or individual that has 
been delegated authority to assign resources for use for particular purposes by the Board of County Commissioners.  
 
At September 30, 2015, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $1.2 billion, an increase of $7.2 
million from the prior year. Approximately 2.3%, or $27.0 million, of this amount constitutes unassigned fund balance that is available for 
spending at the County's discretion. The remainder of fund balance is either nonspendable, restricted, committed, or assigned to indicate 
that it is 1) not in spendable form ($15.3 million), 2) restricted for particular purposes ($380.4 million), 3) committed for particular 
purposes ($414.6 million), or 4) assigned for particular purposes ($323.8 million).The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the 
County.  At September 30, 2015, the unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $27.0 million while total fund balance was $406.3 
million.  As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be more useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund 
balance to total General Fund expenditures and other financing uses. Unassigned fund balance represents 2.5% of total General Fund 
expenditures and other financing uses, while total fund balance represents 37.8% of that same amount. 
 
The fund balance of the County’s General Fund increased by $16.5 million during the current fiscal year.  This increase was achieved by 
positive variances in overall revenues, expenditures, and net transfers. Property taxes, one half-cent sales taxes, and state revenue sharing 
were the main contributors to the overall positive revenue variance indicating improvement in the economy. 
 
The fund balance of the Sheriff Contractual Services Fund, a major fund, increased by $536 thousand during the current fiscal year.  
Although revenues were less than the amounts estimated, this shortfall was mitigated by expenditure savings primarily in operating and 
capital project costs.  
 
The fund balance in the Capital Outlay Reserve Fund, a major fund, increased by $10.9 million during the current fiscal year as result of 
funding from property taxes and other financing sources exceeding planned project expenditures. 
 
Proprietary Funds  
�

The County’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial statements for business-
type activities, but in more detail.  
 
The Aviation Fund generated operating income of $10.6 million and an increase in net position of $62.2 million in fiscal year 2015.  As of 
September 30, 2015, net position totaled $1.4 billion of which $80.1 million was unrestricted.  
 
The Port Everglades Fund generated operating income of $45.7 million and an increase in net position of $42.0 million in fiscal year 2015.  
As of September 30, 2015, net position totaled $671.8 million, of which $226.8 million was unrestricted.  
 
The Water and Wastewater Fund generated operating income of $29.6 million and an increase in net position of $13.7 million in fiscal 
year 2015.  As of September 30, 2015, net position totaled $389.5 million, of which $98.8 million was unrestricted.  
 
The Resource Recovery System Fund generated an operating loss of $2.7 million and a decrease in net position of $84.4 million in fiscal 
year 2015. As of September 30, 2015, the Resource Recover Fund was closed and future activities related to the landfill are being 
recorded in the nonmajor Solid Waste Fund. As such, there was no net position to report at September 30, 2015. 
 
Other factors concerning the finances of these funds have already been addressed in the previous discussion of the County’s business-
type activities. 
�
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS  
�

Overall, there was a $94.8 million increase in appropriations between the original and final budget.  The main components of this increase 
are in Office of Management and Budget ($6.6 million), Public Works - Administration ($15.6 million), the Sheriff ($22.9 million), Public 
Safety - County Administration ($8.0 million), Human Services - Children, Homeless and Health Care Services, Elderly and Veteran 
Services, Family Success ($4.3 million), and transfers out ($24.8 million).  Of the total increase in appropriations of $94.8 million, $7.1 
million was funded by unanticipated revenues and transfers in, with the balance of $87.7 million funded by fund balance. 
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General Fund actual revenues for the 2015 fiscal year totaled $1.0 billion or 101.7% of the final budget. Property taxes and half-cent sales 
taxes exceeded estimates indicating an improvement in the economy.  Total expenditures of $1.0 billion were 90.6% of the final budget as 
several functional areas were under budget.  Significant positive variances were primarily in the general government category where 
expenditures were $44.2 million less than the budget, which was attributable to capital costs budgeted but not incurred as well as other 
general savings in various categories. The public safety expenditures were $38.2 million less than the final budget due to savings in 
operating expenditures and capital project costs related to the Sheriff.  Other financing sources totaled $76.5 million or 109.9% of the 
final budget, while other financing uses totaled $68.0 million or 96.5% of the final budget. General Fund actual revenues and other 
financing sources exceeded expenditures and other financing uses by $15.6 million, resulting in a positive variance with the final budget of 
$130.7 million. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION  
�

Capital Assets  
 
The County’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of September 30, 2015, amounted to $6.2 
billion (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital assets includes land, construction in progress, landfill, property held 
for leasing, buildings, improvements, utility plant in service, and equipment. In fiscal year 2015, there was a net increase in capital assets 
totaling $348.8 million (additions, net of retirements and depreciation).  
 

Broward County's Capital Assets (net of depreciation) 
September 30, 2015 and 2014 

(In Thousands) 
 Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total 
 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
Land   $ 429,673   $ 419,005   $ 580,539   $ 574,046   $ 1,010,212   $ 993,051  
Construction in progress    318,923    226,445    612,161    1,012,791    931,084    1,239,236  
Landfill     35,918    36,962    35,918    36,962  
Property held for leasing      313,269    327,922    313,269    327,922  
Buildings    659,502    666,527    439,256    441,811    1,098,758    1,108,338  
Improvements    679,023    688,423    1,137,396    462,214    1,816,419    1,150,637  
Utility plant in service     642,035    656,827    642,035    656,827  
Equipment    220,441    202,735    91,634    95,287    312,075    298,022  

Total  $ 2,307,562   $ 2,203,135   $ 3,852,208   $ 3,607,860   $ 6,159,770   $ 5,810,995  
 
Major capital asset events during the fiscal year included the following: 
 
Governmental activities: 
� Ongoing construction of new courthouse facility ($57.0 million) 
� Ravenswood Bus Facility reconstruction ($18.0 million)  
� Construction of new four lane road segment on Pembroke Road from S.W. 145 Avenue to Silver Shores Boulevard ($8.6 million) 
� New South Animal Care Facility construction ($2.3 million) 
� Enterprise resource planning project and software system improvements ($12.5 million) 
� New buses added to Broward County Transit Fleet ($33.4 million) 
 
Business-type activities: 
� South runway expansion project, airfield improvements, and terminal projects ($290.0 million) 
� Port Everglades cruise terminal expansion, security improvements, Southport turning notch, and land and building acquisitions ($33.0 

million) 
� Water and wastewater infrastructure improvements ($54.5 million)�
�

Additional information on the County’s capital assets can be found in Note 6 to the financial statements. 
 
Long-Term Debt  
�

At September 30, 2015, the County had $2.9 billion in outstanding debt as compared to $3.0 billion in the prior year.  Of the total debt 
outstanding, $256.4 million, or 9.0%, was backed by the full faith and credit of the County and the balance was secured by various specific 
revenue sources. 
 
The County’s financial strength and sound financial management practices are reflected in its general obligation bond ratings.  The 
County’s general obligation bonds are rated Aaa by Moody’s Investors Service, AAA by Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services, and AAA 
by Fitch. 
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The County’s outstanding debt as of September 30, 2015, for the governmental activities decreased by $22.4 million, while the 
outstanding bonded indebtedness for the business-type activities decreased by $79.9 million during the 2015 fiscal year.  These decreases 
are a result of payments made during the fiscal year towards outstanding obligations offset by the issuance of refunding debt. 
 

Broward County's Outstanding Debt  
September 30, 2015 and 2014 

(In Thousands) 
 Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total 
 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

General obligation bonds  $ 256,420   $ 279,630     $ 256,420   $ 279,630  
Special obligation bonds   332,210    342,790      332,210    342,790  
Loans payable   12,290    13,860      12,290    13,860  
Capital leases   15,306    2,342      15,306    2,342  
Revenue bonds    $ 2,242,120   $ 2,322,000    2,242,120    2,322,000  

Total  $ 616,226   $ 638,622   $ 2,242,120   $ 2,322,000   $ 2,858,346   $ 2,960,622  
 
The County’s required Annual Disclosure Statement may be found on line at www.broward.org/Finance/InvestorRelations/Pages/Default.aspx. 
This disclosure report details and updates certain statistics and financial performance which form the basis for the security for the 
County’s indebtedness. Additional information on the County’s long-term debt can be found in Note 7 to the financial statements. �
�

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES  
�

Local, national, and international economic factors influence the County’s revenues.  Positive economic growth is correlated with 
increased revenues from property taxes, sales taxes, charges for services, as well as state and federal grants. Economic growth in the 
local economy may be measured by a variety of indicators such as employment growth, unemployment, new construction, assessed 
valuation and enterprise fund revenues.  
 
� Net assessed value or real and personal property within the County increased by approximately 6.9% in fiscal year 2016 over fiscal 

year 2015. 
� Although the combined millage rate is unchanged from fiscal year 2015, the general obligation debt millage rate declined slightly in 

fiscal year 2016, and the general capital rate increased by the same amount. Increasing taxes dedicated to the general capital outlay 
program over time is essential to meeting infrastructure maintenance requirements. With over $2.0 billion in tax-supported assets 
to maintain, it is essential to continue to rebuild the pay-as-you-go program with recurring revenue, until the required levels based 
on a detailed asset management program and national benchmarks are met. The asset management program is an area where 
resources are being invested in fiscal year 2016, so that capital decisions can be based on the best information possible. 

� Inflationary costs were kept at a reasonable level to maintain current service levels of County agencies for fiscal year 2016. 
� Enhancements included in the budget address key Board of County Commissioner priorities such as improving transportation 

services (traffic synchronization, expanded and cleaner bus services), greater focus on small businesses, support for Human Services 
needs assessment action items (Juvenile detention alternatives, expanded Family Success Center hours, financial stability services and 
centralized billing services, improved homeless services, and support to address internal structural weaknesses emanating from the 
economic downturn. 

� The unemployment rate for the County as of September 30, 2015 was 4.9%.  This compares favorably to the State’s unemployment 
rate of 5.3% and the national rate of 4.9%. 

�

All of the above factors were considered in preparing the County's fiscal year 2016 budget.  The increase in the net assessed value 
provides revenue to help address cost increases and fund improvements. Where revenues are growing, such as in the enterprise funds, 
the County is investing resources into infrastructure improvements guided by carefully crafted master plans that will serve the 
community well for years to come and strengthen the local economy. 
�
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION  
�

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the County’s finances for all those with an interest in the government’s 
finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed 
to:  
 
Director, Accounting Division 
115 S. Andrews Avenue, Room 221, 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301  
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Broward County’s Centennial CelebrationBroward County’s Centennial Celebration

Basic Financial  
Statements

Inside Out

Inside Out is a global art project 
that gives communities all over 
the world a platform to express 
themselves through black and white 
photographs. Inspired by Parisian 
street artist JR and his large-format 
street pastings, Inside Out gives 
everyone the opportunity to share 
their portrait and make a statement.
 

During the centennial celebration, more than 1,400 
individuals posed for black and white headshots which 
were printed on posters, pasted on public spaces throughout 
Broward County including government buildings, and 
archived online. This global platform enables people to tell 
their untold stories and transform messages of  personal 
identity into works of  public art. 

Since 2007, installations have appeared on walls, sidewalks, 
streets, skyscrapers and historic buildings around the globe. 
Over 200,000 people from more than 180 countries have 
participated. 
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PROPRIETARY FUNDS  
Statement of Cash Flows, continued  

for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015 
(In Thousands) 

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds 

Resource Nonmajor Internal 
Port Water and Recovery Enterprise Service 

Aviation Everglades Wastewater System Funds Total Funds 
Reconciliation�of�Operating�Income�(Loss)�

to�Net�Cash�Provided�by�Operating�
Activities:�

Operating Income (Loss) $ 10,626 $ 45,731 $ 29,581 $ (2,740) $ (2,936) $ 80,262 $ 2,582 
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income 

(Loss) to Net Cash Provided by Operating 
Activities: 

Depreciation Expense 67,908 27,749 34,962 2,297 117 133,033 490 
Other Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) (126) 1,167 469 3,766 5,276 3,049 
Decrease (Increase) in Assets and Deferred 

Outflows of Resources: 
Accounts Receivable (Net) (2,094) (913) (3,732) 270 1,227 (5,242) (820) 
Other Receivable (Net) 28 28 
Due from Other County Funds 13 13 (3) 
Due from Other Governments 16 
Inventories 80 312 (183) 30 239 78 
Prepaid Items 201 (33) (223) (55) 412 
Deferred Outflows on Pensions (865) (630) (873) (134) (2,502) (173) 

Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities and 
Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Accounts Payable (957) 438 (419) 190 (1,685) (2,433) 554 
Accrued Liabilities 808 95 74 13 990 221 
Deposits 142 723 150 27 1,042 (46) 
Due to Other County Funds 687 (991) (13) (317) 
Due to Other Governments 26 (144) 941 823 (3) 
Unearned Revenues 15,960 (510) 15,450 (4,030) 
Claims Payable 2,603 
Compensated Absences 101 62 (65) (14) 84 (32) 
Other Post Employment Benefits 92 50 72 11 225 
Net Pension Liability 4,231 3,083 4,269 654 12,237 848 
Liability for Closure and Postclosure 

Care Costs 288 (311) (23) 
Deferred Inflows on Pensions (3,875) (2,824) (3,910) (599) (11,208) (777) 

Total Adjustments 82,319 27,662 31,532 3,058 3,089 147,660 2,387 
Net�Cash�Provided�by�Operating�

Activities� $�92,945� $�73,393� $�61,113� $�318� $�153� $�227,922� $�4,969�

Noncash�Investing,�Capital�and�Related�
Financing�Activities:�
Issuance of Refunding Bonds to Refund 

Existing Debt $ 221,328 $ 221,328 
Capital Assets Acquired through Current 

Accounts Payable $ 92,777 $ 7,572 13,150 113,499 
Capital Asset Donation (15,900) (15,900) 
Capital Contributions 990 2,409 3,183 6,582 
Transfer of Assets, Liabilities, and Net 

Position $ (30,685) $ 30,685 
Amortization of Deferred Charge on 

Refunding 346 1,205 1,679 3,230 
Amortization of Bond Discounts and 

Premiums (5,402) (317) (2,438) (8,157) 
Change in Fair Value of Interest Rate Swap 904 904 
Change in Fair Value of Investments 3,000 (361) 279 20 91 3,029 $ 458 

See accompanying notes. 
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Broward County’s Centennial CelebrationBroward County’s Centennial Celebration

Required Supplementary 
Information

Duende

Broward County’s yearlong centennial celebration culminated 
with a weekend of spectacular events known as Duende. 
Activities began with a showcase of Broward-based dancers 
and street performers who transformed the downtown 
area with music performances, art and dance. Three stages 
between the Broward Center for the Performing Arts 
and Himmarshee Village came to life as over 300 artists 
performed. Families enjoyed youth performances at the 
Amaturo Theater and a Petting Zoo, along with collaborative 
mural and costume making at Esplanade Park. In addition to 
an ArtsPark movie, families also enjoyed some of the greatest 
local bands at the Pompano Beach Amphitheater.

The highlight and grand finale of the weekend was the 
Saturday night performance of “WE…The Passion & Rhythm 
of the People,” a theatrical presentation directed and produced 
by Broadway Director and Cirque Dreams founder Neil 
Goldberg. The production, which was performed at the 
Broward Center for the Performing Arts, was created 
especially for Broward’s centennial celebration. More 
than 100 of the most talented local artists and performers 
performed along with Broadway legend and recording 
powerhouse, Linda Eder and Grammy award-winning star, 
Jon Secada. 
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Broward County’s Centennial CelebrationBroward County’s Centennial Celebration

Combining and Individual 
Fund Financial Statements 
and Schedules

Broward 100 Ice Cream

No birthday celebration is complete without ice cream! 
Locally famous Jaxson’s Ice Cream Parlor and Restaurant 
in Dania Beach, itself celebrating more than 59 years in 
Broward County, and visitors to this iconic ice cream parlor 
joined the centennial celebration. Jaxson’s conducted a social 
media contest challenging Broward residents to create the 
next great flavor of Broward. More than 200 residents shared 
what they considered to be the winning recipe. Jaxson’s blue 
ribbon panel of ice cream aficionados unanimously selected 
Caramel Mocha Coconut Crackle as Broward’s scoop of the 
century. Residents now enjoy Broward 100 ice cream among 
their many favorites at Jaxson’s.
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COUNTY TRANSPORTATION TRUST FUND 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

Budget and Actual 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015 

(In Thousands) 
 

  
  

      
FFinal Budgeted 

AAmounts      AActual Amounts      

VVariance With 
FFinal Budget 

PPositive 
((Negative)  

 Revenues:      
 Taxes (Net of Discounts) $ 61,064  $ 63,044  $ 1,980 
 Special Assessment/Impact Fees  4,029   9,850  5,821 
 Licenses and Permits  565   94  (471) 
 Licenses  377   451  74 
 State Revenues:      
 Gasoline Taxes  22,125   23,327  1,202 
 One-Half Cent Sales Tax  13,979   14,339  360 
 Other  390   369  (21) 
 Charges for Services  1,598   2,153  555 
 Interest Income  96   422  326 
 Miscellaneous  271   90  (181) 
 Less 5% of Anticipated Revenue  (5,225)     5,225 
 Total Revenues  99,269   114,139  14,870 

 Expenditures:      
 Current:      
 Transportation      
 Public Works - Road and Street Facilities  25,110   22,185  2,925 
 Capital Outlay  78   61  17 
 Total Expenditures  25,188   22,246  2,942 

 Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures  74,081   91,893  17,812 

 Other Financing Sources (Uses):      
 Transfers In  22,512   25,135  2,623 
 Transfers Out  (85,383)   (85,383)   
 Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)  (62,871)   (60,248)  2,623 

 Net Change in Fund Balance  11,210   31,645  20,435 
 Fund Balance - Beginning        
 Changes in Fund Balance for Inventory and Prepaid Items     251  251 
  FFund Balance --  EEnding   $$  111,210    $$  331,896    $$  220,686  
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TOURIST DEVELOPMENT TAX FUND 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

Budget and Actual 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015 

(In Thousands) 

 
  

  

      
FFinal Budgeted 

AAmounts      AActual Amounts      

VVariance With 
FFinal Budget 

PPositive 
((Negative)  

 Revenues:      
 Taxes (Net of Discounts) $ 53,872  $ 58,250  $ 4,378 
 State Revenues:      
 Other  2,000   2,000   
 Charges for Services  5,800   5,718  (82) 
 Fines and Forfeitures     137  137 
 Interest Income  85   215  130 
 Miscellaneous     113  113 
 Less 5% of Anticipated Revenue  (3,088)     3,088 
 Total Revenues  58,669   66,433  7,764 

 Expenditures:      
 Current:      
 Culture and Recreation      
 Greater Fort Lauderdale Convention and Visitors Bureau  34,494   32,956  1,538 
 Capital Outlay  437   326  111 
 Total Expenditures  34,931   33,282  1,649 

 Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures  23,738   33,151  9,413 

 Other Financing Sources (Uses):      
 Transfers In  35,345   35,316  (29) 
 Transfers Out  (47,830)   (50,801)  (2,971) 
 Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)  (12,485)   (15,485)  (3,000) 

 Net Change in Fund Balance  11,253   17,666  6,413 
 Fund Balance - Beginning        
  FFunnd Balance --  EEnding   $$  111,253    $$  117,666    $$  66,413  
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LOCAL HOUSING ASSISTANCE TRUST FUND 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

Budget and Actual 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015 

(In Thousands) 

 
  

  

      
FFinal Budgeted 

AAmounts      AActual Amounts      

VVariance With 
FFinal Budget 

PPositive 
((Negative)  

 Revenues:      
 State Revenues:      
 Grants $ 3,325  $ 309  $ (3,016) 
 Charges for Services     244  244 
 Interest Income     26  26 
 Total Revenues  3,325   579  (2,746) 

 Expenditures:      
 Current:      
 Economic Environment      
     Environmental Protection and Growth Management - 

    Housing Finance and Community Development  3,325   579  2,746 
 Total Expenditures  3,325   579  2,746 

 Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures         
 Fund Balance - Beginning        
  FFund Balance --  EEnding   $$  --    $$  --    $$  --  
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WATER CONTROL DISTRICTS FUND 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

Budget and Actual 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015 

(In Thousands) 

 
  

  

      
FFinal Budgeted 

AAmounts      AActual Amounts      

VVariance With 
FFinal Budget 

PPositive 
(Negative)  

 Revenues:      
 Taxes (Net of Discounts) $ 1,371  $ 1,280  $ (91) 
 Interest Income  16   42  26 
 Subtotal  1,387   1,322  (65) 
 Less 5% of Anticipated Revenue  (69)     69 
 Total Revenues  1,318   1,322  4 

 Expenditures:      
 Current:      
 Physical Environment      
 Public Works  864   705  159 
 Capital Outlay  1,586   709  877 
 Total Expenditures  2,450   1,414  1,036 

 Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures   (1,132)   (92)  1,040 
 Fund Balance - Beginning  3,505   3,503  (2) 
 Fund Balance -- EEnding  $  2,373   $  3,411   $  1,038  
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OTHER SPECIAL REVENUE FUND 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

Budget and Actual 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015 

(In Thousands) 

 
  

  

      
FFinal Budgeted 

AAmounts      AActual Amounts      

VVariance With 
FFinal Budget 

PPositive 
((Negative)  

 Revenues:      
 Licenses and Permits $ 680  $ 740  $ 60 
 Charges for Services  1,190   1,380  190 
 Interest Income  5   23  18 
 Miscellaneous     4  4 
 Subtotal  1,875   2,147  272 
 Less 5% of Anticipated Revenue  (94)     94 
 Total Revenues  1,781   2,147  366 

 Expenditures:      
 Current:      
 Culture and Recreation      
 Libraries, Parks, and Cultural  1,272   741  531 
 Physical Environment      
 Environmental Protection and Growth Management  1,107   1,047  60 
 Capital Outlay  475   235  240 
 Total Expenditures  2,854   2,023  831 

 Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures  (1,073)   124  1,197 

 Other Financing Sources (Uses):      
 Transfers Out  (53)   (53)   
 Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)  (53)   (53)   

 Net Change in Fund Balance  (1,126)   71  1,197 
 Fund Balance - Beginning  2,262   2,260  (2) 
  FFund Balance --  EEnding   $$  11,136    $$  22,331    $$  11,195  
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MASTER TRUST INDENTURE 

THIS MASTER TRUST INDENTURE (the "Master Indenture" and as supplemented and 
amended from time to time, the "Indenture") is made and entered into as of September 1, 1996 
between BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA; a political subdivision of the State of Florida and 
a public body corporate and politic (the "County") and THE BANK OF NEW YORK, a banking 
corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of New York and 
having one of its principal trust offices in Jacksonville, Florida, as trustee (said banking 
corporation and any bank or trust company becoming successor trustee under this Master 
Indenture being herein called the "Trustee"). 

RECITATIONS: 

1. Pursuant to Chapter 125, Part IV, Florida Statutes, the Board of County 
Commissioners of Broward County, Florida (the "Board") enacted by ordinance a home rule 
charter; by referendum held on November 5, 1974, the home rule charter was approved by the 
electorate of the County and became effective as of January 1, 1975; and as of this date the 
County is operating under and pursuant to its home rule charter. - 

2. In order to promote tourism and recreation and enhance the economy of the State of 
Florida (the "State"), the State Legislature enacted Section 125.0104, Florida Statutes, as 
amended, authorizing counties to levy and collect a tourist development tax, including an 
additional one percent tax under Section 125.0104(3)(1) and an additional one percent tax under 
Section 125.0104(3)(0) (the taxes imposed pursuant to paragraphs (1) and (0) of Section 
125.01O4(3) hereafter collectively referred to as the "Professional Sports Franchise Facilities 
Tax") on certain rentals of living quarters or accommodations in hotels, apartment hotels, 
motels, resort motels, apartments, apartment motels, roominghouses, mobile home parks, 
recreational vehicle parks, or condominiums for a term of 6 months or less, for the purpose of 
using said tax revenues to pay debt service on bonds issued to finance the construction of certain 
professional sports franchise facilities and to pay the planning and design costs incurred prior 
to the issuance of such bonds. 

3. On April 23, 1996 the Board enacted Ordinance No. 96-9 and Ordinance No. 96-10, 
imposing the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax within the County, to be used to assist 
in the payment of debt service on bonds issued to frnance the acquisition and construction of a 
professional sports franchise facility in the County (as hereinafter defirPed, the "Facility") and 
pay planning and other costs related thereto. 

4. The County has been certified by the State as a "facility for a new professional sports 
franchise" under and pursuant to Section 288.1162, Florida Statutes, as amended, and pursuant 
to Section 212.20, Florida Statutes, as amended, the State will pay to the County the monthly 
sum of $166,667 for thmy years (the "Sales Tax Rebate") to be utilized to pay for the 
construction of the Facility, to pay debt service on bonds and related obligations issued for the 
construction of the Facility or for the reimbursement of costs for such construction. 

5 .  On June 4, 1996, the Board approved and the County entered into that certain 
Broward County Civic Arena Development Agreement (the "Development Agreement") with 
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Arena Development Company, Ltd. (the "Project Developer"), providing for the design and 
construction of the Facility and a plan of frnance with respect thereto, which Development 
Agreement contemplates the creation of this Master Indenture to provide, among other things, 
for monies from the Construction Fund created hereunder to be utilized for constmction of the 
Facility. 

6. On June 4, 1996, the Board also approved and the County entered into that certain 
Broward County Civic Arena License Agreement (the "License Agreement") with the Florida 
Panthers Hockey Club, Ltd. (the "Team") and Arena Operating Company, Ltd. (the "Operator") 
setting forth the terms and conditions under which the Team will occupy and use the Facility 
when completed, and the Board also approved and the County entered into that certain Broward 
County Civic Arena Operating Agreement (the "Operating Agreement" and together with the 
Development Agreement and the License Agreement, the "Facility Agreements") with the 
Operator for the operation and management of the Facility. 

7. By Resolution No. 96-0741, adopted on August 20, 1996, the Board has authorized 
the execution and delivery of this Master Indenture providing for the issuance of Broward 
County, Florida Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Bonds (the "Bonds"), in one or 
more series, pursuant to supplemental indentures, which may include taxable andor tax exempt 
Bonds, which axe to be payable from and secured by proceeds of the Professional Sports 
Franchise Facilities Tax and Sales Tax Rebate, among other security described in this Master 
Indenture, for the purpose of planning, developing, acquiring and constructing the Facility. 

8. The Indenture wilt secure the issuance of the Bonds by furing and declaring the terms 
and conditions upon which the Bonds are to be issued, authenticated, delivered, secured and 
accepted by all persons who shall from time to time be or become owners thereof, to secure the 
orderly construction of the Facility, and to secure payment of the Bonds and the performance 
and observance of the covenants, agreements and conditions therein contained. 

9. All acts, conditions and things required by the laws of the State of Florida to happen, 
exist and be performed precedent to and in the execution and delivery of this Master Indenture 
have happened, exist and have been performed as so required to make this Master Indenture a 
valid and binding trust indenture for the security of the Bonds in accordance with its terms. 

10. The Trustee has accepted the trusts created by this Master Indenture. 

NOW, THEREFORE, This Master Indenture WITNESSETH, that to secure the payment 
of Debt Service Charges on the Bonds according to their true intent and meaning, to secure the 
performance and observance of al l  of the covenants, agreements, obligations and conditions 
contained therein and herein, and to declare the terms and conditions upon and subject to which 
the Bonds are and are intended to be issued, held, secured and enforced, and in consideration 
of the premises and the acceptance by the Trustee of the trusts created herein and of the 
purchase and acceptance of the Bonds by the Holders, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt of which is acknowledged, the County has executed and delivered this 
Master Indenture and by this Master Indenture the County hereby grants security interests in. 
and pledges and assigns to the Trustee, and to its successors in trust, and its and their assigns, 
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all right, title and interest of the County in and to the Pledged Revenues, including without 
limitation, amounts held in or for the credit of the Pledged Funds; 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD unto the Trustee and its successors in that trust and its and 
their assigns forever; 

BUT IN TRUST, NEVERTHELESS, and subject to the provisions hereof, 

(a) except as provided otherwise herein or in a Supplemental Indenture, for the 
equal and proportionate benefit, security and protection of all present and future Holders 
of the Bonds issued or to be issued under and secured by this Master Indenture., 

(b) for the enforcement of the payment of the Debt Service Charges on the 
Bonds, when payable, according to the true intent and meaning thereof and of this Master 
Indenture, and 

(c) to secure the performance and observance of and compliance with the 
covenants, agreements, obligations, terms and conditions of this Master Indenture, - 

in each case without preference, priority or distinction, as to lien or otherwise, of any one Bond 
over any other of the same Series, and in the case of a Series which is issued on a parity with 
any other Series pursuant to Section 2.03 hereof, without preference, distinction or priority of 
any Bond over any other Bond issued on a parity therewith, by reason of designation, number, 
date of the Bonds or of authorization, issuance, sale, execution, authentication, delivery or 
maturity thereof, or otherwise, so that, except as otherwise provided in Section 2.05 hereof, 
each Bond and all Bonds shall have the same right, lien and privilege under the Indenture and 
shall be secured equally and ratably hereby, it being intended that the lien and security of this 
Master Indenture shall take effect from the date hereof, without regard to the date of the actual 
issue, sale or disposition of the Bonds, as though upon that date all of the Bonds were actually 
issued, sold and delivered to purchasers for value; provided, however, that if 

(i) the principal of the Bonds and the interest due or to become due thereon, 
together with any premium required by redemption of any of the Bonds prior to maturity, 
shall be well and tmly paid, at the times and in the manner to which reference is made 
in the Bonds, according to the true intent and meaning thereof, or the Outstanding Bonds 
shall have been paid and discharged in accordance with Article Wr hereof, and 

(ii) all of the covenants, agreements, obligations, terms and conditions of the 
County under this Master Indenture shall have been kept, performed and observed and 
there shall have been paid to the Trustee, the Registrar, the Paying Agents and the 
Authenticating Agents all sums of money due or to become due to them in accordance 
with the terns and provisions hereof, 

then this Master Indenture and the rights assigned hereby shall cease, determine and be void, 
except as provided in Section 8.03 hereof with respect to the survival of certain provisions 
hereof; otherwise, this Master Indenture shall be and remain in full force and effect. 
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IT IS DECLARED that all Bonds issued hereunder and secured hereby are to be issued, 
authenticated and delivered, and that all of the Pledged Revenues pledged and assigned hereby 
are to be dealt with and disposed of under, upon and subject to, the terms, conditions, 
stipulations, covenants, agreements, obligations, trusts, uses and purposes provided in this 
Master Indenture. The County has agreed and covenanted, and agrees and covenants with the 
Trustee and with each and all Holders, as follows: 

(Balance of page intentionally left blank) 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.01. Definitions. In addition to the words and terms defined elsewhere in 
this Master Indenture or by reference to the Facility Agreements, unless the context or use 
clearly indicates another meaning or intent, the following words and terms shall have the 
meanings set forth below: 

"Accreted Value" means, with respect to any Compounding Interest Bond, (a) the amount 
representing the Accreted Value of such Bonds as of any Compounding Date, as established by 
the schedule of Accreted Values relating to such Bond, which amount represents the initial 
principal amount thereof plus the amount of interest that has accrued to such Compounding Date 
calculated on the basis of a three hundred and sixty (360) day year of twelve (12) thirty (30) day 
months, and (b) as of any date other than a Compounding Date, the sum of (i) the Accreted 
Value on the preceding Compounding Date plus (ii) the product of (x) a fraction, the numerator 
of which is the number of days having elapsed from the preceding Compounding Date and the 
denominator of which is the number of days from such preceding Compounding Date to the next 
succeeding Compounding Date, multiplied by (y) the difference between the Accreted Values 
on such Compounding Dates, which amount represents the principal plus the amount of interest 
that has accrued to such date of determination. The County may provide by Supplemental 
Indenture that, with respect to any Series, the Accreted Value as of any date other than a 
Compounding Date shall be determined using a constant interest rate method rather than as 
provided in (b). 

"Act" means the Constitution and laws of the State, including, without limitation, Chapter 
125, Florida Statutes, Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, Section 212.20, Florida Statues, Section 
288.1162, Flori& Statutes, and with respect to Taxable Bonds, Chapter 159, Part VII, Florida 
Statutes, each as amended, and the County's home rule charter. 

"Aggregate Principal Amount" means the aggregate outstanding principal amount of 
Bonds, provided that with respect to a particular Series, the amount designated or determined 
to be the Aggregate Principal Amount of that Series in or pursuant to the Supplemental Indenture 
authorizing that Series shall be the Aggregate principal Amount of that Series. 

"Amortization Requirements" means such moneys required to be deposited in the 
Principal Account of the Bond Fund for the purpose of paying when due or redeeming prior to 
maturity any Term Bonds issued pursuant to the Indenture, the specific amounts to be 
determined in accordance with or under the authority of a Supplemental Indenture authorizing 
the issuance of such Term Bonds. 

"Arena" shall have the same meaning assigned to it in the Operating Agreement and is 
more fully defined and described in the Design Development Documents identified in the 
Development Agreement. 

"Authenticating Agent" means the Trustee and the Registrar and any other bank, trust 
company or other Person designated as an Authenticating Agent for a Series of Bonds by or in 
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accordance with Section 5.13 of this Master Indenture, each of which shall be a transfer agent 
registered in accordance with Section 17A(c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended. 

"Authorized County Representative" means the person or persons at the time designated 
to act on behalf of the County by written certificate furnished to the Project Developer, the 
Operator and the Trustee, containing the specimen signature of each such person and signed on 
behalf of the County by the Chair of the Board. 

"Authorized Denominations" means (i) the denomination of $5,OOO or any integral 
multiple thereof or (ii) with respect to a particular Series, any denominations authorized in a 
Supplemental Indenture for that Series. 

"Authorized Operator Representative" means the person or persons at the time designated 
to act on behalf of the Operator by written certificate furnished to the County and the Trustee, 
containing the specimen signature of each such person and signed on behalf of the Operator by 
the President of its general partner. In the event that all persons so designated become 
unavailable or unable to act and the Operator fails to designate a replacement within ten days 
after such unavailability or inability to act, the Trustee may appoint an interim Authorized 
Operator Representative until such time as the Operator designates that person. 

"Authorized Project Developer Representative" means the person or persons at the time 
designated to act on behalf of the Project Developer by written certificate furnished to the 
County and the Trustee, containing the specimen signature of each such person and signed on 
behalf of the Project Developer by the President of its general partner. In the event that all 
persons so designated become unavailable or unable to act and the Project Developer fails to 
designate a replacement within ten days after such unavailability or inability to act, the Trustee 
may appoint an interim Authorized Project Developer Representative until such time as the 
Project Developer designates that person. 

"Board" means the Board of County Commissioners of Broward County, Florida, or any 
successor of the board or body in which the general legislative powers of the County shall be 
vested. 

"Bondholder" or "Holder" means the registered owner of a Bond. 

"Bond Counsel" means a fm of attorneys of nationally recognized standing in matters 
pertaining to obIigations issued by states and their political subdivisions, appointed by the County 
Attorney of the County and approved by the Board. 

"Bond Fund" means the Broward County Civic Arena Bond Fund, a special fund created 
and designated by Section 4.01 hereof, together with any accounts and subaccounts created 
thereunder. 

"Bond Reserve Fund" means the Broward County Civic Arena 
special fund created and designated by Section 4.01 hereof, together 
subaccounts created thereunder. 

Bond Reserve Fund, a 
with any accounts and 
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"Book-Entry Bonds" means Bonds which are subject to a Book-Entry System. 

"Book-Entry System" means a system under which either (a) Bond certificates are not 
issued and the ownership of Bonds is reflected solely by the Register, or (b) physical certificates 
in fully registered form are issued to a securities depository or to its nominee as Bondholder, 
with the certificated Bonds held by and "immobilized" in the custody of such securities 
depository, and under which records maintained by Persons, other than the Registrar, constitute 
the written record that identifies the ownership and transfer of the beneficial interests in those 
Bonds. 

"Bonds" means, collectively, any bonds issued under and secured by the Indenture. 

"Capital Appreciation Bond" means a Bond which is a Compounding Interest Bond 
throughout its entire term. 

"Chair" means the Chair of the Board, or in the absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair or 

Tode" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time. Each 
reference to a section of the Code herein shall be deemed to include the United States Treasury 
Regulations proposed or in effect thereunder and applied to the Bonds or the use of proceeds 
thereof, and also includes all amendments and successor provisions unless the context clearly 
requires otherwise. 

the officer or officers succeeding to that function. 

"Completion Date" means the date which is forty (40) calendar days after the date on 
which the Project Architects deliver their certificates to the Project Developer and the County 
pursuant to clause (b) of the definition of "Substantial Completion" in the Development 
Agreement. Upon receipt thereof, the County shall immediately deliver copies of such 
certificates to the Trustee. 

"Compounding Date" means, with respect to any Compounding Interest Bond, the date 
on which interest is compounded for purposes of determining its Accreted Value. 

"Compounding Interest Bond" means a Bond, the interest on which (a) shall be 
compounded periodically, (b) shall be payable at maturity or redemption prior to maturity, and 
(c) shall be determined by reference to Accreted Value and includes, but is not limited to, 
Capital Appreciation Bonds and Convertible Capital Appreciation Bonds. 

"Construction Fund" means the Broward County Civic Arena Construction Fund, a 
special fund created and designated by Section 4.01 hereof, together with any accounts and 
subaccounts created thereunder. 

"Construction Period" means the period between the beginning of the acquisition, 
construction, installation, equipment or improvement of the Facility or the date on which the 
Bonds are delivered to the Original Purchaser, whichever is earlier, and the date which is forty 
days after the occurrence of "Substantial Completion", as such term is defined in the 
Development Agreement. 
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"Convertible Capital Appreciation Bond" means a Bond which is a Compounding Interest 
Bond until a conversion date specified therein, and from and after such conversion date is 
payable not less often than annually, calculated on the basis of the Accreted Value thereof on 
such conversion date, and the Accreted Value of which as of said conversion date is treated as 
the principal amount thereof for purposes of payment or redemption after such conversion date. 

"Cost" or "Costs" as applied to all or any part of the Facility, means and shall embrace 
the cost of acquisition and construction and all obligations for expenses and all items of cost 
which are set forth in Section 4.05 of this Master Indenture. 

"County" means Broward County, Florida, a political subdivision of the State of Florida. 

"County Administrator" means the County Administrator and ex-officio Clerk of the 
Board or his designee or the officer or officers succeeding to his principal functions. 

"County Attorney" means the County Attorney of the County, his designee or the officer 
or officers succeeding to the principal functions of that office. 

- 
"County Deficiency Covenant" means the covenant of the County set forth Section 9.02 

hereof. 

"County Preferred Revenue Allocation" shall have the same meaning ascribed to that 
term in Exhibit C to the Development Agreement and paid by the Opelator pursuant to the terms 
of Section 5.2.1 of the Operating Agreement. 

"County Reimbursement Obligations" means the repayment of all moneys paid pursuant 
to the County Deficiency Covenant by the County to the Trustee as required by Section 4.04(a) 
hereof. 

"Credit Facility" means a policy of insurance, a letter of credit, surety bond or other 
financial product obtained by the County which guarantees the prompt payment of all or any 
portion of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any of the Bonds, or to provide funds 
for the purchase of any Bonds for retirement or remarketing, or to fulfill other frnancial 
obligations of the County set forth in the Indenture. 

"Credit Facility Provider" means an insurance company, bank, or other organization 
which has provided a Credit Facility in connection with any Series of Bonds. 

"Credit Facility Reimbursement Obligations" means, for any period or payable at any  
t h e ,  the reimbursement obligations of the County to the Credit Facility h v i d e r  with respect 
to moneys provided by the Credit Facility Provider for the payment of Debt Service Charges. 

"Debt Service Charges" means, for any period or payable at any time, the principal 
(including Amortization Requirements), interest and any premium due on the Bonds for that 
period or payable at that time whether due at maturity or upon redemption. 
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"Defeasance Obligations" means (i) direct obligations of the United States of America 
(including obligations issued or held in book-entry form on the books of the Department of the 
Treasury of the United States of America), or obligations the timely payment of the principal 
of and interest on which is unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, (E) 
certificates which evidence ownership of the right to the payments of the principal of and interest 
on obligations described in clause (i) or in specified portions thereof, including, without 
limitation, portions consisting solely of the principal thereof or solely of the interest thereon, and 
(iii) with respect to a particular Series, obligations which have been determined in the 
Supplemental Indenture authorizing that Series to be Defeasance Obligations and which shall be 
Defeasance Obligations only as to that Series. 

"Design Development Documents" means those documents referred to in and attached 
as part of the Development Agreement, providing the plan and design for construction of the 
Facility. 

"Development Agreement" means the Broward County Civic Arena Development 

"Eligible Investments" means and includes such obligations as shall be permitted to be 
legal investments of the County from time to time by the laws of the State; provided, however 
that if a Credit Facility Provider for any Series of Bonds requires a list of Eligible Investments, 
then, to the extent permitted by law, the requirements of the Credit Facility Provider shall 
prevail and shal l  be considered the "Eligible Investments" for that Series of Bonds. 

Agreement dated as of June 4, 1996 between the County and the Project Developer. 

"Event of Default" means an Event of Default hereunder, as defined in Section 6.01 
hereof. 

"Extraordinary Services" and "Extraordinary Expenses" mean all services rendered and 
all reasonable expenses properly incurred by the Trustee under the Indenture, other than 
Ordinary Services and Ordinary Expenses. 

"Facility" means the Project Site, the Arena and the parking Areas with all 
improvements, additions, facilities, fmtures, furniture, machinery and equipment, attachments 
and appurtenances attaching thereto, as more fully described in the Design Development 
Documents. 

"Facility Agreements" means collectively, the Development Agreement, the License 
Agreement, and the Operating Agreement. 

"Facility Costs" means the Facility Costs identified in or pursuant to Section 4.05 hereof. 

"Facility Purposes" means acquiring, constructing, installing, equipping and improving 
the Facility through completion, including the refunding or refinancing of all or any Bonds or 
other obligations issued or incurred in connection therewith. 

"Fiduciaries" means the Trustee, the Registrar, the Paying Agents and the Authenticating 
Agents, as applicable. 
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"Finance Director" means the Director of the Department of Finance and Administrative 
Services of the County, his designee or the officer or officers succeeding to his principal 
functions. 

"Fiscal Year" means the fiscal year of the County, currently beginning October 1 and 
ending September 30. 

"Indenture" means this Master Trust Indenture as supplemented and amended by 
Supplemental Indentures from time to the.  

"Interest" or "interest" means the interest on the specified obligations; in the case of 
Compounding Interest Bonds, the interest component included in the Maturity Amount (and in 
the Accreted Value thereof payable at redemption) shall be deemed to constitute principal; 
provided, however, that for purposes of any limitation contained herein or in any Supplemental 
Indenture on the issuance of an aggregate principal amount of Bonds of any Series, the principal 
amount of Compounding Interest Bonds shall be the initial principal amount thereof on the date 
of issuance of such Bonds. 

- 
"Interest Payment Date" means, when used with reference to any Bonds, the dates on 

which interest is stated to be due thereon as provided by Supplemental Indenture with respect 
to each Series of Bonds. 

"License Agreement" means the Broward County Civic Arena License Agreement dated 
as of June 4, 1996 by and among the County, the Team and the Operator. 

"Master Indenture" means this Master Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 1996, 
between the County and the Trustee. 

"Maturity Amount" means, with respect to any Compounding Interest Bond, the value 
of such Compounding Interest Bond which is due at the stated maturity thereof. 

"Maximum Debt Service Charges" means, as of any particular date of calculation, the 
greatest amount of scheduled Debt Service Charges on all outstanding Bonds for the then current 
or any future Fiscal Year. 

"Non-Ad Valorem Revenues" shall mean all revenues of the County derived from any 
source other than ad valorem taxation on real or personal property, which are legally available 
to make the payments required in Section 4.04(a) hereof. 

"Notice Address" means: 

(a) As to the County: 
County Administrator 
Broward County, Florida 
115 S. Andrews Avenue, Room 409 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 
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with copy to: 

with copy to: 

(b) As to the Operator: 

Director, Department of Finance 
and Administrative Services 
Same as above, Room 121 

County Attorney 
Broward County 
Same as above, Room 423 

Arena Operating Company, Ltd. 
c/o Huizenga Holdings, Inc. 
Sixth Floor 
200 S. Andrews Avenue 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 

(c): As to the Team: 
Florida Panthers Hockey Club, Ltd. 
100 Northeast Third Avenue 
Tenth Floor 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 

(d) As to the Project Developer: 
Arena Development Company, Ltd. 
c/o Huizenga Holdings, Inc. 
Sixth Floor 
200 S. Andrews Avenue 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 
Attention: President 

(e) As to the Trustee: 
The Bank of New York 
10161 Centurion Parkway 
Jacksonville, Florida 32256 
Attention: Corporate Trust 

Administration 

"Operating Agreement" means that certain Broward County Civic Arena Operating 
Agreement dated as of June 4, 1996 between the County and the Operator. 

"Operator" means Arena Operating Company, Ltd., a limited partnership organized under 
the laws of the State, and its lawful successors and assigns to the extent permitted by the 
Operating Agreement. 

"Opinion of Bond Counsel" means an opinion in writing signed by Bond Counsel. 
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"Ordinary Services" and "Ordinary Expenses" mean those services normally rendered, 
and those expenses normally incurred, by a trustee under instruments similar to the Indenture. 

"Original Purchaser" means, as to each Series, the Person or Persons identified as the 
Original Purchaser or Purchasers of the Bonds in the Supplemental Indenture or the Purchase 
Agreement for that Series. 

"Outstanding Bonds", "Bonds outstanding" or "outstanding" as applied to Bonds mean, 
as of the applicable date, all Bonds which have been authenticated and delivered, or which are 
being delivered by the Trustee under the Indenture, except: 

Bonds canceled upon surrender, exchange or transfer, or canceled because of 
payment or redemption on or prior to that date; 

Bonds, or the portion thereof, for the payment, redemption or purchase for 
cancellation of which sufficient money has been deposited and credited with the 
Trustee or any Paying Agents on or prior to that date for that purpose (whether 
upon or prior to the maturity or redemption date of those Bonds); provided, th-at 
if any of those Bonds are to be redeemed prior to their maturity, notice of that 
redemption shall have been given or arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee 
shall have been made for giving notice of that redemption, or waiver by the 
affected Holders of that notice satisfactory in form to the Trustee shall have been 
filed with the Trustee; 

Bonds, or the portion thereof, which are deemed to have been paid and 
discharged or caused to have been paid and discharged pursuant to the provisions 
of the Indenture; and 

Bonds in lieu of which others have been authenticated under Section 2.08 of this 
Master Indenture. 

"Parking Areas" means the areas of the Facility designated for parking. 

"Paying Agent" means any bank, trust company or other Person (including the County) 
designated as a Paying Agent by or in accordance with Section 5.12 of this Master Indenture. 

"Person" or words importing persons means f m s ,  associations, partnerships (including, 
without Limitation, general and limited partnerships), joint ventures, societies, estates, trusts, 
corporations, public or governmental bodies, other legal entities and natural persons. 

"Pledged Funds" means collectively (i) the Construction Fund but not including the 
Project Developer Constmction Account therein, (ii) the Revenue Fund, (iii) the Bond Fund, (iv) 
the Bond Reserve Fund, (v) the Surplus Fund, and (vi) any other funds and accounts permitted 
by, established under or identifed in this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture or any 
resolution authorizing the Bonds as funds and accounts specifically pIedged to the payment of 
Debt Sentice Charges of the Bonds or particular Series of Bonds. The Pledged Funds do not 
include the Rebate Fund. 
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"Pledged Revenues" means (a) the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax Revenues, 
(b) all proceeds from the Sales Tax Rebate, (c) the County Prefened Revenue Allocation, (d) 
other revenue sources pledged by the County to the payment of Debt Service Charges from time 
to time by Supplemental Indenture and (e) moneys in, including investments credited to, the 
Pledged Funds, and income from the investment thereof. 

"Predecessor Bond" of any particular Bond means every previous Bond evidencing all 
or a portion of the same debt as that evidenced by the particular Bond. For the purposes of this 
definition, any Bond authenticated and delivered under Section 2.08 of this Master Indenture in 
lieu of a lost, stolen or destroyed Bond shall, except as otherwise provided in Section 2.08, be 
deemed to evidence the same debt as the lost, stolen or destroyed Bond. 

"Principal" or "principal" means the principal of the specified obligations; in the case of 
Compounding Interest Bonds, the interest component of the Maturity Amount (or Accreted Value 
thereof payable upon redemption) shall be deemed to constitute principal; provided that for 
purposes of any limitation contained herein or in any Supplemental Indenture on the aggregate 
principal amount of Bonds of any Series, the principal amount thereof shall be the initial 
principal amount on the date of issuance thereof. - 

"FVhcipal Payment Date" means, when used with reference to any Bonds, the dates on 
which principal is stated to be due thereon (including from Amoxtization Requirements) as 
provided by Supplemental Indenture with respect to each Series of Bonds. 

"Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax" has the meaning ascribed to it in the 
Recitations section of this Master Indenture. 

"Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax Ordinances" means Ordinance No. 96-9 and 
Ordinance No. 96-10 enacted by the Board on April 23, 1996. 

"Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax Revenues" means all monies received by 
the County from the levy and collection by the County of the Professional Sports Franchise 
Facilities Tax other than the portion thereof paid to the Finance Director for costs of 
administration in accordance with the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax Ordinances. 

"Project Developer" means Arena Development Company, Ltd., a limited partnership 
organized under the laws of the State, and its lawful successors and assigns to the extent 
permitted by the Development Agreement. 

"Project Developer Contributions" means the amounts which the Project Developer has 
agreed to deposit with the Trustee for deposit in the Construction Fund pursuant to Sections 
2.3(e) and 6.5 of the Development Agreement, which may be satisfied by the deposit of a letter 
of credit as described in the Development Agreement. 

"Project Site" means the real estate described in Exhibit A to the Development 
Agreement. 
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"Purchase Agreement" means, as to a particular Series, the bond purchase agreement or 
other similar agreements between the County and the Original Purchaser of that Series. 

"Rating Service" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc., Standard & Poor's Ratings 
Service, a division of McGraw-Hill, Inc., Fitch Investors Service and any other nationally 
recognized securities rating agency which has assigned a rating to any Series of Bonds. 

"Rebate Fund" means any Rebate Fund established with respect to a Series of Tax- 
Exempt Bonds by Supplemental Indenture. 

"Register" means the books kept and maintained by the Registrar for registration and 
transfer of Bonds pursuant to Section 2.07 hereof. 

"Registrar" means the Trustee, or with respect to any Series of Bonds, any other bank, 
trust company or Person (including the County) appointed to act in such capacity by 
Supplemental Indenture. 

"Regular Record Date" means the fifeenth (15th) day of the month preceding any Inte-rest 
Payment Date, or with respect to any Series of Bonds such other day preceding any Inter& 
Payment Date that is established as the Regular Record Date for purposes of the Indenture by 
Supplemental Indenture. 

"Reimbursement Obligations" means Credit Facility Reimbursement Obligations and 
County Reimbursement Obligations. 

"Reserve Fund Credit Facility" means a surety bond, a policy of insurance, a letter of 
credit, or other financial product obtained by the County with respect to any Bonds, from an 
entity that is rated in one of the two highest rating categories by at least one Rating Service and 
which financial product provides for payment of Debt Service Charges on such Bonds in 
amounts not greater than the Reserve Requirement in the event of an insufficiency of available 
moneys herein to pay when due Debt Service Charges on such Bonds. 

"Reserve Requirement" means the lesser of (i) fifty percent (50 56) of the Maximum Debt 
Service Charges or (ii) the greatest amount allowable under the Code. 

"Revenue Allocation Date" means the fifh (5th) day immediately preceding each Interest 
Payment Date or Principal Payment Date. 

"Revenue Fund" means the Broward County Civic Arena Revenue Fund, a special fund 
created and designated by Section 4.01 hereof, together with any accounts and subaccounts 
created thereunder. 

"Sales Tax Rebate" has the meaning ascribed to it in the Recitations section of this 
Master Indenture. 

"Serial Bonds" means the Bonds of a Series which shall be stated to mature in sequential 
Y-* 
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"Series" means those Bonds which are issued pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture as 
a separate Series of Bonds. 

"Special Record Date" means, with respect to any Bond, the date established by the 
Trustee in connection with the payment of overdue interest on that Bond pursuant to Section 2.06 
hereof. 

"State" means the State of Florida. 

"Supplemental Indenture" means any indenture supplemental to this Master Indenture 
entered into between the County and the Trustee in accordance with Article VII hereof. 

"Surplus Fund" means the Broward County Civic Arena Surplus Fund, a special fund 
created and designated by Section 4.01 hereof, together with any accounts and subaccounts 
created thereunder. 

"Tax-Exempt Bonds" means Bonds the interest on which is intended, on the date .of 
issuance thereof, to be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under the 
Code. 

"Taxable Bonds" means Bonds the interest on which is intended, on the date of issuance 
thereof, to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes under the Code. 

"Team" means the Florida Panthers Hockey Club, Ltd., a limited partnership organized 
under the laws of the State, and its lawful successors and assigns. 

"Term Bonds" means that portion of the Bonds of any Series which are stated to mature 
on one date in a calendar year and which shall be subject to mandatory redemption by operation 
of Amortization Requirements. 

"Trustee" means The Bank of New York, until a successor Trustee shall have become 
such pursuant to the applicable provisions of this Master Indenture, and thereafter, "Trustee" 
shall mean the successor Trustee. 

SECTION 1.02. I n t e r o m  ' . Any reference herein to the County or the Board or to 
any member or officer of the foregoing includes entities or officials succeeding to their 
respective functions, duties or responsibilities pursuant to or by operation of law or lawfully 
performing their functions. 

Any reference to a section, provision or chapter of the Act, or laws and regulations of 
the United States, includes that Section, provision or chapter as amended, modified, revised, 
supplemented or superseded from time to time to the extent applicable; provided, that no 
amendment, modification, revision, supplement.or superseding section, provision or chapter shall 
be applicable solely by reason of this paragraph, if it constitutes in any way an impairment of 
the rights or obligations of the County, the Holders or the Trustee, under this Master Indenture, 
any Supplemental Indenture, any legislation of the County authorizing any Series of Bonds, the 
Bonds or any other instrument or document entered into in connection with any of the foregoing, 
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including without limitation, any alteration of the obligation to pay Debt Service Charges in the 
amount and manner, at the times, and from the sources provided in the legislation of the County 
authorizing each Series of Bonds and the Indenture, except as permitted herein. 

Unless the context indicates otherwise; words importing the singular number include the 
plural number, and vice versa. The terms "hereof', "hereby", "herein", "hereto", "hereunder", 
"hereinafter" and similar terms refer to this Master Indenture; and the term "hereafter" means 
after, and the term "heretofore" means before, the date of this Master Indenture. Words of any 
gender include the correlative words of the other genders, unless the sense indicates otherwise. 

SECTION 1.03. Can tions and Headings. The captions and headings in this Master 
Indenture are solely for convenience of reference and in no way define, limit or describe the 
scope or intent of any Articles, Sections, subsections, paragraphs, subpaxagraphs or clauses 
hereof. 

(End of Article I) 
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ARTICLE II 

AUTHORIZATION AND TERMS OF BONDS 

SECTION 2.01. Authorization of Bonds. Pursuant to the authority of the Act, &he 
County may issue, sell and deliver one or more Series of Bonds for Facility Purposes as 
specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series, upon satisfaction of the 
conditions and in the manner provided in this Master Indenture. A supplemental Indenture may 
provide for the issuance of muitiple Series of Bonds. 

SECTION 2.02. Form of Bonds. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental 
Indenture authorizing a Series, each Series of Bonds shall be designated "Broward County, 
Florida Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Bonds, Series - (Broward County 
Civic Arena Project)," with the appropriate Series designation to be provided in the 
Supplemental Indenture, shall be issued only in fully registered form, shall be numbered or 
otherwise designated in such manner as determined by the Trustee in order to distinguish each 
Bond from any other Bond, shall be in Authorized Denominations and shall be transferable and 
exchangeable for Bonds of Authorized Denominations as provided in Section 2.07 hereof. The 
County may provide in a Supplemental Indenture for a particular Series of Bonds for the 
issuance of that Series in any manner then permitted by law. 

The County shall provide for the terms of each Series of Bonds in the Supplemental 
Indenture for the particular Series of Bonds including, without limitation, the following: 
whether such Bonds shall be issued as Tax-Exempt or Taxable Bonds; whether such Bonds shall 
be issued as "Book-Entry Bonds"; the date of the Bonds or the manner for determining the date; 
the Aggregate Principal Amount of the Bonds of that Series; whether such Bonds shall be Serial 
and/or Term Bonds; the interest or appreciation rate or rates, or the method for determining the 
interest or appreciation rate or rates for that Series; any Interest Payment Date or Dates; the date 
or dates on which the principal of the Series matures or is payable, whether by stated maturity, 
mandatory redemption or tender for purchase or otherwise, including the Principal Payment Date 
or Dates for that Series and the Amortization Requirements for Term Bonds; the redemption 
provisions in addition to those contained in Article III hereof; the designation for the Series 
which shall be such as to distinguish each Series from another Series; the appointment of any 
necessary Fiduciaries; and any other provisions determined by the County to be appropriate for 
the issuance of and security for the Series. 

SECTION 2.03. Jssuance and Deliverv of Bonds. Subject to the provisions of the 
Indenture, the Bonds of each Series shall be on a parity with the Bonds of each other Series 
theretofore or thereafter issued and outstanding as to the assignment to the Trustee of the 
County's right, title and interest in the Pledged Revenues to provide for payment of Debt Service 
Charges on the Bonds; 

Before the Trustee shall deliver any Series, the Trustee shall receive the following items: 

1. An original executed counterpart of the Supplemental Indenture relating to the 
Series then to be issued, which contains the information required by Sections 2.02 and 4.01 
hereof, and any other documents which are necessary or advisable to provide that such Series 

will be issued in compliance with the provisions of this Master Indenture and the related 
Supplemental Indenture. 

2. Copies of the executed Facility Agreements and any amendments or supplements 
to such agreements which are necessary or advisable to provide that such Series will be issued 
in compliance with the provisions of this Master Indenture and the related Supplemental 
Indenture. 

3. A copy of a resolution of the Board authorizing the issuance of the Bonds of that 
Series, certified by an authorized officer of the Board. 

4. A request and authorization to the Trustee (as Trustee and Authenticating Agent) 
on behalf of the County, signed by an Authorized County Representative, to authenticate and 
deliver the Bonds of that Series to, or on the order of, the Original Purchaser thereof upon 
payment to the County of the amount specified therein (including without Limitation, any accrued 
interest), which amount shall be deposited as provided in the related Supplemental Indenture. 

5 .  An Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that: (i) the documents submittedto 
the Trustee in connection with the request then being made comply with the requirements of thii 
Master Indenture and the related Supplemental Indenture; (ii) the issuance of the Bonds of that 
Series has been duly authorized; and (iii) all conditions precedent to the delivery of the Bonds 
of that Series have been fulfilled. 

6 .  An Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that: (i) when executed for and in the 
name and on behalf of the County and when authenticated by the Authenticating Agent and 
delivered by the Trustee the Bonds of that Series will be valid and legal special obligations of 
the County enforceable in accordance with their terms. 

7. Evidence satisfactory to the Trustee that upon delivery of that Series of Bonds and 
receipt and application of the amount specified in the request and authorization to which 
reference is made in pmgmph 4 above, there will be on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund an 
amount equal to the Reserve Requirement. 

When (i) the documents listed above have been received by the Trustee, and (ii) the 
Bonds of the Series then to be issued have been executed and authenticated, the Trustee shall 
deliver the Bonds of that Series to or on the order of the Original Purchaser thereof, but only 
upon payment to the Trustee of the specified amounts (including, without limitation, any accrued 
interest) set forth in the request and authorization to which reference is made in paragraph 4 
above. 

SECTION 2.04. B e c u  tion and Authentication of Bonds. Upon the execution and 
delivery of the related Supplemental Indenture, and satisfaction of the conditions established by 
the County and in the Purchase Agreement for delivery of the related Series, the County shall 
execute the Bonds of that Series and deliver them to the Trustee. Thereupon, the Authenticating 
Agent shall authenticate the Bonds of that Series and the Trustee shall deliver them to, or on the 
order of, the Original Purchaser thereof, as directed by the County in accordance with this 
Section 2.04. Each Bond shall be executed by the Chair of the Board and attested by the County 

Administrator (provided that either or both of those signatures may be facsimiles). In case any 
officer whose signature or a facsimile of whose signature shall appear on any Bond shall cease 
to be that officer before the issuance of the Bond, the signature of that officer or the facsimile 
thereof nevertheless shall be valid and sufficient for all purposes, the Same as if that officer had 
remained in ofice until that time. Any Bond may be executed on behalf of the County by an 
officer who, on the date of execution is the proper officer, although on the date of the Bond that 
person was not the proper officer. 

No Bond shall be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or shall be entitled to any 
security or benefit under this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture unless and until 
a certificate of authentication, substantially in the form set forth in the related Supplemental 
Indenture, has been signed by the Authenticating Agent. The authentication by the 
Authenticating Agent upon any Bond shall be conclusive evidence that the Bond so authenticated 
has been duly authenticated and delivered hereunder and is entitled to the security and benefit 
of this Master Indenture and the related Supplemental Indenture. The certificate of the 
Authenticating Agent may be executed by any person authorized by the Authenticating Agent, 
but it shall not be necessary that the same authorized person sign the certificates - of 
authentication on all of the Bonds of a Series. 

SECTION 2.05. Sources o f Payment and Security for the Bonds. To the extent provided 
in and except as otherwise permitted by this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, 
the Bonds shall be special limited obligations of the County, and the Debt Service Charges 
thereon shall be payable equally and ratably solely as provided in the Indenture. The payment 
of Debt Service Charges on the Bonds shall be secured by the pledge and assignment by the 
County of the Pledged Revenues under the Indenture. The Bonds shall not constitute a debt of 
the County within the meaning of any constitutional, statutory or other provision, and the County 
is not obligated to pay the Debt Service Charges thereon except from the Pledged Revenues. 
Neither the full faith and credit nor the ad valorem taxing power of the County are pledged to 
the payment of the Debt Service Charges on the Bonds. 

SECTION 2.06. Pav ment and OwnershiD of Bonds. Debt Service Charges shall be 
payable in lawful money of the United States of America without deduction for the services of 
the Trustee or any Paying Agent. Subject to the provisions of Section 2.10 of this Master 
Indenture, 

(i) principal of and any premium on any Bond shall be payable on each Principal 
Payment Date to the Holder of such Bond upon presentation and surrender of such Bond 
at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee or at the office, designated by the 
Trustee, of any Paying Agent, and 

(ii) interest on any Bond shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date by 
check or draft which the Trustee shall cause to be mailed on that date to the Holder of 
such Bond (or one or more Predecessor Bonds) as of the close of business on the Regular 
Record Date applicable to such Interest Payment 
Register. 

Date at the address appearing the 
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If and to the extent, however, that the County shall fail to make payment or provision 
for payment of interest on any Bond on any Interest Payment Date, that interest shall cease to 
be payable to the Person who was the Holder of such Bond (or of one or more Predecessor 
Bonds) as of the applicable Regular Record Date. In such event, when moneys become available 
for payment of such interest, (x) the Trustee shall establish a Special Record Date for the 
payment of that interest which shall be not more than 15 nor fewer than 10 days prior to the date 
of the proposed payment, and (y) the Trustee shall cause notice of the proposed payment and 
of the Special Record Date to be mailed by first class mail, postage prepaid, not fewer than 10 
days prior to the Special Record Date, to each Holder at its address as it then appears on the 
Register and, thereafter, the interest shall be payable to the Persons who are the Holders of the 
Bonds (or their respective Predecessor Bonds) at the close of business on the Special Record 
Date. 

Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.06, each Bond delivered under the 
Indenture upon transfer thereof, or in exchange for or in replacement of any other Bond, shall 
carry the right to interest accrued and unpaid, and to accrue on that Bond, or which were carried 
by that Bond. 

- 
Except as provided in this Section 2.06 and in the first paragraph of Section 2.08 hereof, 

(i) the Holder of any Bond shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all 
purposes of the Indenture, (ii) payment of or on account of the Debt Service Charges on any 
Bond shall be made only to or upon the order of that Holder or its duly authorized attorney in 
the manner permitted by the Indenture, and (iii) to the extent permitted by law, neither the 
County, the Trustee, the Registrar nor any Paying Agent or Authenticating Agent shall be 
affected by notice to the contrary. All of those payments shall be valid and effective to satisfy 
and discharge the liability upon that Bond, including without limitation, the interest thereon, to 
the extent of the amount or amounts so paid. 

SECTION 2.07. Transfer and Exchange of Bonds. So long as any of the Bonds remain 
outstanding, the County will cause books for the registration and transfer of Bonds, as provided 
in this Master Indenture, to be maintained and kept at the designated office of the Registrar. 

Bonds may be exchanged, at the option of their Holder, for Bonds of the same Series and 
of any Authorized Denomination or Denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to 
the unmatured and unredeemed principal amount of, and bearing interest at the same rate and 
maturing on the same date or dates as, the Bonds being exchanged. The exchange shall be made 
upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds being exchanged at the designated office of the 
Registrar or at the designated office of any Authenticating Agent for that Series of Bonds, 
together with an assignment duly executed by the Holder or its duly authorized attorney in any 
form which shall be satisfactory to the Registrar or the Authenticating Agent, as the case may 
be. 

Any Bond may be transferred upon the Register, upon presentation and surrender thereof 
at the designated office of the Registrar or the designated office of any Authenticating Agent for 
the Series thereof, together with an assignment duly executed by the Holder or its duly 
authorized attorney in any form which shall be satisfactory to the Registrar or the Authenticating 
Agent, as the case may be. Upon transfer of any Bond and on request of the Registrar or the 
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Authenticating Agent, the County shall execute in the name of the transferee, and the 
Authenticating Agent shall authenticate and deliver, a new Bond or Bonds of the same Series, 
of any Authorized Denomination or Denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to 
the unmatured and unredeemed principal amount of, and bearing interest at the same rate and 
maturing on the same date or dates as, the Bonds presented and surrendered for transfer. 

In all cases in which Bonds shall be exchanged or transferred hereunder, the County shall 
execute, and the Authenticating Agent shall authenticate and deliver, Bonds in accordance with 
the provisions of this Master Indenture. The exchange or transfer shall be made without charge; 
provided, that the County and the Registrar or the Authenticating Agent, as the case may be, 
may make a charge for every exchange or transfer of Bonds sufficient to reimburse them for any 
tax or excise required to be paid with respect to the exchange .or transfer. The charge shall be 
paid before a new Bond is delivered. 

AH Bonds issued upon any transfer or exchange of Bonds shall be the valid special 
obligations of the County, evidencing the same debt, and entitled to the same benefits under the 
Indenture, as the Bonds surrendered for transfer or exchange. Neither the County, the Registrar 
nor any Authenticating Agent, as the case may be, shall be required to make any exchange'or 
transfer of a Bond during a period beginning at the opening of business 15 days before the day 
of the mailing of a notice of redemption of Bonds and ending at the close of business on the day 
of such mailing or to transfer or exchange any Bonds selected for redemption, in whole or in 
part. 

In case any Bond is redeemed in part only, on or after the redemption date and upon 
presentation and surrender of the Bond, the County, subject to the provisions of Section 2.10 
hereof, shall cause execution of, and the Registrar or any Authenticating Agent for the Series 
of that Bond shall authenticate and deliver, a new Bond or Bonds of the same Series in 
Authorized Denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unmatured and 
unredeemed portion of, and bearing interest at the same rate and maturing on the same date or 
dates as, the Bond redeemed in part. 

For purposes of this Section, the Trustee shall establish the designated office of the 
Registrar and the Authenticating Agent. 

SECTION 2.08. Mutilated, Lost. Wronefullv Taken or Destroyed Bonds. If any Bond 
is mutilated, lost, wrongfully taken or destroyed and if the County, the Registrar or an 
Authenticating Agent have not received written notice that such lost, wrongfully taken or 
destroyed Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, then the County shall execute, and 
an Authenticating Agent shall authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like date, maturity and 
denomination and of the same Series as the Bond mutilated, lost, wrongfully taken or destroyed; 
provided, that (i) in the case of any mutilated Bond, the mutilated Bond first shall be surrendered 
to the Registrar or an Authenticating Agent, and (ii) in the case of any lost, wrongfully taken 
or destroyed Bond, there first shall be furnished to the County, the Trustee and the Registrar 
evidence of the loss, wrongful taking or destruction satisfactory to the Authorized County 
Representative, the Trustee and the Registrar, together with indemnity satisfactory to them. 
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If any lost, wrongfully taken or destroyed Bond shall have matured, then instead of 
issuing a new Bond, the Authorized County Representative may direct the Trustee to pay that 
Bond without surrender thereof upon the furnishing of satisfactory evidence and indemnity as 
in the case of issuance of a new Bond pursuant to the immediately preceding paragraph. The 
County, the Registrar, the Authenticating Agent and the Trustee may charge the Holder of a 
mutilated, lost, wrongfully taken or destroyed Bond their reasonable fees and expenses in 
connection with their actions pursuant to this Section. 

Every new Bond issued pursuant to this Section by reason of any Bond being mutilated, 
lost, wrongfully taken or destroyed (i) shall constitute a Bond, to the extent of the outstanding 
principal amount of, and having the same terms as, the Bond lost, mutilated, wrongfully taken 
or destroyed, regardless of whether such mutilated, lost, wrongfully taken or destroyed Bond 
shall be enforceable at any time by anyone and (ii) shall be entitled to all of the benefits of the 
Indenture to the same extent as the Bond that was mutilated, lost, wrongfully taken or destroyed. 

All Bonds shall be held and owned on the express condition that the foregoing provisions 
of this Section are exclusive with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, lost, 
wrongfully taken or destroyed Bonds and, to the extent permitted by law, shall preclude any and 
all other rights and remedies with respect to the replacement or payment of negotiable instru 
ments or other investment securities without their surrender, notwithstanding any law or statute 
to the contrary now existing or enacted hereafter. 

SECTION 2.09. Cancellation of Bonds. Any Bond surrendered pursuant to this Article 
for the purpose of payment or retirement or for exchange, replacement or transfer shall be 
canceled upon presentation and surrender thereof to the Registrar, the Trustee or any Paying 
Agent or Authenticating Agent. Any Bond canceled by the Trustee or a Paying Agent or 
Authenticating Agent shall be transmitted promptly to the Registrar by the Trustee, Paying Agent 
or Authenticating Agent. 

The County may deliver at any time to the Registrar for cancellation any Bonds 
previously authenticated and delivered hereunder, which the County may have acquired in any 
manner whatsoever. All Bonds so delivered shall be canceled promptly by the Registrar. 
Certification of the surrender and cancellation shall be made to the County and the Trustee (if 
the Trustee is not acting as Registrar) by the Registrar at least twice each calendar year. Unless 
otherwise directed in writing by the Authorized County Representative, canceled Bonds shall be 
retained and stored by the Registrar for a period of one year after their cancellation. Canceled 
Bonds shall be destroyed by the Registrar by shredding or incineration promptly after the one 
year anniversary of their cancellation or promptly after such earlier time directed in writing by 
the Authorized County Representative. The Registrar shall provide certificates describing the 
destruction of canceled Bonds to the County and the Trustee (if the Trustee is not acting as 
Registrar). 

SECTION 2.10. SDecial Aereement with Holders. Notwithstanding any provision of 
this Master Indenture, of any Supplemental Indenture or of any Bond to the contrary, the Trustee 
may enter into a written agreement with any Holder providing for making any payment to that 
Holder of principal of and interest and any premium on that Bond or any part thereof at a place 
and in a manner other than as provided in this Master Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture 
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and in the Bond, without presentation or surrender of the Bond, upon any conditions which shall 
be satisfactory to the Trustee in its sole discretion; provided, that payment in any event shall be 
made to the Person in whose name a Bond shall be registered on the Register, with respect to 
payment of principal and premium, on the date such principal and premium is due, and, with 
respect to the payment of interest, as of the applicable Regular Record Date or Special Record 
Date, as the case may be. 

The Trustee will furnish a copy of each executed agreement entered into pursuant to this 
Section 2.10, certified to be correct by an officer of the Trustee, to the Registrar (if the Trustee 
is not acting as Registrar), the Paying Agents and the County. Any payment of principal, 
premium or interest pursuant to such an agreement shall constitute payment thereof pursuant to, 
and for all puqmses of, this Master Indenture and the related Supplemental Indenture. 

(End of Article n) 
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ARTICLE I11 

REDEMPTION OF BONDS 

SECTION 3.01. Redemmion of Bonds. The Bonds of each Series shall be subject to 
redemption prior to stated maturity as provided in this Master Indenture and in the Supplemental 
Indenture relating to that Series. 

SECTION 3.02. Partial Redemmion. If fewer than all of the outstanding Bonds of a 
Series that are stated to mature in different years are called for redemption at one time (other 
than redemption pursuant to mandatory sinking fund requirements), the selection of the 
maturities of Bonds of such Series to be redeemed shall be made by the County and the 
Authorized County Representative shall notify the Trustee of such seIection in writing. If fewer 
than all of the Bonds of a single maturity of a Series are to be redeemed, the selection of Bonds 
of that Series within such maturity to be redeemed, or portions thereof in Authorized 
Denominations of that Series, unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture relating 
to that Series, shall be made by lot by the Trustee in any manner which the Trustee may 
determine. - 

In the case of a partial redemption of Bonds by lot when Bonds of denominations greater 
than the minimum Authorized Denomination of that Series are then outstanding, each unit of 
principal thereof equal to the minimum Authorized Denomination shall be treated as though it 
were a separate Bond of that minimum Authorized Denomination. If it is determined that one 
or more, but not all of the units of minimum Authorized Denomination represented by a Bond 
are to be called for redemption, then upon notice of redemption of such a unit or units, the 
Holder of that Bond shall surrender the Bond to the Trustee (a) for payment of the redemption 
price of the unit or units of the Bond called for redemption (including without limitation, the 
interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption and any premium), and (b) for issuance, 
without charge to the Holder thereof, of a new Bond or Bonds of the same Series, of any 
Authorized Denomination or Denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to the 
unredeemed portion of, and bearing interest at the same rate and maturing on the same date as, 
the Bond surrendered. 

SECTION 3.03. w. Except in the case of redemption 
pursuant to any mandatory sinking fund requirements or pursuant to other mandatory redemption 
provisions, Bonds shall be redeemed only by written notice from the Authorized County 
Representative to the Trustee. That notice shall specify the redemption date and the principal 
amount of each maturity of Bonds of each Series to be redeemed, and shall be given at least 45 
days prior to the redemption date or such shorter period as shall be acceptable to the Trustee. 
In the event that notice of redemption shall have been given by the Trustee to the Holders as 
provided in Section 3.04 hereof, there shall be deposited with the Trustee prior to or at the 
redemption date, funds which, in addition to any other moneys available therefor and held by 
the Trustee, will be sufficient to redeem at the redemption price thereof, plus interest accrued 
to the redemption date, all of the redeemable Bonds for which notice of redemption has been 
given. 
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SECTION 3.04. Notice of Redemption. The notice of the call for redemption of Bonds 
shall identify (i) by Series, designation, letters, numbers or other distinguishing marks, the 
Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, (ii) the redemption price to be paid, (iii) the date 
fixed for redemption, and (iv) the place or places where the amounts due upon redemption are 
payable. Unless otherwise provided for a particular Series in the related Supplemental 
Indenture, the notice shall be given by the Trustee on behalf of the County by mailing a copy 
of the redemption notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, not less than thirty (30) days prior 
to the date fured for redemption, to the Holder of each Bond subject to redemption in whole or 
in part at the Holder’s address then shown on the Register. Failure to receive notice by mailing 
or any defect in that notice regarding any Bond, however, shall not affect the validity of the 
proceedings for the redemption of any other Bond. 

Further notice of redemption shall be sent at least 35 days before the redemption date by 
registered or certified mail or overnight delivery service to all registered securities depositaries 
then in the business of holding substantial amounts of obligations of types comparable to the 
Bonds (such depositories now being The Depository Trust Company of New York, New York, 
Midwest Securities Trust Company of Chicago, Illinois, and Philadelphia Depository Trust 
Corporation of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania) and to one or more national information services 
selected by the Trustee that disseminate notices of redemption obligations such as the Bonds 
(such as Financial Information, Inc.’s Financial Daily Called Bond Service, Kenny Information 
Service’s Called Bond Service, Moody’s Municipal and Governmental Called Bond Service and 
Standard & Poor’s Called Bond Record). 

SECTION 3.05. Extraordinarv ODtional Redemotion. Unless otherwise provided in a 
Supplemental Indenture and in addition to any other redemption provisions contained in a 
Supplemental Indenture, at the direction and sole discretion of the County, the Bonds (but solely 
the Tax-Exempt Bonds upon the event described in clause (iii)(C) below) are subject to 
extraordinary optional redemption in whole or in part on any date at a redemption price of one 
hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount to be redeemed plus interest accrued to the 
redemption date, if any of the following shall have occurred: 

(i) the Facility shall have been damaged or otherwise destroyed; 

(ii) title to, or the temporary use of, all or a significant part of the Facility shall 
have been taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, or transferred in 
lieu of or under the threat of such action; 

(iii) as a result of any changes in the Constitution of the State, the Constitution 
of the United States of America, or state or federal laws or as a result of legislative or 
administrative action (whether state or federal) or by final decree, judgment or order of 
any court or administrative body (whether state or federal) entered after the contest 
thereof by the County or the Operator in good faith, (A) this Master Indenture, any 
Supplemental Indenture or the Facility Agreements shall have become void or 
unenforceable or impossible of performance in accordance with the intent and purpose 
of the parties as expressed in this Master Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or the 
Facility Agreements, or (B) unreasonable burdens or excessive liabilities as determined 
by the County shall have been imposed with respect to the Facility or the operation 
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thereof, including without limitation, the imposition of federal, state or other ad valorem, 
property, income or other taxes not being imposed on the date of this Master Indenture, 
any Supplemental Indenture or the Facility Agreements, or (C) interest on the Tax- 
Exempt Bonds shall no longer be excludable from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes as confirmed in an Opinion of Bond Counsel delivered to the County and the 
Trustee. 

To exercise the option granted in this Section, the Authorized County Representative shall, 
within ninety (90) days following the event authorizing the exercise of that option, or at any time 
during the continuation of any condition referred to in clause (iii) above, give notice to the 
Trustee specifying the date on which the County will deliver the funds required for that 
redemption, which date shall be not more than ninety (90) days from the date that notice is 
mailed and shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of the required 
notice of redemption and for the redemption of the Bonds. 

SECTION 3.06. Pavment of Redeemed Bonds. Notice having been mailed in the 
manner provided in Section 3.04 hereof, the Bonds and portions thereof called for redemption 
shall become due and payable on the redemption date, and upon presentation and surrender 
thereof at the place or places specified in that notice, shall be paid at the redemption price, 
including interest accrued to the redemption date. 

If money for the redemption of all of the Bonds and portions thereof to be redeemed, 
including without limitation interest accrued thereon to the redemption date, is held by the 
Trustee or any Paying Agent on the redemption date, so as to be available therefor on that date 
and if notice of redemption has been deposited in the mail as aforesaid, then from and after the 
redemption date those Bonds and portions thereof called for redemption shall cease to bear 
interest and no longer shall be considered to be outstanding hereunder. If those moneys shall 
not be so available on the redemption date, those Bonds and portions thereof shall continue to 
bear interest, until they are paid, at the same rate as they would have borne had they not been 
called for redemption. 

All moneys deposited in the Bond Fund and held by the Trustee or a Paying Agent for 
the redemption of particular Bonds shall be held in trust for the account of the Holders thereof 
and shall be paid to them, respectively, upon presentation and surrender of those Bonds. 

SECTION 3.07. Deliverv of Monevs for Redemption or Purchase. Nothing in this 
Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture is intended to prevent the County from 
delivering moneys to the Trustee for the purchase of Bonds in the secondary market or the 
redemption of Bonds in accordance with their terms. 

If the Trustee is provided at any time with moneys which are sufficient, together with 
investments then in the Pledged Funds, to redeem a principal amount of Outstanding Bonds 
which will be subject to redemption on the next available date on which Bonds may be 
redeemed, the Trustee, upon the written request of the Authorized County Representative, shall 
make available from the Pledged Funds the amount required to accomplish the redemption, 
together with the other moneys provided, so long as the balance remaining thereafter in each 
Pledged Fund, and each account therein, is not thereby reduced below the amount which would 
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be required hereby to be on deposit therein on the redemption date, with respect to the Bonds 
which will not be redeemed. 

SECTION 3.08. Variation of Redemption Provisions. The provisions of this Article ID, 
insofar as they apply to any Series of Bonds, may be varied by the Supplemental Indenture 
providing for that Series. 

(End of Article III) 
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ARTICLE IV 

FUNDS AND PAYMENTS 

SECTION 4.01. Creat ion of Funds. The funds and accounts described in this Section 
are created hereby and are designated as indicated. Each fund and account is to be maintained 
as a separate trust account (except when invested in Eligible Investments), provided that separate 
accounts may be created and maintained in any such fund and separate subaccounts may be 
created and maintained in any such account. 

The following funds and accounts are created hereby and are to be maintained as separate 
deposit accounts in the custody of the Trustee (except when invested in Eligible Investments): 

the Construction Fund designated the "Broward County Civic Arena 
Construction Fund" and the "Capitalized Interest Account", the "County 
Bond Proceeds Account", the "Equity Account" and the "Project 
Developer Construction Account" therein; 

the Revenue Fund designated the "Broward County Civic Arena Revenue 
Fund" and the "Tax Account" and the "Facilities Account" therein; 

the Bond Fund designated the "Broward County Civic Arena Bond Fund" 
and the "Interest Account" and the "Principal Account" therein; 

the Bond Reserve Fund designated the "Broward County Civic Arena 
Bond Reserve Fund"; 

the Surplus Fund designated the "Broward County Civic Arena Surplus 
Fund" and the "Reserve Account" and the "General Account" therein. 

The proceeds of the sale of each Series of Bonds (including without limitation, premium, 
if any, and interest accrued thereon) shall be allocated and deposited by the Trustee as provided 
in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing that Series, which may provide for additional funds, 
accounts and subaccounts. 

SECTION 4.02. &plication of Professional Soorts Fmchise Facilities Tax Revenues, 
Sales Tax Reba te and Co un W Preferred Revenue Allocation: Allocation of Money in Revenue 
- Fund. Upon the issuance of the initial Series of Bonds, all Professional Sports Franchise 
Facilities Tax Revenues and the proceeds of all Sales Tax Rebate then in the possession of the 
County and not theretofore appropriated or set aside for other purposes shall be deposited in the 
Tax Account of the Revenue Fund. Commencing on the day of the delivery of the initial Series 
of Bonds and so long as there are any outstanding Bonds or any Reimbursement Obligations for 
which payment, or provision for payment satisfactory to the party to whom payment is due, has 
not been made, the County shall, upon receipt, cause all  Professional Sports Franchise Facilities 
Tax Revenues and the proceeds of all Sales Tax Rebate to be deposited in the Tax Account of 
the Revenue Fund. In addition, the County shall (i) cause the Operator to pay the County 
Preferred Revenue Allocation, not later than the seventh (7th) day preceding each Interest 

- 28 - D06:[03119.DOfS.ERZ020327lMASTER~INDENlURE-6. 

I 

Payment Date occurring after the Completion Date, directly to the Trustee for deposit in the 
Facilities Account of the Revenue Fund and (ii) unless otherwise provided by Supplemental 
Indenture, cause any other revenue sources hereinafter pledged to the payment of Debt Service 
Charges to be paid to the Trustee for deposit in the Facilities Account of the Revenue Fund. 

On and after the date of delivery of the initial Series of Bonds, moneys in the Revenue 
Fund shall be applied as set forth below. 

(1) In the event that Tax-Exempt Bonds are issued and while Tax-Exempt Bonds are 
outstanding, moneys in the accounts of the Revenue Fund shall be applied to make the following 
deposits to the following funds and accounts in the following order: 

(a) From the Tax Account to the Bond Fund: 

(i) Into the Interest Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue 
Allocation Date, and after giving effect to any amounts on deposit in that account 
and in the Capitalized Interest Account of the Construction Fund with respect to 
Tax-Exempt Bonds, an amount sufficient to pay the interest due on all outstanding 
Tax-Exempt Bonds on the next Interest Payment Date; and 

- 

(ii) Into the Principal Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue 
Allocation Date occuning in a Fiscal Year on which a Principal Payment Date 
occurs with respect to Tax-Exempt Bonds, and after giving effect to any amounts 
on deposit in that account with respect to Tax-Exempt Bonds, an amount such 
that, if the same amount were paid in each such Revenue Allocation Date 
preceding such next Principal Payment Date, the aggregate of the amounts so paid 
would be sufficient to pay the principal amount due on all outstanding Tax- 
Exempt Bonds on such next Principal Payment Date as a result of maturity or 
mandatory redemption from Amortization Requirements. 

(b) From the Facilities Account to the Bond Fund: 

(i) Into the Interest Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue 
Allocation Date, and after giving effect to any amounts on deposit in that account 
and in the Capitalized Interest Account of the Construction Fund with respect to 
Taxable Bonds, an amount sufficient to pay the interest due on all outstanding 
Taxable Bonds on the next Interest Payment Date; and 

(ii) Into the principal Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue 
Allocation Date occuning in a Fiscal Year on which a Principal Payment Date 
occurs with respect to Taxable Bonds, and after giving effect to any amounts on 
deposit in that account with respect to Taxable Bonds, an amount such that, if the 
same amount were paid in each such Revenue Atlocation Date preceding such 
next Principal Payment Date, the aggregate of the amounts so paid would be 
sufficient to pay the principal due on all outstanding Taxable Bonds on such next 
Principal Payment Date as a result of maturity or mandatory redemption from 
Amortization Requirements. 
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(c) To the extent that the application of moneys from the Tax Account pursuant 
to clause (a) above is insufficient to satisfy the required deposits under said clause 
(a), moneys available in the Facilities Account after the application of clause (b) 
above shall be deposited, to the extent necessary, to make up deficiencies first, 
in the Interest Account and then, in the Principal Account with respect to Tax- 
Exempt Bonds. 

(d) To the extent that the application of moneys from the Facilities Account 
pursuant to clause (b) above is insufficient to satisfy the required deposits under 
said clause (b), moneys available in the Tax Account after the application of 
clause (a) above shall be deposited, to the extent necessary, to make up 
deficiencies fust, in the Interest Account and then, in t&e Principal Account with 
respect to Taxable Bonds. 

(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if after the application of moneys in the 
Revenue Fund as described in clauses (a) through (d) above and the transfer of 
moneys to the Bond Fund from the Surplus Fund and Bond Reserve Fund as 
described in Section 4.04 hereof, (i) there are insufficient moneys in the Interest 
Account on any Interest Payment Date (which is not also a Principal Payment 
Date) to pay interest then due on all Bonds, the Trustee shall (A) to the extent 
that there are sufficient moneys on deposit in the Principal Account to make up 
such deficiency, transfer from the Principal Account moneys (without regard to 
source of deposit) in the amount of such deficiency to the Interest Account and 
apply such moneys, together with all moneys then on deposit in the Interest 
Account, to the payment of interest on the Bonds, or (B) to the extent that there 
are not sufficient moneys on deposit in the Principal Account to make up such 
deficiency, apply all moneys on deposit in the Bond Fund (without regard to 
source of deposit) as provided in Section 6.07 hereof, or (ii) there are insufficient 
moneys in the Interest Account and the Principal Account on any Interest 
Payment Date (which is also a Principal Payment Date) to pay the Debt Service 
Charges then due on all Bonds, as applicable, the Trustee shall apply all moneys 
on deposit in the Bond Fund (without regard to source of deposit) as provided in 
Section 6.07 hereof. 

(9 First from the Tax Account and then from the Facilities Account to the Bond 
Reserve Fund: 

(i) .on each Revenue Allocation Date following an Interest Payment Date 
or Principal Payment Date in which the amount on deposit in the Bond Reserve 
Fund falls below the Reserve Requirement because moneys were transferred from 
the Bond Reserve Fund to the Bond Fund pursuant to the provisions of Section 
4.04 hereof, one-half (112) of the amount required to make the balance in the 
Bond Reserve Fund equal to the Reserve Requirement, and 

(ii) on each Revenue Allocation Date following receipt by the County of 
notice pursuant to Section 4.06 hereof that the balance in the Bond Reserve Fund 
is below an amount equal to ninety percent (90%) of the Reserve Requirement, 
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one-half (112) of the amount required to make the balance in the Bond Reserve 
Fund equal to the Reserve Requirement; 

provided, that at such time as the amount on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund 
is not less than the Reserve Requirement, the obligation to make payments under 
this paragraph (f) shall end until such other time as a deficiency occurs as a result 
of the events described in (i) or (2) above. 

(8) First from the Tax Account and then from the Facilities Account, into each 
Rebate Fund, on any date, amounts which are then necessary to ensure 
compliance with the requirements of the Code with respect to the Tax-Exempt 
Bonds for which such Rebate Fund was established. 

(h) In each case, on each Revenue Allocation Date, and from the sources of 
deposit described above, any amount which may be necessary to make up any 
previous deficiency in any of the required deposits described above and to make 
up any deficiency or loss in the respective funds or accounts to which deposits are 
required to be made in connection with investments or otherwise, including 
without limitation, the restoration of any amounts paid from any of those funds 
or accounts pursuant to the Indenture, except as provided otherwise expressly 
herein. 

(i) From the Tax Account into the Equity Account of the Construction Fund, on 
each Revenue Allocation Date occurring prior to October 1, 1998, the lesser of 
(A) an amount equal to Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) less the moneys 
applied from the Tax Account on such Revenue Allocation Date to make the 
payments required by the preceding paragraphs or (B) the moneys remaining in 
the Tax Account on such Revenue Allocation Date after making the payments 
required by the preceding paragraphs. 

(i) To the Surplus Fund: 

(i) Into the Reserve Account of the Surplus Fund, on each Revenue 
Allocation Date, all of the moneys remaining in the Tax Account of the Revenue 
Fund on that Revenue Allocation Date, after making the payments required by the 
preceding paragnphs; and 

(ii) Into the General Account of the Surplus Fund, on each Revenue 
Nucation Date, all of the moneys remaining in the Facilities Account of the 
Revenue Fund on that Revenue Allocation Date, after making the payments 
required by the preceding paragraphs. 

(2) In the event that either only Taxable Bonds are issued or only Taxable Bonds are 
outstanding, moneys in the Revenue Fund shall be applied first from the Tax Account and, 
except for (e) below, then from the Facilities Account to make the following deposits to the 
following funds and accounts in the following order: 
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(a) To the Bond Fund: 

(i) Into the Interest Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue 
Allocation Date, and after giving effect to any amounts on deposit in that account 
and in the Capitalized Interest Account of the Construction Fund, an amount 
sufficient to pay the interest due on all outstanding Bonds on the next Interest 
Payment Date; and 

(5) Into the Principal Account of the Bond Fund, on each Revenue 
Allocation Date occurring in a Fiscal Year on which a Principal Payment Date 
occurs, and after giving effect to any amounts on deposit in that account, an 
amount such that, if the same amount were paid in each such Revenue Allocation 
Date preceding such next Principal Payment Date, the aggregate of the amounts 
so paid would be sufficient to pay the principal amount due on all outstanding 
Bonds on such next Principal Payment Date as a result of maturity or mandatory 
redemption from Amortization Requirements. 

(b) To the Bond Reserve Fund: - 

(i) on each Revenue Allocation Date following an Interest Payment Date 
or Principal Payment Date in which the amount on deposit in the Bond Reserve 
Fund falls below the Reserve Requirement because moneys were transferred from 
the Bond Reserve Fund to the Bond Fund pursuant to the provisions of Section 
4.04 hereof, one-half (112) of the amount required to make the balance in the 
Bond Reserve Fund equal to the Reserve Requirement, and 

(5) on each Revenue Allocation Date following receipt by the County of 
notice pursuant to Section 4.06 hereof that the balance in the Bond Reserve Fund 
is below an amount equal to ninety percent (90%) of the Reserve Requirement, 
one-haif (112) of the mount required to make the balance in the Bond Reserve 
Fund equal to the Reserve Requirement; 

provided, that at such time as the amount on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund 
is not less than the Resene Requirement, the obligation to make payments under 
this paragraph (b) shall end until such other time as a deficiency occurs as a result 
of the events described in (i) or (ii) above. 

(c) to each Rebate Fund, on any date, amounts which are then necessary to 
ensure compliance with the requirements of the Code with respect to any Tax- 
Exempt Bonds which were previously outstanding and for which such Rebate 
Fund was established. 

(d) In each case, and on each Revenue Allocation Date, any amount which may 
be necessary to make up any previous deficiency in any of the required deposits 
described above and to make up any deficiency or loss in the respective funds or 
accounts to which deposits are required to be made in connection with 
investments or otherwise, including without limitation, the restoration of a n y  
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amounts paid from any of those funds or accounts pursuant to the Indenture, 
except as provided otherwise expressly herein. 

(e) Solely from the Tax Account into the Equity Account of the Construction 
Fund, on each Revenue Allocation Date occurring prior to October 1, 1998, the 
lesser of (A) an amount equal to Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) less the 
moneys applied from the Tax Account on such Revenue Allocation Date to make 
the payments required by the preceding paragraphs or (B) the moneys remaining 
in the Tax Account on such Revenue Allocation Date after making the payments 
required by the preceding paragraphs. 

( f )  To the Surplus Fund: 

(i) Into the Reserve Account of the Surplus Fund, on each Revenue 
Allocation Date, all of the moneys remaining in the Tax Account of the Revenue 
Fund on that Revenue Allocation Date, after making the payments required by the 
preceding paragraphs; and 

- 
(ii) Into the General Account of the Surplus Fund, on each Revenue 

Allocation Date, all of the moneys remaining in the Facilities Account of the 
Revenue Fund on that Revenue Allocation Date, after making the payments 
required by the preceding paragraphs. 

To the extent that investment earnings are credited to the Interest Account or the 
Principal Account in accordance with Section 4.06 of this Master Indenture or as a result of a 
transfer of investment earnings on any other fund or account held by the Trustee, future deposits 
to those Accounts shall be reduced by the amount so credited. 

SECTION 4.03. Bond Fund. 

(a) Moneys in the Bond Fund shall, in accordance with paragmph (c) hereof, be applied 
by the Trustee, or made available by the Trustee to the Paying Agent or Agents, as applicable, 
to pay (i) the principal or redemption price of Bonds as they mature, or become due, upon 
surrender thereof and (ii) the interest on Bonds as it becomes payable, and, in accordance with 
paragraph (d) hereof, be paid by the Trustee to the Credit Facility Provider to the extent of any  
amounts that the County owes the Credit Facility Provider. 

(b) There shall be deposited into the Interest Account and Principal Account (and any 
subaccounts created thereunder), as applicable, (A) all payments to be transferred from the 
Revenue Fund as provided in Section 4.02 hereof and (B) all other moneys received by the 
Trustee under and pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture or any of the provisions of the 
Facility Agreements, when accompanied by directions from the Authorized County 
Representative that such moneys are to be paid into the Bond Fund. 

(c) Except as provided in subsection (d) hereof, moneys in the Bond Fund shall be used 
solely for the payment of the Debt Service Charges on the Bonds from the following source or 
sources but only in the following order of priority: 
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(i) Interest: 

(A) moneys held in the Interest Account; 

(€3) moneys transferred from the Surplus Fund to the Interest Account in 
accordance with Section 4.04(b) hereof; 

(C) moneys transferred from the Bond Reserve Fund to the Interest 
Account in accordance with Section 4.04(a) hereof; 

(D) moneys transferred from the Principal Account in accordance with 
Section 4.02( l)(f); and 

(E) to the extent provided in Section 4.02(l)(f), all moneys on deposit the 
Bond Fund in accordance with Section 6.07. 

(ii) Principal or redemption premium: 
- 

(A) moneys held in the Principal Account; 

(B) moneys transferred from the Surplus Fund to the Principal Account 
in accordance with Section 4.04(b) hereof; 

(C) moneys transferred from the Bond Reserve Fund to the Principal 
Account in accordance with Section 4.04(a) hereof; and 

@) to the extent provided in Section 4.02(l)(f), all moneys on deposit in 
the Bond Fund in accordance with Section 6.07. 

(d) While a Credit Facility is in effect, any amounts in the Interest Account and 
Principal Account altocable to the Series of Bonds secured by such Credit Facility shall be paid 
to the Credit Facility Provider in reimbursement for Debt Service Charges on such Series of 
Bonds paid by the Credit Facility Provider which are owed to the Credit Facility Provider. 

(e) Any amounts remaining in the Bond Fund after payment in full of the principal or 
redemption price of and interest on the Bonds (or provision for payment thereof) shall be paid, 
first, to the Credit Facility Provider, to the extent of any Credit Facility Reimbursement 
Obligations (as notifred by the Credit Facility Provider in writing to the Trustee), second, to the 
County, to the extent of any County Reimbursement Obligations (as notified by the County in 
writing to the Trustee), third, to the Fiduciaries, to the extent of any expense obligations owed 
them (as notified by those parties in writing to the Trustee) and, fourth, to the County. 

SECTION 4.04. Bond Reserve Fund and Surdus Fund. 

(a) Bond Reserve Fund. In the event that, after any transfers to the Interest Account or 
the Principal Account from the Surplus Fund as described in @) below, moneys in the Interest 
Account or moneys in the Principal Account are insufficient on any date on which Debt Service 
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Charges on the outstanding Bonds are due (whether at stated maturity or by mandatory 
redemption) to pay such interest or principal and any premium, respectively, the Trustee shall 
withdraw from the Bond Reserve Fund the moneys necessary to make up any remaining 
deficiency and shall transfer those moneys first to the Interest Account and then to the Principal 
Account, as the case may be. 

Whenever the amount on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund is less than the Reserve 
Requirement, moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund shall be applied to cure such deficiency 
as provided in Section 4.02 hereof. If on any Revenue Allocation Date, moneys transferred 
from the Revenue Fund to the Bond Reserve Fund are not sufficient to make the payments then 
required to be made to the Bond Reserve Fund, then the deficiency shall, to the extent moneys 
are available thereunder, be paid from moneys on deposit in the Surplus Fund as provided in (b) 
below. If, after any transfer from the Surplus Fund to the Bond Reserve Fund as provided in 
(b) below, there remains a deficiency in the amount that was required to be deposited in the 
Bond Reserve Fund on such Revenue Allocation Date, the Trustee shall notify the Finance 
Director in writing as soon as possible, but in any event no later than the close of business on 
the seventh day following such Revenue Allocation Date, of that deficiency and the amount 
thereof and make a demand for payment by the County under, and subject to the limitations of, 
the County Deficiency Covenant of an amount sufficient to make up such deficiency. The 
County shall, subject to the limitations contained in the County Deficiency Covenant, be 
obligated to make such payment within one hundred and eighty (180) days following the 
Revenue Allocation Date to which such deficiency relates or, if earlier, the fifth (5th) day 
immediately preceding the date on which Debt Service Charges on the Bonds are due for the 
payment of which the amount of such deficiency is necessary. 

When the amount on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund is determined to be in excess of 
the Reserve Requirement, at the written request of the Finance Director, the Trustee shall, after 
payment, in order, of any outstanding, unpaid (A) Credit Facility Reimbursement Obligations, 
(B) County Reimbursement Obligations and (C) amounts owed any Fiduciaries, deliver the 
excess to the County to be used for any lawful purpose. 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Master Resolution, the County 
may, in lieu of moneys required to be deposited in the Bond Reserve Fund or in substitution for 
all or a portion of the moneys on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund, cause to be deposited into 
the Bond Reserve Fund a Reserve Fund Credit Facility, which Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
shall be payable (upon the giving of notice as required thereunder) on any Interest Payment Date 
or Principal Payment Date on which a deficiency exists in the amount available under the 
Indenture for the payment of the Series of Bonds for which such Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
was issued, which can not be cured by moneys in the Bond Reserve Fund. The County may, 
by Supplemental Indenture, provide additional terms and conditions relating to any Reserve Fund 
Credit Facility, including provisions for reimbursing the provider thereof for payments 
thereunder. 

(b) Sumlus Fund. In the event that, after the deposits from the Revenue Fund provided 
in Section 4.02 hereof, moneys in the Interest Account or moneys in the Principal Account are 
insufficient on any date on which Debt Service Charges on the outstanding Bonds are due 
(whether at stated maturity or by mandatory redemption) to pay such interest or principal and 
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any premium, respectively, the Trustee shall, before withdrawing any moneys in the Bond 
Reserve Fund and applying them to such purpose, withdraw moneys first, from the Reserve 
Account of the Surplus Fund, and then, from the General Account of the Surplus Fund, all in 
the amounts necessary in the aggregate to make up the deficiency and shall deposit those moneys 
in the Interest Account or the Principal Account, as the case may be. 

In addition, in the event that moneys transferred from the Revenue Fund to the Bond 
Reserve Fund as provided in Section 4.02 hereof were not sufficient to make the payments then 
required to be made to the Bond Reserve Fund, the Trustee shall, but only after previously 
making any deposits to the Interest Account or the Principal Account from the Surplus Account 
as required by the preceding paragraph, withdraw moneys first, from the Reserve Account of 
the Surplus Fund, and then, from the General Account of the Surplus Fund, all in the amounts 
necessary in the aggregate to make up the deficiency and shall deposit those moneys in the Bond 
Reserve Fund. 

Prior to the Completion Date, the Trustee shall, at the written direction of the Authorized 
County Representative, transfer moneys on deposit in the Surplus Fund to the Equity Account 
of the Construction Fund. After the Completion Date and subject to the payment obligations set 
forth in the immediately preceding paragraphs and provided that the Bond Reserve Fund is 
funded in an amount equal to the Reserve Requirement, the Trustee is authorized to disburse 
moneys on deposit in the Surplus Fund first, from the Reserve Account and then, from the 
General Account to pay the following items in the indicated order of priority and upon receipt 
by the Trustee of written notice from the appropriate party of the amount due: 

(i) Credit Facility Reimbursement Obligations which are then due and which have 
not been paid from moneys on deposit in the Bond Fund, and 

(ii) County Reimbursement Obligations. 

If at the end of a Fiscal Year moneys remain in the Surplus Fund (and assuming that 
there are no deficiencies then existing in the Bond Fund, the Bond Reserve Fund is funded in 
an amount equal to the Reserve Requirement and the payment obligations as set forth in the 
preceding paragraph which are then due and payable have been met), then the Trustee shall 
transfer the balance in the Surplus Fund to the County, which balance may be used for any 
lawful purpose of the County in accordance with, and subject to the limitations of State law. 

SECTION 4.05. The Construction Fund. The Trustee shall accept the following sources 
of moneys for deposit in the indicated Accounts of the Construction Fund: 

(a) proceeds of the sale of each Series of Bonds in the amount set forth in the 
Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series shall be deposited by the Trustee 
in the County Bond Proceeds Account of the Construction Fund (or any 
subaccount therein established by Supplemental Indenture); 

(b) proceeds of the sale of each Series of Bonds representing capitalized interest shall 
be deposited by the Trustee in the Capitalized Interest Account of the 
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Construction Fund (or any subaccount therein established by Supplemental 
Indenture) ; 

the Project Developer Contributions shall be deposited by the Trustee in the 
Project Developer Construction Account of the Construction Fund (or any 
subaccount therein established by Supplemental Indenture); and 

any other payments or contributions for deposit in the Construction Fund, 
including deposits pursuant to Sections 4.02 and 4.04@) hereof, shall be 
deposited by the Trustee in the Equity Account of the Construction Fund (or any 
subaccount therein established by Supplemental Resolution). 

Moneys in the Capitalized Interest Account shall automatidly be transferred by the 
Trustee to the Interest Account in the Bond Fund on or prior to each Interest Payment Date for 
which interest was capitalized in an amount equal to the amount of interest due on the Bonds 
with respect to which such interest was capitalized on such Interest Payment Date. All other 
moneys in the accounts in the Construction Fund shall be used by the Trustee to pay Facility 
Costs in the manner provided in the Indenture. The Trustee shall, subject to its receipt of any 
necessary written approvals, draw down moneys in the accounts (or applicable subaccounts) h 
the Construction Fund, other than the Capitalized Interest Account, to pay Facility Costs in the 
order set forth below: 

(a) the County Bond Proceeds Account; 

(b) the Equity Account; 

(c) the Project Developer Construction Account. 

provided, however, that the Trustee may apply certain funds held in the specified accounts (or 
applicable subaccounts) of the Construction Fund to pay or reimburse the County for particular 
Facility Costs, as specified by the County in a written order for payment delivered to the Trustee 
and signed by the Authorized County Representative in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

Moneys in the Construction Fund shall be disbursed as provided herein. Any such 
disbursement shall be made only upon written order for payment delivered to the Trustee and 
signed by the Authorized Project Developer Representative and/or the Authorized County 
Representative, as applicable, in the forms attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B. The 
Trustee may rely conclusively as to the certifications and representations set forth in each such 
disbursement request form in disbursing amounts from the Construction Fund. Disbursements 
from the Construction Fund (except the Capitalized Interest Account therein) shall be made only 
for the following Facility Costs: 

(i) Costs incurred directly or indirectly for or in connection with the acquisition, 
construction, installation, improvement, equipping, furnishing and development of the 
FaciLity, including costs incurred in respect of the Facility for preliminary planning and 
studies; architectural, financial, legal, engineering, accounting, consulting, supervisory 
and other services; site preparation; labor, services, utilities and materials; restoration 
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or relocation of any property damaged or destroyed in connection with the Facility; 
removal or relocation of any structures and the clearing of lands in connection therewith; 
and recording of documents and title work and including costs of acquiring lands, 
property, rights, rights of way, easements, franchises and other interests as may be 
deemed necessary or convenient by the County for the Facility; 

(ii) Premiums attributable to any surety bonds and insurance required to be taken 
out and maintained during the Construction Period with respect to the Facility; 

(5) The reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee, any Authenticating Agent 
and Paying Agents and the Registrar for their services during the Construction Period 
and taxes, assessments and other governmental charges in respect of the Facility that may 
become due and payable during the Construction Period; 

(iv) Costs incurred directly or indirectly in seeking to enforce any remedy against 
any contractor or subcontractor or vendor in respect of any actual or claimed default in 
any contract relating to the acquisition, construction, improvement, equipping, furnishing 
or development of the Facility; - 

(v) Legal expenses and fees, bond insurance premiums and other Credit Facility 
costs, including the fees of the Credit Facility Provider, the County under the County 
Deficiency Covenant, financing charges, rating agency fees, expenses of recordation of 
legal instruments, and any other costs of preparing and issuing the Bonds; and 

(vi) Any other direct out-of-pocket costs, expenses, fees and charges properly 
chargeable to the cost of the acquisition, construction, improvement, equipping, 
furnishing or development of the Facility and all expenses of administration properly 
chargeable to the acquisition, construction and installation of the Facility. 

The Trustee shall cause to be kept and maintained adequate records pertaining to the 
Construction Fund and all disbursements therefrom. The Trustee shall file with the County on 
or before the fifth day of each month (or such other day of each month as the County and the 
Trustee shall mutually agree upon) copies of the records pertaining to the Construction Fund and 
disbursements therefrom. 

Any moneys in the Construction Fund remaining after the Completion Date and payment, 
or provision for payment, in full of the Facility Costs (except for (i) any moneys remaining in 
the Capitalized Interest Account, which shall be transferred by the Trustee to the Interest 
Account and (ii) any moneys remaining in the Project Developer Construction Account, which 
shall be transferred to the Project Developer), in accordance with a certificate of the Finance 
Director delivered to the Trustee, shall be used promptly for one or more of the following 
purposes at the written direction of the Finance Director: (i) for the purchase for cancellation 
of Bonds at prices not exceeding the fair market value thereof plus accrued interest thereon to 
the date of purchase, (ii) to be escrowed until the first opportunity to redeem Bonds and applied 
on such date to the redemption of Bonds in accordance with the Indenture, (iii) for a 
combination of the foregoing, or (iv) for any other purpose as is provided in such certificate if 
accompanied by an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such use will not adversely affect 
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the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Tax-Exempt 
Bonds. 

SECTION 4.06. Investment of Pledged Funds. Moneys in the Revenue Fund, the Bond 
Fund, the Bond Reserve Fund, the Surplus Fund and the Construction Fund shall be invested 
and reinvested by the Trustee in Eligible Investments at the written direction of the Finance 
Director. The Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from any 
investment made at the direction of the Finance Director. 

Investments of moneys in the Bond Fund shall mature or be redeemable at the option of 
the Trustee at the times and in the amounts necessary to provide moneys to pay Debt Service 
Charges as they become due at stated maturity or by redemption. Each investment of moneys 
in the Bond Reserve Fund and the Surplus Fund shall mature or be redeemable at such times as 
payments are required to be made therefrom in accordance with Section 4.04 hereof (other than 
payments required to be made therefrom by reason of a deficiency in the Interest Account or the 
Principal Account on the date of any required payment from those accounts). Each investment 
of moneys in the Revenue Fund and the Construction Fund shall mature or be redeemable at 
such time as may be necessary to make payments from the Revenue Fund or the Constructim 
Fund, as applicable. Subject to any directions from the Finance Director with respect thereto, 
from time to time, the Trustee may sell any investments and reinvest the proceeds therefrom in 
Eligible Investments maturing or redeemable as aforesaid. Any of those investments may be 
purchased from or sold to the Trustee, the Registrar, an Authenticating Agent or a Paying 
Agent, or any bank, trust company or savings and loan association affiliated with any of the 
foregoing. The Trustee, shall sell at the best price obtainable, or present for redemption any 
investments purchased pursuant hereto whenever it shall be necessary to do so in order to 
provide money to make any payment or transfer of money from any Pledged Fund; provided, 
that, subject to an alternative written direction from the Finance Director, with respect to 
investments in the Bond Reserve Fund and the Surplus Fund, the Trustee shall sell the 
investments beginning with investments having the then shortest maturity. 

The Trustee shall, in any event, sell or redeem investments credited to the Bond Fund 
and, if necessary, the Surplus Fund and the Bond Reserve Fund to produce sufficient moneys 
hereunder to pay, and at the times required for the purposes of paying, Debt Service Charges 
when due as aforesaid, and shall do so without necessity for any order or direction on behalf of 
the County or any Credit Facility Provider and without restriction by reason of any order or 
direction. 

An investment made from moneys credited to the Bond Fund, the Revenue Fund, the 
Construction Fund or the General Account of the Surplus Fund shall constitute part of that 
respective fund or account, and each such respective fund or account shall be credited with all 
proceeds of sale and income from investment of moneys credited thereto; provided that ail net 
income, gain or profit from the investment of moneys in the Capitalized Interest Account shall 
be credited to the County Bond Proceeds Account in the Construction Fund. 

An investment made from moneys credited to the Bond Reserve Fund or the Reserve 
Account of the Surplus Fund shall constitute part of that fund or account, as the case may be, 
and such fund or account shall be credited with the proceeds of sale (net of any profit, gain or 
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income included therein). Any profit or gain realized or income earned from such investments 
in the Bond Reserve Fund shall be transferred to the County Bond Proceeds Account in the 
Construction Fund during the Construction Period and thereafter shall be delivered to the County 
to be used for any lawful purpose; provided, that if for any reason the amount in the Bond 
Reserve Fund shall be less than the Reserve Requirement, all gain or profit realized or income 
earned from investments in the Bond Reserve Fund shall, until such insufficiency is cured, be 
retained in the Bond Reserve Fund. Any profit or gain realized or income earned from 
investments in the Reserve Account of the Surplus Fund shall be transferred to the General 
Account of the Surplus Fund. 

The Trustee shall value the Eligible Investments in the funds and accounts hereunder, on 
the last day of March, June, September and December in each year, commencing September 1, 
1997, and shall so value those Eligible Investments, if so directed, at any other time upon the 
request of the Finance Director on reasonable notice to the Trustee; provided, that such value 
shall be determined net of any profit, gain or income accrued with respect to any Eligible 
Investments therein. If as a result of any valuation, it is determined that the balance in the Bond 
Reserve Fund is less than ninety percent (90%) of the Reserve Requirement, the Trustee shall 
compute the amount by which the Reserve Requirement exceeds such balance and shall 
immediately give the Authorized County Representative notice of such deficiency and the amount 
necessary to cure the same. If the balance in the Bond Reserve Fund is greater than the Reserve 
Requirement, the Trustee shall notify the County of such fact and shall, on or before the next 
succeeding Revenue Allocation Date, transfer such excess moneys as provided in Section 4.04(a) 
hereof; provided that the Trustee shall not be required to sell any investments to make that 
transfer. 

The Trustee shall not be responsible for any depreciation in the value of any investments 
or for any loss arising from investments, provided that those investments are Eligible 
Investments hereunder. In addition to the valuations of the Bond Reserve Fund required by the 
preceding paragraph, the Trustee also shall value the Eligible Investments in the Bond Reserve 
Fund immediately upon any withdrawal or transfer from the Bond Reserve Fund, exclusive of 
accrued interest (identifying the amount thereof), provided that a transfer of investment income 
in accordance with this Section shall not be considered a withdrawal from the Bond Reserve 
Fund. If, as of any date on which the value of Eligible Investments in the Bond Reserve Fund 
is determined, the balance in the Bond Reserve Fund is less than ninety percent (90%) of the 
Reserve Requirement, the Trustee shall compute the amount by which the Reserve Requirement 
exceeds such balance and shall immediately give the Authorized County Representative notice 
of such deficiency and the amount necessary to cure the same. 

The value of Eligible Investments to be calculated hereunder shall be market value, and 
market value shall be calculated as follows: 

(a) as to investments the bid and asked prices of which are published on a regular basis 
in The Wall Street Journal (or, if not there, then in The New York Times): the average of the 
bid and asked prices for such investments so published on or most recently prior to such time 
of determination; 
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(b) as to investments the bid and asked prices of which are not published on a regular 
basis in The Wall Street Journal or The New York Times: the average bid price at such time 
of determination for such investments by any two nationally recognized government securities 
dealers (selected by the Trustee in its absolute discretion) at the time making a market in such 
investments or the bid price published by a nationally recognized pricing service (selected by the 
Trustee in its absolute discretion); 

(c) as to certificates of deposit and bankers acceptances: the face amount thereof, plus 
accrued interest; and 

(d) as to any investment not specified above: the method thereof established by prior 
written agreement between the County and the Trustee. If more than one provision of this 
definition of market value shall apply at any time to any particular investment, the market value 
thereof at such time shall be determined in accordance with the provision establishing the lowest 
value for such investment. 

SECTION 4.07. Money to be Held in Trust. Until applied as provided in the Indenture 
to the payment of Bonds or transferred pursuant to paragraphs (d) or (e) of Section 4.03, 
Pledged Revenues in the Bond Fund shall be held by the Trustee in trust for the benefit of the 
Holders of all outstanding Bonds, except that any portion of the Pledged Revenues representing 
principal or redemption price of any Bonds, and interest on any Bonds previously matured or 
called for redemption in accordance with Article I11 of this Master Indenture or any 
Supplemental Indenture, shall be held for the benefit of the owners of such Bonds and, to the 
extent provided in Section 4.03, for the benefit of the parties specified therein. 

SECTION 4.08. NonDresentment of Bonds. In the event that any Bond shall not be 
presented for payment when the principal thereof becomes due in whole or in part, either at 
stated maturity or by redemption, or a check or draft for interest is uncashed, if moneys 
sufficient to pay the principal then due of that Bond or of such check or draft shall have been 
made available to the Trustee for the benefit of its Holder, all liability of the County to that 
Holder for such payment of the principal then due of the Bond or of such check or draft there 
upon shall cease and be discharged completely. Thereupon, it shall be the duty of the Trustee 
to hold those moneys, without liability for interest thereon, for the exclusive benefit of the 
Holder, who shall be restricted thereafter exclusively to those moneys for any claim of whatever 
nature on its part under the Indenture or on or with respect to the principal then due of that Bond 
or of such check or draft. 

Any of those moneys which shall be so held by the Trustee and which remain unclaimed 
by the Holder of a Bond not presented for payment or check or draft not cashed for a period of 
four years after the due date thereof, shall be paid to the County, free of any trust or lien, upon 
a request in writing by the Authorized County Representative. Thereafter, the Holder of that 
Bond shall look only to the County for payment and then only to the amounts so received by the 
County without any interest thereon, and the Trustee shall not have any responsibility with 
respect to those moneys. 

SECTION 4.09. Rebate Fund. At the option of the County with respect to any Series 
of Bonds, there may created by Supplemental Indenture a Rebate Fund into which moneys may 
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be deposited to be used to pay any rebate amount required by Section 148(f) of the Code, or to 
fund the County’s estimated liability therefor. The Rebate Fund and the moneys and investments 
therein shall not be deemed to be a part of Pledged Revenues under this Master Indenture and 
the applicable Supplemental Indenture. Other than compliance with the terms of the Indenture, 
the Trustee shall have no responsibility regarding arbitrage rebate calculations or the appropriate 
funding of the Rebate Fund. 

(End of Article IV) 
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ARTICLE v 

THE TRUSTEE, REGISTRAR, PAYKNG AGENTS AND AUTHENTICATING AGENTS 

SECTION 5.01. Trustee’s Accmtance and Responsibilities. The Trustee accepts the 
trusts imposed upon it by the Indenture, and agrees to observe and perform those trusts, but only 
upon and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Article, to all of which the parties 
hereto and the Holders agree. 

(a) Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default (as defmed in Section 6.01 hereof) 
of which the Trustee has been notXied, as provided in paragraph (f) of Section 5.02 hereof, or 
of which by said paragraph ( f )  the Trustee is deemed to have notice, and after the cure or waiver 
of all Events of Default which may have occurred, 

(i) the Trustee undertakes to perform only those duties and obligations which are 
set forth specifically in the Indenture, and no duties or obligations shall be implied to the 
Trustee; 

(ii) in the absence of bad faith on its part, the Trustee may rely conclusively, as 
to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon 
written notices, instructions, directions, certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee 
and conforming to the requirements of the Indenture; but in the case of any such 
certificates or opinions which by any provision hereof are required specifically to be 
furnished to the Trustee, the Trustee shall be under a duty to examine the same to 
detennine whether or not they conform to the requirements of the Indenture; 

(iii) the Trustee shall not be considered to be acting in a negligent manner if it 
refuses to act without first receiving any written directions, instructions, opinions or 
statements that are required pursuant to the Indenture unless otherwise directed in writing 
by that number of Holders described in Section’5.Ol(c)(iii) hereof. 

(b) In case an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing hereunder (of which the 
Trustee has been notified pursuant to Section 5.02(f) hereof, or of which by Section 5.02(f) 
hereof the Trustee is deemed to have notice), the Trustee shall exercise those rights and powers 
vested in it by the Indenture and shall use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, 
as a prudent corporate trustee would exercise or use under similar circumstances. 

(c) No provision of the Indenture shall be construed to relieve the Trustee from liability 
for its own negligent action, its own negligent failure to act, or its own wilful misconduct, 
except that 

(i) this paragraph shall not be construed to affect the limitation of the Trustee’s 
duties and obligations provided in subparagraph (a)(i) of this Section or the Trustee’s 
right to rely on the truth of statements and the correctness of opinions as provided in 
subparagraph (a)(ii) of this Section; 
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(ii) the Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith 
by any one of its officers, unless it shall be established that the Trustee was negligent in 
ascertaining the pertinent facts; 

(iii) the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to 
be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the written direction of the Holders of not 
less than a majority in Aggregate Principal Amount of the Bonds then outstanding 
relating to the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy avail 
able to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee, under 
the Indenture; and 

(iv) no provision of the Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its 
own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance of any of its 
duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers if it shall have 
reasonable grounds (as determined in the Trustee’s sole reasonable discretion) for 
believing that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or 
liability is not reasonably assured to it. 

(d) Whether or not therein expressly so provided, every provision of the Indenture 
relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of or affording protection to the Trustee shall be 
subject to the provisions of this Section 5.01. 

SECTION 5.02. Certain RiPhts and Oblieations of the Trustee. Except as otherwise 
provided in Section 5.01 hereof: 

(a) The Trustee (i) may execute any of the trusts or powers hereof and perform 
any of its duties hereunder by or through attorneys, agents, receivers or employees (but 
shall be answerable therefor only in accordance with the standard specified above), (ii) 
shall be entitled to the advice of counsel concerning all matters of trusts hereof and duties 
hereunder, and (iii) may pay reasonable compensation in all cases to all of those 
attorneys, agents, receivers and employees reasonably employed by it in connection with 
the trusts hereof. The Trustee may act upon the opinion or advice of any attorney (who 
may be the attorney or attorneys for the County) approved by the Trustee in the exercise 
of reasonable care. The Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or damage resulting 
from any action taken or omitted to be taken in good faith in reliance upon that opinion 
or advice or upon the terms of the Indenture. 

(b) Except for its certificate of authentication on the Bonds, the Trustee shall not 
be responsible for: 

(i) any recital in this Master Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or in the 
Bonds, 

(ii) the validity, priority, recording, re-recording, fiiing or refiling of this 
Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture, 

(iii) any instrument or document of further assurance or collateral assignment, 
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(iv) any financing statements, amendments thereto or continuation statements, 

(v) insurance of any property or collection of insurance moneys, 

(vi) the validity of the execution by the County of this Master Indenture, any 
Supplemental Indenture or instruments or documents of further assurance, 

(vii) the sufficiency of the security for the Bonds issued hereunder or intended 
to be secured hereby, 

(viii) the value of or title to any property, or 

(ix) the maintenance of the security hereof, 

except that, in the event that the Trustee enters into possession of a part or all of any 
property pursuant to any provision of any instrument or document collateral hereto 
imposing a lien on that property, the Trustee shall use due diligence in preserving that 
property. The Trustee shall not be bound to ascertain or inquire as to the observance or 
performance of any covenants, agreements or obligations on the part of the Couniy 
except as set forth hereinafter; but the Trustee may require of the County full information 
and advice as to the observance or performance of those covenants, agreements and 
obligations. Except as otherwise provided in Section 6.04 hereof, the Trustee shall have 
no obligation to observe or perform any of the duties of the County under any agreement 
collateral hereto. 

(c) The Trustee shall not be accountable for the application by the County or any 
other Person of the proceeds of any Bonds authenticated or delivered hereunder. 

(d) The Trustee shall be protected, in the absence of bad faith on its part, in 
acting upon any notice, request, consent, certificate, order, affidavit, letter, telegram or 
other paper or document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have 
been signed or sent by the proper authorized Person or Persons. Any action taken by 
the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture upon the request or authority or consent of any 
Person who is the Holder of any Bond at the time of making such request or giving the 
authority or consent, shall be conclusive and binding upon all future Holders of the same 
Bond and of Bonds issued in exchange therefor or in place thereof. 

(e) As to the existence or nonexistence of any fact for which the County may be 
responsible or as to the sufficiency or validity of any instrument, document, report, paper 
or proaxding, the Trustee, in the absence of bad faith on its part, shall be entitled to rely 
upon a certificate signed by the Authorized County Representative as sufficient evidence 
of the facts recited therein. Prior to the occurrence of a default or Event of Default 
hereunder of which the Trustee has been notified, as provided in paragraph (f) of this 
Section, or of which by such paragraph ( f )  of this Section, the Trustee is deemed to have 
notice, the Trustee may accept a similar certificate to the effect that any particular 
dealing, transaction or action is necessary or expedient; provided, that the Trustee in its 
sole discretion may require and obtain any further evidence which it deems to be prudent, 
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necessary or advisable; and, provided further, that the Trustee shall not be bound to 
secure any further evidence. The Trustee may accept a certificate of the officer, or an 
assistant thereto, having charge of the appropriate records, to the effect that legislation 
has been enacted by the Legislative Authority in the form recited in that certificate, as 
conclusive evidence that the legislation has been duly enacted and is in full force and 
effect. 

( f )  Except as otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a 
particular Series of Bonds, the Trustee shall not be required to take notice, and shall not 
be deemed to have notice, of any Event of Default hereunder, except Events of Default 
described in paragraphs (a) and (b) of Section 6.01 hereof, unless the Trustee shall be 
notified specifically of such Event of Default in a written instrument or document 
delivered to it by the County or by the Holders of at least 10 percent of the Aggregate 
Principal Amount of Bonds then outstanding. In the absence of delivery of a notice 
satisfying those requirements, the Trustee may assume conclusively that there is no Event 
of Default, except as noted above. 

(g) At any reasonable time, the Trustee and its duly authorized agents, attorneys, 
experts, engineers, accountants and representatives (i) may inspect and copy fully all 
books, papers, records, statements, certificates or opinions of the County pertaining to 
the Bonds and the property financed with the Bonds, and (ii) may make any memoranda 
from and in regard thereto as the Trustee may desire. 

(h) The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety with respect to 
the execution of its trusts and powers hereunder or otherwise in respect of the premises. 

(i) Notwithstanding anything contained elsewhere in the Indenture, the Trustee 
may demand any showings, certificates, reports, opinions, appraisais and other 
information, and any corporate action and evidence thereof, in addition to that required 
by the terms hereof, as a condition to the authentication of any Bonds or the taking of 
any action whatsoever within the purview of the Indenture, if the Trustee deems it to be 
desirable for the purpose of establishing the right of the County to the authentication of 
any Bonds or the right of any Person to the taking of any other action by the Trustee or 
the Trustee's failure to take any action; provided, that the Trustee shall not be required 
to make that demand. 

(i) Before taking or omitting action hereunder pursuant to Section 5.04 or Article 
VI hereof (with the exception of any action required to be taken under Section 6.02 
hereof), the Trustee may require that a satisfactory indemnity be furnished to it for the 
reimbursement of all expenses which it may incur and to protect it against all liability by 
reason of any action so taken, or any action that it omits taking, except liability which 
is adjudicated to have resulted from its negligence or willful misconduct. The Trustee 
may take action without that indemnity, and in that case, the County shall reimburse the 
Trustee for all of the Trustee's expenses pursuant to Section 5.03 hereof. 

(k) Unless otherwise provided herein, all moneys received by the Trustee under 
the Indenture shall be held in trust for the purposes for which those moneys were 
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received, until those moneys are used, applied or invested as provided in the Indenture; 
provided, that those moneys need not be segregated from other moneys, except to the 
extent required by the Indenture or by law. The Trustee shall not have any liability for 
interest on any moneys received hereunder, except to the extent expressly provided 
herein or agreed to in writing by the Trustee with the County. 

(1) Any legislation, and any opinions, certificates and other instruments, 
directions, instructions and documents for which provision is made in the Indenture, may 
be accepted by the Trustee, in the absence of bad faith on its part, as conclusive evidence 
of the opinions, statements, facts and conclusions stated therein and shall be full warrant, 
protection and authority to the Trustee for its actions taken hereunder. 

(m) The permissive right of the Trustee to take any actions or omit to take any 
actions described specifically herein shall not be construed as a duty. 

(n) In the event that the approval or satisfaction of the Trustee is required 
hereunder, under any Supplemental Indenture or under any other instrument or document 
relating to the Bonds, such approval or satisfaction shall not be withheld unreasonably 
and shall be given or withheld as the case may be, within 30 days after the receipt by the 
Trustee of the written request for the approval or satisfaction and such additional 
information, documentation, consents, approvals or assurances as the Trustee may 
reasonable require. 

SECTION 5.03. Fees. Charges and Expenses of Trustee. Registrar. Paving Agents and 
Authenticating A m .  The Trustee, the Registrar and any Paying Agents or Authenticating 
Agents shall be entitled to payment or reimbursement by the County for reasonable fees for its 
Ordinary Services rendered hereunder and for all advances, counsel fees and other Ordinary 
Expenses reasonably and necessarily paid or incurred by them in connection with the provision 
of Ordinary Services. For purposes hereof, fees for Ordinary Services provided for by their 
respective standard fee schedules shall be considered reasonable. In the event that it should 
become necessary for any of them to perform Extraordinary Services, they shall be entitled to 
reasonable extra compensation therefor and to reimbursement for reasonable and necessary 
Extraordinary Expenses incurred in connection therewith. The Trustee, the Registrar and any 
Paying Agents or Authenticating Agents shall not be entitled to compensation or reimbursement 
for Extraordinary Services or Extraordinary Expenses occasioned by their neglect or willful 
misconduct. 

Without creating a default or an Event of Default hereunder, however, the County may 
contest in good faith the necessity for any Extraordinary Service and Extraordinary Expense and 
the reasonableness of any fee, charge or expense. 

The Trustee is also entitled to payment or reimbursement by the County for any and all 
costs, expenses and liabilities (i) incurred or paid by the Trustee in satisfaction of any obligations 
of the County hereunder not performed by the County in accordance with the provisions hereof, 
or (ii) incurred as a result of a request by the County and not otherwise required to be paid by 
the County under the Indenture, or (iii) incurred in the defense of any action or proceeding with 
respect to the Indenture, or in enforcing the Indenture, or arising out of or based upon any other 
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document related to the issuance of the Bonds, including without limitation those liabilities 
described in Sections 6.12 hereof. 

Any amounts payable to the Trustee, the Registrar or any Paying Agent or Authenticating 
Agent pursuant to this Section 5.03 shall be payable by the County to the appropriate party upon 
delivery by such party of its proper invoice. 

SECTION 5.04.  Intervention bv Trustee. The Trustee may intervene on behalf of the 
Holders, and shall intervene if requested to do so in writing by the Holders of at least 40 percent 
of the Aggregate Principal Amount of Bonds then outstanding, in any judicial proceeding to 
which the County, the Operator or the Team is a party and which, in the opinion of the Trustee 
and its counsel, has a substantial bearing on the interests of Holders of the Bonds. The rights 
and obligations of the Trustee under this Section are subject to the approval of that intervention 
by a court of competent jurisdiction. The Trustee may require that a satisfactory indemnity be 
provided to it in accordance with Sections 5.01 and 5.02 hereof before it takes action hereunder. 

SECTION 5.05. Successor Trustee. Anything in any other Section hereof to the 
contrary notwithstanding, - 

(a) any corporation or association (i) into which the Trustee may be converted 
or merged, (ii) with which the Trustee or any successor to it may be consolidated, or (iii) 
to which it may sell or transfer its trust business as a whole or substantially as a whole, 
or any corporation or association resulting from any such conversion, merger, 
consolidation, sale or transfer, b o  facto, shall be and become successor Trustee 
hereunder and shall be vested with a l l  of the title to the whole property or trust estate 
hereunder; and 

(b) that corporation or association shall be vested further, as was its predecessor, 
with each and every trust, property, remedy, power, right, duty, obligation, discretion, 
privilege, claim, demand, cause of action, inimunity, estate, title, interest and lien 
expressed or intended by the Indenture to be exercised by, vested in or conveyed to the 
Trustee, without the execution or filing of any instrument or document or any further act 
on the part of any of the parties hereto. 

Any successor Trustee, however, (i) shal l  be a trust company or a bank having the powers of 
a trust company, (ii) shall be in good standing within the State, (5) shall be duly authorized to 
exercise trust powers within the State, and (iv) shall have a reported capital and surplus on a 
consolidated reporting basis of not less than $25,000,000. 

SECTION 5.06. Amointment of Co-Trustee. It is the purpose of the Indenture that 
there shall be no violation of any law of any jurisdiction (including without limitation, the laws 
of the State) denying or restricting the right of banks or trust companies to transact business as 
trustees in that jurisdiction. It is recognized that it may be necessary that the Trustee, with the 
written consent of the County unless an Event of Default has o c c u d  and is continuing, appoint 
an individual or additional institution as a co-Trustee: 
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(a) if there is litigation under the Indenture or other instruments or documents relating 
to the Bonds or the property financed with the Bonds, and in particular, in case of the 
enforcement hereof or thereof upon a default or an Event of Default, or 

(b) if the Trustee should deem that, by reason of any present or future law of any 
jurisdiction, it may not (i) exercise any of the powers, rights or remedies granted herein to the 
Trustee, (ii) hold title to the properties, in trust, as granted herein, or (iii) take any action which 
may be desirable or necessary in connection therewith. 

In the event that the Trustee appoints an individual or additional institution as a 
co-Trustee, each and every trust, property, remedy, power, right, duty, obligation, discretion, 
privilege, claim, demand, cause of action, immunity, estate, title, interest and lien expressed or 
intended by the Indenture to be exercised by, vested in or conveyed to the Trustee shall be 
exercisable by, vest in and be conveyed to that co-Trustee, but only to the extent necessary for 
it to be so vested and conveyed and to enable that co-Trustee to exercise it. Every covenant, 
agreement and obligation necessary to the exercise thereof by that co-Trustee shall run to and 
be enforceable by and against it. Nevertheless, the appointment of a co-Trustee shall not relieve 
the Trustee of any of its obligations hereunder, under any Supplemental Indenture or under the 
Bonds, to the extent permitted by law, and the approval or satisfaction of the Trustee shall 
continue to satisfy any requirement of the approval or satisfaction of the Trustee hereunder and 
under any Supplemental Indenture. The Trustee shall not be held liable for the negligence or 
willful misconduct of the co-Trustee if such co-Trustee satisfies the requirements set forth in 
Section 5.05(i) through (iv) herein. 

Should any instrument or document in writing fiom the County reasonably be required 
by the co-Trustee so appointed by the Trustee for vesting and conveying more fully and certainly 
in and to that co-Trustee those trusts, properties, remedies, powers, rights, duties, obligations, 
discretions, privileges, claims, demands, causes of action, immunities, estates, titles, interests 
and liens, that instrument or document shall be executed, acknowledged and delivered, but not 
prepared, by the County. In case any co-Trustee or a successor to it shall die, become incapable 
of acting, resign or be removed, all of the trusts, properties, remedies, powers, rights, duties, 
obligations, discretions, privileges, claims, demands, causes of action, immunities, estates, 
titles, interests and liens of the co-Trustee shall be exercised by, vest in and be conveyed to the 
Trustee, to the extent permitted by law, until the appointment of a successor to the co-Trustee. 

SECTION 5.07. Resinnation bv the Trustee. The Trustee may resign at any time from 
the trusts created hereby by giving written notice of the resignation to the Authorized County 
Representative, the Authorized Operator Representative, the Registrar (if the Trustee is not 
acting as Registrar), any Paying Agents and Authenticating Agents (other than the Trustee) and 
by mailing written notice of the resignation to the Holders as their names and addresses appear 
on the Register at the close of business fifteen days prior to the mailing of such notice. The 
resignation shall take effect upon the appointment of a successor Trustee. 

SECTION 5.08. Removal of the Trustee. The Trustee may be removed at any time by 
an instrument or document or concurrent instruments or documents in writing delivered to the 
Trustee, with copies thereof mailed to the Authorized County Representative, the Authorized 
Operator Representative, the Registrar, any Paying Agents and Authenticating Agents (other than 
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the Trustee) and the Original Purchaser of each Series, and signed by or on behalf of the 
Holders of not Iess than a majority in Aggregate Principal Amount of the Bonds then 
outstanding. 

The Trustee also may be removed at any time for any breach of trust or for acting or 
proceeding in violation of, or for failing to act or proceed in accordance with, any provision of 
the Indenture with respect to the duties and obligations of the Trustee by any court of competent 
jurisdiction upon the application of the County, the Operator (on behalf of the County) or the 
Holders of not less than 20 percent in Aggregate Principal Amount of the Bonds then outstanding 
under the Indenture. 

SECTION 5.09.  Amointment of Successor Trustee. If (i) the Trustee shall resign, shall 
be removed, shall be dissolved, or shall become otherwise incapable of acting hereunder, (ii) 
the Trustee shall be taken under the control of any public officer or officers, or (S) a'receiver 
shall be appointed for the Trustee by a court, then a successor Trustee shall be appointed by the 
County; provided, that if a successor Trustee is not so appointed within ten days after (a) a 
notice of resignation or an instrument or document of removal is received by the County, as 
provided in Sections 5.07 and 5.08 hereof, respectively, or (b) the Trustee is dissolved, taken 
under control, becomes otherwise incapable of acting or a receiver is appointed, in each case, 
as provided above, then, so long as the County shall not have appointed a successor Trustee, the 
Holders of a majority in Aggregate Principal Amount of Bonds then outstanding may designate 
a successor Trustee by an instrument or document or concurrent instruments or documents in 
writing signed by or on behalf of those Holders. If no appointment of a successor Trustee shall 
be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section, the Holder of any Bond outstanding 
hereunder or any retiring Trustee may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction to appoint 
a successor Trustee. Such court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as such court may 
deem proper and prescribe, appoint a successor Trustee. 

Every successor Trustee appointed pursuant to this Section (i) shall be a trust company 
or a bank having the powers of a trust company (ii) shall be in good standing within the State, 
(5) shall be duly authorized to exercise trust powers within the State, (iv) shall have a reported 
capital and surplus on a consolidated reporting basis of not less than $25,000,000 and (v) shall 
be willing to accept the trusteesGp under the terms and conditions of the Indenture. 

Every successor Trustee appointed hereunder shall execute and acknowledge, and shall 
deliver to its predecessor, the County and the Operator an instrument or document in writing 
accepting the appointment. Thereupon, without any further act, the successor shall become 
vested with all of the trusts, properties, remedies, powers, rights, duties, obligations, 
discretions, privileges, claims, demands, causes of action, immunities, estates, titles, interests 
and liens of its predecessor. Upon the written request of its successor or the County, the 
predecessor Trustee (i) shall execute and deliver an instrument or document transferring to its 
successor all of the trusts, properties, remedies, powers, rights, duties, obligations, discretions, 
privileges, claims, demands, causes of action, immunities, estates, titles, interests and liens of 
the predecessor Trustee hereunder, and (ii) shall take any other action necessary to duly assign, 
transfer and deliver to its successor all property (including without Limitation, all securities and 
moneys) held by it as Trustee. Should any instrument or document in writing from the County 
be requested by any successor Trustee for vesting and conveying more fully and certainly in and 
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to that successor the trusts, properties, remedies, powers, rights, duties, obligations, discretions, 
privileges, claims, demands, causes of action, immunities, estates, titles, interests and liens 
vested or conveyed or intended to be vested or conveyed hereby in or to the predecessor 
Trustee, the County shall execute, acknowledge and deliver that instrument or document. 

In the event of a change in the Trustee, the predecessor Trustee shall cease to be 
custodian of any moneys which it may hold pursuant to the Indenture and shall cease to be 
Registrar, Authenticating Agent and a Paying Agent for any of the Bonds, to the extent it served 
in any of those capacities. The successor Trustee shall become custodian and, if applicable, 
Registrar, Authenticating Agent and a Paying Agent. 

SECTION 5.10. Adoption of Authentication. In case any of the Bonds shall have been 
authenticated, but shall not have been delivered, any successor Authenticating Agent may adopt 
the certificate of authentication of any predecessor Authenticating Agent and may deliver those 
Bonds so authenticated as provided herein. In case any Bonds shall not have been authenticated, 
any successor Authenticating Agent may authenticate those Bonds either in the name of any 
predecessor or in its own name. In all cases, the certificate of authentication shall have the Same 
force and effect as provided in the Bonds or in the Indenture with respect to the certificate of 
authentication of the predecessor Authenticating Agent. 

SECTION 5.11. Reeistrar. 

(a) Succession. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any corporation or 
association (i) into which a Registrar may be converted or merged, (ii) with which a Registrar 
or any successor to it may be consolidated, or (iii) to which it may sell or transfer its assets as 
a whole or substantially as a whole, or any corporation or association resulting from any such 
conversion, merger, consolidation, sale or transfer, $so facto, shall be and become successor 
Registrar to that Registrar hereunder and shall be vested with each and every power, right, duty, 
obligation, discretion and privilege expressed or intended by the Indenture to be exercised by 
or vested in the predecessor Registrar, without the execution or frling of any instrument or 
document or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto. 

(b) Resignation. A Registrar may resign at any time by giving written notice of its 
resignation to the County, the Operator, the Trustee (if the Trustee is not acting as Registrar), 
and to each Paying Agent and Authenticating Agent (other than the Trustee) for those Series, 
at least 60 days before the resignation is to take effect. The resignation shall take effect 
immediately, however, upon the appointment of a successor Registrar, if the successor Registrar 
is appointed and accepts that appointment before the time stated in the notice. 

(c) Removal. The Registrar may be removed at any time by an instrument or document 
or concurrent instruments or documents in writing delivered to the Registrar, with copies thereof 
mailed to the County, the Operator and the Trustee and signed by or on behalf of the Holders 
of not less than a majority in Aggregate Principal Amount of the Bonds then outstanding. 

(d) qppo intment of Successors . If (i) a Registrar shall resign, shall be removed, shall 
be dissolved, or shall become otherwise completely incapable of acting hereunder, (ii) a 
Registrar shall be taken under the control of any public officer or officers, (iii) a receiver shall 
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be appointed for a Registrar by a court, or (iv) a Registrar shall have an order for relief entered 
in any case commenced by or against it under the federal bankruptcy laws or commence a 
proceeding under any federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar law, or 
have such a proceeding commenced against it and either have an order of insolvency or 
reorganization entered against it or have the proceeding remain undismissed and unstayed for 
ninety days, then a successor Registrar shall be appointed by the County, with the written 
consent of the Trustee; provided, that if a successor Registrar is not so appointed within ten days 
after (a) a notice of resignation or an instrument or document of removal is received by the 
County, as provided above, or (b) the Registrar is dissolved, taken under control, becomes 
otherwise incapable of acting or a receiver is appointed, in each case, as provided above, then, 
if the County shall not have appointed a successor Registrar, the Trustee or the Holders of a 
majority in Aggregate Principal Amount of Bonds then outstanding may designate a successor 
Registrar by an instrument or document or concurrent instruments or documents in writing 
signed by the Trustee, or in the case of the Holders, by or on behalf of those Holders. 

Every successor Registrar appointed hereunder shall execute and acknowledge, and shall 
deliver to its predecessor, the County, the Operator, and the Trustee, an instrument or document 
in writing accepting the appointment. Thereupon, without any further act, the successor shall 
become vested with all of the properties, remedies, powers, rights, duties, obligations, 
discretions, privileges, claims, demands, causes of action, immunities, titles and interests of its 
predecessor. Upon the written request of its successor, the County or the Trustee, a predecessor 
Registrar (i) shall execute and deliver an instrument or document transferring to its successor 
all of the properties, remedies, powers, rights, duties, obligations, discretions, privileges, 
claims, demands, causes of action, immunities, titles and interests of it as predecessor Registrar 
hereunder, and (ii) shall take any other action necessary to duly assign, transfer and deliver to 
its successor all property and records (including without limitation, the Register and any 
canceled Bonds) held by it as Registrar. Should any instrument or document in writing from 
the County be requested by any successor Registrar for vesting and conveying more fully and 
certainly in and to that successor the properties, remedies, powers, rights, duties, obligations, 
discretions, privileges, claims, demands, causes of action, immunities, titles and interests vested 
or conveyed or intended to be vested or conveyed hereby in or to a predecessor Registrar, the 
County shall execute, acknowledge and deliver that instrument or document. 

SECTION 5.12. Designation and Succession of Paving Apents. The TNStee shall be 
a Paying Agent for the Bonds, and, with the written consent of the Authorized County 
Representative, the Trustee may appoint a Paying Agent or Agents with power to act on its 
behalf and subject to its direction in the payment of Debt Service Charges on any Series. It is 
the responsibility of the Trustee to establish the duties and responsibilities of any Paying Agent 
for the purposes of the Indenture, to the extent not specified herein. 

Any corporation or association with or into which any Paying Agent may be merged or 
converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation or association resulting from 
any merger, consolidation or conversion to which any Paying Agent shall be a party, or any 
corporation or association succeeding to the trust business of any Paying Agent, shall be the 
successor of that Paying Agent hereunder, if that successor corporation or association is 
otherwise eligible hereunder, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on 
the part of the parties hereto or the Paying Agent or that successor corporation or association. 
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Any Paying Agent may at any time resign by giving written notice of resignation to the 
Trustee, the Registrar (if the Trustee is not acting as Registrar), the Operator and the County. 
The Trustee may at any time terminate the agency of any Paying Agent by giving written notice 
of termination to such Paying Agent, the Registrar, the Operator and the County. Upon 
receiving such a notice of resignation or upon such a termination, or in case at any time any 
Paying Agent shall cease to be eligible under this Section, the Trustee may appoint a successor 
Paying Agent. The Trustee shall give written notice of the appointment of a successor Paying 
Agent to the County, the Operator and the Registrar (if the Trustee is not acting as Registrar) 
and shall mail, within ten days after that appointment, notice thereof to all Holders of each 
Series for which such successor is to be Paying Agent as their names and addresses appear on 
the Register on the date of that appointment. 

The Trustee shall pay to any Paying Agent from time to t h e  reasonable compensation 
as authorized in Section 5.03 hereof for its services, and the Trustee shall be entitled to be 
reimbursed for such payments, subject to Section 5.03 hereof. 

The provisions of Section 2.06 and Section 5.02(d) shall be applicable to any Paying 
Agent. - 

SECTION 5.13. Designation and Succession of Authenticatine Agents. With the consent 
of the County, the Trustee may appoint an Authenticating Agent or Agents, in addition to the 
Registrar, with power to act on its behalf and subject to its direction in the authentication and 
delivery of Bonds. 

Any corporation or association with or into which any Authenticating Agent may be 
merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation or association 
resulting from any merger, consolidation or conversion to which any Authenticating Agent shall 
be a party, or any corporation or association succeeding to the trust business of any 
Authenticating Agent, shall be the successor of that Authenticating Agent hereunder, if that 
successor corporation or association is otherwise eligible hereunder, without the execution or 
filing of any paper or any further act on the part of the parties hereto or the Authenticating 
Agent or such successor corporation. 

Any Authenticating Agent may at any time resign by giving written notice of resignation 
to the Trustee, the Registrar (if the Trustee is not acting as Registrar), the County and the 
Operator. The Trustee may at any time tenninate the agency of any Authenticating Agent by 
giving written notice of termination to such Authenticating Agent, the Registrar, the County and 
the Operator. Upon receiving such a notice of resignation or upon such a termination, or in case 
at any t h e  any Authenticating Agent shall cease to be eligible under this Section, the Trustee 
may appoint a successor Authenticating Agent. The Trustee shall give written notice of the 
appointment of a successor Authenticating Agent to the County, the Operator and the Registrar 
(if the Trustee is not acting as the Registrar) and shall mail, within ten days after that 
appointment, notice thereof to all Holders as their names and addresses appear on the Register 
on the date of that appointment. 
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The Trustee shall pay to any Authenticating Agent from t h e  to time reasonable 
compensation for its services, and the Trustee shall be entitled to be reimbursed for such 
payments, subject to Section 5.03 hereof. 

SECTION 5.14. Dealing in Bonds. The Trustee, a Registrar, a Paying Agent and an 
Authenticating Agent, their affiliates, and any directors, officers, employees or agents thereof, 
in good faith, may become the owners of Bonds secured hereby with the same rights which it 
or they would have hereunder if the Trustee, the Registrar, Paying Agents or Authenticating 
Agents did not serve in those capacities. 

SECTION 5.15. ReDresentations. Agreements and Covenants of Trustee. The Trustee 
hereby represents that it is duly organized under the laws of the State of New York, in good 
standing and duly authorized to exercise corporate trust powers in the State, and that it has an 
unimpaired reported capital and surplus on a consolidated reporting basis of not less than 
$25,000,000. The Trustee covenants that it will take such action, if any, as is necessary to 
remain in good standing and duly authorized to exercise corporate trust powers in the State, and 
that it will maintain an unimpaired reported capital and surplus on a consolidated reporting basis 
of not less than $25,000,000. The Trustee accepts and agrees to observe and perform the duties 
and obligations of the Trustee to which reference is made in any instrument or document 
providing security for any of the Bonds and collateral hereto. 

SECTION 5.16. Rieht of Trustee to Pav Taxes and Other Charpes. In the event that 
the Operator fails to do so, the Trustee is authorized, but is not obligated, to advance funds (i) 
to pay taxes, assessments and other governmental charges with respect to the Facility, (ii) to the 
discharge of any liens relating to the Facility, (iii) to obtain and maintain insurance for the 
Facility and pay premiums therefor, and (iv) generally, to make payments and incur expenses; 
provided, however, that the Operator shall have the right to contest in good faith any such taxes, 
charges or assessments or the collection of any such sums and pending such contest may delay 
or defer payment thereof and the tight to contest in good faith any such lien if enforcement 
thereof is effectively stayed. The Trustee may make those advances, but if it does so, it shall 
proceed with due diligence against the Operator and/or the Operating Fund (as defined in the 
Operating Agreement) in any appropriate legal action or c l a h  for failure of the Operator to 
make the required payments. 

SECTION 5.17. S m .  Pursuant to or in addition to Section 6.06, 
provision may be made in a supplemental Indenture relating to a Series of Bonds for a Credit 
Facility Provider to be treated as the Holder of the Bonds of that Series for purposes of receiving 
notices and giving notices, consenting to amendments, directing the Trustee concerning the 
enforcement of rights and remedies granted to the Holders and other purposes to the extent set 
forth in the applicable Supplemental Indenture. 

(End of Article V) 
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ARTICLE VI 

DEFAULT PROVISIONS AND REMEDIES 
OF TRUSTEE AND HOLDERS 

SECTION 6.01. Defaults: Events of Default. The Occurrence of any of the following 
events is defined as, and declared to be and to constitute, an Event of Default hereunder: 

(a) Payment of any interest on any Bond shall not be made when and as that 
interest shall become due and payable; or 

(b) Payment of the principal of or any premium on any Bond shall not be made 
when and as that principal or premium sha l l  become due and payable, whether at stated 
maturity, by redemption, pursuant to any mandatory requirements or otherwise; or 

(c) Failure by the County to observe or perform any other covenant, agreement 
or obligation on its part to be observed or performed contained in this Master Indenture, 
in any Supplemental Indenture or in the Bonds, which failure shall have continued for 
a period of ninety (90) days after written notice, by registered or certified mail, to the 
County specifying the failure and requiring that it be remedied, which notice may be 
given by the Trustee in its discretion and shall be given by the Trustee at the written 
request of the Holders of not less than forty percent (40%) in Aggregate Principal 
Amount of Bonds then outstanding; provided, that the Trustee may agree in writing to 
a longer period prior to the expiration of the fust 90-day period; provided further, that 
if the County shall proceed to take curative action which, if begun and prosecuted with 
due diligence, can be completed, but not within the first period of 90 days, then upon 
written notice thereof to the Trustee such period shall be increased without such written 
extension until such curative action (prosecuted with due diligence) has been completed 
(as to which efforts the Trustee shall be advised from time to time); or 

(d) An event of default shall exist under any Supplemental Indenture. 

The provisions of paragraph (c) of this Section are subject to the following limitations: 
If by reason of acts of God; fires; epidemics; landslides; floods; strikes; lockouts or other 
industrial disturbances; acts of public enemies; acts or orders of any kind of any governmental 
authority; insurrections; riots; civil disturbances; explosions; breakage or accident to machinery, 
transmission pipes or canals; partial or entire failure of utilities; or any cause or event not 
reasonably within the control of the County; the County is unable in whole or in part to carry 
out its agreements on its part herein contained, the County shall not be deemed in default during 
the continuance of such inability. The County shall, however, use its best efforts to remedy with 
all reasonable dispatch the cause or causes preventing the County from carrying out its 
agreements. 

The declaration of an Event of Default and the exercise of rights, remedies and powers 
upon that declaration are subject to any applicable limitations of federal bankruptcy law affecting 
or precluding the declaration or exercise during the pendency of or immediately following a n y  
bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization proceedings. 
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SECTION 6.02. Notice of Default. If an Event of Default shall occur, the Trustee shall 
give written notice of the Event of Default, by registered or certified mail, to the County, the 
Operator, the Registrar, and any Paying Agent and Authenticating Agent at their respective 
Notice Addresses within five business days after the Trustee has knowledge of the Event of 
Default. If an Event of Default occurs and the Trustee has notice pursuant to the Indenture of 
that Event of Default, within ten business days after the Trustee's receipt of that notice, the 
Trustee shall also give written notice thereof to each Holder at the close of business at its 
address as it then appears on the Register; provided that except in the case of an Event of 
Default in the payment of the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on any Bond or in the 
payment of any amount due in connection with any mandatory sinking fund requirement, the 
Trustee shall be protected in withholding that notice, if and so long as the board of directors, 
the executive committee, or a trust committee of directors or responsible officers of the Trustee 
determines in good faith (in its sole, reasonable discdon) that the withholding of the notice is 
in the interests of the Holders. As used in this Section, "business day" means a day on which 
the Trustee is open for business. 

SECTION 6.03. No Acceleration. Payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds 
- is not subject to acceleration as a result of the Occurrence of an Event of Default. 

SECTION 6.04. Remedies: Riehts of Holders. Upon the occurrence and continuance 
of an Event of Default, the Trustee may pursue any available right, remedy or power to enforce 
the payment of Debt Service Charges and the observance and performance of any other 
covenant, agreement or obligation under this Master Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or 
any instrument providing security, directly or indirectly, for the Bonds and may exercise any 
remedy provided to it herein or in any such instrument. 

Upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, if the Trustee is requested 
so to do by the Holders of at least forty percent (40%) in Aggregate Principal Amount of Bonds 
outstanding, the Trustee (subject to the provisions of Sections 5.01 and 5.02 and particularly 
subparagraph 5.0l(c)(iv) and Subsection 5.020) of those Sections), shall exercise any rights and 
powers conferred by this Section. 

No right, remedy or power conferred upon or reserved to the Tmstee (or to the Holders) 
by the Indenture is intended to be exclusive of any other right, remedy or power. Each right, 
remedy or power shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other right, remedy or 
power given hereunder, under any Supplemental Indenture to the Tmstee or to the Holders or 
existing at law, in equity, or by statute or otherwise now or hereafter. 

No exercise, beginning of the exercise, or partial exercise by the Trustee or the Holders 
of any  one or more rights, remedies or powers shall preclude the simultaneous or later exercise 
by the Trustee or the Holders of any other right, remedy or power. No delay in exercising or 
omission to exercise any remedy, right or power accruing upon any default or Event of Default 
shall impair that remedy, right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any default or 
Event of Default or acquiescence therein. Every remedy, right and power may be exercised 
from time to time and as often as may be deemed to be expedient. 
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No waiver of any default or Event of Default hereunder, whether by the Trustee or by 
the Holders, shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default or Event of Default or shall 
impair any remedy, right or power consequent thereon. 

To entitle the Trustee or the Holders to exercise any right, remedy or power hereunder, 
it shall not be necessary to give any notice, other than as may be required expressly herein. In 
exercising any available right, remedy or power, the Trustee shall take all actions which would 
best serve the interests of the Holders, in the judgment of the Trustee, applying the standards 
described in Sections 5.01 and 5.02 hereof. 

SECTION 6.05. Right of Holders to Direct Proceed i na .  The Holders of a majority in 
Aggregate Principal Amount of Bonds then outstanding shall have the right at any time to direct, 
by an instrument or document or instruments or documents in writing executed and delivered 
to the Trustee, the method and place of conducting all pn>ceedings to be taken in connection 
with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of the Indenture or any other proceedings 
hereunder; provided, that (i) no direction shall be other than in accordance with the provisions 
of law and of the Indenture, (ii) the Trustee shall be indemnified as provided in Sections 5.01 
and 5.02, and (iii) the Trustee may take any other action which it deems to be proper and which 
is not inconsistent with the direction. 

SECTION 6.06. Rights of Credit Facility Provider. Notwithstanding anything in the 
Indenture to the contrary, in the event that a Credit Facility is in full force and effect as to any 
Series of Bonds, the Credit Facility Provider is not insolvent and no default of the Credit Facility 
exists on the part of the Credit Facility Provider, then the said Credit Facility Provider, in place 
of the Holders of that Series of Bonds, shall have the power and authority to give any written 
consents and exercise any and all other rights which the Holders of that Series would otherwise 
have the power and authority to make, give or exercise, including, but not limited to, the 
exercise of remedies provided in Article VI, and the giving of written consents to Supplemental 
Indentures when required by Section 7.03, and such consent shall be deemed to constitute the 
consent of the Holders of all of those Bonds which are secured by such Credit Facility. 

SECTION 6.07. Amlication of Monevs. After payment of any costs, expenses, 
liabilities and advances paid, incurred or made by the Trustee in the collection of moneys 
pursuant to the exercise of any right, remedy or power or any action taken under the Indenture 
(including without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, except as limited by law 
or judicial order or decision entered in any action taken under this Article VI) and payment of 
any rebate amounts then due under the Code, all moneys received by the Trustee, shall be 
applied as follows: 

First -- To the payment to the Holders entitled thereto of all installments of 
interest then due in the order of the dates of maturity of the installments of that interest, 
beginning with the earliest date of maturity and, if the amount available is not sufficient 
to pay in full any particular installment, then to the payment thereof ratably, according 
to the amounts due on that installment, to the Holders 
discrimination or privilege, except as to any difference in 
specified in the Bonds; and 

entitled thereto, -without any 
the respective rates of interest 
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Second -- To the payment to the Holders entitled thereto of the unpaid principal 
of any of the Bonds (other than Bonds of that Series previously called for redemption for 
the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture), 
whether at stated maturity, by redemption or pursuant to any mandatory sinking fund 
requirements, in the order of their due dates, beginning with the earliest due date, with 
interest on those Bonds from the respective dates upon which they became due at the 
rates specified in those Bonds, and if the amount available is not sufficient to pay in full 
all Bonds due on any particular date, together with that interest, then to the payment 
thereof ratably, according to the amounts of principal due on that date, to the Holders 
entitled thereto, without any discrimination or privilege, except as to any difference in 
the respective rates of interest specified in the Bonds. 

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section, those 
moneys shall be applied at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee shall determine, 
having due regard to the amount of moneys available for application and the likelihood of 
additional moneys becoming available for application in the future. Whenever the Trustee shall 
direct the application of those moneys, it shall fm the date upon which the application is to be 
made, and upon that date, interest shall cease to accrue on the amounts of principal, if any, to 
be paid on that date, provided the moneys are available therefor. The Trustee shall give notice 
of the deposit with it of any moneys and of the fixing of that date, all consistent with the 
requirements of Section 2.06 hereof for the establishment of, and for giving notice with respect 
to, a Special Record Date for the payment of overdue interest. The Trustee shal l  not be required 
to make payment of principal of and any premium on a Bond to the Holder thereof, until the 
Bond shal l  be presented to the Trustee for appropriate endorsement or for cancellation if it is 
paid fully. 

SECTION 6.08. Remedies Vested in Trustee. AU rights of action (including without 
limitation, the right to file proofs of claim), remedies and powers under the Indenture or any 
other instrument providing security for the Bonds or under any of the Bonds may be enforced 
by the Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any trial 
or other proceeding relating thereto. Any suit or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be 
brought in its name as Trustee without the necessity of joining any Holders as plaintiffs or 
defendants. Any recovery of judgment shall be for the benefit of the Holders of the outstanding 
Bonds, subject to the provisions of the Indenture. 

SECTION 6.09. Rinhts and Remedies of Holders. A Holder shal l  not have a n y  right 
to institute any suit, action or proceeding for the enforcement of the Indenture, for the execution 
of any trust hereof, or for-the exercis of any other right, remedy or power hereunder, unless: 

(a) there has occurred and is continuing an Event of Default of which the Trustee 
has been notified, as provided in paragraph (9 of Section 5.02 hereof, or of which it is 
deemed to have notice under that paragraph, 

(b) the Holders of at least forty percent (40%) in Aggregate Principal Amount 
of Bonds then outstanding shall have made written request to the Trustee and shall have 
afforded the Trustee reasonable opportunity to proceed to exercise the remedies, rights 
and powers granted herein or to institute the suit, action or proceding in its own name, 
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and shall have offered indemnity to the Trustee as provided in Sections 5.01 and 5.02 
hereof, and 

(c) the Trustee thereafter shall have failed or refused to exercise the remedies, 
rights and powers granted herein or to institute the suit, action or proceeding in its own 
name. 

At the option of the Trustee, that notification (or notice), request, opportunity and offer of 
indemnity are conditions precedent in every case, to the institution of any suit, action or 
proceeding described above. 

No one or more Holders of the Bonds shall have any right to affect, disturb or prejudice 
in any manner whatsoever the security or benefit of the Indenture by its or their action, or to 
enforce, except in the manner provided herein, any remedy, right or power hereunder. Any 
suit, action or proceedings shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner provided herein 
for the benefit of the Holders of all Bonds then outstanding. Nothing in the Indenture shall 
affect or impair, however, the right of any Holder to enforce the payment of the Debt Service 
Charges on any Bond owned by that Holder at and after the maturity thereof, at the place, from 
the sources and in the manner expressed in that Bond. 

SECTION 6.10. Termination of Proceed ineg. If the Trustee shall have proceeded to 
enforce any remedy, right or power under the Indenture in any suit, action or proceedings, and 
the suit, action or proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or 
shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee, then the County, the Trustee and the 
Holders shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, and all 
rights, remedies and powers of the Trustee and the Holders shall continue as if no suit, action 
or proceedings had been taken. 

SECTION 6.11. Waivers of Events of Default. Except as hereinafter provided, at any 
time, in its discretion, the Trustee may waive any Event of Default hereunder and its 
consequences and may rescind and annul any declaration of maturity of principal of the Bonds. 
The Trustee shall do so upon the written request of the Holders of 

(a) at least a majority in Aggregate Principal Amount of all Bonds of a Series 
then outstanding in respect of which an Event of Default under Section 6.01 (a) or (b) 
shall have occurred, or 

(b) at least forty percent (40%) in Aggregate Principal Amount of all Bonds then 
outstanding, in the case of any other Event of Default. 

There shall not be so waived, however, any Event of Default described in Section 6.01 
hereof unless at the time of that waiver payments of the amounts required under the Indenture 
have been made or provision has been made therefor. In the case of the waiver or rescission 
and annulment, or in case any suit, action or proceedings taken by the Trustee on account of any 
Event of Default shall have been discontinued, abandoned or determined adversely to it, the 
County, the Trustee and the Holders shall be restored to their former positions and rights 
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hereunder, respectively. No waiver or rescission shall extend to any subsequent or other Event 
of Default or impair any right consequent thereon. 

In the event that any covenant, agreement or obligation hereunder or under any 
Supplemental Indenture or the Bonds shall be breached by the County, and the breach shall have 
been waived thereafter, the waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall 
not be deemed to waive any other or any subsequent breach thereunder. No waiver shall be 
deemed to apply to any existing or subsequent right, remedy or power with respect to the 
breach, except to the extent provided expressly in the waiver. 

No failure by the Trustee or the Holders to insist upon the strict observance or 
performance of any covenant, agreement or obligation hereunder or under any Supplemental 
Indenture or the Bonds, and no failure to exercise any right, remedy or power consequent upon 
a breach thereof, shall constitute a waiver of any right, remedy or power to enforce strict 
observance or performance or a waiver of such breach. 

SECTION 6.12. Amintment of Receiver. Upon the Occurrence of an Event of Default 
and upon the filing of a suit or other commencement of judicial proceedings to enforce the rights 
of the Trustee and the Holders, the Trustee shall be entitled as a matter of right and to the extent 
permitted by law, to the appointment of a receiver or receivers of all or any part of the Facility 
pending those pmcedngs, with all powers which the court making the appointment shall confer. 

SECTION 6.13. Ameement to Pav Attornevs’ Fees an d ExmnseS. In the event the 
County should default under any of the provisions of the Indenture and it shall become necessary 
for the Trustee to employ attorneys or incur other expenses for the collection of Pledged 
Revenues or the enforcement of performance or observance of any obfigation or agreement on 
the part of the County in the Indenture, the County shall on demand therefor reimburse the 
reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred to the extent 
permitted by law. 

(End of Article VI) 
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ARTICLE VII 

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES 

SECTION 7.01. Sty. The County and the Trustee may 
enter into Supplemental Indentures supplementing the Indenture, as provided in this Article and 
Article 11 of this Master Indenture. 

SECTION 7.02. 5. Without 
the consent of, or notice to, any of the Holders, the County and the Trustee may enter into 
Supplemental Indentures, which shall not be inconsistent, in the opinion of the County and the 
Trustee, with the terms and provisions hereof, for any one or more of the following purposes: 

To cure any ambiguity, inconsistency or formal defect or omission in the 
Indenture; 

To grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the Holders any 
additional rights, remedies, powers or authority that lawfully may be granted to - 
or conferred upon the Holders or the Trustee; 

To pledge or assign additional revenues and/or property under the Indenture; 

To accept additional security and instruments and documents of further assurance 
with respect to the property financed with the Bonds; 

To add to the covenants, agreements and obligations under the Indenture, other 
covenants, agreements and obligations to be observed for the protection of the 
Holders, or to surrender or limit any right, power or authority reserved to or 
conferred upon the County in the Indenture, including without limitation, the 
limitation of rights of redemption so that in c e M  instances Bonds of different 
Series will be redeemed in some prescribed relationship to one another for the 
protection of the Holders of a particular Series of Bonds; 

To evidence any succession to the County and the assumption by its successor of 
the covenants, agreements and obligations of the County under this Master 
Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture and the Bonds; 

To provide for the issuance of Series of Bonds, and make necessary or advisable 
amendments or additions in connection with such issuance of Bonds, all pursuant 
to and upon the conditions provided for in Article XI hereof; 

To permit the exchange of Bonds, at the option of the Holder or Holders thereof, 
for coupon Bonds of the same Series payable to bearer, in an Aggregate Principal 
Amount not exceeding the unmatured and unredeemed principal amount of the 
Predecessor Bonds, bearing interest at the same rate or rates and maturing on the 
same date or dates, with coupons attached representing all unpaid interest due or 
to become due thereon; 
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To permit the use of a book entry system to identify the owner of an interest in 
a Bond issued by the County under the Indenture, whether that Bond was 
formerly, or could be, evidenced by a tangible security, and to facilitate (i) the 
transfer of Bonds from one securities depository/book entry system to another, 
or (ii) the withdrawal of Bonds issued to a securities depository and the issuance 
of replacement Bonds in fully registered form to others than a securities 
depository/book entry system; 

To permit the Trustee to comply with any obligations imposed upon it by law; 

To specify further the duties and responsibilities of, and to define further the 
relationship among, the Trustee, the Registrar and any Authenticating Agents or 
Paying Agents; 

To achieve compliance of the Indenture or Bonds with any applicable federal 
securities or tax law; 

To obtain or maintain a rating from a Rating Service; and - 

To pexmit any other amendment which, in the judgment of the Tmstee, is not to 
the prejudice of the Trustee or the Holders. 

The provisions of Subsections 7.02(j) and (1) shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver 
by the Trustee, the Registrar, the County or any Holder of any right which it may have in the 
absence of those provisions to contest the application of any change in law to the Indenture or 
the Bonds. 

SECTION 7.03. &plemental Indentures Requirinp Consent of Holden. Exclusive of 
Supplemental Indentures to which reference is made in Section 7.02 hereof and subject to the 
terms, provisions and Limitations contained in this Section, and not otherwise, with the written 
consent of the Holders of not less than a majority in Aggregate Principal Amount of either the 
Bonds at the time outstanding, or, if affecting less than all of the outstanding Bonds, of the 
Series affected, evidenced as provided in this Master Indenture, the County and the Trustee may 
execute and deliver Supplemental Indentures adding any provisions to, changing in any manner 
or eliminating any of the provisions of this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture or 
restricting in any manner the rights of the Holders. Nothing in this Section or Section 7.02 
hereof shall permit, however, or be construed as permitting: 

(a) without the written consent of the Holder of each Bond so affected, (i) an 
extension of the maturity of the principal of or the interest on any Bond, (ii) a reduction 
in the principal amount of any Bond or the nte  of interest or premium thereon, or (iii) 
a reduction in the amount or extension of the time of payment of any mandatory sinking 
fund requirements, or 

(b) without the written consent of the Holders of all Bonds then outstanding, (i) 
the creation of a privilege or priority of any Bond or Bonds over any other Bond or 
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Bonds, or (ii) a reduction in the Aggregate Principal Amount of the Bonds required for 
consent to a Supplemental Indenture. 

If the County shall request that the Trustee execute and deliver any Supplemental 
Indenture for any of the purposes of this Section, then the Trustee shall, upon being satisfactorily 
indemnified with respect to its expenses in connection therewith, cause notice of the proposed 
execution and delivery of the Supplemental Indenture to be mailed by first class mail, postage 
prepaid, to all Holders of Bonds then outstanding or, if affecting less than all outstanding Bonds, 
of the Series affected, at their addresses as they appear on the Register at the close of business 
on the fifteenth day  preceding that mailing. 

The notice shall set forth briefly the nature of the proposed Supplemental Indenture and 
shall state that copies thereof are on file at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee for 
inspection by all Holders. 

The Trustee shall not be subject to any liability to any Holder by reason of the Trustee’s 
failure to mail, or the failure of any Holder to receive, the notice required by this Section. Any 
failure of that nature shall not affect the validity of the Supplemental Indenture when there has - 
been consent thereto as provided in this Section. 

If the Trustee shall receive, within a period prescribed by the County following the 
mailing of the notice, an instrument or document or instruments or documents, in form to which 
the Trustee does not reasonably object, purporting to be executed by the Holders of not less than 
a majority in Aggregate principal Amount of the Bonds then outstanding or, if affecting less than 
all outstanding Bonds, of the Series affected (which instrument or document or instruments or 
documents shall refer to the proposed Supplemental Indenture in the form described in the notice 
and specifically shall consent to the Supplemental Indenture in substantially that form), the 
Trustee shall, but shall not otherwise, execute and deliver the Supplemental Indenture in 
substantially the form to which reference is made in the notice as being on file with the Trustee, 
without liability or responsibility to any Holder, regardless of whether that Holder shall have 
consented thereto. 

Any consent shall be binding upon the Holder of the Bond giving the consent and, 
anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, upon any subsequent Holder of that Bond and 
of any Bond issued in exchange therefor (regardless of whether the subsequent Holder has notice 
of the consent to the Supplemental Indenture). At any time after the Holders of the required 
percentage of Bonds shall have filed their consents to the Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee 
shall make and file with the County a written statement that the Holders of the required 
percentage of Bonds have filed those consents. That written statement shall be conclusive 
evidence that the consents have been so filed. 

If the Holders of the required percentage in Aggregate Principal Amount of Bonds 
outstanding, or of the affected Series, shall have consented to the Supplemental Indenture, as 
provided in this Section, no Holder shall have any right 

(a) to object to (i) the execution or delivery of the Supplemental Indenture, (ii) 
any of the terms and provisions contained therein, or (iii) the operation thereof, 
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(b) to question the propriety of the execution and delivery thereof, or 

(c) to enjoin or restrain the Trustee or the County from that execution or delivery 
or from taking any action pursuant to the provisions thereof. 

SECTION 7.04. Reserved. 

SECTION 7.05. Authorization to Trustee: Effect of Supplement. The Trustee is 
authorized to join with the County in the execution and delivery of any Supplemental Indenture 
in accordance with this Article and to make the further agreements and stipulations which may 
be contained therein. Thereafter, 

(a) That Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of this Master Indenture; 

(b) All terms and conditions contained in that supplemental Indenture as to any  
provision authorized to be contained therein shall be deemed to be a part of the terms and 
conditions of this Master Indenture for any and all purposes; 

(c) This Master Indenture shall be deemed to be modified and amended-in 
accordance with the Supplemental Indenture; and 

(d) The respective rights, duties and obligations under the Indenture of the 
County, the Trustee, the Registrar, the Paying Agents, the Authenticating Agents and all 
Holders of Bonds then outstanding shall be determined, exercised and enforced hereunder 
in a manner which is subject in all respects to those modifications and amendments made 
by the Supplemental Indenture. If the Supplemental Indenture is issued to secure a 
particular Series of Bonds, this Master Indenture shall apply as applicable to that Series. 

Express reference to any executed and delivered Supplemental Indenture may be made 
in the text of any Bonds issued thereafter, if that reference is deemed necessary or desirable by 
the Trustee or the County. A copy of any Supplemental Indenture for which provision is made 
in this Article, except a Supplemental Indenture described in Section 7.02(g) hereof, shall be 
mailed by the Trustee to the Registrar, and each Authenticating Agent and Paying Agent. 

SECTION 7.06. W i o n  of Bond Counsel. The Trustee shall be entitled to receive, and 
shall be fully protected in relying upon, the Opinion of Bond Counsel as conclusive evidence 
that (i) any proposed Supplemental Indenture complies with the provisions of this Master 
Indenture, and (5) it is proper for the Trustee to join in the execution of that Supplemental 
Indenture under the provisions of this Article. 

SECTION 7.07. Modification bv Unanimous C onsent. Notwithstanding anything 
contained elsewhere in the Indenture, the rights and obligations of the County and of the 
Holders, and the terms and provisions of the Bonds and this Master Indenture or a n y  
Supplemental Indenture, may be modified or altered in any respect with the written consent of 
(i) the County, (5) the Trustee, and (iii) the Holders of all of the Bonds then outstanding, or if 
the modification affects only a Series of Bonds, the Holders of all the Bonds then outstanding 
for that Series. 

(End of Article w) 
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ARTICLE WI 

DEFEASANCE 

SECTION 8.01. Release of Indenture. If (i) the County shall pay all of the Outstanding 
Bonds, or shall cause them to be paid and discharged, or if there otherwise shall be paid to the 
Holders of the Outstanding Bonds, all Debt Service Charges due or to become due thereon, and 
(ii) provision shall also be made for the payment of all other sums payable under the Indenture, 
then the Indenture shall cease, determine and become null and void (except for those provisions 
surviving by reason of Section 8.03 hereof in the event the Bonds are deemed paid and 
discharged pursuant to Section 8.02 hereof), and the covenants, agreements and obligations of 
the County and the Operator hereunder shall be released, discharged and satisfied. 

Thereupon, and subject to the provisions of Section 8.03 hereof if applicable, 

(i) the Trustee shall release the Indenture (except for those provisions surviving 
by reason of Section 8.03 hereof in the event the Bonds are deemed paid and discharged 
pursuant to Section 8.02 hereof), and shall execute and deliver to the County any 
instruments or documents in writing as shall be requisite to evidence that release and 
discharge or as reasonably may be requested by the County, and 

(ii) the Trustee and any other Paying Agents shall assign and deliver to the 
County any property subject at the time to the lien of the Indenture which then may be 
in their possession, except for money, including without limitation investments in the 
Pledged Funds required to be held by the Trustee and the Paying Agents under Section 
4.08 hereof or otherwise for the payment of Debt Service Charges. 

SECTION 8.02. Pavment and Discharge of Bonds. AU or any part of the Bonds shall 
be deemed to have been paid and discharged within the meaning of the Indenture, including 
without limitation, Section 8.01 hereof, if: 

(a) the Trustee as paying agent and any Paying Agents shall have received, in 
trust for and irrevocably committed thereto, sufficient moneys, or 

(b) the Trustee shall have received, in trust for and irrevocably committed 
thereto, noncallable Defeasance Obligations which are certified by an independent 
certified public accounting f m  of national reputation to be of such maturities or 
redemption dates and interest payment dates, and to bear such interest, as will be 
sufficient together with any moneys to which reference is made in subparagraph (a) 
above, without further investment or reinvestment of either the principal amount thereof 
or the interest earnings therefrom (which earnings are to be held likewise in trust and 
so committed, except as provided herein), 

for the payment of all Debt Service Charges on those Bonds, at their maturity or redemption 
dates, as the case may be, or if a default in payment shall have occurred on any maturity or 
redemption date, then for the payment of all Debt Service Charges thereon to the date of the 
tender of payment. If the County has reserved the right to designate one or more redemption 
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dates with respect to those Bonds, notice thereof shall have been duly given as provided in 
Section 8.05 hereof. If any of those Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, 
either (i) notice of that redemption shall have been duly given or hevocable provision 
satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been duly made for the giving of that notice or (ii) notice 
shall have been duly given that the County has reserved the right to replace the designated 
redemption dates with earlier redemption dates as provided in Section 8.05 hereof. 

Any moneys held by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of this Section may 
be invested by the Trustee only in noncallable Defeasance Obligations having maturity dates, or 
having redemption dates which, at the option of the Holder of those obligations, shall be not 
later than the date or dates at which moneys will be required for the purposes described above. 
To the extent that any income or interest earned by, or increment to, the investments held under 
this Section is determined from time to time by the Trustee to be in excess of the amount 
required to be held by the Trustee for the purposes of this Section, that income, interest or 
increment shall be transferred at the time of that determination in the manner provided in Section 
4.03 hereof for transfers of amounts remaining in the Bond Fund. 

SECTION 8.03. Survival of Certain Provisions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any 
provisions of the Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture which relate to the maturity of 
Bonds, interest payments and dates thereof, optional and mandatory redemption provisions, 
credit against mandatory sinking fund requirements, exchange, transfer and registration of 
Bonds, replacement of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bonds, the safekeeping and 
cancellation of Bonds, nonpresentment of Bonds, the holding of moneys in trust, notice of 
payment and discharge of Bonds, reservation of right to designate or replace redemption dates 
upon defeasance of Bonds, indemnification of the Trustee, and the duties of the Trustee and the 
Registrar in connection with all of the foregoing, shall remain in effect and be binding upon the 
County, the Trustee, the Registrar, the Authenticating Agents, Paying Agents and the HoIders 
notwithstanding the release and discharge of the Indenture. The provisions of this Article shall 
survive the release, discharge and satisfaction of the Indenture. 

SECTION 8.04. Notice of Pavment and Discharee. If any Bonds are deemed to be paid 
and discharged pursuant to this Article, within thury days after those Bonds are so deemed to 
be paid and discharged, the Trustee shall cause a written notice to be given to each Holder at 
the close of business on the date on which the Bonds are deemed to be paid and discharged at 
its address as it appears on the Register on that date on which the Bonds are deemed to be paid 
and discharged. The notice shall 

(a) state the number of the Bonds deemed to be paid and discharged, or shall 
state that all Bonds of a particular Series are deemed to be paid and discharged; 

(b) set forth a description of the Defeasance Obligations held as described above; 

(c) state whether any Bonds will be called for redemption prior to their scheduled 
maturity or their redemption pursuant to mandatory redemption, including without 
limitation, the mandatory sinking fund requirements; 
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(d) if any Bonds will be so called for redemption, specify the date or dates on 
which those Bonds are to be called for redemption pursuant to a notice of redemption 
given or irrevocable provision made for that notice pursuant to Section 8.02 hereof, and 

(e) if the County has reserved the right to designate one or more redemption 
dates or to replace any designated redemption date with an earlier redemption date 
pursuant to Section 8.05 hereof, state that the County expressly reserves the right to 
direct the Trustee to call the Outstanding Bonds, or any of them, for redemption on a 
date or dates earlier than those specified at the time of release of the Indenture or to 
direct that the Outstanding Bonds, or any of them, be redeemed prior to their stated 
maturity, on a date or dates to be designated by the County subsequent to the release of 
the Indenture. 

SECTION 8.05. Reservation of Right to Designate or Re~lace Redemption Dates. The 
County may reserve the right to designate one or more redemption dates or to replace any 
designated redemption date with an earlier redemption date by delivering written notice to the 
Trustee that they expressly reserve such rights at or prior to the release of the Indenture. 

In the event that the County has reserved such rights at the time of release of tfie 
Indenture, any such direction to designate one or more redemption dates or to replace any 
designated redemption date with an earlier redemption date shall be (i) delivered to the Trustee 
in writing by the Authorized County Representative not fewer than 60 days prior to the newly 
designated redemption date of the Outstanding Bonds, (ii) accompanied by a written report of 
an independent certifed public accountant or f m  of accountants acceptable to the Trustee that 
the noncallable Defeasance Obligations held by or delivered to the Trustee are of those 
maturities or redemption dates, have the payment dates and bear interest at those rates, in each 
case which wiU be sufficient, together with any moneys held by or delivered to the Trustee, 
without further investment or reinvestment of either the principal amount thereof or the interest 
earnings therefrom (which earnings are to be held likewise in trust and so committed, except as 
provided herein) for the payment of all Debt Service Charges on the Outstanding Bonds at their 
maturity or redemption dates as may then be designated by the County, and (iii) accompanied 
by an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such direction is authorized or permitted under 
the terms of the Indenture. Within 30 days of the last to be received of such direction, report 
and opinion, the Trustee shall give notice of such direction to each Holder of a Bond on which 
payment of Debt Service Charges is affected thereby, at the Holder’s address then shown on the 
Register, stating 

(a) a description of the Defeasance Obligations held as describd above; 

(b) whether any Bonds will be called for redemption prior to their scheduled 
maturity or their redemption pursuant to mandatory redemption, including without 
limitation, the mandatory sinking fund requirements and, if applicable, whether the 
County (i) has exercised the right to replace any previously designated redemption date 
with an earlier redemption date and (ii) has continued to reserve the right to designate 
one or more redemption dates or to replace any designated redemption date with an 
earlier redemption date, and 
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(c) if any Bonds will be so called for redemption, specify (i) the date or dates on 
which those Bonds are to be called for redemption pursuant to a notice of redemption 
given or irrevocable provision made for that notice pursuant to this Article and (ii) 
which, if any, of those dates may be replaced with an earlier redemption date in 
accordance with this Section. 

(End of Article vID[) 
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ARTICLE Ix 
COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

OF THE COUNTY 

SECTION 9.01. TQ. In addition to any other 
covenants and agreements of the County contained in this Master Indenture or the legislation of 
the County authorizing the issuance of each Series of Bonds, the County further covenants and 
agrees with the Holders and the Trustee as follows: 

(a) Pavment of Debt Service Charges. The County will pay all Debt Service Charges, 
or cause them to be paid, from the sources provided herein, on the dates, at the places and in 
the manner provided in the Indenture. 

@) Pledged Revenues. The County will levy the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities 
Tax in accordance with the provisions of the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax 
Ordinances and take all actions to collect such Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax, the 
Sales Tax Rebate and the County Preferred Revenue Allocation. The County will not assign or 
grant a security interest in the Pledged Revenues or any Pledged Fund or create or authorize io 
be created any debt, lien or charge thereon, other than the pledge and assignment thereof under 
the Indenture; provided, however, that the County may grant security interests in and create 
debts, liens or charges upon the Pledged Revenues which are subordinate in all respects to the 
pledge and assignment created hereunder. To the extent permitted by law, the County will 
defend, preserve and protect the assignment of the Pledged Revenues and all of the rights, 
remedies, powers and privileges of the Trustee and the Holders hereunder against aLl claims and 
demands of all Persons whomsoever. 

(c) Inspection of Books. All books, instruments and documents in the County’s 
possession relating to the facilities financed with the Bonds and the Pledged Revenues shall be 
open to inspection at all times during the County’s regular business hours by any accountants 
or other agents of the Trustee which the Trustee may designate from time to time. 

(d) Register. At reasonable times and under reasonable regulations established by the 
Registrar, the Register may be inspected and copied by the County, the Trustee, by Holders of 
forty percent (40%) or more in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, or a designated 
representative thereof. 

(e) Rights and Enforce ment of Remedies. If an Event of Default occurs and is 
subsisting, subject to the rights of any Credit Facility Provider, the Trustee may enforce, in its 
name or in the name of the County, all rights of the County for and on behalf of the Holders, 
regardless of whether the County is in default in the pursuit or enforcement of those rights, 
covenants, agreements or obligations. The County, however, will do all things and take all 
actions on its part necessary to comply with covenants, agreements, obligations, duties and 
responsibilities on its part to be observed or performed under this Master Indenture, any  
Supplemental Indenture and any documents collateral hereto to which it is party, and will take 
all actions within its authority to keep those documents in effect in accordance with the terms 
thereof. 
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(0 v. The County will cooperate in all appropriate respects with 
the Project Developer, the Operator and the Team with respect to any authorizations, approvals, 
licenses, permits, franchises, privileges, consents, reviews, legal clearances and orders under 
federal, State or local laws and from federal, State or local entities or officers which are 
necessary or advisable to permit construction and operation of the Facility and full compliance 
with al l  covenants, agreements and obligations of the County under this Master Indenture and 
the Supplemental Indentures. 

SECTION 9.02. Countv Deficiencv Covenant: Covenant to Budnet and ADproDriate. 
In addition to any other covenants and agreements of the County contained in this Master 
Indenture or the Bonds, the County covenants and agrees further with the Holders and the 
Trustee to budget and appropriate in its annual budget, by amendment, if necessary, from Non- 
Ad Valorem Revenues lawfully available in each Fiscal Year, amounts sufficient to satisfy the 
deposit requirements for deficiency amounts as set forth in Section 4.04(a) hereof. Such 
covenant and agreement on the part of the County to budget and appropriate such amounts of 
Non-Ad Valorem Revenues shall be cumulative to the extent not paid, and shall continue until 
such Non-Ad Valorem Revenues or other legally available funds in amounts sufficient to make 
all such required payments shall have been budgeted, appropriated and actually paid. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing covenant of the County, the County does not covenant to main& 
any services or programs, now provided or maintained by the County, which generate Non-Ad 
Valorem Revenues. 

Such covenant to budget and appropriate does not create any lien upon or pledge of such 
Non-Ad Valorem Revenues, nor does it preclude the County from pledging in the future its Non- 
Ad Valorem Revenues, nor does it require the County to levy and collect any particular Non-Ad 
Valorem Revenues, nor does it give the Holders a prior claim on the Non-Ad Valorem Revenues 
as opposed to claims of general creditors of the County. Such covenant to appropriate Non-Ad 
Valorem Revenues is subject in all respects to the payment of obligations secured by a pledge 
of such Non-Ad Valorem Revenues heretofore or hereinafter entered into (including the payment 
of debt service on bonds and other debt instruments). However, the covenant to budget and 
appropriate in its general annual budget for the purposes and in the manner stated herein shall 
have the effect of making available in the manner described herein Non-Ad Valorem Revenues 
and placing on the County a positive duty to budget and appropriate, by amendment, if 
necessary, amounts sufficient to meet its obligations hereunder; subject, however, in all respects 
to the restrictions of State law which provides that the governing body of each county make 
appropriations for each fiscal year which, in any one year, shall not exceed the amount to be 
received from taxation or other revenue sources; and subject further, to the payment of services 
and programs which are for essential public purposes affecting the health, welfare and safety of 
the inhabitants of the County or which are legally mandated by applicable law. 

SECTION 9.03. Obse rvance and Performance of Covenants. Agreements. Authontv and 
Actions. The County will observe and perform faithfully at all times all covenants, agreements, 
authority, actions, undertakings, stipulations and provisions to be observed or performed on its 
part under this Master Indenture, the Supplemental Indentures, resolutions of the County 
authorizing the issuance of each Series of Bonds and the Bonds which are executed. 
authenticated and delivered under the Indenture. 

(End of Article IX) 
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ARTICLE X 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 10.01. Limitation of Rights. With the exception of rights conferred expressly 
in the Indenture, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied fmm the Indenture or the 
Bonds is intended or shall be construed to give to any Person other than the County, the 
Trustee, the Registrar, the Paying Agents, the Authenticating Agents, the Holders of the Bonds 
and any Credit Facility Providers any legal or equitable right, remedy, power or claim under 
or with respect to the Indenture or any covenants, agreements, conditions and provisions 
contained herein. The Indenture and all of those covenants, agreements, conditions and 
provisions are intended to be, and are, for the sole and exclusive benefit of the County, the 
Trustee, the Registrar, the Paying Agents, the Authenticating Agents, the Holders of the Bonds 
and any Credit Facility Providers, as provided herein. 

SECTION 10.02. Severability. In case any section or provision of the Indenture, or any 
covenant, agreement, stipulation, obligation, condition, provision, act or action, or part thereof, 
made, assumed, entered into or taken under the Indenture, or any application thereof, is held 
to be illegal or invalid for any reason, or is inoperable at any time, that illegality, invalidity or 
inoperability shall not affect the remainder thereof or any other section, provision, covenant, 
agreement, stipulation, obligation, condition, provision, act or action, or part thereof, made, 
assumed, entered into or taken under the Indenture, all of which shall be construed and enforced 
at the time as if the illegal, invalid or inoperable portion were not contained therein. 

h y  illegality, invalidity or inoperability shall not affect any legal, valid and operable 
section, provision, covenant, agreement, stipulation, obligation, condition, provision, act, action, 
part or application, all of which shall be deemed to be effective, operative, made, assumed, 
entered into or taken in the manner and to the full extent permitted by law from time to time. 

SECTION 10.03. Notices. Except as provided in Section 6.02 hereof, it shall be 
sufficient service or giving of any notice, request, complaint, demand or other instrument or 
document, if it is duly mailed by fmt class mail. Notices to the County, the Project Developer, 
the Team, the Operator and the Trustee shall be addressed to them at their respective Notice 
Address. Duplicate copies of each notice, request, complaint, demand or other instrument or 
document given hereunder or under any Supplemental Indenture by the County, the Operator, 
the Project Developer and the Team or the Trustee to a third party also shall be given to the 
others. The foregoing parties may designate, by notice given hereunder, any further or different 
addresses to which any subsequent notice, request, complaint, demand or other instrument or 
document shall be sent. The Trustee shall designate, by notice to the County, the Operator, 
the Project Developer and the Team the addresses to which notices or copies thereof shall be 
sent to the Registrar, the Authenticating Agents and the Paying Agents. 

’ 

In connection with any notice mailed pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture, a 
certificate of the Trustee, the County, the Operator, the Team, the Project Developer, the 
Registrar, the Authenticating Agents or the Holders of the Bonds, whichever or whoever mailed 
that notice, that the notice was so mailed shall be conclusive evidence of the proper mailing of 
the notice. 
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SECTION 10.04. SusDension of Mail. If because of the suspension of delivery of first 
class mail or, for any other reason, the Trustee shall be unable to mail by the required class of 
mail any notice required to be mailed by the provisions of this Master Indenture or any 
Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall give such notice in such other manner as in the 
judgment of the Trustee shall most effectively approximate mailing thereof, and the giving of 
that notice in that manner for all purposes of the Indenture shall be deemed to be in compliance 
with the requirement for the mailing thereof. Except as otherwise provided herein or in any 
Supplemental Indenture, the mailing of any notice shall be deemed complete upon deposit of that 
notice in the mail and the giving of any notice by any other means of delivery shall be deemed 
complete upon receipt of the notice by the delivery service. 

SECTION 10.05. Pavments Due on Saturdays. Sundavs and Holidavs. If any Interest 
Payment Date, Principal Payment Date or other date upon which Debt Service Charges are 
payable is a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which (i) the Trustee is required, or authorized or 
not prohibited, by law (including without limitation, executive orders) to close and is closed, 
then payment of interest, principal and any redemption premium need not be made by the 
Trustee or any Paying Agent on that date, but that payment may be made on the next succeeding 
business day on which the Trustee and the Paying Agent are open for business with the same 
force and effect as if that payment were made on the Interest Payment Date, Principal Payment 
Date or other date upon which Debt Service Charges are payable, and no interest shall accrue 
for the period after that date, or (ii) a Paying Agent is required, or authorized or not prohibited, 
by law (including without limitation, executive orders) to close and is closed, then payment of 
interest, principal and any redemption premium need not be made by that Paying Agent on that 
date, but that payment may be made on the next succeeding business day on which that Paying 
Agent is open for business with the same force and effect as if that payment were made on the 
Interest Payment Date, Principal Payment Date or other date upon which Debt Service Charges 
are payable and no interest shall accrue for the period after that date; provided, that if the 
Trustee is open for business on the applicable Interest Payment Date, Principal Payment Date 
or other date upon which Debt Service Charges are payable, it shall make any payment required 
hereunder with respect to payment of interest on outstanding Bonds and payment of principal of 
and premium on Bonds presented to it for payment, regardless of whether any Paying Agent 
shall be open for business or closed on the applicable Interest Payment Date, Principal Payment 
Date or other date upon which Debt Service Charges are payable. 

SECTION 10.06. Instruments of Holders. Any writing, including without limitation, 
any consent, request, direction, approval, objection or other instrument or document, required 
under this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture to be executed by any Holder may 
be in any number of concurrent writings of similar tenor and may be executed by that Holder 
in person or by an agent or attorney appointed in writing. Proof of (i) the execution of any 
writing, including without limitation, any consent, request, direction, approval, objection or 
other instrument or document, (ii) the execution of any writing appointing any agent or attorney, 
and (iii) the ownership of Bonds, shall be sufficient for any of the purposes of this Master 
Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture, if made in the following manner, and if so made, shall 
be conclusive in favor of the Trustee with regard to any action taken thereunder, namely: 

(a) The fact and date of the execution by any person of any writing may be 
proved by the certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction, who has power by law to take 
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acknowledgments within that jurisdiction, that the person signing the writing 
acknowledged that execution before that officer, or by affidavit of any witness to that 
execution; and 

@) The fact of ownership of Bonds shall be proved by the Register maintained 
by the Registrar. 

Nothing contained in this Section shall be construed to limit the Trustee to the foregoing 
proof, and the Trustee may accept any other evidence of the matters stated therein which it 
deems to be sufficient. Any writing, including without limitation, any consent, request, 
direction, approval, objection or other instrument or document, of the Holder of any  Bond shall 
bind every future Holder of the same Bond, with respect to anything done or suffered to be done 
by the County, the Operator, the Trustee, the Registrar or any Paying Agent or Authenticating 
Agent pursuant to that writing. 

SECTION 10.08. Priontv of this Master Indenture and SUDD lemental Indentures. This 
Master Indenture and all Supplemental indentures shall be superior to any liens which may be 
placed upon the Pledged Revenues or any other funds or accounts created pursuant to this Master 
Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture. 

SECTION 10.09. Validitv of Assignments and Secuntv Interest. To the extent permitted 
by law, 

(a) The Pledged Revenues and the funds and accounts created hereunder are subject to 
the assignments made herein without any further act. 

(b) The assignments are valid and binding against all parties having claims of any kind 
against the County, without regard to whether those parties have notice of the assignments. 

(c) The assignments are absolute and unconditional present assignments without the 
necessity for separation or delivery of the Pledged Revenues or the funds and accounts created 
hereunder or for the filing, recording or registration hereof or of any resolution, legislation, 
instrument or document by which the assignments are made or the frling, recording or 
registration of any certificate, statement or other instrument or document with respect to the 
assignments. 

(d) The assignments are effective and the moneys, including, without Limitation, 
investments, therefmm, thereof and therein may be applied to the p u p s e s  for which the 
assignments are made without the necessity of any further act of appropriation. 

SECTION 10.10. Exte nt of Covenants: No Personal Liability. All covenants, 
stipulations, obligations and agreements of the County contained in this Master Indenture are and 
shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of the County to the 
full extent authorized by the Act. No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of the 
County contained in this Master Indenture shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, 
obligation or agreement of any present or future member, officer, agent or employee of the 
County or the Board in other than that person’s official capacity. Neither the members of the 
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Board nor any official executing the Bonds, this Master Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture, 
the Facility Agreements, or any amendment or supplement hereto or thereto shall be liable 
personally on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the 
issuance or execution hereof or thereof. 

SECTION 10.11. Survival of Rmresentations and Warrant ies. AU representations and 
wananties contained herein shall survive the execution and delivery hereof and the issuance and 
delivery of the Bonds. 

SECTION 10.12. Bindine Effect. The Indenture shall inure to the benefit of and shall 
be binding upon the County and the Trustee and their respective successors and assigns, subject, 
however, to the limitations contained herein. 

SECTION 10.13. Counterparts. This Master Indenture may be executed in any number 
of counterparts, each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of which shall constitute 
but one and the same instrument. It shall not be necessary in proving this Master Indenture to 
produce or account for more than one of those counterparts. 

SECTION 10.14. Governing Law. The Indenture and the Bonds shall be deemed tobe 
contracts made under the laws of the State and for all purposes shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State. 

(End of Article X )  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County has caused this Master Indenture to be executed 
and delivered for it and in its name and on its behalf by its duly authorized officers; and the 
Trustee has caused this Master Indenture to be executed and delivered for it and in its name and 
on its behalf by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 

BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

officio clerk of the Board 

(SEA 

Prepared By: 

Squire, Sanders & Dempsey, 
Bond Counsel 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK, 
As Trustee, acting by and through 
The Bank of New York Trust Company 
of Florida, N.A., its agent 

'- I 4 By: c( t r .cckk , f 
Assistant Vice President 
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EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF DEVELOPER DISBURSEMENT REOUES T 

STATEMENT NO. REQUESTING DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FROM 
THE CONSTRUCTION FUND PURSUANT TO 

SECTIONS 2.3(d), 2.5 AND 6.3 OF THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA AND 
THE ARENA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LTD. 

Pursuant to Sections 2.3(d), 2.5 and 6.3 of the Development Agreement (the 
"Agreement") between Broward County, Florida (the "County") and Arena Development 
Company, Ltd. (the "Project Developer"), the undersigned Authorized Project Developer 
Representative hereby requests and authorizes The Bank of New York, as trustee (the 
"Tmstee"), as depository of the Construction Fund created by the Master Indenture between the 
County and the Trustee dated as of September 1, 1996 (as supplemented and amended, the 
"Indenture") and defined in the Agreement, to disburse to CINSERT EXAC T NAME OF 
PERSO N(S) AND FED ERAL EMPLOYER IDENTIFICATION NUMB ERW TO WHOM 
DISBURSEMENT IS TO BE MADE) out of the moneys deposited in the (ID- 
ACCOUNT AND SUBACCOUNT ) of the Construction Fund the sum of $ 

The Project Developer represents that it is requesting such disbursement to pay such 
person(s) or to reimburse the Project Developer in full, as indicated in the Disbursement 
Schedule, for the items listed in the Disbursement Schedule attached hereto as Attachment I. 

In connection with the foregoing request and authorization, the undersigned hereby 
certifies that: 

(a) Each item for which disbursement is requested hereunder is projmly payable 
from funds to be disbursed from the Construction Fund in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of the Agreement and none of those items has heretofore 
been paid from said Construction Fund. 

(b) Each such item is or was necessary for pre-development costs, Project 
Developer's general requirements costs, pre-opening costs, architect costs, 
engineering costs, project consulting costs or furniture, fixtures and equipment 
costs with regard to the Facility, as defined in the Agreement. 

(c) Each such item is attributable to the following category(ies) in the following 
dollar amount (check category and insert dollar amount if more than one 
category) : 

Dollar Amount Category 
Payment to General Contractor and Concurred in by 
Project Developer 

Construction Costs 

Site-related Costs 

Payment to the Project Developer 

Pre-Developmen t Costs 

Project Developer’s General Requirements 
costs 

Pre-opening costs 

Architect costs 

Engineering costs 

Project Consulting Costs 

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment Costs 

(d) This statement and all attachments and exhibits hereto, including the 
Disbursement Schedule (Attachment I) and the Developer’s Certificate 
(Attachment II), shall be conclusive evidence of the facts and statements set forth 
herein and shall constitute full warrant, protection and authority to the Trustee for 
its actions taken pursuant hereto. 

This day of , 199-. 

By: 
its Authorized Project Developer Representative 

The undersigned Authorized County Representative hereby authorizes the Trustee as of 
, 199-, to make the foregoing disbursement from the this day of 

Construction Fund to the person@) named above. 

By: 
its Authorized County Representative 
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ATTACHMENT I 

DISBURSEMENT SCHEDULE 

TO STATEMENT NO. REQUESTING AND AUTHORIZING 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FROM THE CONSTRUCTION FUND TO THE 

PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 2.3(d), 2.5 AND 6.3 OF 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA AND THE 
ARENA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LTD.. 

AMOUNT PURPO SE 

- I-1- D06:[03119.DOCS.BRZ020327lHASTER_IWDENlURE-6. 

ATTACHMENT 11 

DEVELOPER'S CERTIFICATE 

Arena Development Company, Ud. (the "Project Developer"), pursuant to Section - 
of that certain Development Agreement (the "Agreement") dated as of June 4, 1996, between 
Broward County, Florida (the "County") and the Project Developer, hereby certifies to the 
County as follows (aU terms used in this Developer's Celtificate shall have the meanings given 
to such terms in the Agreement): 

(a) iect Cost Amendments. Attached hereto as Schedule A is a true and complete 
description of all Project Cost Amendments from the date of the last Developer's Certificate 
submitted pursuant to the Agreement through the date hereof. 

(b) Land Acquisition and h i e c t  Development Budget. Attached hereto as Schedule B 
is a true and correct copy of the Land Acquisition and Project Development Budget as in effect 
on the date hereof. The Contingency Fund (not reallocated to any other Project cost category) 
set forth in such Land Acquisition and Project Development Budget is $ 

(c) Effect of Proiect c ost Amendments. Based on the Project Cost Amendments 
referred to in Schedule A hereto, the Land Acquisition and Project Development Budget attached 
hereto as Schedule B shows an ___ increase or a decrease in aggregate amount of the 
last Land Acquisition and Project Development Budget equal to $ . Attachedhereto 
as Schedule C is a true and correct copy of the Schedule as in effect on the date hereof (which 
takes account of the effect of the Project Cost Amendments referred to in Schedule A hereto). 

(d) Budget vs. Actual. Attached hereto as Schedule D is a true and complete 
comparison of actual Project costs incurred through the date hereof and the costs projected to 
be incurred to complete the Project with the Land Acquisition and Project Development Budget. 

(e) Estimated Remainins Proiect Cost Drawdown Schedule. Attached hereto as Schedule 
E is a projection of remaining amounts required to be drawn down and paid from the 
Construction Fund each month from the month after the month hereof until the month in which 
Substantial Completion occurs. 

(f) Shortfall. As the date hereof, the amount of the Shortfall, if any, is 

(8) ~ t t e r  0 f credl 't. As of the date hereof, the amount, if any, of cash or Letter of 
Credit required to satisfy the Interim LOC Test or Full LOC Test pursuant to Section 6.5 of the 
Agreement is $ 

Dated: 9 199- ARENA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LTD. 

By: Arena Development Company, Inc., 
general partner 

Title: 
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-IT B 

FORM OF COUNTY DISBURSEMENT REOUES T 

STATEMENT NO. REQUESTING DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FROM 
THE CONSTRUCTION FUND PURSUANT TO 

SECTIONS 2.3(d), 2.5 AND 6.3 OF THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA AND 
THE ARENA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LTD. 

Pursuant to Sections 2.3(d), 2.5 and 6.3 of the Development Agreement (the 
"Agreement") between Broward County, Florida (the "County") and the Arena Development 
Company, Ltd. (the "Project Developer"), the undersigned Authorized County Representative 
hereby requests and authorizes The Bank of New York, as trustee (the "Trustee"), as depository 
of the Construction Fund created by the Master Indenture between the County and the Trustee 
dated as of September 1, 1996 (as supplemented and amended, the "Indenture") and defined in 
the Agreement, to disburse to CINSERT EXACT NAME OF PERSONS) AND 
FEDERAL EMPLOYER IDENTIFICATION NUMB ERW TO WHOM DISBURSEMENT IS 
TO BE MADE) (IDENTIFY ACCOUNT AND 
SUBACCOUN'I? of the Construction Fund the sum of $ 

out of the moneys deposited in the 

The County represents that it is requesting such disbursement to pay such person(s) or 
to reimburse the County in full, as indicated in the Disbursement Schedule, for the items listed 
in the Disbursement Schedule attached hereto as Attachment I. 

In connection with the foregoing request and authorization, the undersigned hereby 
certifies that: 

(a) Each item for which disbursement is requested hereunder is properly payable 
from funds to be disbursed from the Construction Fund in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of the Agreement and none of those items has heretofore 
been paid from said Construction Fund. 

(b) Each such item is or was necessary for pre-development costs, land acquisition 
costs, County furnished materials costs or amounts payable through the 
Contingent County Project Funding with regard to the Facility, as defined in the 
Agreement, 

(c) Each such item is attributable to the following category(ies) in the following 
dollar amount (check category and insert dollar amount if more than one 
category): 
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Dollar Amount Category 

Payment to the County or to the County’s Designee 

- $ . Pre-development Costs 

- $ Land Acquisition Costs 

- !§ County-Furnished Materials Costs 

Contingent County Project Funding Costs 

(d) This statement and all attachments and exhibits hereto, including the 
Disbursement Schedule (Attachment I), shal l  be conclusive evidence of the facts 
and statements set forth herein and shall constitute full wanant, protection and 
authority to the Trustee for its actions taken pursuant hereto. 

This- day of , 199-. 

By: 
its Authorized County Representative 

ATTACHMENT I 

DISBURSEMENT SCHEDULE 

TO STATEMENT NO. REQUESTING AND AUTHORIZING 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FROM THE CONSTRUCTION FUND TO 

PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 2.3(d) 2.5 AND 6.3 OF THE 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA AND THE 
ARENA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LTD. 

AMOUNT P- E 
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THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE 
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BETWEEN 

BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

AND 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A. 
(successor to The Bank of New York and to The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.) 

as Trustee 

_______________________________ 
 

DATED AS OF OCTOBER 1, 2016 
_______________________________ 

Securing: 

$_________ 
Broward County, Florida 

Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, 
Series 2016 

(Broward County Civic Arena Project) 
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THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE 

THIS THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE (the "Third Supplemental 
Indenture"), is made and entered into as of October 1, 2016 between BROWARD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida and a public body corporate and politic 
(the "County") and THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A. (successor 
to The Bank of New York and to The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.), a national 
banking association duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the United States of 
America and having one of its principal trust offices in Jacksonville, Florida, as trustee (said 
banking corporation and any bank or trust company becoming successor trustee under the 
Master Indenture being herein called the "Trustee"), under the circumstances summarized in the 
following recitals (the capitalized terms used herein shall be as defined in the Master Indenture, 
Article I hereof and in the following recitals). 

RECITATIONS: 

A. Pursuant to and in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, including the 
Act, the County has authorized, executed and delivered to the Trustee the Master Indenture to 
secure any Bonds that might thereafter be issued pursuant to Article II thereof; 

B. The County has in all respects complied with the provisions of the Master 
Indenture so as to be entitled at this time to execute and have authenticated and delivered its 
Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 (Broward County 
Civic Arena Project) (the "Series 2016 Bonds"); 

C. The County has determined to issue and sell the Series 2016 Bonds to refinance 
the Series 2006A Bonds, to purchase a Reserve Fund Credit Facility, and to pay costs of issuance 
of the Series 2016 Bonds; 

D. The Series 2006A Bonds were issued under the Master Indenture, as 
supplemented by a Second Supplemental Indenture, and the County is authorized to execute 
and deliver this Third Supplemental Indenture for the purpose of refinancing all of the Series 
2006A Bonds and to observe and perform all covenants, agreements and obligations to be 
observed or performed on its part hereunder; 

E. The Series 2006B Bonds were issued under the Master Indenture and the Second 
Supplemental Indenture and remain outstanding thereunder; 

F. On June 4, 1996, the Board approved and the County subsequently entered into 
that certain Broward County Civic Arena Development Agreement, which was amended and 
supplemented from time to time (the "1996 Development Agreement"), with Arena 
Development Company, Ltd., providing for the design and construction of the Facility, which 
1996 Development Agreement was terminated effective in December of 2015; 
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G. On June 4, 1996, the Board also approved and the County subsequently entered 
into that certain Broward County Civic Arena License Agreement, as amended and 
supplemented (the "1996 License Agreement"), with the Florida Panthers Hockey Club, Ltd. (the 
"Team") and Arena Operating Company, Ltd. (the "Operator") setting forth the terms and 
conditions under which the Team initially occupied the Facility, which 1996 License Agreement 
was amended and restated by the Amended and Restated License Agreement dated as of 
___________, 20__ between the same parties (the "20__ License Agreement"); 

H. The Board also approved and the County subsequently entered into that certain 
Broward County Civic Arena Operating Agreement, as amended and supplemented (the "1996 
Operating Agreement"), with the Operator for the initial operation and management of the 
Facility; 

I. The County, the Operator, the Team and Sunrise Sports & Entertainment LLC 
entered into an Amended and Restated Operating Agreement dated as of December 8, 2015 to 
replace the previous 1996 Operating Agreement in order to clarify, consolidate and restate their 
respective rights and obligations as therein specified (the "Amended and Restated Operating 
Agreement"); 

J. All acts, conditions and things required by the laws of the State to happen, exist 
and be performed precedent to and in connection with the execution and delivery of this Third 
Supplemental Indenture and the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds have happened, exist and 
have been performed, or at the delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds will have happened, will exist 
and will have been performed, (i) to make the Master Indenture, as supplemented by this Third 
Supplemental Indenture, a valid and binding trust indenture for the security of the Series 2016 
Bonds in accordance with its terms; and (ii) to make the Series 2016 Bonds, when issued, 
authenticated and delivered, legal, valid and binding special limited obligations of the County 
in accordance with the terms thereof and hereof; and 

K. The Trustee has accepted the additional trusts created under this Third 
Supplemental Indenture, and in evidence thereof, this Third Supplemental Indenture has been 
executed and delivered thereby; 

NOW, THEREFORE, this Third Supplemental Indenture WITNESSETH, that to secure 
the payment of Debt Service Charges on the Series 2016 Bonds according to their true intent and 
meaning, to secure the performance and observance of all of the covenants, agreements, 
obligations and conditions contained therein and herein, and to declare the terms and 
conditions upon and subject to which the Series 2016 Bonds are and are intended to be issued, 
held, secured and enforced, and in consideration of the premises and the acceptance by the 
Trustee of the additional trusts created herein and of the purchase and acceptance of the Series 
2016 Bonds by the Holders, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the County has executed and delivered this Third 
Supplemental Indenture, and by the Master Indenture the County has granted security interests 
in, and pledged and assigned to the Trustee, and its assigns, all right, title and interest of the 
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County in and to the Pledged Revenues, including without limitation, amounts held in or for 
the credit of the Pledged Funds; 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD unto the Trustee and its assigns forever; 

BUT IN TRUST, NEVERTHELESS, and subject to the provisions hereof and of the 
Master Indenture, 

(a) except as provided otherwise herein, for the equal and proportionate 
benefit, security and protection of all present and future Holders of the Series 2016 
Bonds and any Bonds hereafter issued or to be issued under and secured by the Master 
Indenture, 

(b) for the enforcement of the payment of the Debt Service Charges on the 
Series 2016 Bonds and any Bonds hereafter issued, when payable, according to the true 
intent and meaning thereof and of the Master Indenture, as supplemented by this Third 
Supplemental Indenture, and 

(c) to secure the performance and observance of and compliance with the 
covenants, agreements, obligations, terms and conditions of the Master Indenture, as 
supplemented by this Third Supplemental Indenture, 

in each case, without preference, priority or distinction, as to lien or otherwise, of any one Bond 
over any other of the same Series, and in the case of a Series which is issued on a parity with 
any other Series pursuant to Section 2.03 of the Master Indenture, without preference, 
distinction or priority of any Bond over any other Bond issued on a parity therewith, by reason 
of designation, number, date of the Bonds or of authorization, issuance, sale, execution, 
authentication, delivery or maturity thereof, or otherwise, so that, except as otherwise provided 
in Section 2.05 of the Master Indenture, each such Bond and all Bonds shall have the same right, 
lien and privilege under the Master Indenture and under this Third Supplemental Indenture 
and shall be secured equally and ratably thereby and hereby, it being intended that the lien and 
security of the Master Indenture, as supplemented by this Third Supplemental Indenture and 
all other Supplemental Indentures hereinbefore and hereafter executed, shall take effect from 
the date of the Master Indenture, without regard to the date of the actual issue, sale or 
disposition of the Series 2016 Bonds and any Bonds hereafter issued, as though upon that date 
all of the Bonds were actually issued, sold and delivered to purchasers for value; provided, 
however, that if: 

(i) the principal of the Series 2016 Bonds and the interest due or to become 
due thereon, together with any premium required by redemption of any of the Series 
2016 Bonds prior to maturity, shall be paid well and truly, at the times and in the 
manner to which reference is made in the Series 2016 Bonds, according to the true intent 
and meaning thereof, or the Outstanding Series 2016 Bonds shall have been paid and 
discharged in accordance with Article VIII of the Master Indenture, and 
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(ii) all of the covenants, agreements, obligations, terms and conditions of the 
County under this Third Supplemental Indenture shall have been observed and 
performed, and there shall have been paid to the Trustee, the Registrar, the Paying 
Agents and the Authenticating Agents all sums of money due or to become due to them 
in accordance with the terms and provisions hereof and of the Master Indenture, 

then this Third Supplemental Indenture and the rights assigned hereby shall cease, determine 
and be void, except as provided in Section 8.03 of the Master Indenture with respect to survival 
of certain provisions hereof; otherwise this Third Supplemental Indenture shall be and remain 
in full force and effect; and provided, further, that the Master Indenture shall cease, determine 
and be void as provided in the granting clauses thereof and otherwise the Master Indenture 
shall be and remain in full force and effect. 

IT IS DECLARED that all Bonds issued under and secured by the Master Indenture and 
this Third Supplemental Indenture are to be issued, authenticated and delivered in accordance 
with the covenants, agreements, obligations, terms and conditions contained therein and herein.  
The County has agreed and covenanted, and agrees and covenants with the Trustee and with 
each and all Holders, as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions.  Words and terms used herein and defined in the 
Master Indenture shall have the meaning given to them in the Master Indenture.  In addition to 
the words and terms defined elsewhere in this Third Supplemental Indenture, unless the 
context or use clearly indicates another meaning or intent, the following words and terms shall 
have the meanings set forth below: 

"Amended and Restated Operating Agreement" means the Amended and Restated 
Operating Agreement dated December 8, 2015 which replaces the 1996 Operating Agreement.  

"Authorized Denominations" means $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. 

"Cost of Issuance Fund" means the Broward County Civic Arena 2016 Cost of Issuance 
Fund, a special fund created and designated by Section 3.01 hereof, together with any accounts 
and subaccounts created thereunder. 

"Depository" means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, until a 
successor Depository shall have become such pursuant to the applicable provisions of this Third 
Supplemental Indenture and, thereafter, Depository shall mean the successor Depository.  Any 
Depository shall be a securities depository that is a clearing agency under federal law operating 
and maintaining, with its participants or otherwise, a Book-Entry System to record ownership 
of book-entry interests in Series 2016 Bonds or Debt Service Charges thereon, and to effect 
transfers of book-entry interests in Series 2016 Bonds. 
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"Discrete Portion" means, with respect to the Facility, the following: 

1. Suites and co-op suite levels of Premium Seating 
2. Locker Rooms, weight rooms and like training facilities 
3. Team Office Space 
4. Operator’s Office Space 
5. Team Retail Store 
6. Interactive Area 
7. Restaurant Area 
8. Team Box Office 
9. Coaches’ Office 
10. Parking allocable exclusively to other portions of the Discrete Portion 
11. Other areas or spaces identified by Bond Counsel 

"Financial Advisor" means Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated or another 
financial advisor of nationally recognized standing in matters pertaining to obligations issued 
by states and their political subdivisions, appointed by the Finance Director and approved by 
the Board. 

"First Supplemental Indenture" means the First Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as 
of September 1, 1996, between the County and the Trustee, as amended or supplemented from 
time to time. 

"Incremental County Preferred Revenue Allocation" shall have the meaning as set forth 
in Section 1.73 of the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement. 

"Indenture" means the Master Indenture, as supplemented and amended by the First 
Supplemental Indenture, the Second Supplemental Indenture and this Third Supplemental 
Indenture, and as further supplemented and amended by Supplemental Indentures from time 
to time. 

"Interest Payment Dates" means March 1 and September 1 of each year in which Series 
2016 Bonds remain Outstanding, commencing March 1, 2017. 

"Late Payment Rate" shall be as defined in Section 3.03(b) hereof. 

"Master Indenture" means the Master Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 1996, 
between the County and the Trustee. 

"Net Operating Income" shall have the same meaning as set forth in Section 1.86 of the 
Amended and Restated Operating Agreement. 

"Original Purchaser" means the underwriters named in the Purchase Agreement. 

 

6 

"Principal Payment Dates" means September 1 in each of the years 2017 through 2028, 
inclusive, in each case being the dates on which principal of the Series 2016 Bonds is due 
whether by stated maturity or from Amortization Requirements. 

"Private Payments" means: 

1. Payments by the Team or the Operator for additions which constitute 
enlargements or upgrades to the Facility and which are owned by the 
County, except to the extent in the opinion of Bond Counsel such 
payments do not constitute private payments ; and 

2. Payments of the County Preferred Revenue Allocation, reduced by the 
amount of Annual Contributions paid by the County pursuant to Section 
15.1.9 of the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement (other than the 
portion of such amounts deposited in the Renewal and Replacement 
Account), in excess of the lesser of:  

a. Debt Service Charges on the Series 2006B Bonds less capitalized 
interest attributable thereto and paid from the proceeds of the 
Series 2006B Bonds, or  

b. Reasonable compensation for the use of the Series 2006B Facility 
Project (as defined in the Second Supplemental Indenture) based on 
the final costs thereof; and   

3. Supplemental County Preferred Revenue Payments paid to the County 
pursuant to Section 20.5 of the Amended and Restated Operating 
Agreement; and 

4. Payments of the County Share of Expansion Proceeds pursuant to 
Section 20.3 of the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement; and 

5. Payments of the County Share of net profits realized by the Current 
Owners in a transaction or series of transactions resulting in a Change 
of Control pursuant to Section 20.2 of the Amended and Restated 
Operating Agreement; and 

6. Any Termination Payment paid to the County as a result of an exercise 
of Early Termination Option pursuant to Section 3.3 of the Amended 
and Restated Operating Agreement; and 

7. Any other payments deemed Private Payments by Bond Counsel, 
including but not limited to, payments under the Amended and 
Restated Operating Agreement and any loan or guaranty payments 
from the Team or the Operator to the County. 
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"Private Payments Cap" means the amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the present 
value of the aggregate Debt Service Charges made or reasonably expected to be made on the 
Series 1996A Bonds, Series 2006A Bonds and Series 2016 Bonds, such present value to be 
determined as of the date of issuance of the Series 1996 Bonds based on the discount rate equal 
to the combined yield on the Series 1996A Bonds, Series 2006A Bonds and Series 2016 Bonds. 

"Purchase Agreement" means, with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds, the Bond Purchase 
Agreement dated October __, 2016 between the County and the Original Purchaser. 

"Second Supplemental Indenture" means the Second Supplemental Trust Indenture, 
dated as of July 1, 2006, between the County and the Trustee, as amended and supplemented 
from time to time.  

"Series 2006 Bonds" means collectively, the Series 2006A Bonds and the Series 2006B 
Bonds. 

"Series 2006A Bonds" means the County’s $124,290,000 original Aggregate Principal 
Amount of Broward County, Florida Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2006A (Broward County Civic Arena Project), currently Outstanding in the 
Aggregate Principal Amount of $[83,375,000]. 

"Series 2006B Bonds" means the County's $52,475,000 original Aggregate Principal 
Amount of Broward County, Florida Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding 
Bonds, Taxable Series 2006B (Broward County Civic Arena Project) currently Outstanding in the 
Aggregate Principal Amount of $36,110,000.  

"Series 2016 Bonds" means the County’s $___________ Aggregate Principal Amount of 
Broward County, Florida Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, 
Series 2016 (Broward County Civic Arena Project) described in Article II hereof. 

"Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider" shall mean Municipal Assurance 
Corp., a stock insurance company. 

"2016 Surety Bond" means the Reserve Fund Credit Facility issued by the Series 2016 
Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider in connection with the Reserve Requirement for the 
Series 2016 Bonds. 

Section 1.02. Interpretation.  Any reference herein to the County or the Board or to 
any member or officer of the foregoing includes entities or officials succeeding to their 
respective functions, duties or responsibilities pursuant to or by operation of law or lawfully 
performing their functions. 

Any reference to a section, provision or chapter of the Act, or laws or regulations of the 
United States, includes that section, provision or chapter as amended, modified, revised, 
supplemented or superseded from time to time to the extent applicable; provided, that no 
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amendment, modification, revision, supplement or superseding section, provision or chapter 
shall be applicable solely by reason of this paragraph, if it constitutes in any way an impairment 
of the rights or obligations of the County, the Holders or the Trustee under the Master 
Indenture, this Third Supplemental Indenture, any legislation of the County authorizing the 
Series 2016 Bonds, the Series 2016 Bonds or any other instrument or document entered into in 
connection with any of the foregoing, including without limitation any alteration of the 
obligation to pay Debt Service Charges in the amount and manner, at the times, and from the 
sources provided in the legislation of the County authorizing the Series 2016 Bonds, the Master 
Indenture and this Third Supplemental Indenture, except as permitted herein. 

Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, words importing the singular number shall 
include the plural number, and vice versa.  The terms "hereof," "hereby," "herein," "hereto," 
"hereunder," "hereinafter" and similar terms refer to this Third Supplemental Indenture; and the 
term "hereafter" means after, and the term "heretofore" means before, the date of this Third 
Supplemental Indenture.  Words of any gender include the correlative words of the other 
genders, unless the sense indicates otherwise. 

Any reference to the Operating Agreement in the Master Trust Indenture shall be 
interpreted to be a reference to the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement and such 
references to section numbers shall be construed to reference the applicable sections of the 
Amended and Restated Operating Agreement.  References to the Development Agreement shall 
be disregarded and construed as null and void in that the Development Agreement is no longer 
in force or effect. 

Section 1.03. Captions and Headings.  The captions and headings in this Third 
Supplemental Indenture are solely for convenience of reference and in no way define, limit or 
describe the scope or intent of any Articles, Sections, subsections, paragraphs, subparagraphs or 
clauses hereof.  

ARTICLE II 
AUTHORIZATION AND TERMS OF THE 

SERIES 2016 BONDS 

Section 2.01. Authorization of the Series 2016 Bonds.  The Series 2016 Bonds shall be 
designated "Broward County, Florida Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2016 (Broward County Civic Arena Project)".  The Aggregate Principal Amount of 
Series 2016 Bonds which shall be issued hereunder is $___________.  The County shall issue, sell 
and deliver the Series 2016 Bonds, together with other available funds, to (i) refund on a current 
basis all of the Outstanding Series 2006A Bonds, (ii) pay the premium for the 2016 Surety Bond, 
which is a Reserve Fund Credit Facility, and (iii) pay the costs associated with the issuance and 
sale of the Series 2016 Bonds. 
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Section 2.02. Terms of Series 2016 Bonds. 

(a) General Terms.  The Series 2016 Bonds (i) shall be issued as Tax-Exempt Bonds; 
(ii) shall be issued in Authorized Denominations; (iii) shall be dated their date of delivery; (iv) 
shall bear interest from their date of delivery; (v) shall be executed and delivered only in fully 
registered form, substantially as set forth in Exhibit A to this Third Supplemental Indenture; (vi) 
shall be numbered in a manner determined by the Trustee which will distinguish each Series 
2016 Bond from each other Series 2016 Bond; (vii) shall be transferable and exchangeable for 
fully registered Series 2016 Bonds of Authorized Denominations as provided in Article II of the 
Master Indenture, subject to the limitations with respect to Series 2016 Bonds held under the 
Book-Entry System as set forth in paragraph (d) of this Section 2.02; and (viii) shall be subject to 
redemption prior to maturity as provided in Section 2.04 hereof and Article III of the Master 
Indenture. 

(b) Maturities and Interest Rates.  The Series 2016 Bonds shall consist of Serial Bonds 
[and/or Term Bonds (the "Series 2016 Term Bonds")] maturing on the following Principal 
Payment Dates in the following principal amounts and bearing interest while outstanding at the 
following rates per annum, payable on each Interest Payment Date and computed on the basis 
of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months: 

Serial Bonds 

Principal Payment Date 
(September 1,) Principal Amount Interest Rate 

   
   

 
Term Bonds 

Principal Payment Date 
(September 1,) Principal Amount Interest Rate 

   
   

 
(c) Security.  The Series 2016 Bonds shall be secured as provided in the Master 

Indenture and herein. 

(d) Book-Entry System.  The Series 2016 Bonds shall only be issued to a Depository 
for holding in a Book-Entry System, without further action by the County.  One Series 2016 
Bond shall be issued for each maturity of the Series 2016 Bonds representing the aggregate 
principal amount of such maturity of the Series 2016 Bonds, and such Series 2016 Bonds shall be 
registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee, as Holder, and immobilized in the 
custody of the Depository.  Series 2016 Bonds held in a Book-Entry System shall not be 
transferable or exchangeable, except for (i) transfer to a successor Depository or its nominee, (ii) 
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withdrawal of the Series 2016 Bonds from the Depository as provided in paragraph (e) of this 
Section 2.02 and (iii) exchange of a Series 2016 Bond for a Book-Entry Bond of the same Series, 
interest rate, and maturity and in an amount equal to the outstanding aggregate principal 
amount of the Series 2016 Bonds maturing on that date.  The owners of book-entry interests in 
the Series 2016 Bonds shall not have any right to receive Series 2016 Bonds in the form of 
physical certificates. 

(e) Change of Depository and Replacement Series 2016 Bonds.  If any Depository 
determines not to continue to act as a Depository for the Series 2016 Bonds, the County may 
attempt to have established a Book-Entry System relationship with another Depository under 
this Third Supplemental Indenture.  If the County does not or is unable to do so, after the 
Trustee has made provision for notification of the owners of book-entry interests in the Series 
2016 Bonds by appropriate notice to the then Depository, the County and the Trustee shall 
permit withdrawal of the Series 2016 Bonds from the Depository, and the Authenticating Agent 
shall authenticate and deliver Series 2016 Bond certificates in fully registered form and in 
Authorized Denominations to the assignees of the Depository or its nominee.  If the event is not 
the result of County action or inaction, such withdrawal, authentication and delivery shall be at 
the cost and expense (including costs of printing or otherwise preparing and delivering such 
replacement Series 2016 Bond certificates) of those persons requesting that authentication and 
delivery. 

(f) Payment and Ownership of Series 2016 Bonds.  Debt Service Charges shall be 
payable: 

(i) on any Series 2016 Bond held in a Book-Entry System registered in the 
name of the Depository or its nominee, in same day funds or federal funds (i) in the case 
of principal of and any premium on such Series 2016 Bond, delivered or transmitted to 
the Depository or its authorized representative when due, upon presentation and 
surrender of such Series 2016 Bond at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee 
or at the office, designated by the Trustee, of any Paying Agent, except as otherwise 
provided pursuant to an agreement in accordance with Section 2.10 of the Master 
Indenture, and (ii) in the case of interest on such Series 2016 Bond, delivered or 
transmitted on any Interest Payment Date to the Depository or nominee that was the 
Holder of that Series 2016 Bond (or a predecessor Series 2016 Bond) at the close of 
business on the Regular Record Date applicable to that Interest Payment Date; and 

(ii) on any Series 2016 Bond not held in a Book-Entry System, as provided in 
the first paragraph of Section 2.06 of the Master Indenture. 

The provisions of Section 2.06 of the Master Indenture (other than, while the Series 2016 Bonds 
are held in a Book-Entry System, the first paragraph of that Section) shall apply to all Series 
2016 Bonds, including Series 2016 Bonds in a Book-Entry System. 

Section 2.03. Delivery and Application of Proceeds of Series 2016 Bonds.  Upon the 
execution and delivery of this Third Supplemental Indenture, and satisfaction of the conditions 
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established by the County for the delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds, the County shall execute the 
Series 2016 Bonds and deliver them to the Trustee.  Thereupon, the Authenticating Agent shall 
authenticate the Series 2016 Bonds and the Trustee shall deliver them to, or on the order of, the 
Original Purchaser, as directed by the County in accordance with Section 2.03 of the Master 
Indenture and this Section 2.03 and apply the proceeds, as follows: 

(i) the Trustee shall apply the net proceeds of the Series 2016 Bonds, less 
$___________ to be paid directly to the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider 
for the premium for the 2016 Surety Bond, received by the Trustee as follows: 

(A) transmit $________ to pay the redemption price for the optional 
redemption of the Series 2006 Bonds; 

(B) deposit to the Series 2016 Account of the Cost of Issuance Fund, 
$___________; and 

(ii) the Trustee shall release $___________ from the Series 2006A Subaccount 
of the Interest Account of the Bond Fund and use such additional amounts to provide 
additional funds for the redemption of the Series 2006 Bonds. 

Prior to delivery by the Trustee of any Series 2016 Bonds, the Trustee shall have received 
the items required by Section 2.03 of the Master Indenture, including a written request and 
authorization to the Trustee (as Trustee and Authenticating Agent) on behalf of the County, 
signed by an Authorized County Representative, to authenticate and deliver the Series 2016 
Bonds to, or on the order of, the Original Purchaser upon payment to the Trustee of the 
purchase price for the Series 2016 Bonds provided in the Purchase Agreement. 

Section 2.04. Terms of Redemption of Series 2016 Bonds.  The Series 2016 Bonds are 
subject to redemption prior to stated maturity as provided in Article III of the Master Indenture 
and as follows: 

(a) Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The Series 2016 Term Bonds maturing 
on September 1, 20__ are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in part, by lot, prior to 
maturity, at a redemption price of one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount 
redeemed, on September 1 in the following years and from the following Amortization 
Requirements, plus in each case interest accrued to such redemption date (which shall be 
payable from the Series 2016 Subaccount of the Interest Account): 

Year 
Amortization 
Requirements 

20__ $ 
20__*  

____________________ 
* Final Maturity. 
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The County shall have the option to deliver for cancellation to the Registrar any Series 
2016 Term Bonds in any aggregate principal amount, and to receive a credit therefor against the 
applicable Amortization Requirements (and corresponding mandatory sinking fund 
redemption obligations) of the County set forth above. 

That option shall be exercised by the County, on or before the sixtieth (60th) day 
preceding a redemption date, by: (i) furnishing to the Trustee a certificate, executed by the 
Authorized County Representative, setting forth the extent of the credit to be applied with 
respect to the Amortization Requirements, and (ii) delivering to the Registrar the Series 2016 
Term Bonds so purchased for cancellation (to the extent such Series 2016 Term Bonds have not 
previously been so delivered).  If the certificate is not furnished timely to the Trustee, no credit 
shall be made against said Amortization Requirements (and corresponding mandatory sinking 
fund redemption obligations) although credits may be available against subsequent 
Amortization Requirements. 

To the extent not applied theretofore as a credit against any Amortization Requirements, 
a credit against the applicable Amortization Requirements therefor (and the corresponding 
mandatory sinking fund redemption obligations) shall also be received by the County for any 
Series 2016 Term Bonds which prior thereto have been purchased or redeemed other than 
through the operation of the Amortization Requirements. 

Each Series 2016 Term Bond so delivered, redeemed previously, or purchased and 
canceled, shall be credited by the Trustee at one hundred percent (100%) of the principal 
amount thereof against the applicable Amortization Requirements therefor, subject to the 
completion of the procedures described above.  Any excess of that amount over the then current 
Amortization Requirements shall be credited against subsequent Amortization Requirements 
for such Series 2016 Term Bonds in the order directed in writing by the Authorized County 
Representative by following the procedures described above. 

(b) Optional Redemption.  The Series 2016 Bonds maturing on and after 
September 1, 20__ are subject to optional redemption by the County prior to maturity, on and 
after September 1, 20__, in whole or in part at any time, and if in part as selected by the 
County among maturities and by lot by the Trustee within a maturity, at the redemption price 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount or portions thereof to be 
redeemed without premium, plus interest accrued to the redemption date. 

(c) Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption.  The Series 2016 Bonds are also subject 
to extraordinary optional redemption pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.05 of the Master 
Indenture.  

Section 2.05. Conditional Notice of Redemption.  Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary contained in the Master Indenture, in the case of an optional redemption, any notice of 
redemption for the Series 2016 Bonds may state that (1) it is conditioned upon the deposit of 
moneys, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with the Trustee, 
Paying Agent or a fiduciary institution acting as escrow agent no later than the redemption date 
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or (2) the County retains the right to rescind such notice on or prior to the scheduled 
redemption date (in either case, a "Conditional Redemption"), and such notice and optional 
redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys are not so deposited or if the notice is rescinded 
as described in this section.  Any such notice of Conditional Redemption shall be captioned 
"Conditional Notice of Redemption."  Any Conditional Redemption may be rescinded at any 
time prior to the redemption date if the Finance Director delivers a written direction to the 
Trustee directing the Trustee to rescind the redemption notice.  The Trustee shall give prompt 
notice of such rescission to the affected Bondholders.  Any Series 2016 Bonds subject to 
Conditional Redemption where redemption has been rescinded shall remain Outstanding, and 
neither the rescission nor the failure by the County to make such funds available shall constitute 
an Event of Default under the Indenture.  The Trustee shall give immediate notice to the 
securities information repositories and the affected Bondholders that the redemption did not 
occur and that the Series 2016 Bonds called for redemption remain Outstanding. 

ARTICLE III 
ADDITIONAL FUNDS, ACCOUNTS AND SUBACCOUNTS; 

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS 

Section 3.01. Creation of Additional Funds, Accounts and Subaccounts.  In 
accordance with the provisions of Section 4.01 of the Master Indenture, there are hereby created 
the following funds, accounts and subaccounts, all of which shall be held in the custody of the 
Trustee: 

(a) within the Interest Account of the Bond Fund, the "Series 2016 Subaccount" into 
which deposits to the Interest Account allocable to the Series 2016 Bonds shall be made and 
from which, subject to Section 4.02(1)(f) of the Master Indenture, interest due on the Series 2016 
Bonds shall be paid, in accordance with the Master Indenture; 

(b) within the Principal Account of the Bond Fund, the "Series 2016 Subaccount" 
into which deposits to the Principal Account allocable to the Series 2016 Bonds shall be made 
and from which, subject to Section 4.02(1)(f) of the Master Indenture, principal due on the Series 
2016 Bonds shall be paid in accordance with the Master Indenture; 

(c) within the Bond Reserve Fund, into which, in lieu of a deposit of moneys and 
in substitution of all of the moneys therein and in full satisfaction of the Reserve Requirement, 
the County shall cause to be deposited therein the 2016 Surety Bond.  Subject to the conditions 
set forth in the 2016 Surety Bond, the Trustee shall demand under the 2016 Surety Bond moneys 
necessary to make up deficiencies in the Subaccounts of the Interest Account and/or Principal 
Account as provided in Section 4.04(a) of the Master Indenture.  Notwithstanding anything to 
the contrary contained in the Master Indenture, so long as the 2016 Surety Bond is on deposit in 
the Bond Reserve Fund, and  if the Trustee has made a drawing on the 2016 Surety Bond to 
make up deficiencies in the Subaccounts of the Interest Account and/or Principal Account, then 
on each Revenue Allocation Date following an Interest Payment Date in which the amount of 
the 2016 Surety Bond Coverage, as defined in the 2016 Surety Bond, is less than the Reserve 
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Requirement because of such drawing, the Trustee shall pay such amounts as are required to be 
deposited to the Bond Reserve Fund pursuant to Sections 4.02(f), 4.04(a) or 4.04(b) of the Master 
Indenture to the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider as reimbursement for such 
drawing under the 2016 Surety Bond, and as further described in Section 3.03 below. 

(d) the Series 2016 Rebate Fund designated the "Broward County Civic Arena 
Series 2016 Rebate Fund" into which deposits allocable to the Series 2016 Bonds shall be made 
and from which rebate amounts due with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds under Section 148(f) 
of the Code shall be paid, all in accordance with the Master Indenture;   

(e) the Cost of Issuance Fund designated the "Broward County Civic Arena 2016 
Cost of Issuance Fund" and the "Series 2016 Account" therein, from which Account costs of 
issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds shall be paid upon delivery to the Trustee of written 
requisitions for payment signed by the Authorized County Representative and specifying the 
payee therefor and the amount due such payee from such Account.  The Trustee may rely 
conclusively upon such requisition.  Any moneys remaining on deposit in the Account six (6) 
months after the date of delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds shall be transferred to the 
corresponding Subaccount of the Interest Account of the Bond Fund. 

Section 3.02. Tax Covenant with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds.  The County 
covenants and agrees that so long as any Series 2016 Bonds remain outstanding for federal 
income tax purposes, it shall comply with all requirements of the Code necessary to maintain 
the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2016 
Bonds, including any arbitrage rebate requirements, except to the extent that to not so comply 
would, in the Opinion of Bond Counsel, not result in the interest payable on the Series 2016 
Bonds being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes under the Code.  The 
County acknowledges that, if the net present value of the Private Payments actually received 
through September 1 of any year, together with the net present value of the Private Payments 
reasonably expected to be received over the remaining term of the Series 2016 Bonds, exceeds 
the Private Payments Cap, the County must, and covenants that it will, take such remedial 
action, including retiring and/or defeasing all outstanding Series 2016 Bonds, as is necessary in 
the Opinion of Bond Counsel to maintain the exclusion from gross income of interest on the 
Series 2016 Bonds. 

In particular, the County agrees that unless the County and the Trustee have received 
an Opinion of Bond Counsel that the interest on the Series 2016 Bonds shall continue to be 
excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, upon the County's receipt of 
the “Termination Payment” (as defined in Section 3.3.4 of the Amended and Restated 
Operating Agreement) due to the occurrence of an "Early Termination Option" (as defined in 
Section 3.3 of the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement) the County shall notify the 
Trustee and provide for the date upon which the County will deliver the funds required for a 
redemption of the Series 2016 Bonds to occur hereunder, and the redemption date shall be 
within ninety (90) days following the receipt of the Termination Payment.  
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Section 3.03. Covenants for the Benefit of Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider.   

 As long as the 2016 Surety Bond as the Reserve Fund Credit Facility for the Series 2016 
Bonds is in full force and effect and the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider is not 
in default thereunder or hereunder, the following provisions shall apply: 

 (a) The prior written consent of the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider shall be a condition precedent to the deposit of any Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
credited to the Bond Reserve Fund established for the Series 2016 Bonds in lieu of a cash deposit 
into the Bond Reserve Fund.  Amounts drawn under the 2016 Surety Bond shall be available 
only for the payment of scheduled principal and interest on the Series 2016 Bonds when due. 

 (b) The County shall repay any draws under the 2016 Surety Bond and pay all 
related reasonable expenses incurred by the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider 
related to a draw and shall pay interest thereon from the date by the Series 2016 Reserve Fund 
Credit Facility Provider at the Late Payment Rate.  "Late Payment Rate" means the lesser of (x) 
the greater of (i) the per annum rate of interest, publicly announced from time to time by 
JPMorgan Chase Bank at its principal office in the City of New York, as its prime or base 
lending rate ("Prime Rate") (any change in such Prime Rate to be effective on the date such 
change is announced by JPMorgan Chase Bank) plus 5%, and (ii) the then applicable highest 
rate of interest on the Series 2016 Bonds and (y) the maximum rate permissible under Florida 
usury or similar laws limiting interest rates.  The Late Payment Rate shall be computed on the 
basis of the actual number of days elapsed over a year of 360 days.  In the event JPMorgan 
Chase Bank ceases to announce its Prime Rate publicly, Prime Rate shall be the publicly 
announced prime or base lending rate of such national bank as the Series 2016 Reserve Fund 
Credit Facility Provider shall specify in writing to the Trustee and the County.  If the interest 
provisions of this subparagraph (b) shall result in an effective rate of interest which, for any 
period, exceeds the limit of the usury or any other laws applicable to the amounts owed by the 
Count hereunder, then all sums in excess of those lawfully collectible as interest for the period 
in question shall, without further agreement or notice between or by any party hereto, be 
applied as additional interest for any later periods of time when amounts are outstanding 
hereunder to the extent that interest otherwise due hereunder for such periods plus such 
additional interest would not exceed the limit of the usury or such other laws, and any excess 
shall be applied upon principal immediately upon receipt of such moneys by Series 2016 
Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider, with the same force and effect as if the County had 
specifically designated such extra sums to be so applied and the Series 2016 Reserve Fund 
Credit Facility Provider had agreed to accept such extra payment(s) as additional interest for 
such later periods.  In no event shall any agreed to or actual exaction as consideration for the 
amounts owed hereunder exceed the limits imposed or provided by the laws applicable to this 
transaction for the use or detention of money or for forbearance in seeking its collection. 

 Repayment of draws and payment of expenses and accrued interest thereon at the Late 
Payment Rate (collectively, "Policy Costs") shall commence in the first month following any 
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draw, and each such monthly payment shall be in an amount equal to 1/12 of the aggregate of 
Policy Costs related to such draw. 

 Amounts in respect of Policy Costs paid to the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider shall be credited first to interest due, then to the expenses due and then to principal 
due.  As and to the extent payments are made to the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider on account of principal due, the coverage under the Reserve Fund Credit Facility will 
be increased by a like amount, subject to the terms of the 2016 Surety Bond.  The County's 
obligation to pay Policy Costs is secured by the Pledged Revenues and other collateral pledged 
as security for the Series 2016 Bonds (subject only to the priority of payment provisions set forth 
in the Master Indenture). 

 All cash and investments, if any, in the Bond Reserve Fund securing the Series 2016 
Bonds shall be transferred to the Interest Account of the Bond Reserve Fund for payment of 
Debt Service Charges on the Series 2016 Bonds before any drawing may be made on the 2016 
Surety Bond or any other Reserve Fund Credit Facility credited to the Bond Reserve Fund in 
lieu of cash.  Payment of any Policy Costs shall be made prior to replenishment of any such cash 
amounts.  Draws on all Reserve Fund Credit Facilities (including the 2016 Surety Bond) on 
which there is available coverage shall be made on a pro-rata basis (calculated by reference to 
the coverage then available thereunder) after applying all available cash and investments in the 
Bond Reserve Fund, provided, however, that the 2016 Surety Bond secures only the Series 2016 
Bonds and not the Series 2006B Bonds.  Payment of Policy Costs and reimbursement of amounts 
with respect to other Reserve Fund Credit Facilities shall be made on a pro-rata basis prior to 
replenishment of any cash drawn from the Bond Reserve Fund.  For the avoidance of doubt, 
"available coverage" means the coverage then available for disbursement pursuant to the terms 
of the applicable alternative credit instrument without regard to the legal or financial ability or 
willingness of the provider of such instrument to honor a claim or draw thereon or the failure of 
such provider to honor any such claim or draw. 

 (c) Upon a failure to pay Policy Costs when due or any other breach of the terms of 
this Section 3.03, the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider shall be entitled to 
exercise any and all legal and equitable remedies available to it, as specified and provided 
under the Master Indenture, which shall not include (i) acceleration of the maturity of the Series 
2016 Bonds or (ii) remedies which would adversely affect owners of the Series 2016 Bonds. 

 (d) The Master Indenture shall not be discharged until all Policy Costs due and 
owing to the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider shall have been paid in full.  The 
County's obligation to pay any such outstanding amounts shall expressly survive payment in 
full of the Series 2016 Bonds. 

 (e) The County shall include in its budget any Policy Costs then due and owing the 
Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider in the calculation of the amounts to 
appropriate under Section 9.02 of the Master Indenture. 
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 (f) The Trustee shall ascertain the necessity for a claim upon the 2016 Surety Bond in 
accordance with the provisions of subparagraph (b) above and Section 4.04(a) of the Master 
Indenture.  The Trustee shall provide notice to the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider at least five business days prior to each Revenue Allocation Date.  The Trustee shall 
give notice to the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider of any failure of the County 
to make timely payment in full of deposits to the Interest Account or the Principal Account 
within two business days of the date due. 

 (g) The County will pay or reimburse the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider any and all reasonable charges, fees, costs, losses, liabilities and expenses which Series 
the 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider may pay or incur, including, but not limited to, 
reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys, accountants, consultants and auditors and 
reasonable costs of investigations, in connection with (i) the administration, enforcement, 
defense or preservation of any rights in respect of the Master Indenture or any document 
executed in connection with the Series 2016 Bonds (the "Related Documents"), including 
defending, monitoring or participating in any litigation or proceeding (including any 
bankruptcy proceeding in respect of the County) relating to the Master Indenture or any other 
Related Document, any party to the Master Indenture or any other Related Document or the 
transactions contemplated by the Related Documents, (ii) the foreclosure against, sale or other 
disposition of any collateral securing any obligations under the Master Indenture or any other 
Related Document, if any, or the pursuit of any remedies under the Master Indenture or any 
other Related Document, to the extent such costs and expenses are not recovered from such 
foreclosure, sale or other disposition, (iii) any amendment, waiver or other action with respect 
to, or related to the Master Indenture, the 2016 Surety Bond or any other Related Document 
whether or not executed or completed, or (iv) any action taken by the Series 2016 Reserve Fund 
Credit Facility Provider to cure a default or termination or similar event (or to mitigate the 
effect thereof) under the Master Indenture or any other Related Document.  The County grants 
to the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider the right to charge a reasonable fee as a 
condition to executing any amendment, waiver or consent proposed in respect of the Master 
Indenture or any other Related Document.  Amounts payable by the County hereunder shall 
bear interest at the Late Payment Rate from the date such amount is paid or incurred by Series 
the 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider until the date the Series 2016 Reserve Fund 
Credit Facility Provider is paid in full. 

 (h) The obligation of the County to pay all amounts due to the Series 2016 Reserve 
Fund Credit Facility Provider shall be a special limited obligation of the County payable solely 
from the Pledged Revenues or pursuant to the County Deficiency Covenant pursuant to the 
Master Indenture, and will be paid or performed strictly in accordance with the provisions of 
this Section 3.03, irrespective of (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of or any amendment or 
other modifications of, or waiver with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds, the Master Indenture or 
any other Related Document; or (ii) any amendment or other modification of, or waiver with 
respect to the 2016 Surety Bond; (iii) any exchange, release or non-perfection of any security 
interest in the Pledged Revenues, the Master Indenture or any other Related Documents; (iv) 
whether or not the Series 2016 Bonds are contingent or matured, disputed or undisputed, 
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liquidated or unliquidated; (v) any amendment, modification or waiver of or any consent to 
departure from the 2016 Surety Bond, the Master Indenture or all or any of the other Related 
Documents; (vi) the existence of any claim, setoff, defense (other than the defense of payment in 
full), reduction, abatement or other right which the County may have at any time against the 
Trustee or any other person or entity other than the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider, whether in connection with the transactions contemplated herein or in any other 
Related Documents or any unrelated transactions; (vii) any statement or any other document 
presented under or in connection with the 2016 Surety Bond proving in any and all respects 
invalid, inaccurate, insufficient, fraudulent or forged or any statement therein being untrue or 
inaccurate in any respect; or (viii) any payment by the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider under the 2016 Surety Bond against presentation of a certificate or other document 
which does not strictly comply with the terms of the 2016 Surety Bond. 

 (i) The County shall fully observe, perform, and fulfill in all material respects each 
of the provisions (as each of those provisions may be amended, supplemented, modified or 
waived with the prior written consent of the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider 
if required) of the Master Indenture applicable to the County, each of the provisions thereof 
being expressly incorporated in this Section 3.03 by reference solely for the benefit of the Series 
2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider as if set forth directly herein.  No provision of the 
Master Indenture or any other Related Document shall be amended, supplemented, modified or 
waived, without the prior written consent of the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider, in any material respect or otherwise in a manner than could adversely affect the 
payment obligations of the County hereunder or the priority accorded to the reimbursement of 
Policy Costs under the Master Indenture.  The Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider 
is hereby expressly made a third party beneficiary hereunder and each other Related Document. 

 (j) The County covenants to provide to the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider promptly upon request, any information regarding the Series 2016 Bonds or the 
financial condition and operations of the County as reasonably requested by the Series 2016 
Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider.  The County hereby agrees that the Series 2016 Reserve 
Fund Credit Facility Provider is permitted to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the 
County or any information the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider may 
reasonably request regarding the security for the Series 2016 Bonds with appropriate officers of 
the County and will use commercially reasonable efforts to enable the Series 2016 Reserve Fund 
Credit Facility Provider to have access to the facilities, books and records of the County on any 
business day upon reasonable prior notice. 

 (k) Notices and other information to the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility 
Provider shall include the 2016 Surety Bond policy number and shall be sent to the following 
address (or such other address as the Series 2016 Reserve Fund Credit Facility Provider may 
designate in writing to the County and the Trustee:  Municipal Assurance Corp., 1633 
Broadway, New York, New York 10019, Attention: Managing Director – Surveillance. 
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ARTICLE IV 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 4.01. Concerning the Trustee.  The Trustee hereby accepts the trusts hereby 
declared and provided and agrees to perform the same upon the terms and conditions set forth 
in the Master Indenture and in this Third Supplemental Indenture. 

The Trustee shall not be responsible in any manner whatsoever for or in respect of the 
validity or sufficiency of this Third Supplemental Indenture or the due execution thereof by the 
County, nor for or in respect of the recitals contained herein, all of which recitals are made 
solely by the County. 

The County acknowledges and agrees that broker confirmations of investments in 
connection with the investment of moneys in the funds created pursuant to Section 4.01 of the 
Master Indenture are not required to be issued by the Trustee for each month in which a 
monthly statement is rendered by the Trustee to the County. 

The Trustee shall have the right to accept and act upon directions or instructions given 
by the Authorized County Representative and delivered using Electronic Means (defined 
below).  If the Authorized County Representative elects to give the Trustee directions or 
instructions using Electronic Means and the Trustee in its discretion elects to act upon such 
directions or instructions, the Trustee's reasonable understanding of such directions or 
instructions shall be deemed controlling.  The County understands and agrees that the Trustee 
cannot determine the identity of the actual sender of such directions or instructions and that the 
Trustee shall conclusively presume that directions or instructions that purport to have been sent 
by an Authorized County Representative have been sent by such Authorized County 
Representative.  The County shall be responsible for ensuring that only an Authorized County 
Representative transmits such directions or instructions to the Trustee and that each Authorized 
County Representative treats applicable user and authorization codes, passwords and/or 
authentication keys as confidential and with care.  The Trustee shall not be liable for any losses, 
costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Trustee’s reliance upon and compliance 
with such directions or instructions notwithstanding such directions or instructions conflict or 
are inconsistent with a subsequent written direction or written instruction.  The County agrees: 
(i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of Electronic Means to submit directions or 
instructions to the Trustee, including without limitation the risk of the Trustee acting on 
unauthorized directions or instructions, and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties; 
(ii) that the County is fully informed of the protections and risks associated with the various 
methods of transmitting directions or instructions to the Trustee and that there may be more 
secure methods of transmitting directions or instructions; (iii) that the security procedures (if 
any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of directions or instructions provide to 
the County a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and 
circumstances and (iv) to notify the Trustee immediately upon learning of any compromised or 
unauthorized use of the security procedures.  “Electronic Means” shall mean the following 
communication methods: e-mail, facsimile transmission, secure electronic transmission 
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containing applicable authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys, or another 
method or system specified by the Trustee as available for use in connection with its services 
hereunder. 

Section 4.02. The Master Indenture.  In general, each and every term and condition 
contained in the Master Indenture shall apply to this Third Supplemental Indenture, with such 
omissions, variations and modifications thereof as may be permitted by the Master Indenture 
and are appropriate to make the same conform to this Third Supplemental Indenture.  The 
Master Indenture, as amended and supplemented hereby, is in all respects ratified and 
confirmed.  The Master Indenture as so amended and supplemented by this Third 
Supplemental Indenture shall be, and shall be read, taken and construed and deemed to be, so 
long as the Series 2016 Bonds shall be outstanding, as one and the same instrument. 

Section 4.03. Limitation of Rights.  With the exception of rights, remedies and 
powers conferred expressly in this Third Supplemental Indenture, nothing expressed or 
mentioned in or to be implied from the Master Indenture, this Third Supplemental Indenture or 
the Series 2016 Bonds is intended, or shall be construed, to give to any Person other than the 
County, the Trustee, the Registrar, the Paying Agents, the Authenticating Agents, the Holders 
of the Series 2016 Bonds and any Credit Facility Providers any legal or equitable right, remedy, 
power or claim under or with respect to this Third Supplemental Indenture of any covenants, 
agreements, conditions and provisions contained herein.  This Third Supplemental Indenture 
and all of those covenants, agreements, conditions and provisions are intended to be, and are, 
for the sole and exclusive benefit of the County, the Trustee, the Registrar, the Paying Agents, 
the Authenticating Agents, the Holders of the Series 2016 Bonds and any Credit Facility 
Providers, as provided herein. 

Section 4.04. Severability.  In case any section or provision of this Third 
Supplemental Indenture, or any covenant, agreement, stipulation, obligation, condition, 
provision, act or action or part thereof, made, assumed, entered into or taken under this Third 
Supplemental Indenture, or any application thereof, is held to be illegal or invalid for any 
reason, or is inoperable at any time, that illegality, invalidity or inoperability shall not affect the 
remainder thereof or any other section, provision, covenant, agreement, stipulation, obligation, 
condition, provision, act, action or part thereof, made, assumed, entered into or taken under this 
Third Supplemental Indenture, all of which shall be construed and enforced at the time as if the 
illegal, invalid or inoperable portion were not contained herein. 

No illegality, invalidity or inoperability shall affect any legal, valid and operable section, 
provision, covenant, agreement, stipulation, obligation, condition, provision, act, action, part or 
application, all of which shall be deemed to be effective, operative, made, assumed, entered into 
or taken in the manner and to the full extent permitted by law from time to time. 
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Section 4.05. Validity of Assignments and Security Interest.  To the extent 
permitted by law, 

(a) The Pledged Revenues and the funds and accounts created under the Master 
Indenture and hereunder are subject to the assignments made herein without any further act. 

(b) The assignments are valid and binding against all parties having claims of any 
kind against the County without regard to whether those parties have notice of the 
assignments. 

(c) The assignments are absolute and unconditional present assignments without 
the necessity for separation or delivery of the Pledged Revenues or the funds and accounts 
created under the Master Indenture and hereunder or for the filing, recording or registration 
hereof or of any resolution, legislation, instrument or document by which the assignments are 
made or the filing, recording or registration of any certificate, statement or other instrument or 
document with respect to the assignments. 

(d) The assignments are effective and the moneys, including without limitation, 
investments, therefrom, thereof and therein may be applied to the purposes for which the 
assignments are made without the necessity of any further act of appropriation. 

Section 4.06. Extent of Covenants, No Personal Liability.  All covenants, 
stipulations, obligations and agreements of the County contained in this Third Supplemental 
Indenture are and shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of 
the County to the full extent authorized by the Act.  No covenant, stipulation, obligation or 
agreement of the County contained in this Third Supplemental Indenture shall be deemed to be 
a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any present or future member, officer, agent 
or employee of the County or the Board in other than that person’s official capacity.  Neither the 
members of the Board nor any official executing the Series 2016 Bonds, this Third Supplemental 
Indenture, the Facility Agreements or any amendment or supplement hereto or thereto shall be 
liable personally on the Series 2016 Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or 
accountability by reason of the issuance or execution hereof or thereof. 

Section 4.07. Survival of Representations and Warranties.  All representations and 
warranties of the County and the Trustee herein shall survive the execution and delivery hereof 
and the issuance and delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds. 

Section 4.08. Binding Effect.  This Third Supplemental Indenture shall inure to the 
benefit of and shall be binding upon the County and the Trustee and their respective successors 
and assigns, subject, however, to the limitations contained herein. 

Section 4.09. Counterparts.  This Third Supplemental Indenture may be executed in 
any number of counterparts, each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of which 
shall constitute but one and the same document.  It shall not be necessary in proving this Third 
Supplemental Indenture to produce or account for more than one of those counterparts. 
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Section 4.10. Governing Law; Venue.  This Third Supplemental Indenture shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State.  Venue shall be Broward 
County, Florida. 

 

[Signature Page to Follow] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County has caused this Third Supplemental Indenture to 
be executed and delivered for it and in its name and on its behalf by its duly authorized officers; 
and the Trustee has caused this Third Supplemental Indenture to be executed and delivered for 
it and in its name and on its behalf by its duly authorized officers all as of the day and year first 
above written. 

(SEAL)  BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

Attest: 

  By:     
   Mayor, Board of County Commissioners 
   Broward County, Florida 
 
  
County Administrator and ex-officio 
Clerk, Board of County Commissioners 
Broward County, Florida 

  THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST 
  COMPANY, N.A., 
  As Trustee 

  By:     
   Vice President 

Prepared by:  
Bryant Miller Olive P.A.  
and Law Offices of Steve E. Bullock, P.A., Co-Bond Counsel 
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FORM OF OPINION OF CO-BOND COUNSEL 
 

On the date of issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds in definitive form, Bryant Miller Olive P.A., and the Law 
Offices of Steve E. Bullock, P.A., Co-Bond Counsel, propose to render their approving opinions in substantially the 
following form: 

 
October __, 2016 

Board of County Commissioners of 
Broward County, Florida 

Fort Lauderdale, Florida  
 
 

RE:  $71,990,000 Broward County, Florida Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2016 (Broward County Civic Arena Project) 

 
 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as Co-Bond Counsel to Broward County, Florida (the “County”) in connection with the 
issuance by the County of its $71,990,000 Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 
2016 (the “Series 2016 Bonds”) pursuant to and under the authority of the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Florida, including without limitation, Chapter 125, Florida Statutes, Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, Section 212.20, 
Florida Statutes, Section 288.1162, Florida Statutes, each as amended, the County’s Home Rule Charter and other 
applicable provisions of law.  Further, the Series 2016 Bonds are issued pursuant to Resolution 2016-411, duly 
adopted by the Board of County Commissioners of Broward County, Florida on September 15, 2016 (the “Bond 
Resolution”) and a Master Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 1996 between the County and The Bank of New 
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (successor to The Bank of New York and The Bank of New York Trust 
Company, N.A., as trustee, (the “Trustee”), as supplemented, and in particular as supplemented by a Third 
Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of October 1, 2016 between the County and the Trustee (collectively, the 
“Indenture”).  In such capacity, we have examined such law and certified proceedings, certifications and other 
documents as we have deemed necessary to render this opinion.  Any capitalized undefined terms used herein shall 
have the meaning set forth in the Indenture. 

As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon representations of the County 
contained in the Indenture and in the certified proceedings and other certifications of public officials and others 
furnished to us, without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation.  We have not undertaken an 
independent audit, examination, investigation or inspection of such matters and have relied solely on the facts, 
estimates and circumstances described in such proceedings and certifications.  We have assumed the genuineness of 
signatures on all documents and instruments, the authenticity of documents submitted as originals and the 
conformity to originals of documents submitted as copies. 

In rendering this opinion, we have examined and relied upon the opinion of even date herewith of the 
County Attorney of the County, as counsel to the County, as to the due creation and valid existence of the County, 
the due adoption of the Bond Resolution, the due execution and delivery of the Indenture and the Series 2016 Bonds 
and the compliance by the County with all conditions contained in the Indenture and any ordinances and resolutions 
of the County precedent to the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds. 

The Series 2016 Bonds are payable from the Pledged Revenues, which consist primarily of revenues 
derived from a levy of the Professional Sports Franchise Facilities Tax on parity and equal status with the Broward 
County, Florida Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Taxable Series 2006B (Broward 
County Civic Arena Project) (the “Series 2006B Bonds”) heretofore issued under the Indenture, in the manner and 
to the extent provided in the Indenture.  The County has also covenanted to budget and appropriate in its annual 
budget by amendment if necessary, from Non-ad Valorem Revenues lawfully available in each Fiscal Year amounts 



Broward County, Florida 
October __, 2016 
Page 2 
 
 

 D-2 
 

sufficient to satisfy the certain deposit requirements for deficiency amounts reflecting to the Bond Reserve Fund to 
the extent provided in the Indenture.  Pursuant to the terms, conditions and limitations contained in the Indenture, 
the County has reserved the limited right to issue additional parity bonds in the future for Facility Purposes which 
parity bonds shall have a lien on the Pledged Revenues equal to that of the Series 2016 Bonds and the Series 2006B 
Bonds. 

The Series 2016 Bonds do not constitute a general obligation or indebtedness of the County within the 
meaning of any constitutional, statutory or other limitation of indebtedness and the holders thereof shall never have 
the right to compel the exercise of any ad valorem taxing power of the County or taxation in any form on any real or 
personal property for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Series 2016 Bonds. 

The opinions set forth below are expressly limited to, and we opine only with respect to, the laws of the 
State of Florida and the federal income tax laws of the United States of America. 

Based on our examination, we are of the opinion that, under existing law: 

1. The Bond Resolution and the Indenture constitute valid and binding obligations of the County 
enforceable against the County in accordance with their terms. 

2. The Series 2016 Bonds are valid and binding limited obligations of the County enforceable in 
accordance with their terms, payable solely from the Pledged Revenues in the manner and to the extent provided in 
the Indenture. 

3. The Indenture creates a valid lien upon the Pledged Revenues for the security of the Series 2016 
Bonds on a parity with the Series 2006B Bonds and any additional parity bonds hereafter issued, all in the manner 
and to the extent provided in the Indenture. 

4. Interest on the Series 2016 Bonds (including any original issue discount properly allocable to an 
owner thereof) is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference 
for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations.  However, interest on 
the Series 2016 Bonds will be taken into account in determining adjusted current earnings for purposes of computing 
the alternative minimum tax on corporations.  The opinions set forth in the preceding two sentences are subject to 
the condition that the County complies with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, 
(the “Code”) that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds in order that the interest 
thereon be, and continue to be, excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  The County has 
covenanted in the Indenture to comply with all such requirements.  Failure to comply with certain of such 
requirements may cause interest on the Series 2016 Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax 
purposes retroactively to the date of issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds. 

It is to be understood that the rights of the owners of the Series 2016 Bonds and the enforceability thereof 
may be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with general principles of equity, to the valid 
exercise of the sovereign police powers of the State of Florida and of the constitutional powers of the United States 
of America and to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ 
rights heretofore or hereafter enacted. 

For purposes of this opinion, we have not been engaged or undertaken to review and, therefore, express no 
opinion herein regarding the accuracy, completeness or adequacy of the Official Statement or any other offering 
material relating to the Series 2016 Bonds.  This opinion should not be construed as offering material, an offering 
circular, prospectus or official statement and is not intended in any way to be a disclosure statement used in 
connection with the sale or delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds.  Furthermore, we are not passing on the accuracy or 
sufficiency of any CUSIP numbers appearing on the Series 2016 Bonds.  In addition, we have not been engaged to 
and, therefore, express no opinion as to compliance by the County or the underwriter or underwriters with any 
federal or state statute, regulation or ruling with respect to the sale and distribution of the Series 2016 Bonds or 
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regarding the perfection or priority of the lien, except as provided in paragraph 3, with respect to the parity status of 
the Series 2006B Bonds, on the Pledged Revenues created by the Indenture.  Further, we express no opinion 
regarding federal income or state tax consequences arising with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds other than as 
expressly set forth herein. 

Our opinions expressed herein are predicated upon present law, facts and circumstances, and we assume no 
affirmative obligation to update the opinions expressed herein if such laws, facts or circumstances change after the 
date hereof. 

Respectfully submitted, 

BRYANT MILLER OLIVE P.A. 

LAW OFFICES OF STEVE E. BULLOCK, P.A.
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FORM OF OPINION OF CO-DISCLOSURE COUNSEL 
 

On the date of issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds in definitive form, Locke Lord LLP and the Law Offices of 
Carol D. Ellis, P.A., Co-Disclosure Counsel, propose to render their approving opinions in substantially the 
following form: 

October __, 2016 
 
 
Board of County Commissioners 
   of Broward County, Florida 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida  
 
 

$71,990,000 
BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 

(Broward County Civic Arena Project) 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

We have served as Co-Disclosure Counsel to Broward County, Florida (the “County”) in connection with 
the issuance by the County of its $71,990,000 aggregate principal amount of Professional Sports Facilities Tax and 
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 (Broward County Civic Arena Project) (the “Series 2016 Bonds”). 

In connection with the issuance and delivery of this opinion, we have considered such matters of law and 
fact and have relied upon such certificates and other information furnished to us as we deemed appropriate.  We are 
not expressing any opinion or views herein on the authorization, issuance, delivery or validity of the Series 2016 
Bonds and we have assumed, but not independently verified, that the signatures on all documents and certificates 
that we have examined are genuine. 

To the extent that the opinions expressed herein relate to or are dependent upon the determination that the 
proceedings and actions related to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Series 2016 Bonds are lawful and valid 
under the laws of the State of Florida, or that the Series 2016 Bonds are valid and binding obligations of the County 
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, or to the extent that the interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is 
excluded from gross income of the owners of the Series 2016 Bonds for federal income tax purposes, we understand 
that you are relying upon the opinions delivered on the date hereof of Bryant Miller Olive P.A. and the Law Offices 
of Steve E. Bullock, P.A., Co-Bond Counsel, and no opinion is expressed herein as to such matters. 

The scope of our engagement with respect to the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds was not to establish 
factual matters and because of the wholly or partially non-legal character of many of the determinations involved in 
the preparation of the Official Statement, dated September 23, 2016 (the “Official Statement”), we are not passing 
on and do not assume any responsibility for, except as set forth in the next paragraph, the accuracy or completeness 
of the contents of the Official Statement (including, without limitation, any appendices, schedules, and exhibits 
thereto) and we make no representation that we have independently verified the accuracy, completeness or fairness 
of such statements.  As your counsel, we have participated in the preparation of the Official Statement and in 
discussions and conferences with representatives of the County from the Finance and Administrative Services 
Department and the County Attorney’s Office, Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, Financial Advisor to the 
County, Bryant Miller Olive P.A. and the Law Offices of Steve E. Bullock, P.A., Co-Bond Counsel, representatives 
of Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, as representative of the Underwriters of the Series 2016 Bonds, and Moskowitz, 
Mandell, Salim & Simowitz, P.A., counsel to the Underwriters, in which the contents of the Official Statement and 
related matters were discussed. 
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Based solely on the basis of our participation in the preparation of the Official Statement, our examination 
of certificates, documents, instruments and records and the above-mentioned discussions, nothing has come to our 
attention which would lead us to believe that the Official Statement (except for the financial and statistical data in 
the Official Statement, including, without limitation, the appendices thereto, and the matters set forth therein, 
information relating to The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, and its book-entry system, the 
information provided under the caption “RESERVE FUND CREDIT FACILITY – Municipal Assurance Corp”  and 
in APPENDICES A, B, C, D and G, as to which no opinion is expressed) is not a fair and accurate summary of the 
matters purported to be summarized therein or that the Official Statement (except as set forth above) contained as of 
its date or as of the date hereof, any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted or omits to state any material fact 
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading.  We are also of the opinion that the County’s continuing disclosure undertaking set forth in APPENDIX 
F satisfies the requirements set forth in Rule 15c2-12(b)(5)(i) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

In reaching the conclusions expressed herein, we have with your concurrence, assumed and relied on the 
genuineness and authenticity of all signatures not witnessed by us; the authenticity of all documents, records, 
instruments, items and letters submitted to us as originals; the conformity with originals of all items submitted to us 
as certified or photostatic copies and examined by us; the legal capacity and authority of the persons who executed 
the documents; the accuracy of all warranties, representations and statements of fact contained in the documents and 
instruments submitted to us in connection with the purchase and sale of the Series 2016 Bonds; that neither you nor 
the initial purchasers of the Series 2016 Bonds have any actual knowledge or any reason to believe that any portion 
of the Official Statement is not accurate; and the continuing accuracy on this date of any certificates supplied to us 
regarding the matters addressed herein, which assumptions we have not verified.  As to questions of fact material to 
our opinions, we have relied upon and assumed the correctness of the public records and certificates by and 
representations of public officials and other officers and representatives of various parties to this transaction.  We 
have no actual knowledge of any factual information that would lead us to form a legal opinion that the public 
records or the certificates which we have relied upon contain any untrue statement of a material fact. 

We are further of the opinion that, assuming the Series 2016 Bonds are the legal, valid and binding 
obligations of the County, the Series 2016 Bonds are exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, and the Indenture (as defined in the Official Statement) is exempt from qualification pursuant to the Trust 
Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. 

The opinions set forth herein are expressly limited to, and we opine only with respect to, the laws of the 
State of Florida and the United States of America.  The only opinions rendered hereby shall be those expressly 
stated herein, and no opinion shall be implied or inferred as a result of anything contained herein or omitted 
herefrom. 

This opinion may be relied upon solely by the County and only in connection with the transaction to which 
reference is made above and may not be used or relied upon by any other person for any purposes whatsoever 
without our prior written consent. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 

 
$71,990,000 

BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds 

Series 2016 (Broward County Civic Arena Project) 
 

THIS CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE (this “Certificate”) dated October 18, 2016, is 
executed and delivered by BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida and a 
public body corporate and politic (the “County”), in connection with the issuance of its $71,990,000 Professional 
Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 (Broward County Civic Arena Project) (the 
“Series 2016 Bonds”).  The Series 2016 Bonds are being issued for the purpose of providing funds, together with 
other available moneys, to (i) refinance the County’s Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2006A (Broward County Civic Arena Project), (ii) purchase a Reserve Fund Credit Facility for the 
Bond Reserve Fund and (iii) pay certain costs of issuance relating to the Series 2016 Bonds.   

The Series 2016 Bonds are being issued pursuant to and secured by a Master Trust Indenture dated as of 
September 1, 1996, as supplemented and amended (the “Master Indenture”) entered into between the County and 
The Bank of New York, as trustee, now known as The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (the 
“Trustee”), as further supplemented by a Third Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of October 1, 2016 (the 
“Third Supplemental Indenture”) entered into between the County and the Trustee.  The Master Indenture as 
heretofore supplemented is referred to herein as the “Indenture.”  Each capitalized term used in this Certificate but 
not otherwise defined herein has the meaning assigned to it in Article I below or in the Indenture. 

 
The County has determined and agreed to comply with the requirements of the Rule to the extent applicable 

to the Series 2016 Bonds. 
 
The County agrees, in accordance with the provisions of the Rule, for the benefit of the holders and 

beneficial owners from time to time of the Series 2016 Bonds, as follows: 
 

ARTICLE I 
Definitions and Interpretation 

 
In addition to the words and terms defined elsewhere in this Certificate or by reference to the Indenture, 

unless the context or use clearly indicates another or different meaning or intent: 

“Accounting Principles” means the accounting principles applied from time to time in the preparation of 
the Financial Statements, initially generally accepted accounting principles as recommended from time to time by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation. 

“Annual Financial Information” means the following updated information and operating data for the 
applicable Fiscal Year of the type included and contained in the Official Statement in the charts within the 
subsections: “Security and Source of Payment,” “The County Preferred Revenue Allocation” and “Appropriations of 
County Non-Ad Valorem Revenue” in the section of the Official Statement entitled “SECURITY AND SOURCES 
OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2016 BONDS.” 

“Annual Report” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2.1 hereof. 

"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which the County is required, or 
authorized or not prohibited by law (including executive orders), to close and is closed. 

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean the County, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing 
by the County and which has filed with the County a written acceptance of such designation. 
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“Filing Date” means the 1st day of April following the end of each Fiscal Year (or the next preceding 
Business Day if that day is not a Business Day), commencing with the Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2016. 

“Financial Statements” means General Purpose Financial Statements of Broward County, Florida for the 
applicable Fiscal Year. 

“Fiscal Year” means each fiscal year of the County ending on September 30th. 

“MSIR” shall mean any other municipal securities information repository other than the MSRB as may be 
required by law or applicable legislation, from time to time, to receive continuing disclosure documents for purposes 
of the Rule. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

“Official Statement” means the Official Statement with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds dated September 
23, 2016. 

“Rule” means Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the SEC pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

The captions and headings in this Certificate are solely for convenience of reference and in no way define, 
limit or describe the scope or intent of any Sections, subsections, paragraphs, subparagraphs or clauses hereof.  
Reference to a Section means a section of this Certificate, unless otherwise indicated. 

  
ARTICLE II 

 The Undertaking 
 

Section 2.1. The County hereby agrees, in accordance with the Rule, for so long as the Rule shall be 
in effect, to annually provide or cause to be provided to the MSRB and each MSIR in the appropriate format 
required by law or applicable regulation, the following financial information and operating data  (collectively, the 
“Annual Report”) commencing with the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2016: 

(a) its Annual Financial Information for the preceding Fiscal Year not later than the Filing 
Date for that Fiscal Year; and 

(b) when and if available, the Financial Statements for each Fiscal Year prepared in 
accordance with the Accounting Principles. 

Section 2.2. The Annual Report is expected to be available on or before the Filing Date. 

Section 2.3. The Financial Statements described in subsection 2.1(b) above are expected to be 
available on or before the Filing Date.  If the Financial Statements are not available by the Filing Date, unaudited 
information will be provided by the Filing Date and the audited Financial Statements will be provided as soon after 
such Filing Date as they become available. 

Section 2.4. The County agrees to provide or cause to be provided, in a timely manner not in excess of 
ten business days after the occurrence of the event, to the MSRB and each MSIR in the appropriate format required 
by law or applicable regulation, notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Series 
2016 Bonds: 

 
(i) principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(ii) non-payment related defaults, if material; 
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(iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(v) substitution of credit facility providers, or their failure to perform; 

(vi) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or 
determinations with respect to the tax status of the Series 2016 Bonds, or other material events affecting the 
tax status of the Series 2016 Bonds; 

(vii) modifications to rights of holders of the Series 2016 Bonds, if material; 

(viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(ix) defeasances; 

(x) release, substitution or sale of any property securing repayment of the Series 2016 Bonds, 
if material; 

(xi) rating changes; 

(xii) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar event of the County; 

(xiii) consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the County, or sale of 
all or substantially all of the assets of the County, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry 
into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating 
to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and 

(xiv) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if 
material. 

With regard to the reportable event described in subsection (xii) above, the event is considered to occur 
when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the County in a 
proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or 
governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the County, or if 
such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but 
subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan 
of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction 
over substantially all of the assets or business of the County. 

 
Section 2.5. The County agrees to provide or cause to be provided, in a timely manner, to the MSRB 

and each MSIR, notice of a failure of the County to provide the Annual Report on or prior to the Filing Date. 

Section 2.6. The County reserves the right to modify from time to time the specific types of 
information provided or the format of the presentation of such information to the extent necessary or appropriate in 
the judgment of the County; provided that, the County agrees that any such modification will be done in a manner 
consistent with the Rule and Section 4.2 below. The County reserves the right to terminate its obligation to provide 
the Annual Report and notices of material events, as set forth above, if and when the County no longer remains an 
“obligated person” with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds within the meaning of the Rule, or in the event that the 
Rule shall be repealed, rescinded, or invalidated. 

Section 2.7. The County agrees that its undertaking pursuant to the Rule is intended to be for the 
benefit of the holders of the Series 2016 Bonds and shall be enforceable by the holders of the Series 2016 Bonds; 
provided that, the right to enforce the provisions of this undertaking shall be limited to a right to obtain specific 

F-3



 

 

enforcement of the County’s obligations described herein and any failure by the County to comply with the 
provisions of this undertaking shall not be an event of default with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds or under the 
Indenture. 

The County has not undertaken to give notice of the occurrence of any event other than as described in 
Sections 2.4 and 2.5 above.  Neither the Underwriters nor the Trustee have undertaken to give notice of the 
occurrence of any event described in the Rule. 

A failure by the County to comply with the undertaking described above must be reported by the County in 
accordance with the Rule and must be considered by any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer before 
recommending the purchase or sale of the Series 2016 Bonds in the secondary market. Consequently, such failure 
may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Series 2016 Bonds and their market price. 

 
Section 2.8 The County may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination Agent to assist it 

in carrying out its obligations under this Certificate, and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or 
without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.  In this regard, the County intends to fulfill its obligations 
hereunder by entering into a “Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement” in substantially the form attached hereto 
as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference. 

ARTICLE III 
 Operating Rules 
 

Section 3.1.  Incorporation by Reference.  Any or all of the information required herein to be 
disclosed may be incorporated by reference from other documents, including official statements or debt issues of the 
County or related public entities, which have been submitted to the MSRB, MSIR or the SEC.  If the document to be 
incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the MSRB.  The County shall clearly 
identify each document incorporated by reference. 
 

Section 3.2.  Submission of Information.  Annual Report may be provided in one document or 
multiple documents, and at one time or in part from time to time.   
 

Section 3.3.  Material Event Notices.  Each Event Notice as described in Section 2.4 above shall 
be so captioned and shall prominently state the title, date and CUSIP numbers of the Series 2016 Bonds. 
 

Section 3.4.  Transmission of Information and Notices.  Unless otherwise required by law and, in 
the County's sole determination, subject to technical and economic feasibility, the County shall employ such 
methods of information and notice transmission as shall be requested or recommended by the herein-designated 
recipients of the County's information and notices. 

 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 Termination, Amendment and Enforcement 
 

Section 4.1.  Termination.  (a) the County’s obligations under this Certificate shall terminate upon 
legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Series 2016 Bonds. 
 

(b) This Certificate or any provision hereof, shall be null and void in the event that the 
County (1) delivers an opinion of counsel, addressed to the County, to the effect that those portions of the Rule 
which require the provisions of this Certificate or any of such provisions, do not or no longer apply to the Series 
2016 Bonds, whether because such portions of the Rule are invalid, have been repealed, or otherwise, as shall be 
specified in such opinion, and (2) delivers copies of such opinion to the MSRB and each MSIR. 
 

Section 4.2.  Amendment.  (a) This Certificate may be amended by a written Certificate of the 
appropriate officer of the County, without the consent of the holders of the Series 2016 Bonds if all of the following 
conditions are satisfied: (1) such amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from 
a change in legal (including regulatory) requirements, a change in law (including rules or regulations) or in 
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interpretations thereof, or a change in the identity, nature or status of the County, or the type of business conducted 
thereby, (2) this Certificate as so amended would have complied with the requirements of the Rule as of the date of 
this Certificate, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in 
circumstances, (3) the County shall have received an opinion of counsel addressed to the County, to the same effect 
as set forth in clause (2) above and further to the effect that the amendment does not materially impair the interests 
of the holders of the Series 2016 Bonds and (4) the County delivers copies of such opinion and amendment to the 
MSRB and each MSIR. 

 
(b)  In addition to subsection (a) above, this Certificate may be amended and any provision of this 

Certificate may be waived, without the consent of the holders of the Series 2016 Bonds, if all of the following 
conditions are satisfied:  (1) an amendment to the Rule is adopted, or a new or modified official interpretation of the 
Rule is issued, after the effective date hereof which is applicable to this Certificate; (2) the County shall have 
received an opinion of counsel to the effect that performance by the County under this Certificate as so amended or 
giving effect to such waiver, as the case may be, will not result in a violation of the Rule; and (3) the County shall 
have delivered copies of such opinion and amendment to the MSRB and each MSIR. 
 

(c)  To the extent any amendment to this Certificate results in a change in the type of financial 
information or operating data provided pursuant to this Certificate, the first Annual Report provided thereafter shall 
include a narrative explanation of the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change. 
 

(d)  If an amendment is made to the basis on which financial statements are prepared, the Annual 
Report for the year in which the change is made shall present a comparison between the financial statements or 
information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former 
accounting principles.  Such comparison shall include a qualitative and, to the extent reasonably feasible, 
quantitative discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting 
principles on the presentation of the financial information.  Notice of any such amendment shall be provided by the 
County to the MSRB and each MSIR. 

 
(e)  The County agrees to make filings through the Electronic Municipal Market Access System 

(“EMMA”), as required by the MSRB, or such other system as the MSRB may in the future require. 
 

Section 4.3.  Benefit; Third-Party Beneficiaries; Enforcement.  (a) The provisions of this 
Certificate shall constitute a contract with and inure solely to the benefit of the holders from time to time of the 
Series 2016 Bonds.  Beneficial owners of Series 2016 Bonds shall be third-party beneficiaries of this Certificate. 
 

(b) Except as provided in this subparagraph (b), the provisions of this Certificate shall create 
no rights in any person or entity.  The obligations of the County to comply with the provisions of this Certificate 
shall be enforceable by the holders of the Series 2016 Bonds including beneficial owners thereof.  The Bondholder's 
right to enforce the provisions of this Certificate shall be limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for 
specific performance, to compel performance of the County’s obligations under this Certificate and the Indenture.  
In consideration of the third-party beneficiary status of beneficial owners of the Series 2016 Bonds pursuant to 
subsection (a) of this Section, beneficial owners shall be deemed to be holders of the Series 2016 Bonds for 
purposes of this subsection (b). 
 

(c) Any failure by the County to perform in accordance with this Certificate shall not 
constitute a default under the Indenture and any rights and remedies provided by the Indenture upon the occurrence 
of a default shall not apply to any such failure. 
 

(d) This Certificate shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the 
State of Florida, and any suits and actions arising out of this Certificate shall be instituted in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in the State of Florida; provided, however, that to the extent this Certificate addresses matters of federal 
securities laws, including the Rule, this Certificate shall be construed in accordance with such federal securities laws 
and official interpretations thereof. 

 
Section 4.4.  Sources of Payments: Extent of Covenants; No Personal Liability.  The County shall 

be required to use only Pledged Revenues (as defined in the Indenture) to pay any costs and expenses to be incurred 
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in the performance of this Certificate, and the performance of the obligations hereunder shall be subject to the 
availability of Pledged Revenues for that purpose.  This Certificate does not and shall not constitute a general 
obligation of the County.  All covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of the County contained in this 
Certificate are and shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of the County to the 
full extent authorized by law. No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of the County contained in this 
Certificate shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any present or future officer, 
agent or employee of the County in other than that person’s official capacity. 

 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto executed this Certificate this 18th day of October, 2016. 

 
(SEAL) 
 
Attest: 
 
   
County Administrator 
 

 
BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 
 
By:     
 Mayor 

 
 
(SEAL) 
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EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF  
DISCLOSURE DISSEMINATION AGENT AGREEMENT  

 
This Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”), dated as of October 18, 

2016, is executed and delivered by Broward County, Florida (the “Issuer”) and Digital Assurance Certification, 
L.L.C., as exclusive Disclosure Dissemination Agent (the “Disclosure Dissemination Agent” or “DAC”) for the 
benefit of the Holders (hereinafter defined) of the Bonds (hereinafter defined) and in order to assist the Issuer in 
processing certain continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds in accordance with Rule 15c2-12 of the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be 
amended from time to time (the “Rule”). 

The services provided under this Disclosure Agreement solely relate to the execution of instructions 
received from the Issuer through use of the DAC system and do not constitute “advice” within the meaning of the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Act”). DAC will not provide any advice or 
recommendation to the Issuer or anyone on the Issuer’s behalf regarding the “issuance of municipal securities” or 
any “municipal financial product” as defined in the Act and nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be 
interpreted to the contrary.  DAC is not a “Municipal Advisor” as such term is defined in Section 15B of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and related rules. 

SECTION 1. Definitions.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Disclosure Agreement shall 
have the meaning assigned in the Rule or, to the extent not in conflict with the Rule, in the Official Statement 
(hereinafter defined).  The capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

“Annual Filing Date” means the date, set forth in Sections 2(a) and 2(f) hereof, by which the Annual 
Report is to be filed with the MSRB. 

“Annual Financial Information” means annual financial information as such term is used in paragraph 
(b)(5)(i) of the Rule and specified in Section 3(a) of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Annual Report” means an Annual Report containing Annual Financial Information described in and 
consistent with Section 3 of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Audited Financial Statements” means the annual financial statements of the Issuer for the prior fiscal year, 
certified by an independent auditor as prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
or otherwise, as such term is used in paragraph (b)(5)(i)(B) of the Rule and specified in Section 3(b) of this 
Disclosure Agreement.   

“Bonds” means the bonds as listed on the attached Exhibit A, with the 9-digit CUSIP numbers relating 
thereto. 

“Certification” means a written certification of compliance signed by the Disclosure Representative stating 
that the Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, 
Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure delivered to the Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent is the Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event 
notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure required to be submitted to the 
MSRB under this Disclosure Agreement.  A Certification shall accompany each such document submitted 
to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent by the Issuer and include the full name of the Bonds and the 9-digit 
CUSIP numbers for all Bonds to which the document applies. 

“Disclosure Dissemination Agent” means Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C, acting in its capacity as 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Disclosure Dissemination Agent designated in 
writing by the Issuer pursuant to Section 9 hereof. 

“Disclosure Representative” means the Assistant to the Department Director, Financial Administrative 
Services Department or his or her designee, or such other person as the Issuer shall designate in writing to 
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the Disclosure Dissemination Agent from time to time as the person responsible for providing Information 
to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent. 

“Failure to File Event” means the Issuer’s failure to file an Annual Report on or before the Annual Filing 
Date. 

“Force Majeure Event” means: (i) acts of God, war, or terrorist action; (ii) failure or shut-down of the 
Electronic Municipal Market Access system maintained by the MSRB; or (iii) to the extent beyond the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent’s reasonable control, interruptions in telecommunications or utilities 
services, failure, malfunction or error of any telecommunications, computer or other electrical, mechanical 
or technological application, service or system, computer virus, interruptions in Internet service or 
telephone service (including due to a virus, electrical delivery problem or similar occurrence) that affect 
Internet users generally, or in the local area in which the Disclosure Dissemination Agent or the MSRB is 
located, or acts of any government, regulatory or any other competent authority the effect of which is to 
prohibit the Disclosure Dissemination Agent from performance of its obligations under this Disclosure 
Agreement. 

“Holder” means any person (a) having the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, 
or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds (including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories 
or other intermediaries) or (b) treated as the owner of any Bonds for federal income tax purposes. 

“Information” means, collectively, the Annual Reports, the Audited Financial Statements, the Notice Event 
notices, the Failure to File Event notices, the Voluntary Event Disclosures and the Voluntary Financial 
Disclosures. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, or any successor thereto, established pursuant 
to Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

“Notice Event” means any of the events enumerated in paragraph (b)(5)(i)(C) of the Rule and listed in 
Section 4(a) of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Obligated Person” means any person, including the Issuer, who is either generally or through an 
enterprise, fund, or account of such person committed by contract or other arrangement to support payment 
of all, or part of the obligations on the Bonds (other than providers of municipal bond insurance, letters of 
credit, or other liquidity facilities), as shown on Exhibit A.  

“Official Statement” means that certain Official Statement prepared by the Issuer in connection with the 
Bonds, as listed on Exhibit A.  

“Trustee” means the institution identified as such in the document under which the Bonds were issued. 

“Voluntary Event Disclosure” means information of the category specified in any of subsections (e)(vi)(1) 
through (e)(vi)(11) of Section 2 of this Disclosure Agreement that is accompanied by a Certification of the 
Disclosure Representative containing the information prescribed by Section 7(a) of this Disclosure 
Agreement. 

“Voluntary Financial Disclosure” means information of the category specified in any of subsections 
(e)(vii)(1) through (e)(vii)(9) of Section 2 of this Disclosure Agreement that is accompanied by a 
Certification of the Disclosure Representative containing the information prescribed by Section 7(b) of this 
Disclosure Agreement. 

 
SECTION 2. Provision of Annual Reports.   

(a) The Issuer shall provide, annually, an electronic copy of the Annual Report and Certification to 
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent not later than the Annual Filing Date. Promptly upon receipt of an electronic 
copy of the Annual Report and the Certification, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall provide an Annual 
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Report to the MSRB not later than the 1st day of April following the end of each fiscal year of the Issuer, 
commencing with the fiscal year ending September 30, 2016.  Such date and each anniversary thereof is the Annual 
Filing Date. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a 
package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 3 of this Disclosure Agreement. 

 (b) If on the fifteenth (15th) day prior to the Annual Filing Date, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
has not received a copy of the Annual Report and Certification, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall contact 
the Disclosure Representative by telephone and in writing (which may be by e-mail) to remind the Issuer of its 
undertaking to provide the Annual Report pursuant to Section 2(a). Upon such reminder, the Disclosure 
Representative shall either (i) provide the Disclosure Dissemination Agent with an electronic copy of the Annual 
Report and the Certification no later than two (2) business days prior to the Annual Filing Date, or (ii) instruct the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing that the Issuer will not be able to file the Annual Report within the time 
required under this Disclosure Agreement, state the date by which the Annual Report for such year will be provided 
and instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to immediately send a Failure to File Event notice to the MSRB in 
substantially the form attached as Exhibit B, accompanied by a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-1. 

(c) If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has not received an Annual Report and Certification by 
10:00 a.m. Eastern time on Annual Filing Date (or, if such Annual Filing Date falls on a Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday, then the first business day thereafter) for the Annual Report, a Failure to File Event shall have occurred and 
the Issuer irrevocably directs the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to immediately send a Failure to File Event notice 
to the MSRB in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B without reference to the anticipated filing date for the 
Annual Report, accompanied by a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set 
forth in Exhibit C-1. 

(d) If Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer are prepared but not available prior to the Annual 
Filing Date, the Issuer shall, when the Audited Financial Statements are available, provide at such time an electronic 
copy to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, accompanied by a Certification, together with a copy for the Trustee, 
for filing with the MSRB. 

(e) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall: 

(i) verify the filing specifications of the MSRB each year prior to the Annual Filing Date; 

(ii) upon receipt, promptly file each Annual Report received under Sections 2(a) and 2(b) 
hereof with the MSRB; 

(iii) upon receipt, promptly file each Audited Financial Statement received under Section 2(d) 
hereof with the MSRB; 

(iv) upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Notice Event received under Sections 4(a) and 
4(b)(ii) hereof with the MSRB, identifying the Notice Event as instructed by the Issuer 
pursuant to Section 4(a) or 4(b)(ii) hereof (being any of the categories set forth below) 
when filing pursuant to Section 4(c) of this Disclosure Agreement: 

1. “Principal and interest payment delinquencies;” 

2. “Non-Payment related defaults, if material;” 

3. “Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;” 

4. “Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;” 

5. “Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;” 

6. “Adverse tax opinions, IRS notices or events affecting the tax status of the 
security;” 
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7. “Modifications to rights of securities holders, if material;” 

8. “Bond calls, if material;” 

9. “Defeasances;” 

10. “Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if 
material;” 

11. “Rating changes;”  

12. “Tender offers;” 

13. “Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Obligated Person;” 

14. “Merger, consolidation, or acquisition of the Obligated Person, if material;” and 

15. “Appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a 
trustee, if material;” 

 (v) upon receipt (or irrevocable direction pursuant to Section 2(c) of this Disclosure 
Agreement, as applicable), promptly file a completed copy of Exhibit B to this Disclosure 
Agreement with the MSRB, identifying the filing as “Failure to provide annual financial 
information as required” when filing pursuant to Section 2(b)(ii) or Section 2(c) of this 
Disclosure Agreement; 

(vi) upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Voluntary Event Disclosure received under 
Section 7(a) hereof with the MSRB, identifying the Voluntary Event Disclosure as 
instructed by the Issuer pursuant to Section 7(a) (being any of the categories set forth 
below) when filing pursuant to Section 7(a) of this Disclosure Agreement: 

1. “amendment to continuing disclosure undertaking;” 

2. “change in Obligated Person;” 

3. “notice to investors pursuant to bond documents;” 

4. “certain communications from the Internal Revenue Service,” other than those 
communications included in the Rule; 

5. “secondary market purchases;”  

6. “bid for auction rate or other securities;” 

7. “capital or other financing plan;” 

8. “litigation/enforcement action;” 

9. “change of tender agent, remarketing agent, or other on-going party;” 

10. “derivative or other similar transaction;” and 

11. “other event-based disclosures;” 

(vii) upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Voluntary Financial Disclosure received 
under Section 7(b) hereof with the MSRB, identifying the Voluntary Financial Disclosure 
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as instructed by the Issuer pursuant to Section 7(b) (being any of the categories set forth 
below) when filing pursuant to Section 7(b) of this Disclosure Agreement: 

1. “quarterly/monthly financial information;” 

2. “Timing of annual disclosure;” 

3. “change in fiscal year/timing of annual disclosure;” 

4. “change in accounting standard;” 

5. “interim/additional financial information/operating data;” 

6. “budget;” 

7. “investment/debt/financial policy;” 

8. “information provided to rating agency, credit/liquidity provider or other third 
party;” 

9. “consultant reports;” and 

10. “other financial/operating data.” 

(viii) provide the Issuer evidence of the filings of each of the above when made, which shall be 
by means of the DAC system, for so long as DAC is the Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
under this Disclosure Agreement. 

(f) The Issuer may adjust the Annual Filing Date upon change of its fiscal year by providing written 
notice of such change and the new Annual Filing Date to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, Trustee (if any) and 
the MSRB, provided that the period between the existing Annual Filing Date and new Annual Filing Date shall not 
exceed one year. 

(g) Anything in this Disclosure Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, any Information received 
by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent before 10:00 a.m. Eastern time on any business day that the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent is required to file with the MSRB pursuant to the terms of this Disclosure Agreement and that 
is accompanied by a Certification and all other information required by the terms of this Disclosure Agreement will 
be filed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent with the MSRB no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern time on the same 
business day; provided, however, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no liability for any delay in filing 
with the MSRB if such delay is caused by a Force Majeure Event provided that the Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
uses reasonable efforts to make any such filing as soon as possible. 

SECTION 3. Content of Annual Reports.  

(a) Each Annual Report shall contain Annual Financial Information with respect to the Issuer, including the 
updated information provided in the Official Statement in the charts within the headings: “Security and Source of 
Payment,” “The County Preferred Revenue Allocation” and “Appropriations of County Non-Ad Valorem Revenue” 
in the section of the Official Statement entitled “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR SERIES 2016 
BONDS”. 

(b) Audited Financial Statements as described in the Official Statement will be included in the Annual 
Report.  If Audited Financial Statements are not available, then unaudited financial statements, prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as recommended from time to time by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation will be included in the Annual Report.  In 
such event, Audited Financial Statements (if any) will be provided pursuant to Section 2(d). 

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference from other documents, including 
official statements of debt issues with respect to which the Issuer is an “obligated person” (as defined by the Rule), 

F-12



 

 
 

which have been previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or available on the MSRB Internet 
Website. If the document incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the MSRB.  
The Issuer will clearly identify each such document so incorporated by reference. 

If the Annual Financial Information contains modified operating data or financial information different 
from the Annual Financial Information agreed to in the continuing disclosure undertaking related to the Bonds, the 
Issuer is required to explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the modification and the impact of the change in the 
type of operating data or financial information being provided. 

SECTION 4. Reporting of Notice Events. 

(a) The occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds constitutes a Notice 
Event: 

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

2. Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other 
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other 
material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds; 

7. Modifications to rights of Bond holders, if material; 

8. Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

9. Defeasances; 

10. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material; 

11. Rating changes; 

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Obligated Person; 

Note to subsection (a)(12) of this Section 4:  For the purposes of the event described in 
subsection (a)(12) of this Section 4, the event is considered to occur when any of the 
following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for an 
Obligated Person in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other 
proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has 
assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Obligated 
Person, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body 
and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court 
or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, 
arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or 
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Obligated Person. 

13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an Obligated 
Person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Obligated Person, other 
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than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake 
such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, 
other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and 

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if 
material. 

The Issuer shall, in a timely manner not later than nine (9) business days after its occurrence, notify the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing of the occurrence of a Notice Event.  Such notice shall instruct the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (c) and shall be accompanied by a 
Certification.  Such notice or Certification shall identify the Notice Event that has occurred (which shall be any of 
the categories set forth in Section 2(e)(iv) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the 
Issuer desires to make, contain the written authorization of the Issuer for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to 
disseminate such information, and identify the date the Issuer desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to 
disseminate the information (provided that such date is not later than the tenth business day after the occurrence of 
the Notice Event). 

 (b) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent is under no obligation to notify the Issuer or the Disclosure 
Representative of an event that may constitute a Notice Event.  In the event the Disclosure Dissemination Agent so 
notifies the Disclosure Representative, the Disclosure Representative will within two business days of receipt of 
such notice (but in any event not later than the tenth business day after the occurrence of the Notice Event, if the 
Issuer determines that a Notice Event has occurred), instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent that either (i) a 
Notice Event has not occurred and no filing is to be made or (ii) a Notice Event has occurred and the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent is to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (c) of this Section 4, together with a 
Certification.  Such Certification shall identify the Notice Event that has occurred (which shall be any of the 
categories set forth in Section 2(e)(iv) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the 
Issuer desires to make, contain the written authorization of the Issuer for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to 
disseminate such information, and identify the date the Issuer desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to 
disseminate the information (provided that such date is not later than the tenth business day after the occurrence of 
the Notice Event). 

(c) If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the Issuer as prescribed in 
subsection (a) or (b)(ii) of this Section 4 to report the occurrence of a Notice Event, the Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent shall promptly file a notice of such occurrence with MSRB in accordance with Section 2 (e)(iv) hereof. This 
notice will be filed with a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in 
Exhibit C-1.  

SECTION 5. CUSIP Numbers.  The Issuer will provide the Disclosure Dissemination Agent with the 
CUSIP numbers for (i) new bonds at such time as they are issued or become subject to the Rule and (ii) any Bonds 
to which new CUSIP numbers are assigned in substitution for the CUSIP numbers previously assigned to such 
Bonds. 

 SECTION 6. Additional Disclosure Obligations.  The Issuer acknowledges and understands that other 
state and federal laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act of 1933 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to the Issuer, and that the duties and responsibilities of the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement do not extend to providing legal advice regarding such laws.  
The Issuer acknowledges and understands that the duties of the Disclosure Dissemination Agent relate exclusively to 
execution of the mechanical tasks of disseminating information as described in this Disclosure Agreement. 

SECTION 7. Voluntary Filing.  

(a) The Issuer may instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to file a Voluntary Event Disclosure 
with the MSRB from time to time pursuant to a Certification of the Disclosure Representative.  Such Certification 
shall identify the Voluntary Event Disclosure (which shall be any of the categories set forth in Section 2(e)(vi) of 
this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the Issuer desires to make, contain the written 
authorization of the Issuer for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate such information, and identify the 
date the Issuer desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information.  If the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the Issuer as prescribed in this Section 7(a) to file a Voluntary Event 
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Disclosure, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall promptly file such Voluntary Event Disclosure with the 
MSRB in accordance with Section 2(e)(vi) hereof. This notice will be filed with a cover sheet completed by the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-2. 

(b) The Issuer may instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to file a Voluntary Financial 
Disclosure with the MSRB from time to time pursuant to a Certification of the Disclosure Representative.  Such 
Certification shall identify the Voluntary Financial Disclosure (which shall be any of the categories set forth in 
Section 2(e)(vii) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the Issuer desires to make, 
contain the written authorization of the Issuer for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate such 
information, and identify the date the Issuer desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the 
information.  If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the Issuer as prescribed in this Section 
7(b) hereof to file a Voluntary Financial Disclosure, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall promptly file such 
Voluntary Financial Disclosure with the MSRB in accordance with Section 2(e)(vii) hereof. This notice will be filed 
with a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-3. 

(c) The parties hereto acknowledge that the Issuer is not obligated pursuant to the terms of this 
Disclosure Agreement to file any Voluntary Event Disclosure pursuant to Section 7(a) hereof or any Voluntary 
Financial Disclosure pursuant to Section 7(b) hereof.   

(d) Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the Issuer from disseminating 
any other information through the Disclosure Dissemination Agent using the means of dissemination set forth in this 
Disclosure Agreement or including any other information in any Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, 
Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure, in 
addition to that required by this Disclosure Agreement.  If the Issuer chooses to include any information in any 
Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, Voluntary Event 
Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure 
Agreement, the Issuer shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or 
include it in any future Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event 
notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure. 

SECTION 8. Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The obligations of the Issuer and the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate with respect to the Bonds upon the legal 
defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds, when the Issuer is no longer an Obligated 
Person with respect to the Bonds, or upon delivery by the Disclosure Representative to the Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent of an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities laws to the effect that continuing disclosure is no longer 
required.  

SECTION 9. Disclosure Dissemination Agent.  The Issuer has appointed Digital Assurance 
Certification, L.L.C. as exclusive Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement. The Issuer 
may, upon thirty days written notice to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent and the Trustee, replace or appoint a 
successor Disclosure Dissemination Agent.  Upon termination of DAC’s services as Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent, whether by notice of the Issuer or DAC, the Issuer agrees to appoint a successor Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent or, alternately, agrees to assume all responsibilities of Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure 
Agreement for the benefit of the Holders of the Bonds.  Notwithstanding any replacement or appointment of a 
successor, the Issuer shall remain liable to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent until payment in full for any and all 
sums owed and payable to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may resign at 
any time by providing thirty days’ prior written notice to the Issuer.   

SECTION 10. Remedies in Event of Default.  In the event of a failure of the Issuer or the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Holders’ rights to enforce the 
provisions of this Agreement shall be limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific performance, to 
compel performance of the parties' obligation under this Disclosure Agreement.  Any failure by a party to perform in 
accordance with this Disclosure Agreement shall not constitute a default on the Bonds or under any other document 
relating to the Bonds, and all rights and remedies shall be limited to those expressly stated herein. 
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SECTION 11. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Disclosure Dissemination Agent. 

(a) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this 
Disclosure Agreement.  The Disclosure Dissemination Agent’s obligation to deliver the information at the times and 
with the contents described herein shall be limited to the extent the Issuer has provided such information to the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent as required by this Disclosure Agreement.  The Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
shall have no duty with respect to the content of any disclosures or notice made pursuant to the terms hereof.  The 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no duty or obligation to review or verify any Information or any other 
information, disclosures or notices provided to it by the Issuer and shall not be deemed to be acting in any fiduciary 
capacity for the Issuer, the Holders of the Bonds or any other party.  The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have 
no responsibility for the Issuer’s failure to report to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent a Notice Event or a duty to 
determine the materiality thereof.  The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no duty to determine, or liability 
for failing to determine, whether the Issuer has complied with this Disclosure Agreement.  The Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent may conclusively rely upon Certifications of the Issuer at all times. 

The obligations of the Issuer under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent and defeasance, redemption or payment of the Bonds. 

(b) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may, from time to time, consult with legal counsel (either in-
house or external) of its own choosing in the event of any disagreement or controversy, or question or doubt as to 
the construction of any of the provisions hereof or its respective duties hereunder, and shall not incur any liability 
and shall be fully protected in acting in good faith upon the advice of such legal counsel.  The reasonable fees and 
expenses of such counsel shall be payable by the Issuer. 

(c)  All documents, reports, notices, statements, information and other materials provided to the 
MSRB under this Agreement shall be provided in an electronic format and accompanied by identifying information 
as prescribed by the MSRB.  

SECTION 12. Amendment; Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure 
Agreement, the Issuer and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent may amend this Disclosure Agreement and any 
provision of this Disclosure Agreement may be waived, if such amendment or waiver is supported by an opinion of 
counsel expert in federal securities laws acceptable to both the Issuer and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to the 
effect that such amendment or waiver does not materially impair the interests of Holders of the Bonds and would 
not, in and of itself, cause the undertakings herein to violate the Rule if such amendment or waiver had been 
effective on the date hereof but taking into account any subsequent change in or official interpretation of the Rule; 
provided neither the Issuer or the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall be obligated to agree to any amendment 
modifying their respective duties or obligations without their consent thereto.     

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have the right to adopt 
amendments to this Disclosure Agreement necessary to comply with modifications to and interpretations of the 
provisions of the Rule as announced by the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time by giving not 
less than 20 days written notice of the intent to do so together with a copy of the proposed amendment to the Issuer. 
No such amendment shall become effective if the Issuer shall, within 10 days following the giving of such notice, 
send a notice to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing that it objects to such amendment. 

SECTION 13. Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the Issuer, 
the Trustee, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, the underwriter, and the Holders from time to time of the Bonds, 
and shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 

SECTION 14. Governing Law.  This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State 
of Florida (other than with respect to conflicts of laws). 

SECTION 15. Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each 
of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
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The Disclosure Dissemination Agent and the Issuer have caused this Continuing Disclosure Agreement to 
be executed, on the date first written above, by their respective officers duly authorized. 

 
DIGITAL ASSURANCE CERTIFICATION, L.L.C.,  as 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Name:____________________________________ 
Title:_____________________________________ 

 
 

 
BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
as Issuer 
 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Name:____________________________________ 
Title:_____________________________________ 
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EXHIBIT A 

NAME AND CUSIP NUMBERS OF BONDS 

Name of Issuer   Broward County, Florida 
Obligated Person(s)  Broward County, Florida 
Name of Bond Issue:  Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 

(Broward County Civic Arena Project) 
Date of Issuance:  October 18, 2016 
Date of Official Statement September 23, 2016 
 

CUSIP Number: 115062DV0 
CUSIP Number: 115062DW8 
CUSIP Number: 115062DX6 
CUSIP Number: 115062DY4 
CUSIP Number: 115062DZ1 
CUSIP Number: 115062EA5 
CUSIP Number: 115062EB3 
CUSIP Number: 115062EC1 
CUSIP Number: 115062ED9 
CUSIP Number: 115062EE7 
CUSIP Number: 115062EF4 
CUSIP Number: 115062EG2 
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EXHIBIT B 

NOTICE TO MSRB OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

Issuer:    Broward County, Florida 

Obligated Person:  Broward County, Florida 

Name(s) of Bond Issue(s): Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 
(Broward County Civic Arena Project) 

Date(s) of Issuance:  October 18, 2016 

Date(s) of Disclosure  October 18, 2016 
Agreement:    
 
CUSIP Number:  [B6]               
    
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Issuer has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the 
above-named Bonds as required by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement between the Issuer and Digital 
Assurance Certification, L.L.C., as Disclosure Dissemination Agent.  [The Issuer has notified the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent that it anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by [B7]______________]. 

Dated: [B8]_____________________________ 

Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C., as Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent, on behalf of the Issuer 

 

      __________________________________________ 

cc: [B9] 
 [B10] 
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EXHIBIT C-1 
 

EVENT NOTICE COVER SHEET 
 

This cover sheet and accompanying “event notice” will be sent to the MSRB, pursuant to Securities and Exchange 
Commission Rule 15c2-12(b)(5)(i)(C) and (D). 

Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name: Broward County, Florida 

Name of Bond Issue: Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 
(Broward County Civic Arena Project) 

 
Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number: 

[C2] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this event notice relates:  

[C3] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

Number of pages attached:  [C4]_____ 

____ Description of Notice Events (Check One): [C5] 

1. “Principal and interest payment delinquencies;” 
2. “Non-Payment related defaults, if material;” 
3. “Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;” 
4. “Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;” 
5. “Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;” 
6. “Adverse tax opinions, IRS notices or events affecting the tax status of the security;” 
7. “Modifications to rights of securities holders, if material;” 
8. “Bond calls, if material;” 
9. “Defeasances;” 
10. “Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if material;” 
11. “Rating changes;”  
12. “Tender offers;” 
13. “Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;” 
14. “Merger, consolidation, or acquisition of the obligated person, if material;” and 
15. “Appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a trustee, if material.” 

 
   ____ Failure to provide annual financial information as required. [C6] 
 
I hereby represent that I am authorized by the issuer or its agent to distribute this information publicly: 

Signature: 

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

Name: [C7] _________________________________ Title: [C8] _________________________________________  

Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. 
390 N. Orange Avenue 

Suite 1750 
Orlando, FL 32801 

407-515-1100 
 

Date:  [C9] 
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EXHIBIT C-2 
 

VOLUNTARY EVENT DISCLOSURE COVER SHEET 
 

This cover sheet and accompanying “voluntary event disclosure” will be sent to the MSRB, pursuant to the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement dated as of October 18, 2016 between the Issuer and DAC. 

Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name: Broward County, Florida 

Name of Bond Issue: Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 
(Broward County Civic Arena Project) 

Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number: 

[C2] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this notice relates:  

[C3] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

Number of pages attached:  [C4]_____ 

  ____ Description of Voluntary Event Disclosure (Check One): [C11] 

 
1. “amendment to continuing disclosure undertaking;” 
2. “change in obligated person;” 
3. “notice to investors pursuant to bond documents;” 
4. “certain communications from the Internal Revenue Service;” 
5. “secondary market purchases;” 
6. “bid for auction rate or other securities;” 
7. “capital or other financing plan;” 
8. “litigation/enforcement action;” 
9. “change of tender agent, remarketing agent, or other on-going party;” 
10. “derivative or other similar transaction;” and 
11. “other event-based disclosures.” 
 
 

I hereby represent that I am authorized by the issuer or its agent to distribute this information publicly: 

Signature: 

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

Name: [C7] _________________________________ Title: [C8] _________________________________________  

Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. 
390 N. Orange Avenue 

Suite 1750 
Orlando, FL 32801 

407-515-1100 
 
 

Date:  [C9] 
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EXHIBIT C-3 
 

VOLUNTARY FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE COVER SHEET 
 

This cover sheet and accompanying “voluntary financial disclosure” will be sent to the MSRB, pursuant to the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement dated as of October 18, 2016 between the Issuer and DAC. 

Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name: Broward County, Florida 

Name of Bond Issue: Professional Sports Facilities Tax and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 
(Broward County Civic Arena Project) 

Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number: 

[C2] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this notice relates:  

[C3] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

Number of pages attached:  [C4]_____ 

 
  ____ Description of Voluntary Financial Disclosure (Check One): [C12] 

1. “quarterly/monthly financial information;” 
 2. “change in fiscal year/timing of annual disclosure;” 
 3. “change in accounting standard;” 
 4. “interim/additional financial information/operating data;” 

5. “budget;” 
 6. “investment/debt/financial policy;” 
 7. “information provided to rating agency, credit/liquidity provider or other third party;” 

8. “consultant reports;” and 
9. “other financial/operating data.” 

 
I hereby represent that I am authorized by the issuer or its agent to distribute this information publicly: 

Signature: 

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

Name: [C7] _________________________________ Title: [C8] _________________________________________  

Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. 
390 N. Orange Avenue 

Suite 1750 
Orlando, FL 32801 

407-515-1100 
 
 
Date:  [C9] 
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THE DTC BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 

The following description of the procedures and record keeping with respect to beneficial ownership 
interests in the Series 2016 Bonds, payments of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2016 Bonds 
to DTC Participants or Beneficial Owners of the Series 2016 Bonds, confirmation and transfer of beneficial 
ownership interest in the Series 2016 Bonds and other related transactions by and between DTC, the DTC 
Participants and the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2016 Bonds, is based solely on information furnished by DTC 
on its website for inclusion in this Official Statement.  Accordingly, neither the County nor the Underwriters make 
any representations concerning these matters. 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository for the 
Series 2016 Bonds.  The Series 2016 Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of 
Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative 
of DTC.  One fully-registered Series 2016 Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Series 2016 Bonds 
as set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement, each in the aggregate principal amount of such 
maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York 
Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the 
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, 
and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and 
municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct 
Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales 
and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfer and 
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities 
certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust 
companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The 
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities 
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC 
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both 
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear 
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect 
Participants”).  DTC has a S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global, Inc., rating of AA+.  The DTC Rules 
applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about 
DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Series 2016 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Series 2016 Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual 
purchaser of each Series 2016 Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase.  
Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as 
well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial 
Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2016 Bonds are to be 
accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial 
Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Series 2016 
Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Series 2016 Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2016 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of the Series 2016 Bonds with DTC and their registration in the 
name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no 
knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2016 Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the 
Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 2016 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial 
Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on 
behalf of their customers. 
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Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to 
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by 
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  
Beneficial Owners of Series 2016 Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of 
notices of significant events with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and 
proposed amendments to the security documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of Series 2016 Bonds may wish 
to ascertain that the nominee holding the Series 2016 Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit 
notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses 
to the Registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them. 

Redemption notices shall be sent by the Paying Agent to DTC.  If less than all of the Series 2016 Bonds 
within an issue are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct 
Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Series 
2016 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Money Market Instrument (MMI) 
procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the County as soon as possible after the 
record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to 
whose accounts Series 2016 Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus 
Proxy). 

Redemption proceeds and interest payments on the Series 2016 Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such 
other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct 
Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detailed information from the County or the 
Paying Agent on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  Payments 
by DTC Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is 
the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be 
the responsibility of such DTC Participant and not DTC nor its nominee, the Paying Agent, or the County, subject to 
any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of redemption proceeds 
and interest, as applicable, to Cede & Co., (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the County and/or the Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments 
to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial 
Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

NEITHER THE COUNTY, THE PAYING AGENT NOR THE UNDERWRITERS WILL HAVE ANY 
RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY 
ACT AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO THE SERIES 2016 BONDS IN RESPECT OF THE ACCURACY OF 
ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT, THE PAYMENT BY DTC OR ANY 
DTC PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT IN RESPECT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE 
SERIES 2016 BONDS, ANY NOTICE WHICH IS PERMITTED OR REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN TO 
BONDHOLDERS UNDER THE INDENTURE OR THE BOND RESOLUTION, THE SELECTION BY DTC OR 
ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY PERSON TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL 
REDEMPTION OF THE SERIES 2016 BONDS, OR ANY CONSENT GIVEN OR OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY 
DTC AS BONDHOLDER, SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. IS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE SERIES 2016 
BONDS, AS NOMINEE OF DTC, REFERENCES IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO THE BONDHOLDERS 
OR REGISTERED OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2016 BONDS SHALL MEAN CEDE & CO., AND SHALL NOT 
MEAN THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2016 BONDS. 

Discontinuance of Book-Entry Only System 

In the event the County decides to obtain Series 2016 Bond certificates, the County may notify DTC and 
the Registrar, whereupon DTC will notify the DTC Participants, of the availability through DTC of Series 2016 
Bond certificates.  In such event, the County shall prepare and execute, and the Registrar shall authenticate, transfer 
and exchange, Series 2016 Bond certificates as requested by DTC in appropriate amounts and within the guidelines 
set forth in the Indenture.  DTC may also determine to discontinue providing its services with respect to the Series 
2016 Bonds at any time by giving written notice to the County and the Registrar and discharging its responsibilities 
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with respect thereto under applicable law.  Under such circumstances (if there is no successor securities depository), 
the County and the Registrar shall be obligated to deliver Series 2016 Bond certificates as described in this Official 
Statement.  In the event Series 2016 Bond certificates are issued, the provisions of the Indenture shall apply to, 
among other things, the transfer and exchange of such certificates and the method of payment of principal of and 
interest on such certificates.  Whenever DTC requests the County and the Registrar to do so, the County will direct 
the Registrar to cooperate with DTC in taking appropriate action after reasonable notice (i) to make available one or 
more separate certificates evidencing the Series 2016 Bonds to any DTC Participant having Series 2016 Bonds 
credited to its DTC account; or (ii) to arrange for another securities depository to maintain custody of certificates 
evidencing the Series 2016 Bonds. 

Registration, Transfer and Exchange 

If the book-entry only system is discontinued, the Beneficial Owners shall receive certificated Series 2016 
Bonds which will be subject to registration of transfer or exchange as set forth below.  If the privilege of exchanging 
the Series 2016 Bonds or transferring the Series 2016 Bonds is exercised, the County shall execute and the Registrar 
shall authenticate and deliver Series 2016 Bonds in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture.  All Series 2016 
Bonds surrendered in any such exchanges or transfers shall be delivered to the Registrar and canceled by the 
Registrar in the manner provided in the Indenture.  There shall be no charge for any such exchange or transfer of 
Series 2016 Bonds, but the County or the Registrar may require the payment of a sum sufficient to pay any tax, fee 
or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer.  Neither the County nor 
the Registrar shall be required (a) to transfer or exchange Series 2016 Bonds for a period from the Regular Record 
Date (the 15th day (whether or not a business day) of the calendar month preceding each Interest Payment Date) to 
the next succeeding Interest Payment Date on the Series 2016 Bonds or 15 days next preceding any selection of the 
Series 2016 Bonds to be redeemed or thereafter until after the mailing of any notice of redemption; or (b) to transfer 
or exchange any Series 2016 Bonds called for redemption.  If less than all of a Series 2016 Bond is redeemed or 
defeased, the County shall execute and the Registrar shall authenticate and deliver, upon the surrender of such Series 
2016 Bond, without charge to the Bondholder, a registered Series 2016 Bond in the appropriate denomination and 
interest rate for the unpaid balance of the principal amount of such Series 2016 Bond so surrendered. 

The County, the Registrar and the Paying Agent shall deem and treat the registered owner of any Series 
2016 Bond as the absolute owner of such Series 2016 Bond for all purposes, including for the purpose of receiving 
payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2016 Bonds. 
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